

Bedaj, Marija (2020) Investigating the impact of JAK inhibitor to facitinib on the CD4+T cell-dendritic cell interactions in murine models of rheumatoid arthritis. PhD thesis.

http://theses.gla.ac.uk/81633/

Copyright and moral rights for this work are retained by the author

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This work cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the author

The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given

Enlighten: Theses <u>https://theses.gla.ac.uk/</u> <u>research-enlighten@glasgow.ac.uk</u>



Investigating the impact of JAK inhibitor tofacitinib on the CD4⁺ T celldendritic cell interactions in murine models of rheumatoid arthritis

Marija Bedaj

BSc (Hons), MRes

Submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Institute of Infection, Immunity and Inflammation

College of Medical, Veterinary and Life Sciences

University of Glasgow

May 2020

Abstract

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is a chronic autoimmune condition manifested by synovial inflammation and joint destruction and is associated with high morbidity and mortality. While the existing biologic therapies revolutionised the management of RA, considerable unmet needs in disease management require the development of new therapeutic agents. Janus kinases (JAKs) are intracellular tyrosine kinases employed by Type I and Type II cytokine receptors and transducing the signals from a range of cytokines and growth factors. They are indispensable in mediating the signaling of inflammatory cytokines implicated in the pathogenesis of autoimmune conditions, thus present attractive targets for therapeutic intervention. Tofacitinib was the first JAK inhibitor approved for the treatment of RA, which was effective in patients refractory to existing treatments. Among its immunomodulatory mechanisms, tofacitinib was reported to impair the proliferation, differentiation, and proinflammatory cytokine production in CD4⁺ T cells, both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. However, the impact of tofacitinib as well as the stage of the drug interference (priming or re-activation) on cognate CD4⁺ T cell-dendritic cell (DC) interaction, which underlies both breakdown of self-tolerance and autoimmune response propagation in RA, remains to be elucidated.

Using the antigen-specific cell system both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, I have shown that tofacitinib treatment impaired the priming of the CD4⁺ T cells by DCs, resulting in their diminished ability to differentiate into T helper 1 (Th1) subset and exhibit associated T-bet expression and IFNy production. This effect on CD4⁺ T cells was observed both *in vitro* and *in vivo* and persisted upon secondary antigenic challenge. On the contrary, the antigen-experienced CD4⁺ T cells primed in the absence of tofacitinib retained their functional capacity upon reactivation in the presence of the drug. Tofacitinib efficacy assessment in the mouse model of early RA similarly revealed that the antigen-experienced CD4⁺ T lymphocytes, from both adoptively transferred and endogenous populations, remained unaffected by tofacitinib treatment. While JAK inhibitor had no impact on paw thickness, it induced notable (although non-significant) improvement in features of joint pathology, which, together with the absence of effect on CD4⁺

T lymphocytes, suggested tofacitinib targeting other inflammatory cells contributing to the autoimmune response. Overall, these results have shown that tofacitinib interferes with the naive CD4⁺ T cell differentiation into the Th1 subset, thereby indicating a mechanism by which tofacitinib might in part achieve clinical efficacy in RA patients. The antigen-specific system and early RA mouse model are warranted as useful platforms for further investigation of tofacitinib immunomodulatory mechanisms with the view of the optimization of its clinical use.

Table of Contents

ABSTR	АСТ	2
TABLE	OF CONTENTS	4
LIST O	F TABLES	8
LIST O	F FIGURES	9
ACKNO	WLEDGEMENTS	11
AUTHC	R'S DECLARATION	13
DEFINI	TIONS/ABBREVIATIONS	14
1 IN'	FRODUCTION	18
1.1 Rhe	eumatoid arthritis	19
1.1.1	Definition	19
1.1.2	Clinical manifestations	19
1.1.3	Impact on patient quality of life	21
1.1.4	Diagnosis	23
1.1.5	Epidemiology	27
1.1.6	Risk factors	
1.1./	I reatment	36
1.2 JAK	-STAT pathway and implications of its therapeutic targeting	48
1.2.1	Signalling mechanism and functional role of the JAK-STAT pathway	48
1.2.2	JAK inhibitor development and clinical applications	58
1.3 Der	ndritic cell-CD4 ⁺ T cell crosstalk	70
1.3.1	The role of dendritic cells during naïve CD4 ⁺ T cell activation and polarization	70
1.3.2	Other outcomes of dendritic cell-CD4 ⁺ T cell interaction	76
1.3.3	Evidence of the DC-CD4 ⁺ T cell crosstalk importance in RA	79
1.4 Dyr	namics of DC-CD4 ⁺ T cell interactions during RA development	81
1.5 Нур	oothesis and aims	85
2 MA	ATERIALS AND METHODS	
2.1 Buf	fers and reagents	
2.1.1	Complete medium	88
2.1.2	FACS buffer	88
2.1.3	MACS buffer	88
2.1.4	JAK inhibitor tofacitinib	88
2.2 Mic	e	
2.2.1	C57BL/6	
2.2.2	CD45.1 OT-II	89

2.3		90
~ ~ ~	.1 CD4 ⁺ T cell isolation from mouse lymph nodes and spleen (StemCell EasySep kit)	90
2.3	2 CD4 ⁺ T cells isolation (MACS kit) and Th1 polarization	91
2.3	.3 Dendritic cell generation from the mouse bone marrow	92
~ ~		
2.4		
2.4	1 BMDC-CD4 ⁺ I cell co-culture	
2.4	.2 BMDC-CD4 ⁺ T cell re-challenge co-culture	93
2.4	.3 αCD3/CD28 CD4 ⁺ T cell activation assay	94
2.5	Western blotting	
2 5	1 BMDC monoculture and cytokine stimulation	95
2.5	 2 BMDC - CD4⁺T cell co-culture 	وو ۹6
2.5	3 Sample preparation	96
2.5	.4 Immunoblotting and protein detection	
2.6	Flow cytometric cell analysis	98
2.6	1 FACS staining for T cell surface markers	98
2.6	.2 CD4 ⁺ T cell PMA/lonomycin stimulation and intracellular cytokine staining	98
2.6	.3 CD4 ⁺ T cell transcription factor staining	99
2.6	.4 Apoptosis marker staining	
2.6	5 Phospho Flow cytometry assays	100
2.7	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)	
2.7	1 IFNy ELISA	
2.7	2 OVA ELISA	102
2.7	.3 Collagen II ELISA	103
2.8 2.9	Luminex assay	103 104
2.10	'Breach of tolerance' RA mouse model	105
2.1	0.1 Mouse model generation and drug treatment	
2.1 2.1	D.1Mouse model generation and drug treatmentD.2Pathology assessment	
2.1 2.1 3 DC-C <i>IN VI</i>	D.1 Mouse model generation and drug treatment Pathology assessment INVESTIGATING THE EFFECT OF JAK3/1 INHIBITOR TOFACITINIB O D4+ T CELL INTERACTION DURING PRIMING AND RE-ACTIVATION S TRO	N THE TAGES
2.1 2.1 3 DC-C <i>IN VI</i> 3.1	0.1 Mouse model generation and drug treatment 0.2 Pathology assessment INVESTIGATING THE EFFECT OF JAK3/1 INHIBITOR TOFACITINIB O D4+ T CELL INTERACTION DURING PRIMING AND RE-ACTIVATION S <i>TRO</i>	N THE TAGES 111
2.1 2.1 3 DC-C <i>IN VI</i> 3.1	0.1 Mouse model generation and drug treatment 0.2 Pathology assessment INVESTIGATING THE EFFECT OF JAK3/1 INHIBITOR TOFACITINIB O D4+ T CELL INTERACTION DURING PRIMING AND RE-ACTIVATION S TRO	N THE TAGES 111
2.1 2.1 3 DC-C <i>IN VI</i> 3.1 3.2	0.1 Mouse model generation and drug treatment 0.2 Pathology assessment INVESTIGATING THE EFFECT OF JAK3/1 INHIBITOR TOFACITINIB O D4+ T CELL INTERACTION DURING PRIMING AND RE-ACTIVATION S TRO Introduction	N THE TAGES 111
2.1 2.1 3 DC-C <i>IN VI</i> 3.1 3.2 3.2	 Mouse model generation and drug treatment	N THE TAGES 111
2.1 2.1 3 DC-C <i>IN VI</i> 3.1 3.2 enz	0.1 Mouse model generation and drug treatment 0.2 Pathology assessment INVESTIGATING THE EFFECT OF JAK3/1 INHIBITOR TOFACITINIB O D4+ T CELL INTERACTION DURING PRIMING AND RE-ACTIVATION S <i>TRO</i> Introduction Results .1 Tofacitinib (base) effectively inhibits γc and gp130 cytokine signalling by blocking JAK1 ymatic activity downstream of cytokine receptors <i>in vitro</i>	N THE TAGES 111 112
2.1 2.1 3 DC-C <i>IN VI</i> 3.1 3.2 enz 3.2	 Mouse model generation and drug treatment	IDS 105 105 105 106 N THE TAGES 111 112 116 L and JAK3 116 lose for co-
2.1 2.1 3 DC-C <i>IN VI</i> 3.1 3.2 enz 3.2 cult	 Mouse model generation and drug treatment	IN THE TAGES 111 112 116 L and JAK3 116 lose for co- 123
2.1 2.1 3 DC-C <i>IN VI</i> 3.1 3.2 3.2 cult 3.2	 Mouse model generation and drug treatment	IDS 105 105 106 N THE TAGES 111 112 116 1 and JAK3 116 105e for co- 123 expression
2.1 2.1 3 DC-C <i>IN VI</i> 3.1 3.2 enz 3.2 cult 3.2 and	 Mouse model generation and drug treatment	IDS 105 105 106 N THE TAGES 111 112 116 1 and JAK3 116 1 ose for co- 123 expression 127
2.1 2.1 3 DC-C <i>IN VI</i> 3.1 3.2 enz 3.2 cult 3.2 and 3.2	 Mouse model generation and drug treatment	IDS 105 105 106 N THE TAGES 111 112 116 116 105 123 expression 127 tory
2.1 2.1 3 DC-C <i>IN VI</i> 3.1 3.2 enz 3.2 cult 3.2 cult 3.2 cult 3.2 cut	 Mouse model generation and drug treatment	IDS 105 105 106 N THE TAGES 111 112 116 116 105 123 expression 127 tory 130
2.1 2.1 3 DC-C <i>IN VI</i> 3.1 3.2 enz 3.2 cult 3.2	 Mouse model generation and drug treatment	105 105 105 105 106 N THE TAGES 111 112 116 136 146 146 146 146 146 146 146 14
2.1 2.1 3 DC-C <i>IN VI</i> 3.1 3.2 and 3.2 cult 3.2 cult 3.2 and 3.2 cytt 3.2 3.2 3.2	 Mouse model generation and drug treatment	I 105 105 105 105 105 105 105 105
2.1 2.1 3 DC-C <i>IN VI</i> 3.1 3.2 enz 3.2 cult 3.2 anc 3.2 cytt 3.2 3.2 cytt 3.2 dur	 Mouse model generation and drug treatment Pathology assessment INVESTIGATING THE EFFECT OF JAK3/1 INHIBITOR TOFACITINIB O D4+ T CELL INTERACTION DURING PRIMING AND RE-ACTIVATION S TRO Introduction Results 1 Tofacitinib (base) effectively inhibits yc and gp130 cytokine signalling by blocking JAK2 ymatic activity downstream of cytokine receptors <i>in vitro</i> 2 Establishment of the optimal OVA ³²³⁻³³⁹ peptide dose and effective tofacitinib (base) discusses of cytokine receptors <i>in vitro</i> 3 Exposure to tofacitinib during priming has no impact on CD4 ⁺ T cell activation marker I modestly reduces their proliferative potential. 4 Tofacitinib treatment during priming diminishes CD4 ⁺ T cell capacity for pro-inflamma okine production <i>in vitro</i> 5 Tofacitinib administration upon priming impairs CD4 ⁺ T cell differentiation towards Th 139 6 Impaired T-bet expression and IFNy production following CD4 ⁺ T cell exposure to tofaciting priming perisits upon secondary antigenic challenge	105 105 105 106 N THE TAGES 111 112 112 116 116 1005e for co- 123 expression 127 tory 130 1 subtype citinib 141
2.1 2.1 2.1 3 DC-C <i>IN VI</i> 3.1 3.2 cult 3.2 cult 3.2 cult 3.2 anc 3.2 cytr 3.2 cut 3.2	 Mouse model generation and drug treatment	105 105 105 106 N THE TAGES 111 112 112 116 116 105 105 116 105 105 123 expression 127 tory 130 1 subtype citinib 141 ivation in
2.1 2.1 2.1 3 DC-C <i>IN VI</i> 3.1 3.2 enz 3.2 cult	 Mouse model generation and drug treatment	105 105 105 105 105 106 N THE TAGES 111 112 112 116 116 105 105 105 105 105 105 105 105

3	3.3.1 Tofacitinib ir	iterferes with JAK/STAT signalling pathway downstream of both gp130 and γc	47
(cytokine receptors		.47
2	3.3.2 I ofacitinib d	oes not affect haive CD4° I cell activation and has a modest effect on their	
I	proliferative potentia	l	.47
-	3.3.3 Totacitinib ti	reatment impairs CD4 ⁺ 1 cell differentiation and function	.49
	5.5.4 Functional II	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	.eii 52
:	335 Antigen-exp	erienced cells preserve their function after tofacitinih exposure 1	53
	S.S.S Antigen exp		
4 T (INVESTIGATI	NG THE IMPACT OF TOFACITINIB ADMINISTRATION ON CD4 ⁻ TALK <i>IN VIVO</i>	+ 55
4.1	Introduction	1	.50
4.2	Results		.58
4	4.2.1 Tofacitinib c	itrate supresses STAT phosphorylation in CD4 ⁺ T cells upon cytokine stimulation	
١	with comparable effic	cacy to tofacitinib base form <i>in vitro</i> 1	.58
4	4.2.2 Tofacitinib c	itrate exposure during priming has an impact on CD4 ⁺ T cell viability, activation, a	nd
1	function comparable	to tofacitinib base form in vitro1	.60
4	4.2.3 Single tofaci	tinib citrate dose administration <i>in vivo</i> reduces STAT3 phosphorylation levels in	
١	whole blood leukocyt	es at both basal state and following <i>ex vivo</i> cytokine stimulation	.63
4	4.2.4 Tofacitinib c	itrate effectively diminishes background STAT3 phosphorylation in the whole bloc	bd
I	leukocytes but does r	not affect proliferation or activation of OT-II CD4 ⁺ T cells in the adoptive transfer	
I	model. 166		
4	4.2.5 Tofacitinib ti	reatment supresses Th1 differentiation in adoptively transferred OT-II CD4 ⁺ T cells	; in
۱	<i>vivo</i> 171		
4	4.2.6 Tofacitinib c	itrate treatment diminishes <i>in vivo</i> T-bet expression by endogenous CD4 ⁺ T cells b	ut
(does not alter their ca	apacity for IFNy and IL-2 production1	.75
4.3	Discussion		.78
4	4.3.1 Tofacitinib c	itrate successfully inhibits JAK/STAT pathway signalling in whole blood CD4 * T cell	s
١	when administered <i>ir</i>	1 יויעס1	.78
4	4.3.2 Tofacitinib c	itrate treatment supresses T-bet but not cytokine expression by adoptively	
t	transferred OT-II CD4	⁺ T cells during priming <i>in vivo</i> 1	.80
4	4.3.3 Tofacitinib c	itrate administration <i>in vivo</i> diminished T-bet expression by endogenous CD4 ⁺ T	
(cells but did not impa	act cytokine production following non-specific activation1	.84
5 BE M(ASSESSMENT CHAVIOUR AND ODEL OF EARLY	OF TOFACITINIB TREATMENT EFFECT ON CD4+ T CELL JOINT PATHOLOGY IN THE 'BREACH-OF-TOLERANCE' MOUSE RA	2 36
5.1	Introduction	1	00
5.2	Results		92
ļ	5.2.1 Tofacitinib h	as no impact on T-bet expression or IFNy production by adoptively transferred OT	[-]]
(CD4 ⁺ Th1 cells in early	y RA mouse model1	.92
ļ	5.2.2 Endogenous	CD4 ⁺ T cells exhibit no changes in T-bet expression or IFNy production in the	
I	presence of tofacitini	b in early RA mouse model	01
į	5.2.3 Tofacitinib fa	ails to affect the naïve endogenous CD4 ⁺ T cell potential for T-bet expression and	
I	IFNy production		04
ļ	5.2.4 Tofacitinib ti	reatment has no impact on anti-OVA antibody response in RA mouse model2	06
ļ	5.2.5 Serum anti-	collagen II antibody response in the RA mouse model	08
	5.2.6 Tofacitinih h	as no effect on paw inflammation but reduced inflammatory cell infiltrate and	
	J.Z.U IUIACIUUUU		
	synovial hypernlasia i	n affected joints of arthritic mice	10
	synovial hyperplasia i	n affected joints of arthritic mice2	10
5.3	synovial hyperplasia i	n affected joints of arthritic mice2	10
5.3	Discussion	n affected joints of arthritic mice	210 2 13 or

5 p	.3.2 Tofacitinib does not affect endogenous CD4 ⁺ cell capacity for T-bet expression or IFNy roduction in the presence of tofacitinib in the early RA mouse model	215
5	.3.3 Tofacitinib administration has no impact on anti-OVA antibody response in RA mouse m 218	odel.
5	.3.4 Tofacitinib treatment does not affect hind limb swelling, but reduced inflammatory cell	
i	nfiltration and synovial hyperplasia in affected joints of arthritic mice	220
6	GENERAL DISCUSSION	224
6.1	Summary of the main findings	226
6.2	Clinical implications	228
6.3	Future experiments	231
110	T OF DEFEDENCES	724
பல		

List of Tables

TABLE 1-1. CLASSIFICATION CRITERIA FOR DEFINITIVE RA DIAGNOSIS*	25
TABLE 1-2. CONVENTIONAL SYNTHETIC AND BIOLOGIC DMARDS CURRENTLY APPROVED FOR RA	
TREATMENT*	44
TABLE 1-3. JANUS KINASE INHIBITORS CURRENTLY CLINICALLY EMPLOYED OR TESTED FOR THE TREAT	ΓΜΕΝΤ
OF RA AND OTHER AUTOIMMUNE CONDITIONS	69
TABLE 2-1. LIST OF ANTIBODIES USED FOR FLOW CYTOMETRIC ANALYSIS.	107
TABLE 2-2. LIST OF ANTIBODIES USED FOR WESTERN BLOT ASSAY	109
TABLE 2-3. LIST OF ANTIBODIES USED FOR ELISA ASSAYS	110

List of Figures

MEMORES AND THE DIOLOGICAL SIGNIFICANCE OF THE SIGNALLING VIA THE LAW/STAT DATILIARY - FO
MEMBERS AND THE BIOLOGICAL SIGNIFICANCE OF THE SIGNALLING VIA THE JAK/STAT PATHWAY50
FIGURE 3-1. JAK INHIBITOR TOFACITINIB SUPRESSES PHOSPHORYLATION OF STATS SIGNAL TRANSDUCER
PROTEIN IN BMDCS IN RESPONSE TO CYTOKINE STIMULATION
FIGURE 3-2. TOFACITINIB EFFECTIVELY SUPRESSES PHOSPHORYLATION OF STAT3 PROTEIN IN ANTIGEN
SPECIFIC CD4 ⁺ T CELL - DC CO-CULTURE
FIGURE 3-3. TOFACITINIB TREATMENT REDUCES BOTH STAT3 AND STAT5 PHOSPHORYLATION UPON
CYTOKINE STIMULATION IN CD4 ⁺ T CELLS IN CO-CULTURE
FIGURE 3-4. THE EFFECT OF CHICKEN OVALBUMIN ³²³⁻³³⁹ PEPTIDE DOSE RANGE ON THE ACTIVATION
MARKER EXPRESSION IN CD4 T ⁺ CELLS IN CO-CULTURE124
FIGURE 3-5. TOFACITINIB AFFECTS CD4 ⁺ T CELL VIABILITY AND ACTIVATION MARKER EXPRESSION IN A
DOSE-DEPENDENT MANNER126
FIGURE 3-6. TOFACITINIB TREATMENT DURING PRIMING HAS NO EFFECT ON CD4 ⁺ T CELL ACTIVATION
MARKER EXPRESSION AND MODESTLY INHIBITS THEIR PROLIFERATION IN VITRO129
FIGURE 3-7. TOFACITINIB TREATMENT IMPAIRS PRO-INFLAMMATORY CYTOKINE PRODUCTION BY CD4 ⁺ T
CELLS UPON PRIMING IN VITRO
FIGURE 3-8. TOFACITINIB REDUCES CD4 ⁺ T CELL VIABILITY AT HIGH CONCENTRATIONS BY PROMOTING
APOPTOSIS
FIGURE 3-9. EXPOSURE TO TOFACITINIB DURING PRIMING REDUCES THE CAPACITY OF CD4 ⁺ T CELLS FOR
IENY AND II -2 PRODUCTION.
FIGURE 3-10 TOFACITINIB TREATMENT DURING PRIMING IMPAIRS CD4 ⁺ T CFU DIFFERENTIATION
TOWARDS TH1 PHENOTYPE 140
FIGURE 3-11 IMPAIRED T-RET EXPRESSION AND IENV PRODUCTION FOULOWING CD/+ T CELL EXPOSURE TO
TOEACITINIB DUBING DEIMING DERSISTS LIDON SECONDARY ANTIGEN CHALLENGE
EIGLIDE 2.12 TOEACITINID TREATMENT LIDON REACTIVATION IMDAIDS T RET EVDRESSION IN ANTIGEN
EXPERIENCED CD4 T CELL BUT DUES NOT AFFECT THEIR CAPACITY FOR IFNT PRODUCTION
FIGURE 4-1. TOFACITINIB CITRATE EFFECTIVELY SUPRESSES STATS AND STATS PROSPRORYLATION OPON
CYTOKINE STIMULATION OF CD4" I CELLS IN VITRO.
FIGURE 4-2. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DURING PRIMING HAS SIMILAR EFFECT TO TOFACITINIB
BASE FORM ON CD4 ⁺ I CELL VIABILITY, ACTIVATION, AND CYTOKINE PRODUCTION CAPACITY IN
VIIRO
THORE 4-5. A SINGLE TOTACHTING CHILARE DOSE ADMINISTRATION IN VITO REDUCES STATS
PHOSPHORYLATION IN THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS AT BOTH BASAL STATE AND FOLLOWING EX VIVO
PHOSPHORYLATION IN THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS AT BOTH BASAL STATE AND FOLLOWING <i>EX VIVO</i> CYTOKINE STIMULATION
PHOSPHORYLATION IN THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS AT BOTH BASAL STATE AND FOLLOWING <i>EX VIVO</i> CYTOKINE STIMULATION
PHOSPHORYLATION IN THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS AT BOTH BASAL STATE AND FOLLOWING <i>EX VIVO</i> CYTOKINE STIMULATION
PHOSPHORYLATION IN THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS AT BOTH BASAL STATE AND FOLLOWING <i>EX VIVO</i> CYTOKINE STIMULATION
PHOSPHORYLATION IN THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS AT BOTH BASAL STATE AND FOLLOWING <i>EX VIVO</i> CYTOKINE STIMULATION
 PHOSPHORYLATION IN THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS AT BOTH BASAL STATE AND FOLLOWING <i>EX VIVO</i> CYTOKINE STIMULATION. FIGURE 4-4. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES BASAL LEVELS OF PHOSPHORYLATED STAT3 IN THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS OF ADOPTIVE TRANSFER MOUSE MODEL. FIGURE 4-5. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DOES NOT AFFECT PROLIFERATION OR ACTIVATION OF ADOPTIVELY TRANSFERRED OT-II CD4⁺ T CELLS <i>IN VIVO</i>. FIGURE 4-6. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT SUPRESSES T-BET EXPRESSION IN ADOPTIVELY
PHOSPHORYLATION IN THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS AT BOTH BASAL STATE AND FOLLOWING EX VIVO CYTOKINE STIMULATION. 165 FIGURE 4-4. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES BASAL LEVELS OF PHOSPHORYLATED STAT3 IN 165 FIGURE 4-4. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES BASAL LEVELS OF PHOSPHORYLATED STAT3 IN 169 FIGURE 4-5. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DOES NOT AFFECT PROLIFERATION OR ACTIVATION OF 170 FIGURE 4-6. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT SUPRESSES T-BET EXPRESSION IN ADOPTIVELY 173
PHOSPHORYLATION IN THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS AT BOTH BASAL STATE AND FOLLOWING EX VIVO CYTOKINE STIMULATION. 165 FIGURE 4-4. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES BASAL LEVELS OF PHOSPHORYLATED STAT3 IN 165 FIGURE 4-4. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES BASAL LEVELS OF PHOSPHORYLATED STAT3 IN 169 FIGURE 4-5. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DOES NOT AFFECT PROLIFERATION OR ACTIVATION OF 169 FIGURE 4-5. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DOES NOT AFFECT PROLIFERATION OR ACTIVATION OF 170 FIGURE 4-6. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT SUPRESSES T-BET EXPRESSION IN ADOPTIVELY 173 FIGURE 4-7. TOFACITINIB CITRATE ADMINISTRATION IN VIVO. 173
PHOSPHORYLATION IN THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS AT BOTH BASAL STATE AND FOLLOWING EX VIVO CYTOKINE STIMULATION. 165 FIGURE 4-4. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES BASAL LEVELS OF PHOSPHORYLATED STAT3 IN 165 FIGURE 4-4. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES BASAL LEVELS OF PHOSPHORYLATED STAT3 IN 169 FIGURE 4-5. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DOES NOT AFFECT PROLIFERATION OR ACTIVATION OF 169 FIGURE 4-6. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DOES NOT AFFECT PROLIFERATION OR ACTIVATION OF 170 FIGURE 4-6. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT SUPRESSES T-BET EXPRESSION IN ADOPTIVELY 173 FIGURE 4-7. TOFACITINIB CITRATE ADMINISTRATION <i>IN VIVO</i> . 173 FIGURE 4-7. TOFACITINIB CITRATE ADMINISTRATION <i>IN VIVO</i> 174
PHOSPHORYLATION IN THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS AT BOTH BASAL STATE AND FOLLOWING EX VIVO CYTOKINE STIMULATION. 165 FIGURE 4-4. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES BASAL LEVELS OF PHOSPHORYLATED STAT3 IN 165 FIGURE 4-4. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES BASAL LEVELS OF PHOSPHORYLATED STAT3 IN 169 FIGURE 4-5. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DOES NOT AFFECT PROLIFERATION OR ACTIVATION OF 169 FIGURE 4-6. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DOES NOT AFFECT PROLIFERATION OR ACTIVATION OF 170 FIGURE 4-6. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT SUPRESSES T-BET EXPRESSION IN ADOPTIVELY 173 FIGURE 4-7. TOFACITINIB CITRATE ADMINISTRATION <i>IN VIVO</i> DOES NOT AFFECT THE CAPACITY OF 174 FIGURE 4-8. TOFACITINIB CITRATE ADMINISTRATION <i>IN VIVO</i> T-BET EXPRESSION AND PRESERVES 174
 PHOSPHORYLATION IN THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS AT BOTH BASAL STATE AND FOLLOWING <i>EX VIVO</i> CYTOKINE STIMULATION. 165 FIGURE 4-4. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES BASAL LEVELS OF PHOSPHORYLATED STAT3 IN THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS OF ADOPTIVE TRANSFER MOUSE MODEL. 169 FIGURE 4-5. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DOES NOT AFFECT PROLIFERATION OR ACTIVATION OF ADOPTIVELY TRANSFERRED OT-II CD4⁺ T CELLS <i>IN VIVO</i>. FIGURE 4-6. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT SUPRESSES T-BET EXPRESSION IN ADOPTIVELY TRANSFERRED OT-II CD4⁺ T CELLS <i>IN VIVO</i>. FIGURE 4-7. TOFACITINIB CITRATE ADMINISTRATION <i>IN VIVO</i> DOES NOT AFFECT THE CAPACITY OF ADOPTIVELY TRANSFERRED CD4⁺ T CELLS TO PRODUCE IFNY OR IL-2. FIGURE 4-8. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES <i>IN VIVO</i> T-BET EXPRESSION AND PRESERVES CAPACITY FOR IFNY AND IL-2 PRODUCTION OF ENDOGENOUS CD4⁺ T CELLS IN THE ADOPTIVE
PHOSPHORYLATION IN THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS AT BOTH BASAL STATE AND FOLLOWING EX VIVO CYTOKINE STIMULATION IN THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS AT BOTH BASAL STATE AND FOLLOWING EX VIVO CYTOKINE STIMULATION 165 FIGURE 4-4. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES BASAL LEVELS OF PHOSPHORYLATED STAT3 IN 169 FIGURE 4-5. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DOES NOT AFFECT PROLIFERATION OR ACTIVATION OF 169 FIGURE 4-5. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DOES NOT AFFECT PROLIFERATION OR ACTIVATION OF 170 FIGURE 4-6. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT SUPRESSES T-BET EXPRESSION IN ADOPTIVELY 170 FIGURE 4-7. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT SUPRESSES T-BET EXPRESSION IN ADOPTIVELY 173 FIGURE 4-7. TOFACITINIB CITRATE ADMINISTRATION <i>IN VIVO</i> DOES NOT AFFECT THE CAPACITY OF 174 FIGURE 4-8. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES <i>IN VIVO</i> T-BET EXPRESSION AND PRESERVES 174 FIGURE 4-8. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES <i>IN VIVO</i> T-BET EXPRESSION AND PRESERVES 174 FIGURE 4-8. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES <i>IN VIVO</i> T-BET EXPRESSION AND PRESERVES 174 FIGURE 4-8. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES <i>IN VIVO</i> T-BET EXPRESSION AND PRESERVES 174 FIGURE 4-8. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES <i>IN VIVO</i> T-BET EXPRESSION AND PRESERVES 174 FIGURE 4-8. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES <i>IN VIVO</i> T-BET EXPRESSION AND PRESERVES 174
 PHOSPHORYLATION IN THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS AT BOTH BASAL STATE AND FOLLOWING <i>EX VIVO</i> CYTOKINE STIMULATION. 165 FIGURE 4-4. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES BASAL LEVELS OF PHOSPHORYLATED STAT3 IN THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS OF ADOPTIVE TRANSFER MOUSE MODEL. 169 FIGURE 4-5. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DOES NOT AFFECT PROLIFERATION OR ACTIVATION OF ADOPTIVELY TRANSFERRED OT-II CD4⁺ T CELLS <i>IN VIVO</i>. FIGURE 4-6. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT SUPRESSES T-BET EXPRESSION IN ADOPTIVELY TRANSFERRED OT-II CD4⁺ T CELLS <i>IN VIVO</i>. FIGURE 4-7. TOFACITINIB CITRATE ADMINISTRATION <i>IN VIVO</i> DOES NOT AFFECT THE CAPACITY OF ADOPTIVELY TRANSFERRED CD4⁺ T CELLS TO PRODUCE IFNY OR IL-2. FIGURE 4-8. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES <i>IN VIVO</i> T-BET EXPRESSION AND PRESERVES CAPACITY FOR IFNY AND IL-2 PRODUCTION OF ENDOGENOUS CD4⁺ T CELLS IN THE ADOPTIVE TRANSFER EXPERIMENT. FIGURE 5-1. EXPERIMENTAL PROTOCOL OF OVALBUMIN (OVA)-MEDIATED EARLY RA MOUSE MODEL
PHOSPHORYLATION IN THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS AT BOTH BASAL STATE AND FOLLOWING EX VIVO CYTOKINE STIMULATION
PHOSPHORYLATION IN THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS AT BOTH BASAL STATE AND FOLLOWING EX VIVO CYTOKINE STIMULATION IN THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS AT BOTH BASAL STATE AND FOLLOWING EX VIVO CYTOKINE STIMULATION. 165 FIGURE 4-4. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES BASAL LEVELS OF PHOSPHORYLATED STAT3 IN 169 THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS OF ADOPTIVE TRANSFER MOUSE MODEL. 169 FIGURE 4-5. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DOES NOT AFFECT PROLIFERATION OR ACTIVATION OF 170 ADOPTIVELY TRANSFERRED OT-II CD4 ⁺ T CELLS <i>IN VIVO</i> . 170 FIGURE 4-6. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT SUPRESSES T-BET EXPRESSION IN ADOPTIVELY 173 FIGURE 4-7. TOFACITINIB CITRATE ADMINISTRATION <i>IN VIVO</i> . 173 FIGURE 4-7. TOFACITINIB CITRATE ADMINISTRATION <i>IN VIVO</i> . 174 FIGURE 4-8. TOFACITINIB CITRATE ADMINISTRATION <i>IN VIVO</i> DOES NOT AFFECT THE CAPACITY OF 174 FIGURE 4-8. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES <i>IN VIVO</i> T-BET EXPRESSION AND PRESERVES 174 FIGURE 4-8. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES <i>IN VIVO</i> T-BET EXPRESSION AND PRESERVES 174 FIGURE 5-1. EXPERIMENT. 177 176 FIGURE 5-1. EXPERIMENTAL PROTOCOL OF OVALBUMIN (OVA)-MEDIATED EARLY RA MOUSE MODEL 177 FIGURE 5-2. TOFACITINIB TREATMENT REDUCES BASAL LEVELS OF STAT3 PHOSPHORYLATION IN BOTH CD4 ⁺ 195
PHOSPHORYLATION IN THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS AT BOTH BASAL STATE AND FOLLOWING <i>EX VIVO</i> CYTOKINE STIMULATION. 165 FIGURE 4-4. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES BASAL LEVELS OF PHOSPHORYLATED STAT3 IN 165 FIGURE 4-4. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES BASAL LEVELS OF PHOSPHORYLATED STAT3 IN 169 FIGURE 4-5. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DOES NOT AFFECT PROLIFERATION OR ACTIVATION OF 170 ADOPTIVELY TRANSFERRED OT-II CD4 ⁺ T CELLS <i>IN VIVO</i> . 170 FIGURE 4-6. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT SUPRESSES T-BET EXPRESSION IN ADOPTIVELY 173 FIGURE 4-7. TOFACITINIB CITRATE ADMINISTRATION <i>IN VIVO</i> . 173 FIGURE 4-7. TOFACITINIB CITRATE ADMINISTRATION <i>IN VIVO</i> DOES NOT AFFECT THE CAPACITY OF 174 FIGURE 4-8. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES <i>IN VIVO</i> T-BET EXPRESSION AND PRESERVES 174 FIGURE 4-8. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES <i>IN VIVO</i> T-BET EXPRESSION AND PRESERVES 174 FIGURE 4-8. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES <i>IN VIVO</i> T-BET EXPRESSION AND PRESERVES 174 FIGURE 5-1. EXPERIMENT. 177 177 FIGURE 5-1. EXPERIMENTAL PROTOCOL OF OVALBUMIN (OVA)-MEDIATED EARLY RA MOUSE MODEL 195 FIGURE 5-2. TOFACITINIB TREATMENT REDUCES BASAL LEVELS OF STAT3 PHOSPHORYLATION IN BOTH CD4 ⁺ 196
 PHOSPHORYLATION IN THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS AT BOTH BASAL STATE AND FOLLOWING <i>EX VIVO</i> CYTOKINE STIMULATION. FIGURE 4-4. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES BASAL LEVELS OF PHOSPHORYLATED STAT3 IN THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS OF ADOPTIVE TRANSFER MOUSE MODEL. FIGURE 4-5. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DOES NOT AFFECT PROLIFERATION OR ACTIVATION OF ADOPTIVELY TRANSFERRED OT-II CD4⁺ T CELLS <i>IN VIVO</i>. FIGURE 4-6. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT SUPRESSES T-BET EXPRESSION IN ADOPTIVELY TRANSFERRED OT-II CD4⁺ T CELLS <i>IN VIVO</i>. FIGURE 4-7. TOFACITINIB CITRATE ADMINISTRATION <i>IN VIVO</i> DOES NOT AFFECT THE CAPACITY OF ADOPTIVELY TRANSFERRED CD4⁺ T CELLS <i>IN VIVO</i>. FIGURE 4-8. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISTRATION <i>IN VIVO</i> T-BET EXPRESSION AND PRESERVES CAPACITY FOR IFNY AND IL-2 PRODUCTION OF ENDOGENOUS CD4⁺ T CELLS IN THE ADOPTIVE TRANSFER EXPERIMENT. FIGURE 5-1. EXPERIMENTAL PROTOCOL OF OVALBUMIN (OVA)-MEDIATED EARLY RA MOUSE MODEL INDUCTION AND TOFACITINIB ADMINISTRATION. FIGURE 5-2. TOFACITINIB TREATMENT REDUCES BASAL LEVELS OF STAT3 PHOSPHORYLATION IN BOTH CD4⁺ AND CD4⁻ CIRCULATING LEUKOCYTES OF EARLY RA MOUSE MODEL. FIGURE 5-3. ADOPTIVELY TRANSFERRED OT-II CD4⁺ TH 1 CELLS EXHIBIT NO CHANGES IN T-BET EXPRESSION
 PHOSPHORYLATION IN THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS AT BOTH BASAL STATE AND FOLLOUCLS STATS PHOSPHORYLATION IN THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS AT BOTH BASAL STATE AND FOLLOWING <i>EX VIVO</i> CYTOKINE STIMULATION. 165 FIGURE 4-4. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES BASAL LEVELS OF PHOSPHORYLATED STAT3 IN THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS OF ADOPTIVE TRANSFER MOUSE MODEL. 169 FIGURE 4-5. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DOES NOT AFFECT PROLIFERATION OR ACTIVATION OF ADOPTIVELY TRANSFERRED OT-II CD4⁺ T CELLS <i>IN VIVO</i>. FIGURE 4-6. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT SUPRESSES T-BET EXPRESSION IN ADOPTIVELY TRANSFERRED OT-II CD4⁺ T CELLS <i>IN VIVO</i>. FIGURE 4-7. TOFACITINIB CITRATE ADMINISTRATION <i>IN VIVO</i> DOES NOT AFFECT THE CAPACITY OF ADOPTIVELY TRANSFERRED CD4⁺ T CELLS <i>IN VIVO</i>. FIGURE 4-8. TOFACITINIB CITRATE ADMINISTRATION <i>IN VIVO</i> DOES NOT AFFECT THE CAPACITY OF ADOPTIVELY TRANSFERRED CD4⁺ T CELLS TO PRODUCE IFNY OR IL-2. FIGURE 4-8. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES <i>IN VIVO</i> T-BET EXPRESSION AND PRESERVES CAPACITY FOR IFNY AND IL-2 PRODUCTION OF ENDOGENOUS CD4⁺ T CELLS IN THE ADOPTIVE TRANSFER EXPERIMENT. FIGURE 5-1. EXPERIMENTAL PROTOCOL OF OVALBUMIN (OVA)-MEDIATED EARLY RA MOUSE MODEL INDUCTION AND TOFACITINIB ADMINISTRATION. FIGURE 5-2. TOFACITINIB TREATMENT REDUCES BASAL LEVELS OF STAT3 PHOSPHORYLATION IN BOTH CD4⁺ AND CD4⁻ CIRCULATING LEUKOCYTES OF EARLY RA MOUSE MODEL. INDUCTION AND TOFACITINIB ADMINISTRATION. FIGURE 5-3. ADOPTIVELY TRANSFERRED OT-II CD4⁺ TH1 CELLS EXHIBIT NO CHANGES IN T-BET EXPRESSION OR CAPACITY TO PRODUCE IFNY UPON REPEATED ANTIGENIC CHALLENGE IN THE PRESENCE OF
HIGURE 4-3. A SINGLE TO ACTINUE CHINE CHINE DOLE ADMINISTIATION IN WORKEDOLS STATS PHOSPHORYLATION IN THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS AT BOTH BASAL STATE AND FOLLOWING <i>EX VIVO</i> CYTOKINE STIMULATION. 165 FIGURE 4-4. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES BASAL LEVELS OF PHOSPHORYLATED STATS IN 169 FIGURE 4-5. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DOES NOT AFFECT PROLIFERATION OR ACTIVATION OF 169 FIGURE 4-5. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DOES NOT AFFECT PROLIFERATION OR ACTIVATION OF 170 FIGURE 4-6. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT SUPRESSES T-BET EXPRESSION IN ADOPTIVELY 173 FIGURE 4-7. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT SUPRESSES T-BET EXPRESSION IN ADOPTIVELY 173 FIGURE 4-7. TOFACITINIB CITRATE ADMINISTRATION <i>IN VIVO</i> . 173 FIGURE 4-7. TOFACITINIB CITRATE ADMINISTRATION <i>IN VIVO</i> DOES NOT AFFECT THE CAPACITY OF 174 ADOPTIVELY TRANSFERRED CD4 ⁺ T CELLS <i>IO</i> PRODUCE IFNY OR IL-2. 174 FIGURE 4-8. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES <i>IN VIVO</i> T-BET EXPRESSION AND PRESERVES 174 FIGURE 5-1. EXPERIMENT. 177 FIGURE 5-1. EXPERIMENT. 177 FIGURE 5-2. TOFACITINIB ADMINISTRATION. 195 FIGURE 5-2. TOFACITINIB TREATMENT REDUCES BASAL LEVELS OF STAT3 PHOSPHORYLATION IN BOTH CD4 ⁺ AND CD4 ⁻ CIRCULATING LEUKOCYTES OF EARLY RA MOUSE MODEL ADOPTIVELY TRANS
HIGHLE 4-3. A SINGLE TO ACTINUE OF ACTIVE DOL ADMINISTRATION IN WINC REDOKED STATS PHOSPHORYLATION IN THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS AT BOTH BASAL STATE AND FOLLOWING <i>EX VIVO</i> CYTOKINE STIMULATION.
 HIGURE 4-3. A SINGLE TO FACTINITIE UDGE ADMINISTRATION IN VINO REDUCES STATS PHOSPHORYLATION IN THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS AT BOTH BASAL STATE AND FOLLOWING <i>EX VIVO</i> CYTOKINE STIMULATION.
HIGURE 4-3. A SINGLE TO ACTINIB CITRATE DODE ADMINISTINATION IN VINO REDUCED STATS PHOSPHORYLATION IN THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS AT BOTH BASAL STATE AND FOLLOWING <i>EX VIVO</i> CYTOKINE STIMULATION. FIGURE 4-4. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES BASAL LEVELS OF PHOSPHORYLATED STATS IN THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS OF ADOPTIVE TRANSFER MOUSE MODEL. 169 FIGURE 4-5. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DOES NOT AFFECT PROLIFERATION OR ACTIVATION OF ADOPTIVELY TRANSFERRED OT-II CD4* T CELLS <i>IN VIVO</i> . 170 FIGURE 4-6. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT SUPRESSES T-BET EXPRESSION IN ADOPTIVELY TRANSFERRED OT-II CD4* T CELLS <i>IN VIVO</i> . 173 FIGURE 4-7. TOFACITINIB CITRATE ADMINISTRATION <i>IN VIVO</i> DOES NOT AFFECT THE CAPACITY OF ADOPTIVELY TRANSFERRED CD4* T CELLS IN VIVO. 174 FIGURE 4-8. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES <i>IN VIVO</i> DOES NOT AFFECT THE CAPACITY OF ADOPTIVELY TRANSFERRED CD4* T CELLS TO PRODUCE IFNY OR IL-2. 174 FIGURE 4-8. TOFACITINIB CITRATE TREATMENT DIMINISHES <i>IN VIVO</i> T-BET EXPRESSION AND PRESERVES CAPACITY FOR IFNY AND IL-2 PRODUCTION OF ENDOGENOUS CD4* T CELLS IN THE ADOPTIVE TRANSFER EXPERIMENT. 177 FIGURE 5-1. EXPERIMENTAL PROTOCOL OF OVALBUMIN (OVA)-MEDIATED EARLY RA MOUSE MODEL INDUCTION AND TOFACITINIB ADMINISTRATION. 195 FIGURE 5-2. TOFACITINIB TREATMENT REDUCES BASAL LEVELS OF STAT3 PHOSPHORYLATION IN BOTH CD4* AND CD4' CIRCULATING LEUKOCYTES OF EARLY RA MOUSE MODEL. 196
HIGURE 4-3. FAINTIEL POSTE ADMINISTRATION WIVE TRADECED STATS PHOSPHORYLATION IN THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS AT BOTH BASAL STATE AND FOLLOUS STATS PHOSPHORYLATION IN THE WHOLE BLOOD CELLS AT BOTH BASAL STATE AND FOLLOUS STATS Intervision of the state state of the stat

FIGURE 5-6. TOFACITINIB ADMINISTRATION HAS NO IMPACT ON ANTI-OVA ANTIBODY RESPONSES IN R/	4
MOUSE MODEL	207
FIGURE 5-7. SERUM ANTI-CII ANTIBODY TITRATION IN THE EARLY RA MOUSE MODEL.	209
FIGURE 5-8. TOFACITINIB TREATMENT HAS NO EFFECT ON HIND PAW SWELLING AND NOT DOES	
AMELIORATE THE INFLAMMATORY CELL INFILTRATE AND SYNOVIAL HYPERPLASIA IN AFFECTED	
JOINTS OF ARTHRITIC MICE.	212
FIGURE 6-1. THE COURSE OF RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS DEVELOPMENT AND THE STAGES DURING WHICH	-1
TOFACITINIB MIGHT HAVE AN IMPACT ON DC-MEDIATED CD4 ⁺ T CELL PRIMING	231

Acknowledgements

Firstly, I would like to deeply thank my supervisors Paul, Bob, and Iain. Their thoughtful mentorship and guidance, exceptional scientific expertise, unwavering support, and genuine investment into the project and my development have been paramount in making this PhD a positively challenging and fulfilling experience and shaping me into being (I would like to hope) a better person and a scientist. I am also grateful to them for being so accommodating with my health situation, and them believing in me has helped to overcome the many challenges along the way. I feel extremely lucky to have worked with Bob, his contagious enthusiasm for life and science, and vibrant personality creating the motivating atmosphere for others to thrive in. My gratitude extends to lain and his professional and personal support, without which this project would not have been possible.

This experience would not be the same without being a part of the LIVE (former GBM) group with its inclusive, fun, and supportive sense of community. Apart from providing invaluable scientific input and making daily lab work even more enjoyable, our group is an engaging social circle of people from different backgrounds and cultures, and for me, it became a place of friendships, a company for long pub nights and celebrating special occasions, and a supporting hand in the times of distress and uncertainty. A special thanks to Shafgat for introducing me to the lab and the city, to Claire for sharing her knowledge, companionship, and amazing cakes, to Lucy for keeping it real and generous care, to Danila for exquisite jokes and sharing the beautiful Italian culture. With this PHD being a part of the RACE programme spanning across 3 Universities, 1 also enjoyed being a part of a wider community of both PhD and senior scientists. I am grateful for an outstanding opportunity to receive additional training, learn more about both basic and clinical rheumatology research, share my work as well as make connections and engage in a fellow PhD community throughout the whole degree.

I would also like to acknowledge excellent technical and administrative support for this project. In particular, I am grateful to Anthony McDermott from the CRF animal facility for training me in animal handling with great patience and encouragement, helping me to gain confidence in this side of work and assisting in difficult situations. Another big thank you goes to Diane Vaughan for providing training with flow cytometers and helping to troubleshoot, as well as for being instrumental in running the Luminex assay. Lastly, I would like to thank Claire Wright for assisting with administrative and financial matters and being extremely supportive in a personal way.

This journey has undoubtedly been smoother with the friends firmly by my side. By sharing a flat with Anna, I not only gained a place that felt like home but found a great friend, enthusiastic travelling buddy and a stimulating influence to help me expand my comfort zone. Thank you for listening to my rants, giving me an outside perspective, and for taking me on the hikes, which have been among the many ways you helped me along my PhD journey. It would have not been the same without Kathryn, sharing her enthusiasm and snacks, and spending the long nights in the lab together. I am very grateful to Justina for being with me since our Undergraduate times and supporting me, although distantly, throughout my whole PhD.

No words would be enough to express my gratitude to my family, and particularly my wonderful mum, for their unconditional love and encouragement throughout these last 4.5 years. In particular, I am thankful to mum for inviting me to live with her for the writing period and all her effort in creating the perfect conditions for both productive work and enjoyable rest. Thank you for the supply of chocolate and hugs, mountain breaks, table game sessions, and your unshakable belief in my abilities, all of which kept me sane and helped to come through with dignity and ready for the next big challenge. I would have not been where I am without you and I hope to make you proud.

Author's Declaration

I declare that this thesis is the result of my own work. The assistance of others with conducting experiments is indicated at the beginning of the relevant chapter. No part of this thesis was submitted for any other degree at the University of Glasgow or any other institution.

Marija Bedaj

Definitions/Abbreviations

1(2) ⁰	Primary/Secondary
үс	Common gamma chain
ACPA	Anti-citrullinated protein antibody
AIA	Adjuvant-induced arthritis
AICD	Activation-induced cell death
AICDA	Activation-induced cytidine deaminase
APC	Antigen presenting cell
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BMDC	Bone marrow-derived dendritic cell
CD62L	CD62 ligand
CFSE	Carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester
CIA	Collagen-induced arthritis
CII	Collagen II
CRP	C-reactive protein
CTLA-4	Cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen
Ctrl	Control
DC	Dendritic cell
DISC	Death-inducing signalling complex
DMARD	Disease-modifying anti-rheumatic drug
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DPBS	Dulbecco's phosphate buffer saline
EAE	Experimental autoimmune encephalitis
EBV	Epstein-Barr virus
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay

- ERK Extracellular signal-regulated protein kinase
- ESR Erythrocyte sedimentation rate
- ET Essential thrombocytopenia
- FACS Fluorescence-activated cell sorting
- FasL FAS ligand
- FBS Foetal bovine serum
- FDA Food and Drug Administration
- FLS Fibroblast-like synoviocytes
- GAS Gamma-interferon-activated site
- GM-CSF Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor
- GvHD Graft-versus-host disease
- GWAS Genome-wide association studies
- HAO Heat-aggregated ovalbumin
- HEV High endothelial venule
- Hi High
- HLA Human-leukocyte antigen
- ICAM Intracellular adhesion molecule
- IFNγ Interferon gamma
- Ig Immunoglobulin
- IL Interleukin
- IS Immune synapse
- ITAM Immuno-receptor tyrosine-based activation motif
- JAK Janus kinase
- LAT Linker for the activation of T cells
- LFA-1 Lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1
- LPS Lipopolysaccharide

- Lo Low
- MCP-1 Monocyte chemotactic protein-1
- MHC Major histocompatibility complex
- MMP Matrix metalloproteinase
- moDC Monocyte-derived dendritic cell
- MRI Magnetic resonance imaging
- NFκB Nuclear factor Kappa B
- OVA(p) Ovalbumin (peptide)
- PAD Peptidyl arginine deaminase
- PBMC Peripheral blood mononuclear cell
- PBS Phosphate buffer saline
- PD-1 Programmed death-1 protein
- PD-1L Programmed death-1 ligand
- PIAS Protein inhibitor of activated STAT
- PMF Primary myelofibrosis
- pSTAT Phosphorylated signal transducer and activator of transcription
- PTP Protein tyrosine phosphatase
- PTPN22 Protein tyrosine phosphatase, non-receptor type 22
- PV Polycythemia vera
- RA Rheumatoid arthritis
- RANKL Receptor activator of nuclear factor-KB ligand
- RF Rheumatoid factor
- ROS Reactive oxygen species
- RT Room temperature
- SCID Severe combined immunodeficiency
- SD Standard deviation

- SH2 Src homology 2 (domain)
- SLE Systemic lupus erythematosus
- SMAC Supramolecular activation cluster
- SNP Single nucleotide polymorphism
- SOCS Suppressor of cytokine signalling
- STAT Signal transducer and activator of transcription
- T-bet T-box expressed in T cells
- TCR T cell receptor
- TCZ Tocilizumab
- Tfh T follicular helper cell
- TGFB Transforming growth factor beta
- Th T helper cell
- TNF Tumour necrosis factor
- tolDC Tolerogenic dendritic cell
- Treg Regulatory T cell
- Tyk2 Tyrosine kinase 2
- U-STAT Unphosphorylated signal transducer and activator of transcription
- VEGF Vascular endothelial growth factor
- X-SCID X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency

1 Introduction

1.1 Rheumatoid arthritis

1.1.1 Definition

Rheumatoid arthritis is a chronic inflammatory autoimmune condition characterized by inflammation of the joint synovial membrane (synovitis) and progressive degradation of articular cartilage and bone erosion, manifesting in chronic joint pain and progressive deterioration of physical function. Articular symptoms are accompanied by constitutional symptoms and extra-articular (systemic) co-morbidities which contribute to diminished quality of life, increased disease severity and mortality.

1.1.2 Clinical manifestations

Rheumatoid arthritis characteristically presents as a polyarticular disease with a symmetrical pattern of joint involvement, although an asymmetric/monoarticular arthritis can also occur at early presentation. The disease has a gradual onset and patients typically present with joint pain and swelling, alongside stiffness, which occurs after prolonged periods of inactivity (e.g. in the morning) and typically lasts for an hour or longer. Some patients on onset exhibit palindromic rheumatism, manifested by recurring acute self-limiting episodes, with up to two-thirds developing a chronic disease form.^{1,2}

The swelling typically affects small joints of the hands and feet (including metatarsophalangeal, metacarpophalangeal and proximal interphalangeal joints) and wrist joints. Although more rarely affected, larger joints such as elbow, shoulder, ankle, and knee may also be involved. Distal interphalangeal joints are largely spared in RA. The swelling appears tender ('soft') due to the inflamed synovial joint membrane (synovitis) and fluid in the joint (effusion). When digits are involved, the swelling is usually focused around the joint (fusiform) without extending to the whole digit.³

Constitutional symptoms can also arise, which are non-specific for RA but are carefully considered during differential diagnosis. Fatigue is present in nearly all patients, with low-grade fever, low mood/depression, loss of appetite and weight loss also predominant at the disease onset.¹ Extra-articular complications/manifestations are also evidenced to develop in approximately 40% of patients and associate with more active/severe disease, thus requiring more aggressive treatment and close monitoring.^{4,5} The most common manifestation is rheumatoid nodules, found in as many as 30% of patients and associated with disease severity and worse prognosis^{6,7}. The fibrinoid nodules are firm lumps typically present subcutaneously next to extensor surfaces (e.g. knuckles, elbows), but can also occur at internal sites such as lung or heart^{1,8,9}. The nodules are normally painless and asymptomatic, but can also compromise function, ulcerate, and become infected. Rheumatoid vasculitis is a rare but potentially most severe extra-articular feature, manifested in patients with a long-term nodular seropositive RA.¹⁰ Vasculitis is a necrotizing inflammation of the small and medium-sized arteries, mostly involving the skin and peripheral nerves. The majority of patients develop subcutaneous vasculitis, manifested by purpura, ulcers and digital necrosis, but the involvement of major organs systems (cardiac, renal, nervous), although less frequent, can notably contribute to disease severity and mortality¹¹.

Patients with established RA can also present with multiple (2-3) comorbidities simultaneously. Among those, cardiovascular disease is the most common and is associated with excess mortality (by 50%) compared to the general population¹². The development of atherosclerosis-related cardiovascular conditions in RA is potentiated by chronic inflammation and other RA-associated factors alongside the conventional cardiovascular risk factors¹³. Other frequent comorbidities include infections (particularly opportunistic), osteoporosis, pulmonary, gastrointestinal and neurological disorders^{14,15,8,16,17}. The susceptibility to these similarly results from a combined contribution of traditional and RA-linked risk factors, as well as the presence of extra-articular manifestations or specific treatment regimen^{16,18}. Apart from increasing mortality, comorbidities can impact the accuracy of the diagnosis, the overall patient (functional) performance and tolerability of certain antirheumatic drugs, thus their

monitoring, management, and prevention, if possible, is important in the overall treatment of RA.

1.1.3 Impact on patient quality of life

Considering the burden of the above constitutional and disease-specific symptoms, the health-related quality of life (HRQoL) is evidently compromised in RA patients when compared to the general population.¹⁹ HRQoL is a multifactorial concept encompassing/overarching physical, mental and social domains of individuals' well-being, and represents a valuable measure of disease clinical state and the treatment outcome from a patients' perspective.^{20,21} The major determinants impairing the quality of life in RA sufferers appear to be diminished physical function, pain, fatigue, sleep disturbances and depression. The compromised physical function leads to reduced productivity in the workplace, and an estimated 44% of RA patients permanently lose their working performance, particularly if involving physically demanding work, within 10 years from the diagnosis.²² However, the adjustments of working conditions may allow a substantial proportion of patients to remain employed. ²³ The majority of personal and instrumental daily tasks (e.g. shopping, driving, household chores) also become progressively difficult to perform due to physical limitations, which leads to loss of independence and sense of control. The alterations in both work and daily activities, along with the limitations imposed on leisure/recreation, have a hugely detrimental impact on patient's self-identity, their role in a family and social engagement.²⁴

Pain, one of the key symptoms of RA, is another major concern among patients, and despite one of the therapeutic endpoints of most antirheumatic compounds being pain alleviation, the substantial levels of residual pain are nevertheless reported. The pain was found to increase with disease duration, while its incidence positively correlates with the older age of the patients.²⁵ A history of depression appeared to predispose patients to experience higher levels of pain, while the pain itself likely contributed to the RA-associated sleep

disturbances.^{26,27} Patients indicated that pain, similarly to aggravated physical function, imposed limitations of their everyday activities and participation in any form of exercise/sport, thereby making them feel 'frustrated', 'angry' and 'helpless'.^{24,28} In line with this, in a cohort of RA patients, the pain was rated first among the factors affecting the quality of life. Fatigue is another common and debilitating symptom estimated to affect >80% of RA patients on a daily basis, with 40% of cases accounting for clinically relevant fatigue.²⁹ RAassociated fatigue was found to most strongly correlate with altered physical functioning, pain, and depression, and appeared to increase with symptom duration and lack of social support, suggesting its strong association with psychosocial variables and not simply a clinical disease status.^{30,31} The impact of targeted treatment on the fatigue is contradictory, and while some studies demonstrate the persistence of (baseline) fatigue levels despite clinical disease improvement, other research indicates a small to moderate significant alleviation of fatigue following biologic therapy.^{32,33} In a qualitative study evaluating patients' perception of RA-associated fatigue, participants described the fatigue as 'overwhelming', 'unresolving' and unpredictable. The consequences of fatigue were reported to put restrictions on all spheres of individuals' life (activities, relationships, emotions), and the patients were attempting to cope using various self-management strategies (pacing, rest, persistence) with varying success.³⁴ The importance of fatigue was further reflected by it being identified among the key domains requiring improvement in order to achieve patient-perceived remission.³⁵

The experience of physical disability/limitations, pain and fatigue inevitably impacts the mental state of the RA patients, with the prevalence of depressive symptoms ranging from 6.4% to 41.5% in affected individuals.³⁵ Depression is associated with increased health care utilization, reduced adherence to treatment regimens and poorer clinical responses to treatment.^{36,37} Remarkably, comorbid depression appeared to independently increase the risk of mortality in RA patients.³⁸ A causal relationship was suggested between pain and depression, with severe pain leading to worsened mental state, and depression reciprocally worsening the pain experience.³⁹ Patients reported depressive episodes to be more common during the early course of the disease and related primarily to decline in physical function and the associated loss of valued activities, as well

as uncertainty about the future.^{24,40} Expectedly, depression results in a more negative perception of illness and impaired coping strategies, together with a hopeless outlook on the possibility of cure.⁴¹ Thus, depression appears to be interlinked with all other major factors influencing RA-associated quality of life and represents a significant burden for the patient's overall well-being. Hence, a number of factors aside from physical function appear to significantly influence the quality of life of RA patients and should be carefully considered during both diagnosis and assessment of the patient-centred treatment outcome. The management of these symptoms, either therapeutic or palliative, should also be considered where possible.

1.1.4 Diagnosis

The identification of RA at the initial presentation and a rapid aggressive therapeutic intervention at the early disease stage is extremely important since it can determine the subsequent course of disease progression, prevent joint damage, and potentially allow to achieve remission. However, this approach presents with a number of challenges, including a considerable heterogeneity of the presentations of early synovitis and the subsequent disease course, as well as the administration of unsuitable treatment to the large proportion of patients lacking definitive RA diagnosis, which is both costly and unsafe. Despite current advances and arising challenges in the disease understanding, the staple diagnostic tools remain limited and are briefly discussed below.

1.1.4.1 ACR/EULAR Classification criteria 2010

No specific diagnostic criteria have been established for early (undifferentiated) arthritis, and the joint symptoms at the onset are also often difficult to distinguish from the other types of inflammatory polyarthritis. Until recently,

the classification criteria from 1987, developed by the American College of Rheumatology (ACR) for stratification and standardizing of the RA patient groups recruited for clinical trials and based predominantly on the symptoms from longterm patients, was also widely employed for diagnostic purposes⁴². However, this approach lacked the power to provide differential RA diagnosis and discriminate patients at the disease onset that would benefit from early intervention/treatment. Thus, the criteria were revised by ACR in collaboration with European League Against Rheumatism (EULAR) in 2010, with the intention of improving the identification of patients with early undifferentiated RA that are at risk of developing the persistent/erosive disease⁴³.

According to the 2010 ACR/EULAR classification, a definitive RA requires the presence of at least 1 joint with clinical swelling (synovitis), the absence of an alternative condition that may better explain synovitis and a total score of ≥ 6 (out of maximal 10) after combining the individual scores from 4 domains (Table 1-1). The domains include: number and distribution of involved joints (0-5 points), serological abnormality (presence of RF, ACPA or both antibodies) (0-3 points); elevated levels of one of acute phase reactants (erythrocyte sedimentation rate(ESR) or C-reactive protein (CRP)) and symptom duration of ≥ 6 weeks each contribute a single point⁴³. The updated diagnostic criteria were repeatedly verified to have a higher sensitivity for recognising patients with early RA when compared to the older classification system^{44,45}. Importantly, the patients with established diseases can also benefit from the revised classification, as it has the inclusion criteria for patients with long-term inactive disease and a history fitting the required criteria.

Table 1-1. Classification criteria for definitive RA diagnosis*

Classification criteria **	Points
Domain A: Joint involvement (0-5 points)	
1 large joint	0
2-10 large joints	1
1-3 small joints (regardless of large joint involvement)	2
4-10 small joints (regardless of large joint involvement)	3
>10 small joints (≥1 small joint)	5
Domain B: Serology (0-3 points)	
Negative RF AND negative ACPA	0
Low-positive RF OR low-positive APCA	2
High-positive RF OR high-positive ACPA	3
Domain C: Acute phase reactants (0-1 points)	
Normal CPR AND normal ESR	0
Abnormal CRP OR abnormal ESR	1
Domain D: Symptom duration (0-1 points)	
< 6 weeks	0
≥ 6 weeks	1

*Adapted from the updated RA classification criteria developed by American College of Rheumatology (ACR) and European League Against Rheumatism (EULAR) in 2010⁴³

**Patients eligible for testing based on above criteria must have at least 1 joint with active clinical synovitis (swelling) in the absence of an alternative condition that might better explain the synovitis

1.1.4.2 Serological markers

Serological assessment of both specific acute phase reactant and autoantibody levels is a part of the ACR/EULAR 2010 diagnostic approach. The increased levels of acute phase proteins, erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR) and C-reactive protein (CRP), most accurately indicate the ongoing inflammatory response. Although not specific for a particular disease, the elevated CRP levels in RA closely correlate with clinical disease activity and radiographic damage progression^{46,47}. Unlike ESR, changes in CRP levels indicate more recent changes in disease activity, and therefore also have a strong predictive value of the early response to treatment^{47,48}.

Rheumatoid factor (RF) and anti-citrullinated peptide antibody (ACPA) (more often termed anti-cyclic citrullinated peptide (anti-CCP)) antibodies are autoantibodies commonly used as diagnostic and prognostic markers in RA. RF is an antibody recognising the crystallizable (Fc) fragment of the human IgG molecule. RF is detected in 60-90% of patients with established disease but only in half of the patients with early RA. RF can also occur in other autoimmune and infectious diseases and malignancies and occasionally detected in healthy controls, thus not being exclusively specific for RA. However, despite its moderate specificity (85%), high titres of RF are strongly predictive of the worse prognosis of erosive disease ⁴⁸.

Anti-CCP antibodies are autoantibodies recognising citrulline residue on the peptides and proteins and are long thought to be implicated in the pathogenesis of RA⁴⁹. In line with that, anti-CCP antibodies exhibit high specificity (>90%) for RA at initial presentation/early RA and can be detected, particularly in older patients, prior to the clinical disease onset.^{50,51,52} Similarly, seropositivity for anti-CCP in patients with undifferentiated inflammatory arthritis can confer susceptibility for the RA development, particularly in genetically predisposed individuals.⁵³ Anti-CCP antibodies are highly specific as a diagnostic tool for RA and can help to differentiate RA from other inflammatory arthritic conditions. The presence/high titres of anti-CCP at diagnosis was shown to significantly correlate with higher disease activity and poor prognosis (development of erosive RA).⁵⁴ Overall, the detection of both RF and anti-CCP in the patient serum enhances the diagnostic specificity.⁵⁵

1.1.4.3 Imaging

Together with clinical examination and laboratory assessment, imaging is the third essential part of the diagnostic process. The conventional imaging modality is radiography, performed on all patients on the first medical assessment and thus allowing the follow up on the disease progression. The benefits of this method include its universal availability, low costs, and high reproducibility. The early-stage features detectable by radiography are soft tissue swelling and juxta-articular osteoporosis, detected with most sensitivity in wrists, metacarpophalangeal and metatarsophalangeal joints, however, the technique has limited sensitivity for identifying early inflammatory bone involvement and bone damage, important for the definitive RA diagnosis. The characteristic radiographic lesions, such as joint space narrowing, established bone erosions and joint malalignment, tend to appear later in the disease course.⁵⁶

Upon the emergence of the potent and costly therapeutics (such as anti-tumour necrosis factor (α -TNF) agents), there was an increased demand for improving the diagnosis of patients with early aggressive RA, who would benefit from an early (therapeutic) intervention⁵⁷. Thus, ultrasonography (ultrasound sonography) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) were employed as more sensitive modalities for assessing joint changes in RA. While ultrasonography allows detecting both joint inflammation (synovitis) and structural changes in the joint (including tenosynovitis, bursitis and to some extent cartilage damage and bone erosions) with precision superior to clinical assessment, it has low reproducibility and the disease activity scoring has not yet been standardized for this method.⁵⁶ MRI is the most sensitive technique to date, being superior to ultrasound (and radiography) in providing a three-dimensional view of the affected area and detecting subtle changes with the aid of contrast agents, thus allowing to predict the risk of joint damage development prior to its clinical appearance. Importantly, MRI enables to detect bone oedema, which is a strong independent predictor of subsequent bone erosion⁵⁸. Lastly, semi-quantitative and quantitative measurements of synovitis can be performed by contrastenhanced MRI, thus providing additional details about disease activity⁵⁹.

1.1.5 Epidemiology

Rheumatoid arthritis is one of the most common chronic inflammatory disorders, with an average prevalence of 0.5-1% reported among several European and North American Caucasian populations.^{60,61,62,63} Studies in Southeast Asian and rural African populations have demonstrated the lowest disease occurrence (0.1-0.3%) while Native American groups (Pima and Chippewa Indians) had the highest detected incidence of RA (up to 6.8%).^{64,65,66,67} Gender appears to affect

susceptibility to RA, with women two to three times more likely to develop a disease, possibly due to the effects of oestrogen on the immune and synovial cell function.^{68,69} However, female reproductive hormones may also be protective, as the use of oral contraceptive pill and pregnancy) are both linked to the decreased risk of RA development.^{70,71} Studies assessing familial recurrence risk in (co-)twins of an affected individual (proband) across several twin cohorts showed the increased concordance rates between monozygotic twins.^{72,73} In line with this, the family history of RA is considered one of the most notable risks for disease development, which, however, is relatively modest compared to other autoimmune disorders, such as type I diabetes and multiple sclerosis. The above facts suggest the importance of genetic component in the susceptibility to RA, which will be discussed further. While age represents another risk factor, with the disease onset being common at the middle age (around 45 years of age), RA occurs at the age range spanning from 16 years old to elderly age (75 and beyond).

1.1.6 Risk factors

1.1.6.1 Genetic factors

Rheumatoid arthritis has a complex/multifactorial aetiology, with the overall genetic contribution to the disease susceptibility estimated to be 60% and the remaining input conferred by environmental factors.⁷² Pioneering observations suggested a strong association between RA susceptibility and certain alleles of human leukocyte antigen (HLA) HLA-DR, over-represented in RA patients. With the advent of modern DNA sequencing techniques, Gregersen et al. in 1987 identified a 5 amino acid motif (in positions 70-74) within the third hypervariable region of the HLA-DRB1 gene, encoded by several distinct DRB1 alleles and thereby termed a 'shared epitope'.⁷⁴ This shared amino sequence was found to form part of the peptide-binding groove of HLA-DRB1 molecule, leading to the assumption of antigen presentation playing a significant role in the disease pathogenesis. The most well-established risk-conferring alleles

encoding shared epitope motifs are members of HLA-DRB1*04 allele group (including *0401, *0404, *0405, *0408), HLA-DRB1*0101 or *0102 and HLA-DRB1*1001 alleles, with the amino acid sequence most common in the Caucasian population, QKRAA, encoded by HLA-DRB1*0401 allele.⁷⁵ A unique feature of these susceptibility alleles in RA, in contrast to other HLA-associated disorders, is the allele dosing effect, whereby patients carrying 2 shared epitope-coding alleles have a higher risk of developing a disease than patients with single RAlinked allelic polymorphism. In line with that, the presence of HLA-DRB1 variants, in particular 2 copies of the risk alleles, was consistently predictive of more severe erosive disease and higher premature death rates.^{76,77} Similarly, certain HLA-DRB1 alleles are strongly associated with anti-citrullinated protein antibody (ACPA)- positive disease phenotype, as shared-epitope DRB1 alleles are reported to preferentially bind citrullinated (self-) peptides with high affinity.⁷⁸ Interestingly, at least one DRB1-encoded epitope was found to be protective against severe disease independently of patient antibody status, but only in the absence of joint erosion.⁷⁹

Given the role of HLA (also known as MHC II) molecules in antigen presentation, the predominant hypothesis attempting to explain the mechanistic input of shared epitope in RA development suggested its role in pathology-associated self-peptide presentation⁸⁰ and in the shaping of T-cell repertoire⁸¹. However, several other autoimmune disorders with unrelated causative epitopes and distinct pathogenic profiles, including autoimmune hepatitis⁸¹ and Type I diabetes⁸², also have their predisposition associated with DRB1 allelic variants, thereby contradicting the paradigm of antigen specificity attributed to the shared epitope. Recently, du Montcel and colleagues have re-defined a 'shared epitope' concept and proposed a new classification of susceptibility alleles based on the amino acid residues present at specific sequence positions, which improved the hierarchical classification of HLA-DRB1 alleles and thus refined prediction of HLA-DRB1-linked disease susceptibility, severity and treatment outcome.⁸³ This advanced system might represent a tool for potentially unraveling the mechanisms underlying HLA-DRB1 allele contribution to RA development and possibly identifying the candidate arthritogenic epitopes.

The advent of genome-wide association studies (GWAS) and the subsequent trans-ethnic meta-analysis in both European and Asian populations lead to the identification of over 100 gene loci outside HLA/MHC gene region, the specific sequence variants (single nucleotide polymorphisms, SNPs) of which were associated with RA susceptibility. The relative contribution of each individual non-HLA SNP to phenotypic disease variance was estimated at 0.08%, while together with HLA susceptibility alleles they accounted for 19.5% of disease variance.⁸⁴ Among non-HLA genes, the missense polymorphism in a gene encoding protein tyrosine phosphatase 22 (PTPN22) had the strongest association with RA susceptibility, primarily in Caucasian populations.^{84,85} The amino acid substitution (R620W) in PTPN22 gene results in the inability of its product, lymphocyte phosphatase (Lyp), to form a complex with its partner kinase (Csk), and thereby abrogates the Lyp/Csk synergistic capacity for effective negative regulation of proximal T cell receptor (TCR) signalling.^{86,87} Other important, albeit weaker, associations were identified between RA risk and gene variants crucial for immune system function, including tumour necrosis factor receptorassociated factor-1/complement component 5 (TRAF1-C5), signal transducer and activator of transcription 4 (STAT4), CTLA-4, CD40, and peptidyl arginine deaminase 4 (PADI4).^{88,89,90} Interestingly, the disease risk association with some of these genes was more pronounced in certain ethnic groups, with PADI4 polymorphisms having the strongest predictive value in Asian patient cohorts.⁹¹ Moreover, certain non-HLA gene variants were found to be specifically linked with development of the anti-citrullinated peptide antibody (ACPA)-positive RA phenotype (e.g. IL-2RA) while others were predominantly reported in association with ACPA-negative disease (e.g. interferon regulatory factor 5, IRF5). In contrast, other gene variants (e.g. STAT4, PTPN22) were common in both disease serotypes.⁹² A number of individual candidate gene-association studies identified the association between (non-HLA) susceptibility genes and RA severity in the context of radiographic joint damage, but so far only the TRAF1-C5 variant has been repeatedly reported to correlate with severity of joint destruction.^{93,94,95,84}

One of the best estimates of the overall contribution of a genetic component to the RA susceptibility comes from the twin concordance studies. The degree of heritability reported in the two largest twin cohorts is very different. In the Danish cohort, the heritability in monozygotic twins was 12%, while shared and non-shared environmental factors were estimated to contribute to RA development by 50% and 38%, respectively.⁷³ However, the data from Finish and UK twin cohorts suggested the genetic contribution to be much higher (53-65%).⁷² Thus, while the contribution of genetic factors towards susceptibility to RA is substantial, although variable between twin cohorts, the environmental component is also implicated to be an important predisposing factor for disease development.

1.1.6.2 Microbiota

Among environmental factors, intestinal microbiota, which has a crucial role in the early shaping of the host immunity in homeostasis, is considered an important candidate contributing to the autoimmune response development in susceptible individuals.⁹⁶ Several studies in mouse models of both spontaneously occurring and inducible arthritis consistently demonstrated the animals kept in germ-free conditions to be protected from disease development. However, mono-colonization of these mice with certain species of intestinal bacteria appears sufficient to drive induction of inflammatory arthritis, by preferentially eliciting Th17 cell response.^{97,98} Specifically, the introduction of *Prevotella copri* species into antibiotic-treated mice demonstrated its capacity to establish dominance within gut microbiome and subsequently exacerbate the severity of chemically- induced colitis.⁹⁹ Similar observations were made in the new-onset treatment-naïve patient US cohort, in which the RA manifestation correlated with overrepresentation of *Prevotella corpi* alongside with reduction in Bacteroides species.⁹⁹ While the study in the Japanese cohort partly replicated these findings⁹⁸, a metagenomic screening of the Chinese cohort gut microbiomes revealed a distinct pattern of dysbiosis, manifested by Haemophilus species depletion and *Lactobacillus salivarius* abundance¹⁰⁰. Collectively, this data suggests that dysregulation of intestinal microbiota composition (dysbiosis) might represent an important factor underlying aberrant immune response in RA, but the universal inciting genera of symbiotic gut bacteria are yet to be identified.

Another possible epidemiological link was recently established between rheumatoid arthritis and periodontal disease. While this association is not universal, several studies so far showed periodontitis to be more prevalent in RA patients^{101,102}, and the treatment of periodontal disease appeared to concomitantly improve RA clinical status¹⁰³. Among several oral bacteria known to cause periodontitis, the investigation predominantly focused on Porphyromonas gingivalis, since it (exclusively) encodes a peptide peptidyl arginine deaminase (PAD) which can convert arginine residue to citrulline¹⁰⁴ and thereby (potentially) promote neo-epitope formation. These mucosal neoepitopes subsequently potentiate self-tolerance breakdown and production of anti-citrullinated peptide antibodies (ACPA), which represent a highly specific RA biomarker and associate with poorer disease prognosis and lower remission rates¹⁰⁵. Indeed, *Porphyromonas gingivalis* was experimentally confirmed to promote PAD-mediated citrullination of human fibrinogen and α -enolase peptides¹⁰⁶. Concurrently, antibody responses to *P.gingivalis* in patients with early RA repeatedly/consistently correlated with the presence (and higher titres) of disease-associated autoantibodies, including anti-cyclic citrullinated antibodies and ACPA^{107,108}. Collectively, the current data support the potential contributing role of periodontal disease and specifically the inciting *P. gingivalis* species in the immune tolerance breakdown and subsequent development of RA.

1.1.6.3 Infectious agents

Apart from the resident host microbiome, infections with certain microorganisms, including viruses, bacteria, and mycoplasma, may also play a part in RA etiopathogenesis. Among those, one of the most well-characterized association is between the disease and the Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) infection. The active EBV infection was detected in the synovial tissue cells of arthritis patients, while in another study ~90% of patients, in contrast to only 8% control individuals, presented with antibodies against the rheumatoid nuclear antigen (RANA), harboured by EBV-infected B lymphocytes^{109,110} Moreover, the diminished response of T cells specific for gp110, a major EBV replicative antigen, might suggest a defective control of the infection in RA patients, resulting in the spread of the EBV antigens and thus promoting persistent synovial inflammation¹¹¹. One of the proposed pathogenic mechanisms of EBV is molecular mimicry, which postulates that the microbial agent shares an epitope sequence with host self-proteins, thereby promoting epitope spreading and autoantibody generation. Thus, EBV glycoprotein gp100 harbours an amino acid motif homologous to that of the HLA-DRB04*01 shared epitope¹¹¹, while antibodies from RA patient serum binding to a sequence within EBV nuclear antigen-1 epitope appeared to be cross-reactive with epitopes on human keratin, type II collagen, and actin¹¹². In addition, EBV antigens can also undergo citrullination and thereby represent additional targets for ACPA antibodies in patients with rheumatoid arthritis¹¹³.

Urinary tract infection and its common causative bacterial agent, Proteus mirablis (*P.mirablis*), are also closely linked to aetiology of rheumatoid arthritis. Two independent studies described the presence of *P.mirablis* in the urine and the associated asymptomatic bacteriuria at much higher frequencies in RA patients compared to healthy controls or individuals with other autoimmune conditions including ankylosing spondylitis and osteoarthritis. The RA patients also presented with significantly elevated levels of antibodies against *P.mirablis* in both serum and urine samples when compared to age and gender-matched controls, while the antibody titres for other common causative agents of urinary tract infections (e.g. Escherichia coli) or intestinal commensal bacteria remained unaffected.^{114,115,116,117} These antibodies were shown to recognise bacterial epitopes on haemolysin protein (ESRRAL) and urease (IRRET) of *P.mirablis*, which closely resemble the amino acid motifs present in HLA-DR1/4 molecule epitope (EQRRAA) and type XI collagen, respectively.¹¹⁷ Thus, one of the suggested mechanisms of *P.mirablis* contribution to RA development might be the potentiation of cross-reactive antibody generation, which would target both bacterial and self-epitopes and feed into the cycle of joint tissue damage, neoepitope formation and further autoantibody generation.

Chikungunya, an emerging tropical arboviral infection, is widely reported to result in the development of post-chikungunya chronic inflammatory rheumatism, defined as musculoskeletal pain, unspecified arthralgia, or arthritis, with the latter being an RA 'mimic'. Following the acute phase of infection, characterised by viremia, high-grade fever, skin rash, and polyarthritis/polyarthralgia, patients progress into the chronic phase with persistent joint involvement, with frequencies of chronic chikungunya arthritis varying among different populations/cohorts. Thus, in a Mauritius cohort examined 27.5 months post-infection 78.6 % of patients reported persistent musculoskeletal symptoms, with 5% of infected individuals fulfilling the updated ACR criteria for rheumatoid arthritis.¹¹⁸ In another study a similar proportion of patients (75%) developed rheumatism one month post-infection, and following 10 months of illness as many as 36% of patients with joint pain were classified as having developed clinical form of RA.¹¹⁹ The infected individuals commonly presented with morning stiffness, polyarthritis affecting wrists, ankles and knees and chronic (joint) pain, all being reminiscent of clinical RA.^{119,120,121} Another indication of possible chronic arthritis development was the detection of joint effusion, bone erosion and synovial thickening in patients with chronic joint pain.¹¹⁹ However, the mechanisms by which the infection causes persistent chronic inflammatory arthritis remain elusive. One of the suggested underlying mechanisms might be long-term viral persistence, with significant levels of chikungunya virus RNA detected in the tissues of non-human primates, including joints, as well as in a single patient with chronic arthritis-like pathology.^{122,123} Similarly, high titres of chikungunya-virus specific IgM antibodies were observed for up to 180 days post-infection in patients with RA-like pathology and no previous history of musculoskeletal disorders prior to infection, suggesting the possible contribution of viral antigen persistence to pathology establishment.¹²⁴ The viral persistence itself is hypothesized to result from an inefficient immune response. For instance, the NK cells in patients with chronic chikungunya arthritis were reported to be functionally dysregulated due to reduction in perforin-positive NK cells along with the increased frequency of $TNF\alpha$ -positive NK-like T cells.¹²⁵ Another study in the chronically infected patient cohort reported the upregulation of inhibitory and downregulation of activating receptors on NK cells, with this receptor imbalance likely compromising cell anti-viral function and thus contributing to disease chronicity.¹²⁶

Cigarette smoking is an environmental factor most strongly associated with predisposition to rheumatoid arthritis development. The disease risk is positively correlated with both the amount of smoking and the duration of cigarette use, and the increased susceptibility persists even after habit cessation for 20 years or longer¹²⁷. In particular, cigarette use is associated with ACPA-positive disease phenotype¹²⁸. A gene-environment interaction appears to further potentiate the relative risk of RA, as the smokers carrying a single or double copy of the shared epitope (of the HLA-DRB1 allele) have an extremely elevated risk of developing ACPA-positive disease¹²⁹. Since smoking was found to increase the extent of cell citrullination in the alveolar lavage, it might thereby contribute to the neoepitope formation and promote the autoimmune responses to citrulline in the genetically predisposed individuals. The underlying mechanism might be explained by smoking-associated elevated lung expression levels of extracellular PAD2 enzyme, which catalyses post-translational citrullination of peptides¹³⁰. Another mechanism might involve activation of aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AHR) by several of its ligands, present in cigarette smoke.¹³¹ The resulting impact on the immune system include enhanced Th17 differentiation of T cells¹³², dysregulated bone homeostasis and bone resorption¹³³, and pro-inflammatory cytokine upregulation by fibroblast-like synoviocytes, all of which can contribute to RA pathogenesis¹³⁴.

The positive lung involvement in the RA pathogenesis led to the investigation of other air-borne pollutants as potential factors potentiating susceptibility to disease. Occupational silica exposure for the prolonged duration was incriminated as a significant risk factor for RA. More recently, high exposure to certain types of pesticides in the agricultural setting among males was also linked to the increased incidence of the disease¹³⁵.
1.1.7 Treatment

1.1.7.1 Treatment goals and challenges

Currently, rheumatoid arthritis remains an incurable condition, but the available therapeutic armamentarium allows the efficient control of the disease. The short-term treatment goals are the reduction of joint pain and swelling, and functional improvement, while the long-term goals represent the achievement of remission in early RA, defined by the absence of disease activity, or lowdisease activity in established RA, characterized by minimal remaining activity with low risk of damage progression. A treat-to-target approach is implemented to reach the above goals and comprises delivering the treatment to achieve the chosen target, assessing the intermediate response (at specific time point) and adjusting the therapy as required¹³⁶. The improvement in composite measure of clinical disease activity of 50% or above at 3 months after treatment initiation is predictive of reaching the treatment target at 6 months, while the patients who demonstrate none or poor improvement require the change of therapy in order to achieve the treatment goal¹³⁷. The treatment response on follow-up is assessed using composite measures, in which the total score combines information about several disease (activity) aspects, namely the number of tender/swollen joints, acute phase response and global health. While one of the composite measures, disease activity 28 (DAS28), was extensively validated in clinical trials, the clinical disease activity index (CDAI) and simplified disease activity index (SDAI) are equally sensitive and easier to use in daily clinical practice. Apart from the disease activity, the specific cut-off points of the above indices define the states of the disease and thus direct the appropriate treatment decisions¹³⁸. However, despite the ongoing advances in the therapeutic options and treatment guidance in RA, approximately 40% of all patients remain refractory even after consecutive treatment with several biological disease modifying drugs (bDMARDs)(reviewed below), thus a new treatment strategy is urgently needed. The emerging aspiration, taking into account the heterogeneity of pathobiological and underlying immunological

profiles, is to provide a personalised therapy based on the individual patient disease endotype¹³⁹.

The main classes of current therapeutic agents employed for RA management are briefly described below and summarized (with exception of Janus kinase (JAK) inhibitors) in Table 1-2Error! Reference source not found..

1.1.7.2 Conventional synthetic disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs (csDMARDs)

RA patients are treated with disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs (DMARDs), which are therapeutic agents designed to reduce disease symptoms, prevent, or reduce joint damage and maintain joint integrity and function. Conventional synthetic DMARDs (csDMARDs) were approved for RA treatment through empirical testing and include methotrexate, sulfasalazine, leflunomide, and hydroxychloroquine, used either as a monotherapy or in combination. Methotrexate is the first line DMARD used in the patients with active RA that demonstrates excellent efficacy as a monotherapy and allows to achieve sustained remission or low disease activity in nearly 50% of patients when combined with glucocorticoids¹⁴⁰. Glucocorticoids or non-steroid antiinflammatory drugs are implemented only as adjunctive therapy for initial control of inflammation between the time of diagnosis and initiation of treatment with DMARDs, or during the time required for DMARDs to initiate a response, and are only used short term due to adverse side effects.¹⁴¹ Methotrexate monotherapy also demonstrates comparable efficacy to biologic DMARDs (e.g. anti-tumour necrosis factor (TNF) therapy) and, importantly, both biologic and synthetic targeted DMARDs show greater efficacy when combined with methotrexate than either of the drugs have as a monotherapy^{140,142}. Conversely, the combination of methotrexate with other csDMARDs does not appear superior to the methotrexate alone, mainly due to the increased toxicity.¹⁴² Methotrexate was designed as a competitive folate (folic acid) antagonist, which inhibits folate binding to enzyme dihydrofolate reductase and

thereby interferes with the generation of tetrahydrofolate, required for *de novo* synthesis of purines. However, the successful management of the drug side effects by folate supplementation without compromising its efficacy seems to contradict the above mechanism. The dominant hypothesis explaining methotrexate efficacy is based on the drug ability to increase the extracellular levels of adenosine (cAMP), and the subsequent binding of adenosine to its receptor A2A subtype results in immunosuppression through suppression of neutrophil and macrophage pro-inflammatory function, pro-inflammatory cytokine production, and inhibition of lymphocyte activation and proliferation^{142,143}.

If the use of methotrexate is contradicted, the prescription of alternative csDMARD such as leflunomide or sulfasalazine is preferential to any targeted DMARD, due to their oral formulation and a smaller risk of serious side effects. In case of patients failing to respond to a csDMARDs mono- or combination therapy within first 3 to 6 months, addition of biological DMARD (or targeted synthetic DMARD) is suggested as a second line treatment.¹⁴¹

1.1.7.3 Biological disease modifying anti-rheumatic drugs (bDMARDs)

1.1.7.3.1 Anti-TNF therapy

In contrast to conventional DMARDs, the biological DMARDs were developed to target specific molecules such as cytokines or cell surface receptors involved in the aberrant immune response. Among those molecules, the first cytokine validated as a therapeutic target was tumour necrosis factor (TNF), which has a central role in potentiating synovial inflammation, synovial hyperplasia, and subsequent cartilage and bone degradation in RA setting.^{144,145,146,146} In line with this, on the biological level TNF inhibition results in downregulation of a range of inflammatory cytokines, diminished leukocyte recruitment to the joints, reduced angiogenesis and lower levels of matrix metalloproteinases.^{147,148} Clinically, this

translates into efficient and sustained symptomatic control alongside halted radiographic joint damage.¹⁴⁹

There are currently 5 anti-TNF α compounds approved for clinical use: infliximab and adalimumab (recombinant monoclonal anti-TNF α antibodies), golimumab (human anti-TNF α antibody) and etanercept (soluble TNF receptor-Fc fusion protein), and certolizumab (pegol)(humanised Fab fragment conjugated to polyethylene glycol). While all the compounds function by binding soluble form of TNF α and inhibiting its interaction with TNF receptor complex, they have different pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic profiles which might determine their differences in efficiency and safety.^{150,151} TNF inhibitors are recommended over csDMARDs as initial treatment for the patients with moderate to severe disease activity, as they allow to achieve more rapid symptom improvement with comparable efficacy¹⁵². Combination therapy of any anti-TNF agent with methotrexate demonstrated superior efficacy compared to either drug used as a monotherapy, leading to a reduction in inflammation, inhibition of radiographic progression, improvement in physical function, and when using infliximab or etanercept, the achievement of clinical remission in higher proportion of patients.^{153,154,155,156,157,158,159} The common adverse effects of the therapy include the occurrence of serious infections, such as tuberculosis and pneumonia, and injection site reactions, however, these are rare and usually well-tolerated. Other shortcomings include high cost and the secondary response failure (loss of response to infliximab and adalimumab) due to the formation of anti-drug antibodies.¹⁶⁰

Patients failing to respond to the initial anti-TNF agent may benefit from switching to a second anti-TNF drug, with this recommendation applying to other biologic DMARDs. In the absence of response, no significant advantage was demonstrated between switching to the different agent with the same mode of action compared to a bDMARD targeting a different pathway. If the treatment target (low disease activity or remission) is reached and maintained for at least 6 months, the successful therapy is continued with potential dose reduction and increasing intervals between treatment. ^{142,141}

1.1.7.3.2 IL-6 receptor inhibitors

IL-6 is another major pro-inflammatory cytokine with pleiotropic function, which has an important role in the pathogenesis of RA. Elevated levels of IL-6 were detected in the serum and synovial fluid of RA patients, and significantly correlated with the disease activity and radiological joint damage.^{161,162} In the synovium, IL-6 is mainly produced by resident fibroblast-like synoviocytes (FLS), and in turn acts in autocrine fashion by promoting secretion of other bioactive molecules (e.g. interferon gamma (IFNy), receptor activator of nuclear factor-κB ligand (RANKL), matrix metalloproteinase 3 (MMP-3)) ,which contribute to arthritic symptom induction, stimulating FLS proliferation, as well as inducing other immune cell activation, thereby creating a self-sustained inflammatory loop.¹⁶³ IL-6 is also responsible for systemic RA symptoms such as fatigue, anaemia and acute phase response.^{164,165,166,167} All the above distinguish IL-6 as an attractive candidate for therapeutic targeting.

The IL-6 inhibitors are represented by tocilizumab (TCZ), a humanized anti-IL-6R antibody, and more recently developed sarilumab, a human anti-IL6R antibody, which has higher affinity and longer half-life but demonstrates efficacy similar to its predecessor.^{168,169} TCZ functions by binding to both membrane-bound and soluble IL-6R, preventing IL-6 binding to IL-6R and thus interfering with IL-6R/gp130 receptor complex formation, necessary for IL-6 signaling.¹⁶⁹ TCZ is used patients with moderate to severe RA and shows favourable efficacy in DMARD-naïve patients, as well as patients refractory to csDMARD, methotrexate or TNF inhibitor treatment.^{170,171,172,173} A notable benefit of TCZ is the improvement of clinical symptoms and halted joint damage when used as a monotherapy, but the addition of csDMARDs may further enhance its therapeutic effect.^{174,175} Importantly, TCZ reduces fatigue and morning stiffness while also improving physical function, thus positively influencing the patient quality of life.¹⁷⁶ The drug also has low antigenicity, thus appears to be retained for longer than TNF inhibitors and has lower incidence of secondary response failure.^{177,178} TCZ withdrawal most commonly occurs due to adverse events such as stealth

infections, presenting a serious problem due to TCZ suppressing early infection symptoms which are often overlooked. Other side effects include lower gastrointestinal tract perforations, liver enzyme abnormalities leading to liver damage, with neutropenia, thrombocytopenia, and dyslipidaemia also being common.¹⁷⁸. Drug-free remission is attainable in patients both receiving TCZ long-term as a monotherapy and in combination with methotrexate, and the sustained low disease activity is achieved with the removal of concomitant administration of csDMARDs or with continued methotrexate use, respectively.^{179,180}

1.1.7.3.3 Anti-IL1 receptor antagonist

IL-1 is another important pro-inflammatory mediator in RA, which promotes fibroblast-like synoviocytes to proliferate and, alongside with chondrocyte, to secrete matrix metalloproteinases, as well as indirectly promotes osteoclastogenesis, thereby potentiating cartilage degradation and bone erosion.¹⁸¹ IL-1 signals by binding to biologically active IL-1R1 and engaging an accessory protein IL-1R-AcP, while the naturally occurring IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1Ra) competitively binds to the IL-1R1 with no subsequent signal transduction, thereby regulating the biological activity of IL-1.¹⁸¹ In patients with RA, the balance between IL-1 and IL-1Ra is dramatically skewed towards IL-1 overproduction, and the elevated plasma IL-1 levels closely correlate with disease activity measures.^{182,183}With that in mind, a recombinant human form of IL-1Ra, anakinra, was developed as near-identical mimic of the endogenous IL-1Ra molecule.¹⁸⁴ However, since the complete IL-1 signaling blockade requires a high dose of the drug, anakinra needs to be delivered by subcutaneous injection daily, which is somewhat inconvenient for the patients.¹⁸⁵ Anakinra was shown to achieve a significant clinical response and reduce radiographic disease progression, either alone or combined with methotrexate, but the magnitude of the improvements was inferior to TNF inhibitors.^{186,187,187,187} Anakinra can nevertheless be used in patients who have medical contraindications to anti-TNF therapy, experience an insufficient response or serious adverse events with the latter.¹⁸⁷ The main advantage of the therapeutic IL-1Ra is a superior safety

profile with the most common adverse effect being injection site reactions, while the risk of serious infection occurrence is similar to that with TNF inhibitor treatment.¹⁸⁵ Similarly, patients with comorbidities such as congestive heart failure or demyelinating disease may benefit from anakinra therapy as opposed to anti-TNF compounds.¹⁸⁸ Overall, anakinra has good efficacy and tolerability profile but is of limited use due to the superior efficacy of other bDMARDs.

1.1.7.3.4 Anti-CD20 antibody

Therapeutic agent rituximab, developed for the treatment B cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma, was recently adopted as another modality for RA management.^{189,190} Rituximab is a chimeric antibody consisting of mouse-derived variable domain linked to the human constant domain, and recognising CD20 molecule, expressed by pre-B cells, mature naïve and memory B cells, but absent on pro-B cells, plasmablasts, and plasma cells.^{191,192} By binding to CD20 on B cell surface, rituximab mediates B cell depletion by means of antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity, complement activation and B cell apoptosis.^{193,194,195} In line with B cell role in RA pathogenesis, B cell depletion results in the elimination of antigen-presenting B cells and the associated reduction in autoreactive T cell activation, reduced cytokine production and diminished levels of autoreactive antibodies and associated immune complexes.^{196,197} The treatment achieves transient depletion of circulating CD20 B cells and synovial B cells to various degree, but the extent of the clinical response does not correlate with the magnitude of cell depletion.¹⁹⁸

Rituximab is a therapeutic option for patients with inadequate response to TNF inhibitor treatment, with the efficacy being better for individuals failing only one anti-TNF agent rather than multiple.^{199,200} In particular, rituximab is shown to achieve a superior clinical response and radiographic damage reduction in patients seropositive for RF or ACPA autoantibodies.^{201,202} B cell depletion following rituximab injection is sustained on average for 6 months, and the re-

treatment is most effective when administered according to treat-to-target strategy (usually at 24 weeks) rather than upon patient experiencing symptom exacerbation (flare) ^{202,203} The repeated treatment is efficacious and well tolerated, and may potentially increase sensitivity to the previously inefficient therapeutic option.²⁰⁴ Overall, rituximab had a favourable safety profile compared to other DMARDs, with the common adverse effects being infusionrelated reactions as well as leukopenia and hypoglobulinemia, which increase the risk of serious infections.²⁰⁵

1.1.7.3.5 T-cell co-stimulation inhibition

Due to their ability to activate macrophages and synovial fibroblasts, potentiate osteoclastogenesis and bone resorption, and provide help to B cells, T lymphocytes represent the crucial players in RA pathogenesis, and therefore the modulation of their function was explored in therapeutic purposes. To become fully activated, T cells require at least two signals from the antigen-presenting cell (APC): the initial engagement of T-cell receptor with its specific antigen (presented on the APC cell surface in the context of MHC-II molecule) and the secondary, co-stimulatory signal, provided by from the interaction between CD28 and its ligand CD80/86 (B7), expressed by T cells and APCs, respectively²⁰⁶. Following activation, T lymphocytes express cytotoxic lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4) surface molecule, which exhibits 10 to 20-fold higher affinity to CD80/86 than CD28 and delivers an inhibitory signal suppressing activation of both naïve and effector T cells, thus acting as a negative regulator of T cell-dependent immune responses²⁰⁷.

With that in mind, abatacept was designed as a recombinant fusion protein comprising the extracellular domain of human CTLA-4 and modified Fc portion of human IgG1. By selectively binding to CD80/86, abatacept effectively abolishes T cell activation, while also modulating the potential of other cells, including monocyte migratory capacity²⁰⁸, and synovial fibroblast and B cell activation^{209,210}. Abatacept is found to be clinically effective in methotrexatenaïve patients with early disease, or in patients with moderate to severe RA who have an inadequate response to either conventional or biologic DMARDs.^{211,212,213} Abatacept is shown to achieve a good clinical response and physical function improvement when administered alongside methotrexate in methotrexaterefractory patients, and this combination treatment resulted in 53% of patients achieving sustained remission²¹⁴. The specific features of abatacept treatment include a progressive improvement in responses over time and the superior efficacy in RF- or ACPA-positive patients, as well as the greater efficacy achieved when the treatment is initiated early in the disease course (rather than following exposure to one/multiple bDMARDs)^{214,215,216}. The common side effects include injection site reactions and serious infections, with the infection risk inferior when compared with other bDMARD therapy. The second generation CTLA4-Ig compound, belatacept, binds CD80/86 with higher affinity than abatacept) and thus exhibits enhanced immunosuppressive properties, but is currently only employed in transplantation²¹⁷.

Table 1-2. Conventional synthetic and biologic DMARDs currently approved for RA treatment*

Drug category and name	Structure	Mode of action	Administration route	Adverse events	
Conventional synthetic DMARDs					
Methotrexate	Small molecule compounds	Competitive folate inhibitor, blocks purine synthesis	Oral	Gl intolerance, stomatitis, headache, fever, skin rash, hepatic transaminase level elevation, hepatotoxicity, hypersensitivity pneumonitis severe myelosuppression (rare)	
Sulfasalazine		Unknown		Gi intolerance, headache, hypersensitivity reactions (cutaneous), leukopenia, hepatic dysfunction, oligospermia	
Leflunomide		Dihydroorotate dehydrogenase inhibitor, blocks de novo pyrimidine synthesis		Gl intolerance (nausea, diarrhoea), hepatic transaminase level elevation, skin rash, alopecia, foetal/neonatal toxicity	
Hydroxychloroquine		Unknown		Gl intolerance (nausea, diarrhoea),rash, changes in skin pigmentation (e.g. dark spots),muscle	

				weakness, retinal toxicity/retinopathy (rare)		
Biologic DMARDs						
Etanercept	Soluble (TNF) receptor fusion protein	_	Subcutaneous	Serious infections (e.g. pneumonia), reactivation of tuberculosis,		
Infliximab	Mouse/human chimeric monoclonal antibody	TNFα inhibitors/antagonists	Intravenous	opportunistic infections, non-melanoma skin cancer, exacerbation of demyelinating disease,		
Adalimumab	Human monoclonal antibody		Subcutaneous	congestive heart failure, neutropenia, injection site/infusion reactions,		
Golimumab	Human monoclonal antibody		Subcutaneous	other cutaneous manifestations (psoriatic- like skin lesions,		
Certolizumab (pegol)	PEGylated Fab fragment of humanized monoclonal antibody		Subcutaneous	leukocytoclastic vasculitis)		
Tocilizumab	Humanized monoclonal antibody	IL-6 receptor inhibitors	Intravenous	Serious and stealth infections, lower GI tract perforations (rare), liver		
Sarilumab	Human monoclonal antibody		Subcutaneous	enzyme abnormalities, neutropenia, thrombocytopenia, dyslipidaemia, injection site reactions		
Anakinra	Recombinant human IL-1 receptor antagonist	IL-1 receptor antagonist	Subcutaneous	Injection site reactions, serious infections (pneumonia), RA progression		
Rituximab	Mouse/human chimeric monoclonal antibody	CD20⁺ B cell depletion	Intravenous	Serious infections, injection site reactions, leukopenia, hypoglobulinemia, Hepatitis B reactivation		
Abatacept	Recombinant human CTLA-4-IgG fusion protein	T-cell co-stimulation inhibition (via CD80/86 binding)	Subcutaneous	Serious infections, injection site reactions (mild/moderate)		

*For summary on targeted synthetic DMARDs (JAK inhibitors) see **Table 1-3Error! Reference** source not found.

The arrival of biologic DMARDs and subsequent optimization of treatment strategies (i.e. treat-to-target approach) dramatically transformed the therapeutic outcomes for the RA patients by improving their physical function, suspending/halting disease progression and enhancing the overall guality of life. However, a substantial proportion of patients fail to achieve a therapeutic goal (low disease activity or remission) with bDMARD therapy, even after switching to the second- and third-line agents. Moreover, some patients develop the secondary therapeutic failure (i.e. loss of drug efficacy) due to immunogenicity of biologic agents and the development of drug-neutralizing antibodies. Other important limitations, which may result in bDMARD therapy discontinuation/nonadherence, include drug-related toxicity, increased risk of serious infections and malignancies, along with the requirement for drug subcutaneous/parenteral administration and associated challenges. Importantly, despite the ongoing and clinically effective treatment, the patients reported the fatigue, chronic pain, and levels of physical disability to remain a considerable and unresolved burden, thus emphasizing the additional unmet requirement for novel therapies with an alternative mode of action.

The attention was thus drawn to the protein kinases, the intracellular signalling cascade components responsible for mediating the signal transduction downstream of the cytokine receptors and thereby representing the alternative targets for therapeutically modulating cellular responses to cytokine stimuli. The advantages of agents targeting and inhibiting enzymatic activity of protein kinases included their ability to simultaneously modulate multiple intracellular signals and their low molecular mass allowing for their oral administration (in a form of a pill). The most rigorous and effective developments to date were made in targeting Janus kinases(JAKs), which are essential and non-redundant in transmitting the signals from a variety of cytokines and hormone-like growth factors and thereby mediating the resulting changes in metabolism and function of immune, hematopoietic (and synovial tissue/resident) cells. Among the JAK-mediated stimuli are the proinflammatory cytokines which are associated with

both innate and adaptive immunity and are linked to the pathogenesis of multiple autoimmune disorders, including rheumatoid arthritis. The paramount relevance of JAK kinase therapeutic targeting was acknowledged after the characterisation of human JAK3 deficiency, which phenotypically mimicked the y-chain deficiency and manifested with severe impairment limited to the immune system.^{218,219} This suggested that inhibition of JAK kinases would allow the selective modulation of immune/hematopoietic system function.

The first JAK inhibitor to be clinically approved for the management of moderate-to-severe RA was tofacitinib, a potent inhibitor of JAK3 and JAK1 kinases.²²⁰ A number of clinical trials established tofacitinib to effectively and significantly reduce the disease activity in several patient populations, including treatment naïve and methotrexate refractory patients, and, most importantly, in individuals failing multiple biologic DMARDs with distinct action mechanisms.^{221,222,223,224} Strikingly, the significant clinically meaningful response rates were observed as soon as 2 weeks from treatment onset, while the drug also notably improved the patient-reported outcomes including physical function and pain.²²⁵ The success of tofacitinib promoted the intensive development of this class of compounds, resulting in approval of baricitinib, a JAK2/JAK1 inhibitor, for the treatment of RA.²²⁵ While these first-generation JAK inhibitors exhibited promising efficacy and acceptable safety profile, the secondgeneration agents recently entered the development with the aim of restricting their inhibitory capacity to a single JAK kinase and thereby attempting to further enhance their efficacy and reduce safety concerns. So far, a JAK1 inhibitor upadacitinib is the only FDA-approved second-generation compound, with several JAK1 and JAK3-specific inhibitors being at different stages of clinical testing for both RA and other common autoimmune disorders.

The following sections review the components, mechanisms, and biological relevance of JAK/STAT pathway, as well as outline a more in-depth rationale of JAK inhibitor development and their current clinical use.

1.2 JAK-STAT pathway and implications of its therapeutic targeting

1.2.1 Signalling mechanism and functional role of the JAK-STAT pathway

1.2.1.1 Overview of the pathway discovery

Cytokines and growth factors play an essential role in communication between cells, coordinating cell growth and differentiation, metabolism and haematopoiesis while also mediating host defence, immunomodulation, and autoimmunity. Some of these soluble factors, including interferons (IFN), erythropoietin, growth hormone and prolactin, were discovered over half a century ago, and are now among the many members (>50) of the Type I and II cytokine receptor superfamily, which employ Janus kinase (JAK)/Signal transduction and activator of transcription (STAT) signalling pathway. However, other cytokines, such is interleukins 1 (IL-1) and 8 (IL-8), tumour necrosis factor (TNF) and transforming growth factor β (TGFB) utilize different receptor subgroups and alternative intracellular signalling pathways.

While the role of cytokines was shortly established to be crucial, there was a gap in understanding how exactly they mediate the resulting specific changes in the cell. Thus, the initial insights into JAK-STAT pathway emerged (in late 1980's) from the concurrent work of Stark²²⁶ and Darnell²²⁷ groups on identifying the key components of the IFN-dependent signalling. Following the identification of the rapidly inducible IFN-stimulated genes (ISGs) and the associated IFN-stimulated response elements (ISREs) at the promoter region, the multimeric nuclear complexes were found to bind to the ISREs, with the two of the elements (of the complex) being denoted as the first signal transduction and transcriptional activator proteins (STATs) STAT1 and STAT2^{228,229,230}. One of the unique and crucial features of the STATs was phosphorylation of their tyrosine residue, suggesting their direct involvement in the signalling pathway. The subsequent studies revealed that the STAT proteins were able to directly interact with cytokine receptors and then shuttle/translocate from the cytoplasm to the nucleus to potentially exert their transcription activator function²³¹.

In the meantime, several tyrosine kinases, Janus kinases (JAKs) (JAK1 and JAK2) and Tyrosine kinase 2 (Tyk2), were already identified as a new class of protein kinases, but their functional significance remained unknown^{232,233,234}. c. This discovery not only placed the JAK kinases as the linking element between the cytokine receptor and the STAT protein, but also demonstrated their indispensable role in the cytokine signalling. Over the next few years, the catalogue of all existing JAK and STAT proteins was completed, and they have been linked/assigned to their corresponding cytokines. Shortly thereafter, a loss-of-function JAK3 mutation was found to underly a severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID) phenotype in a patient, thus directly demonstrating the clinical relevance of the JAK-STAT pathway²³⁵.

1.2.1.2 Principal components: JAK and STAT proteins

JAK kinases represent one of the key members of the JAK/STAT pathway. They are tyrosine kinases, thus function by phosphorylating a specific tyrosine residue on their target molecules, namely other JAKs molecules, cytokine receptors and STAT proteins, thereby promoting their activation. The mammalian family of JAK kinases consists of 4 members-JAK1, JAK2, JAK3 and Tyk2, with JAK1, JAK2 and Tyk2 being ubiquitously expressed and JAK3 expression limited to hematopoietic cells. All members are comprised of 7 JAK homology (JH) domains which form 4 structural domains, including four-point-one, erzin, radixin, moesin (FERM) domain (JH5,6 and 7) and Src homology 2 (SH2) (JH3 and 4) domain. A unique feature of JAKs is the presence of two structurally related kinase domains- a 'true' kinase domain (JH1) adjacent to a catalytically inactive pseudo-kinase (JH2), with the latter domain negatively regulating the JH1 enzymatic activity²³⁶. This architectural duality has prompted the kinases to be named after Janus, the two-faced Roman god of doors and new beginnings. JAKs are constitutively associated with intracellular domains of distinct cytokine receptor

subunits, and that in turn determines the pairing of the kinases, necessary for their function. For instance, JAK3 only associates with common gamma chain (γ c) subunit, and thus always pairs with JAK1 to convey the signals from γ c cytokines IL-2, IL-4, IL-7,IL-9, IL-15, IL-21, which are critical for lymphocyte maturation, differentiation and homeostasis. JAK1, on the other hand, can associate with several different receptor subunits and, in conjunction with JAK2 and/or TYK2, mediate the signalling of gp130 family cytokines (IL-6, IL-11, oncostatin M, leukaemia inhibitory factor (LIF)), as well as Type I interferons (IFN α / β) and IFN γ . JAK2 is the only member which couples with itself and is indispensable in regulating the signalling of cytokines (IL-3,IL-5), hormone-like cytokines (erythropoietin, growth hormone, prolactin) and growth factors (granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF)). All the existing JAK combinations, their associated STATs and signalling outcomes are illustrated in Figure 1-1.



Figure 1-1. Type I and Type II cytokine receptors, their associated JAK- and STAT- family members and the biological significance of the signalling via the JAK/STAT pathway.

Adapted from ²³⁷. Different members of JAK family selectively associate with intracellular domains of distinct cytokine receptor subunits, and that determines the combinations of kinases mediating the cytokine signalling. Distinct cytokines preferentially employ a single STAT family protein for signal transduction (e.g. Type I IFNs recruit STAT1) but can also activate other STAT members with smaller potency (e.g. STAT3 and STAT4). The ligand (cytokine) binding to the receptor promote activation and phosphorylation of JAKs, which in turn recruit and activate latent cytoplasmic STAT proteins. Activated STATs form homo- or heterodimers, which translocate into the nucleus and act as transcription factors mediating the expression of target genes, products of which are involved in a range of crucial biological functions, including hematopoietic cell differentiation and function, immune host defence, inflammation and tumour surveillance.

The signal transduction and activator of transcription (STAT) proteins are latent cytoplasmic transcription factors and have a dual role as intracellular mediators of responses to cytokine stimulation and nuclear activators of cytokine-induced genes. The mammalian STAT family is represented by 7 members (STAT1, STAT2, STAT3, STAT4, STAT5a, STAT5b and STAT6) which share a highly conserved structure. STATs are distinguished among transcription factors by 2 unique structural features- Src homology 2 (SH2) domain, which mediates their recruitment from the cytosol, interaction with activated upstream receptors and JAK kinases, as well as dimerization with other STATs, and a conserved tyrosine residue within transactivation domain, which becomes phosphorylated by JAKs and also participates in dimer formation. Other important domains include DNAbinding domain, determining the specificity for DNA binding and carrying nuclear import-export signals, and N-terminal domain, responsible for STAT tetramer formation (via dimer-dimer interactions) and their cooperative DNA binding. Latent STAT proteins, activated by the means of phosphorylation, typically carry out their function as homodimers, but can also form heterodimers (STAT1-STAT2, STAT1-STAT3, STAT-STAT4), which are thought to diversify the range of specific signals conveyed by cytokines, given the limited number of available STAT proteins²³⁸. In the context of canonical JAK-STAT signalling, phosphorylation and dimerization of the STAT molecules appears to be a prerequisite for their activity, enabling them to translocate from cytoplasm to the nucleus and promote the transcription of their target genes.

Following their activation, STAT dimers translocate from cytoplasm into the nucleus, where they were initially found to function as classical transcription factors by directly associating with DNA-response elements and mediating transcription of associated target genes. For instance, all STAT homodimers (except for STAT2) bind gamma interferon activation site (GAS) elements containing a palindromic DNA motif (although with slightly different affinities), whereas STAT1-STAT2 heterodimer together with IRF9 form an interferon-stimulated gene factor 3 (ISGF-3) complex which engages with ISRE enhancer (in response to Type I IFN signalling)^{239,240}. The advent of new-generation sequencing and its coupling with chromatin precipitation (ChiP-seq) allowed a comprehensive genome-wide mapping of the STAT-DNA binding, which, when complemented with loss- or gain-of-function transcriptomic approach, allowed

to identify genes which are both engaged by STATs and represent a target of STAT-dependent transcriptional regulation. This approach revealed STATs not only to localise at multitude of DNA-response elements other than GAS, proximal to target genes, but also to commonly associate with and instruct the distal binding sites such as enhancers, epigenetic hotspots and non-coding loci (micro-RNAs and long intergenic non-coding RNAs)²⁴¹. Notably, STATs appeared to be crucial in permissive epigenetic remodelling of enhancers at T cell lineagespecific loci, including Ifng, Il-4/Il-13 and Il17a/Il-17f²⁴². Moreover, specific STATs were found to act upstream of the 'master' transcription factors such as T-bet and GATA3 and contribute to the T helper cell lineage commitment by creating an activate lineage-specific enhancer epigenetic landscape, while concurrently supressing the enhancers linked to the alternative cell fate²⁴³. Similar STAT-dependent epigenetic remodelling also occurred in T lymphocytes and other immune cells at the gene loci essential for inflammatory and homeostatic cell functions and is mediated by the deposition of permissive or repressive epigenetic marks^{244,245,246}. The recent evidence suggests STATs to reshape the epigenetic landscape through recruitment and interaction with chromatin modifiers, such as (histone) methyltransferase EZH2, which in turn mediates H3K27me3 (tri-methylation of His3 at Lys27) deposition and thus the (target) gene silencing²⁴⁶. Genome-wide correlation of STAT DNA-binding patterns with those of the other transcription factors (TFs) identified that STATs can also combine with other TFs to form multi-molecular transcriptional regulatory networks. Thus, STAT3 in embryonic stem cells is found to cooperate with a network containing Oct4, Smad2 and NANOG TFs in shaping cell identity, while in T cells STAT3, together with IRF4 and BATF, initiate a transcriptional program which is subsequently coordinated by Th17 helper lineage-defining TF RORyt^{247,248}.

1.2.1.3 Canonical signalling pathway and its regulation

The JAK-STAT canonical signalling cascade is initiated by the ligand binding to the (Type I/II) cytokine receptor, leading to receptor subunit multimerization

(dimerization or heteromultimer formation). This reorientation of receptor subunits, associated with JAKs, brings two JAKs in close proximity to each other and allows their transphosphorylation (at the kinase domain JH1). In turn, activated JAKs phosphorylate tyrosine residues on the (cytokine) receptor cytoplasmic tail, creating the 'docking sites' for the recruitment and binding of latent STAT family proteins via their SH2 domains. The recruited STAT monomers are then activated by tyrosine phosphorylation at their transactivation domain by JAKs, and these phosphotyrosine residues are reciprocally recognised by SH2 domains of the partner STAT proteins, leading to 'parallel' dimer formation. The resulting STAT dimers are recognised (through their nuclear localisation signal) by importin α/β complex and transported the nucleus, where Ran GTPase promotes the dissociation of STAT from the complex. In the nucleus, STATs engage with the promoters of the target genes and mediate their transcriptional activation or repression, alongside with exhibiting other DNA-associated functions described above. The STAT activity is transient (in the normal cells), and upon dephosphorylation in the nucleus inactivated STATs are transported back to the cytoplasm and utilized during the next signalling event, thereby completing the activation/inactivation loop. Thus, the JAK/STAT pathway has a remarkably uncomplicated design, facilitating an immediate conversion of extracellular cues into the transcriptional response. However, the seemingly straightforward JAK-STAT paradigm also entails several layers of complexity, which involve the regulation of signalling and the non-canonical aspects of the pathway, discussed further.

Considering that the molecular products of STAT-dependent genes are involved in mediating proliferation, differentiation and survival of both hematopoietic and immune cells, the aberrant activation of any of the cascade components may result in the development of immune disorders and hematologic malignancies. Thus, the amplitude and kinetics of the JAK-STAT signalling are tightly regulated at the multiple levels of the pathway and involve several distinct mechanisms.

The main regulatory components are a range of protein tyrosine phosphatases (PTPs), proteins of PIAS (protein inhibitor of activated STAT) family as well as suppressor of cytokine signalling (SOCS) proteins. Cytoplasmic tyrosine

phosphatases, such as SHP1 and SHP2, employ their SH2 domain to interact with a phosphotyrosine on activated cytokine receptors and JAK kinases, thereby promoting their dephosphorylation and preventing further activation of the downstream STATs.^{249,250} A transmembrane PTP CD45, expressed by all hematopoietic cells and crucial in mediating antigen receptor signalling in T and B lymphocytes, also acts as a negative regulator by associating with and directly inactivating/dephosphorylating JAK kinases²⁵¹. The regulatory modules can also directly target phosphorylated STAT dimers both in the nucleus and the cytoplasm. The most prominent STAT tyrosine phosphatase is a T-cell PTP (TCPTP), found in both cytoplasmic and nuclear compartments and known to preferentially mediate dephosphorylation of STAT1, STAT3 and possibly STAT5²⁵². Since a 'parallel' STAT dimer conformation, established by reciprocal binding of partner protein SH2 domains to phosphotyrosines, has a concealed tyrosine residue, the phosphatases target the inverted, 'anti-parallel' dimers, formed by STAT N-terminal interactions and thus bearing phosphotyrosine at the more accessible site²⁵².

Protein inhibitor of activated STAT (PIAS) are constitutively expressed nuclear proteins, represented by 4 family members (PIAS1, PIAS3, PIASX and PIASy) and implicated in the negative regulation of activated STAT dimers. Thus, PIAS3 is known to specifically interact with STAT3 and inhibit its DNA-binding capacity and associated gene activation²⁵³. On the other hand, PIASy exhibits an adaptor protein function, recruiting other co-repressors and thereby blocking STAT1- dependent transcription²⁵⁴. In addition, PIAS were recently described to exhibit E3-type ligase function and conjugate ubiquitin-like SUMO molecules to STAT1 (a process termed 'sumoylation), which in turn inhibited STAT1 transcriptional activity²⁵⁵.

Suppressor of cytokine signalling (SOCS) family proteins are the third and most prominent facet of JAK-STAT signalling attenuation. SOCS proteins operate through a 'classic' negative feedback loop: their expression is cytokine-induced and mediated by activated STAT proteins, and the SOCS proteins in turn downregulate the pathway by interacting with activated receptors, kinases, and STATs . The 4 members of the family (SOCS1, SOCS2, SOCS3 and cytokineinducible SH2-domain protein (CIS)), acting as the negative regulators, all contain SH2 domain for binding to the phosphorylated tyrosine residues as well as adjacent SOCS box domain, but each employ distinct inhibitory mechanisms²⁵⁶. Thus, SOCS1 via SH2 domain binds phosphotyrosine residue within JAK activation loop, thereby directly blocking its kinase/enzymatic activity.²⁵⁷ SOCS3 protein can both interact with JAKs or bind to the activated cytokine receptor phosphotyrosine proximal to JAKs and subsequently inhibit their function.²⁵⁸ Meanwhile, CIS proteins appear to interfere with STAT activation by competing with STAT monomers for the binding to the (activated) cytokine receptor 'docking' sites. Additionally, SOCS proteins can employ their SOCS box domain to interact with the elongins B and C, components of the ubiquitin E3 ligase complex, indicating their possible role in targeting proteins for proteasome-mediated degradation.²⁵⁹ Apart from controlling the duration and magnitude of the (JAK-STAT) pathway activity, SOCS proteins appear to fine-tune the quality/specificity of cytokine responses, as exemplified by the shift from the IL-6 induced gene expression profile towards IFNy-induced transcriptional program in response to IL-6 in the absence of SOCS3. Through this functional ability, SOCS proteins mediate a range of (cytokine-dependent) crucial processes in the immune cells, including early T lymphocyte development and determination of cell fate during Th cell differentiation, and play a key role in regulatory T cell function and macrophage polarization.^{259,260}

In addition to the above canonical aspects of the superficially simple JAK-STAT pathway, its signalling is further refined by the intricate modifications mostly involving STAT proteins, and the additional dimension of complexity arises from the pathway interaction with other signalling cascades. These non-canonical elements of JAK-STAT signalling are briefly outlined in the next section.

1.2.1.4 Non-canonical aspects of JAK-STAT pathway and crosstalk with other signalling cascades

In contrast to the activated STAT dimers operating in the canonical JAK-STAT cascade and entering the nucleus exclusively in phosphorylated form, STAT1 and

STAT3 proteins are also detected in the nucleus in the absence of tyrosine phosphorylation. These unphosphorylated STATs (U-STATs) also utilize a distinct nuclear import strategy, surpassing the need for carrier proteins and directly interacting with nuclear core proteins, which likely allows them to shuttle between cytoplasmic and nuclear compartments²⁶¹. In the nucleus, U-STAT3 proteins act as transcription factors predominantly mediating the expression of genes not targeted by their phosphorylated counterparts, including several oncogenes²⁶². U-STAT1, on the other hand, can enhance the STAT1-dependent gene transcription and thereby promote sustained anti-viral and immune responses²⁶³. Thus, U-STATs act as secondary transcription factors in scenarios where the expression of the biologically active molecule, initially mediated by transiently phosphorylated STATs, is most advantageous for the cell response if sustained long-term²⁶¹. This capacity is facilitated by the increase in U-STAT levels following a phosphorylated STAT-dependent expression of the corresponding STAT gene, which persist long-term after phosphorylated STAT deactivation²⁶¹. In addition, U-STAT3 is involved in a crosstalk with nuclear factor Kappa B (NF κ B) pathway, whereby accumulating in response to IL-6 stimulation and cooperating with U-NF κ B it promotes the expression of κ Bdependent genes, including RANTES and IL-6, which do not directly respond to phosphorylated STAT3²⁶⁴.

While the conventional signalling paradigm primarily relies on JAK kinase activity for STAT activation, STATs were also found to be tyrosine phosphorylated by a number of other molecules. The examples include receptor tyrosine kinase Flt3, promoting JAK-independent tyrosine phosphorylation of STAT5, which in turn regulates hematopoietic progenitor cell proliferation, and nucleic acid sensor STING, mediating the activation of STAT6 and thereby contributing to the antiviral immune response^{262,265}. Aside from acquiring phoshphotyrosine residue following cytokine stimulation, STAT proteins can undergo additional post-translational modifications, including serine phosphorylation, methylation, acetylation and sumoylation. All STAT proteins are found to carry at least one phosphorylated serine residue, which can be present independently of tyrosine phosphorylation, and its phosphorylation is mediated by serine kinases belonging to several signalling pathways, including ERK, JNK and p38MAPK pathways²⁶⁶. The requirement of STAT serine phosphorylation for their maximal

transcriptional activity appears to be cell-type dependent and is shown to be indispensable for transcriptional STAT1 and STAT3 responses to respective IFNy and gp130 cytokines (e.g.IL-6) *in vitro*, as well as for hematopoietic transformation and postnatal survival in mouse models^{267,268,269}. The other potential STAT activities affected by the presence of phosphoserine are thought to be DNA binding and association with other proteins, although the biological significance of those remains to be elucidated²⁶⁶. STAT acetylation, similarly to serine phosphorylation, is induced by cytokine stimulus and appears to enhance STAT functions, including transcriptional activation capacity, protein-protein interactions and dimerization²⁷⁰. On the other hand, sumoylation is considered as a primarily negative regulatory mechanism, mediating inhibition of STAT activity by directly diminishing their phoshphorylation while also indirectly promoting dephosphorylation²⁷¹.

Other factors capable of influencing the JAK-STAT signalling are the crosstalk among the JAK-STAT pathways as well as interaction with distinct signalling cascades. One of the staple examples of the JAK-STAT pathway interplay is that of Type I (IFN α/β) and Type II interferon (IFN γ) signalling, whereby the cell stimulation with (low-level/subthreshold) IFNy triggers the enhanced STAT1 expression. In turn, STAT1 can form a positive feedback circle and sensitize/prime the cell for subsequent IFNy exposure, while also (pre-) conditioning the cell for the increased IFN α response^{272,240}. (Interestingly, another line of evidence suggests the crosstalk between interferons also happening in the opposite direction, with Type I interferons (IFN α/β) being the initial sensitizing factor²⁷³.) JAK-STAT pathway can also act in concert with other signalling cascades such as TGF-B-induced SMAD and LPS/NFkB cascades. Thus, in neuronal progenitors the synergistic signalling of leukaemia inhibitory factor (LIF) and bone morphogenic protein-2 (BMP-2) relies on cooperative activity of respective STAT3 and Smad1 molecules for mediating their differentiation into astrocytes²⁷⁴. However, in T lymphocytes TGF-B was shown to rather shown to inhibit IL-12 signal transduction by interfering with JAK2/TYK2 and associated (downstream) STAT3 and STAT4 phoshphorylation, thereby reducing cell proliferation and IFNy production²⁷⁵.

JAK-STAT signalling cascade is a distinctively uncomplicated pathway that involves only a few key 'players' and employs a number of additional modifying mechanisms, but is nevertheless capable of mediating, in a non-redundant fashion, a remarkably diverse range of responses, in particular in immune cells, ranging from cell development and maintenance of homeostasis to immune defence and protection from cancer. Such combination of simple pathway design and the complexity of the functional role, however, can present a serious disadvantage if the signalling becomes dysregulated, since the resulting aberrations in the immune responses are extremely harmful and manifest through a variety of autoimmune disorders. Additionally, the dependency of the central pathway modules (JAKs, STATs and SOCSs) on the activation by the immediate upstream component of the cascade, along with the pathway forming an auto-regulatory negative feedback loop, implies that the impairment of any single molecule would disrupt the entire pathway and subsequently result in the development of a systemic disorder. The next section highlights the most common mutations in the JAK-STAT pathway in the context of both autoimmune disease and malignancy settings and links them with to the rationale for the therapeutic targeting of the pathway.

1.2.2 JAK inhibitor development and clinical applications

1.2.2.1 Genetic links between JAK-STAT pathway and human disorders

The utilization of the mutagenic cells lines and genetically modified (knockout and knock-in) mouse models were instrumental for delineating the association between distinct Type I and Type II cytokines and the specific JAK-STAT pathway components they recruit for signal transduction, while the resulting knockout or knock-in mouse phenotypes have further confirmed to indispensible roles of JAKs and STATs in the immune/hematopoietic cell development and immune responses. However, it was the identification of the genetic aberrations of the JAK-STAT pathway components in humans and the associated range of immune and myeloproliferative disorders that evidenced the *in vivo* relevance of the pathway and subsequently prompted its therapeutic targeting.

A large body of evidence suggests a strong link between constitutive JAK-STAT signalling activity and oncogenesis. The initial observations revealed a multitude of primary cancers to exhibit persistent phosphorylation of STAT proteins (mainly STAT1, 3 and 5), which was mediated by dysregulation of STAT-activating kinases or abrogated negative regulator function, and contributed to oncogenic cell transformation by transcriptional activation of cardinal anti-apoptotic genes and proliferation-associated proteins²⁷⁶. Currently, a number of (somatic) gainof-function mutations affecting JAK tyrosine kinases have been identified as causative factors of various myeloproliferative neoplasms. The most well studied is the activating JAK2 mutation V617F, located within the 'pseudo-kinase' domain (JH2), which normally confers negative regulation of the active ('true') kinase domain (JH1). JAK2 kinase is invariably utilized for signal transduction by receptors for erythropoietin, thrombopoietin and GM-CSF, which mediate production of erythrocytes and platelets/megakaryocytes from pluripotent stem cells in the bone marrow. The myeloproliferative disorders polycythemia vera (PV), essential thrombocytopenia (ET) and primary myelofibrosis (PMF) exhibit distinct clinical phenotypes but share a feature of an excessive erythrocyte and platelet production. This common clinical characteristic appears to be conferred by a V617F mutation, which is present in all PV cases and in the majority of ET and PMF patients^{276,277}. Importantly, the discovery of this activating JAK2 mutation prompted the development of the novel pharmacological agent for targeted JAK kinase inhibition to treat myeloproliferative neoplasms, which subsequently inspired the development of other related compounds, termed JAK inhibitors (discussed in the next section). Other gain-of-function mutations of JAK2 are implicated in the development of acute pre-T or B-cell acute lymphoblastic leukaemia and T cell lymphoma, among other malignancies, while JAK3 kinase mutations are occasionally detected in patients with acute megakaryoblastic leukaemia (AML)²⁷⁸.

Both loss- and gain-of-function mutations in JAK- and STAT-encoding genes are also associated with abnormalities in immune function, manifested as immunodeficiencies, autoimmune disorders and susceptibility to infections. An outstanding example of such association is a link between an X-linked severe combined immunodeficiency (X-SCID) syndrome and inactivating JAK3 mutation^{218,219}. Traditionally, X-SCID is known to be caused by mutations in the common cytokine receptor γ chain (also known as interleukin-2 receptor γ chain), which is an essential subunit of receptor complexes for IL-2, IL-4, IL-7, IL-9, IL-15 and IL-21 cytokines responsible for lymphocyte proliferation, differentiation and survival. As a result, X-SCID patients exhibit the dramatically reduced numbers of circulating T and NK cells along with functionally defective B cells, which makes them extremely susceptible to serious and persistent infections²⁷⁹. Based on the observations of JAK3 kinase exclusively mediating common γ chain-dependent signalling, it was subsequently discovered that inactivating mutations in JAK3 can also account for SCID with the phenotype closely resembling common γ chain deficiency^{218,219}. This finding was the first to demonstrate the essential role of JAK3 in lymphoid development in humans, and subsequently lead to a proposition that the compounds developed to specifically target JAK kinases (in particularly JAK3) might have a predominantly immunosupressive mode of action, which would be especially desirable in both autoimmunity and transplantation settings.

STAT proteins are also found to be affected by loss- and gain-of-function mutations, resulting in dysregulated immune responses. A dominant negative mutation in STAT3 manifests in hyper IgG syndrome (also termed Job's syndrome), characterised by recurrent cutaneous and pulmonary infections, dermatitis, highly elevated serum IgG levels and skeletal abnormalities^{280,281}. The development of such multisystem disease phenotype is explained by STAT3 involvement in signal transduction of at least six classes of receptors, while the immunological defects partially stem from the diminished STAT-3 mediated differentiation of Th17 lymphocytes and IL-17 production by other cells, necessary for neutrophil recruitment and control of fungal infections^{282,283,284}. On the other hand, activating STAT3 mutations are associated with early onset multiorgan autoimmunity and lymphoproliferative disorders²⁸⁵. STAT1 deficiencies occur in a spectrum ranging from negative dominant (partial) to autosomal recessive (complete), with the former causing susceptibility to a lifethreatening combination of both intramacrophagic bacteria (mycobacteria) and viruses due to abrogated IFN and IFN/-mediated signalling/responses,

respectively, while the latter selectively confers predisposition to milder mycobacterial disease while preserving anti-viral immunity²⁸⁵. Interestingly, while STAT1 activating mutation expectedly leads to the development of autoimmunity, it is also associated with chronic mucocutaneous candidiasis, potentially due to increased STAT1 activity overriding/diverting the (cytokine) signals otherwise mediated by STAT3 and driving anti-fungal responses²⁸². STAT5B mediates the signalling of both IL-2 cytokine, prerequisite for regulating the differentiation and homeostasis of both pro- and anti-inflammatory T cells, and the growth hormone, therefore the patients with STAT5B deficiency exhibit a complex phenotype of autoimmunity, immunodeficiency and growth retardation^{286,287,288}.

In addition to the above rare monogeneic diseases, genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have also linked a multitude of more common disorders to the single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in the genes encoding Type I/II cytokines and associated JAKs and STATs. Multiple genes in the IL-23 signalling pathway are strongly implicated in the autoimmune disease development, with polymorphisms in JAK2 and STAT3 in particular being predisposing factors for Crohn's disease, Bechet's disease, psoriasis and ankylosing spondylitis, among others^{289,290,291}. Polymorphisms in STAT4, which mediates signalling downstream of both IL-12 and Type I IFNs, appear to increase the risk for rheumatoid arthritis, systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) and Sjogren's syndrome, while SNPs in STAT6, required for IL-4 signalling, have a role in asthma and allergies^{292,293,294}.

Altogether, this vast body of evidence, obtained through identifying the genetic links between JAK-STAT pathway aberrations and human disorder development, explicitly/unequivocally demonstrates the importance of the cytokine signalling via the JAK-STAT pathway for the normal haematopoiesis and immune function. Consequently, JAK-STAT pathway became an attractive target, since its therapeutic manipulation could become an exciting novel approach for interfering with the cytokine signalling downstream of the receptor and thereby complementing (or possibly outperforming) the existing biological therapies in management of multiple autoimmune conditions. While the therapeutic inhibition of the JAK-STAT pathway signalling was envisioned since the identification of the fundamental JAK mutations (X-SCID associated JAK3 loss-of-function and JAK2 activating mutation V617F), it became an achievable prospect following the ground-breaking success of the targeted tyrosine kinase inhibitors, such as imatinib, in management of haematologic malignancies^{219,295,296,297}. Since tyrosine protein kinase enzymes require binding of the triphosphate nucleotide (e.g. adenosine triphosphate, ATP) for their catalytic activity, the first inhibitors were designed to reversibly/competitively bind to the ATP binding site on the enzyme²⁹⁸. However, considering that the tyrosine protein kinase family, which includes JAKs, comprises of approximately 90 members with highly conserved catalytic domain, along with the notion that among JAKs themselves the sequence within the ATP binding site is almost identical, the development/discovery of the selective inhibitors represent a significant challenge. Nevertheless, the identification of the crystal structures of JAK family members and the additional targeting of the specific amino acid residues prompted the generation of inhibitors with relatively high levels of selectivity. As subsequently identified, however, the selectivity of JAK inhibitors is concentration-dependent, and at higher concentrations they can function as pan-inhibitors^{298,299}.

The discovery of JAK inhibitors (JAKinibs) was also in part prompted by the success in the autoimmune disease management of the targeted biologic DMARDs (such as TNF and IL-6), also designed to interfere with cytokine signalling. However, with the large proportion of the patients failing to respond to one or multiple biological agents along with the parenteral administration mode and excessive costs of these drugs, the need for the novel therapeutic modality in the autoimmunity setting was apparent³⁰⁰. Thus, the emergence of the orally administered small molecule inhibitors with comparable, if not superior, clinical efficacy, which was achieved even in patients failing to respond to multiple targeted biologics, has greatly enriched the armamentarium of the existing immunomodulatory treatment options. The following sections review the currently available JAK inhibitor specifications and clinical use, as well as the

62

second-generation compounds with enhanced selectivity currently under development.

1.2.2.2.1 Tofacitinib

Tofacitinib (Xelanjanz[®]; CP-690,55 during development) is a small molecule targeted synthetic DMARD, and the first-in-class JAK inhibitor approved for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. It was developed by Pfizer for the management of inflammatory conditions and was the first compound of its class to be tested in clinic. Tofacitinib was approved for the use in US by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) for the treatment of moderate to severe rheumatoid arthritis in 2012, with the subsequent approval by European Medicines Agency (EMA) in 2017^{220,301}. The originally established tofacitinib potency for selective JAK3 inhibition suggested that the compound might preferentially target JAK3expressing lymphoid cells, thereby providing a therapeutic immunomodulation/immunosuppression effect while exhibiting limited nonimmunological and haematologic cytotoxicity³⁰². However, tofacitinib also appeared to potently inhibit JAK1 and to lesser extent JAK2, while having limited affinity to TYK2^{302,303}. While this broader inhibitory profile underlies some of the compound adverse effects, it might also potentiate a remarkable (clinical) efficacy achieved by tofacitinib. Notably, the unique chemical structure of tofacitinib ensures its limited interference with the activity of kinases other than JAKs³⁰⁴.

In vitro studies have demonstrated tofacitinib to potently block the JAK3mediated signalling of the common γ chain cytokines (IL-2, IL-4, IL-7, IL-9,IL-15,IL-21), as well as signal transduction by JAK1/JAK2-dependent IFNy and IL-6 and to a lesser degree by JAK2/JAK2-mediated IL-12 and IL-23. Such effect on the cytokine-induced signal transduction by JAK-STAT pathway in murine CD4⁺ T cells translated into abrogation of naïve lymphocyte differentiation into Th2 and Th17 helper subsets, as well as diminished generation of Th1 cells³⁰⁵. This result was consistent with the reduced Th1-associated IFNy and Th17-associated IL-17

production by CD4⁺ T lymphocytes from individuals with RA³⁰⁶. Along with the significant impact of the inhibitor on naïve B cell differentiation and function and the impaired ability of the compound-treated dendritic cells for CD4⁺ T cell activation/priming, the above observations highlight the tofacitinib potential to interfere with adaptive immune responses^{307,308,309}. Importantly, tofacitinib was also demonstrated to inhibit innate immune mechanisms in the IFNy and STAT1dependent LPS-induced sepsis mouse model, indicating the effects of the inhibitor to be similarly facilitated through modulation of innate immunity³⁰⁵. Fascinatingly, osteoclast capacity for bone resorption was also suppressed following drug exposure, thus linking the immunological mechanisms of action of tofacitinib to its ability for limiting joint damage in both mouse models and RA patients³¹⁰. In parallel, the evaluation of tofacitinib efficacy in multiple mouse and rat models of arthritis demonstrated a rapid and significant reduction in plasma levels of inflammatory mediators, diminished joint tissue inflammatory cell infiltration alongside with dose-dependent improvement in disease clinical score and amelioration of cartilage and bone destruction^{305,311,312,313}. These encouraging findings in preclinical models have facilitated the entry of tofacitinib into clinical trials for RA.

The Phase II clinical trials confirmed the safety and tolerability profile of tofacitinib, as well as its efficacy in patients with active RA in comparison to placebo or in combination with methotrexate in patients with inadequate response to methotrexate^{314,315}. A further comprehensive assessement of tofacitinib efficacy was conducted in range of Phase III trials, which (together) encompassed more than 6000 patients across nearly all patient populations-from treatment-naïve to non-responders to targeted biologic DMARDs (tbDMARDs). In ORAL START trial tofacitinib was shown to be efficacious as a monotherapy in treatment-naïve patients and was superior to methotrexate at reducing disease activity and halting radiographic damage, which was not previously achieved with other available therapies. Notably, the drug demonstrated rapid mode of action, with the first improvements in disease score detected as soon as two weeks after treatment initiation²²¹. ORAL Scan trial has demonstrated tofacitinib to reach primary endpoints and improve quality of life as a monotherapy in patients failing conventional synthetic DMARD therapy. Importantly, the response to tofacitinib monotherapy appeared to be comparable in subject with

both early and established disease.²²² Other trials have shown tofacitinib to be also effective in combination with methotrexate, and in this combination exhibit efficacy non-inferior to TNF inhibitor adalimumab in patients refractory to csDMARDs³¹⁶. Most strikingly, the tofacitinib treatment achieved good clinical response in patients with previous inadequate response to one or several biologic DMARDs (TNF inhibitors)^{223, 224, 317,}. Across the trials, tofacitinib inhibited radiographic (joint) damage progression as well as improved patient quality of life. The two recently released long-term studies reported sustained improvement in clinical scores along with stability of (long-term) safety profile^{224,318}. Supported by the above data, tofacitinib is currently approved for the management of moderate to severe active RA in patients refractory or intolerant to one or more csDMARDs. EULAR treatment recommendations were recently updated to include tofacitinib as an alternative to biological DMARDs, which can be added to the csDMARD in patients failing to meet an initial six-month target (low disease activity or remission)¹⁴¹.

Due to the contribution of Type I/II cytokine signalling to the development of autoimmune conditions other than RA, the clinical trials for tofacitinib extended across the spectrum of disorders. The encouraging results were so far observed in the patients with psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis, inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) and ankylosing spondylitis^{319,320,321,322}. When evaluated in *de novo* kidney transplant patients, tofacitinib was comparable to cyclosporin in preventing acute renal allograft rejection and had beneficial effect on allograft preservation and function³²³. Recently, tofacitinib was approved for the treatment of moderate to severe ulcerative colitis in patients refractory to TNF inhibitor therapy³²⁴.

The adverse events associated with tofacitinib treatment are generally comparable to those of biologics. Opportunistic and severe infections are among most common complications reported, including *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, *Cytomegalovirus, and Pneumocystis jirovecii* pneumonia. The absolute risk of these infections, however, is not significantly greater when compared to the biologic DMARDS, while the concurrent use of biologics, glucocorticosteroids and the development of lymphopenia greatly increase the susceptibility to infections^{325,326}. The one exception is *Herpes zoster* infection, occurring at

higher rates with tofacitinib than with placebo or other DMARD therapies, but it appears to only affect certain populations and is mostly limited to its mild form³²⁷. The changes in lipid profile composition are observed in RA patients treated with tofacitinib, with significantly elevated levels of low- and highdensity lipoproteins, but it remains unclear whether these changes can be directly linked to the cardiovascular events. Due to tofacitinib blocking signalling of interferons, essential for cancer immunosurveillance coordination, the compound use might increase the risk of malignancy development³²⁸. The integrated data from tofacitinib clinical trials suggests the most common cancers to be lung, breast and lymphoproliferative neoplasms along with non-melanoma skin cancers, but their incidence was within the expected range for moderateto-severe RA patients group and did not exceed that of biologic DMARDs³²⁹. Other common complications associated with tofacitinib administration include headaches, diarrhoea, urinary and upper respiratory tract infections and mild neutropenia³²⁵.

1.2.2.2.2 Ruxolitinib and baricitinib

The development of another first generation JAKinib, ruxolitinib, was prompted by the discovery of association between a JAK2 activating mutation V617F and the occurrence of several myeloproliferative disorders^{295,296}. Ruxolitinib (Jakafi[®]) is JAK2/JAK1 inhibitor and the very first of this class to be approved by FDA in 2011³³⁰. It is currently licensed for the management of intermediate- to high-risk myelofibrosis, with the patients demonstrating improvement in splenomegaly, disease-associated constitutional symptoms and overall survival with only modest toxicity³³¹. Ruxolitinib was also recently approved for the treatment of (uncontrolled) polycythemia vera, another myeloproliferative neoplastic disorder, in patients who are intolerant or refractory to (conventional) hydroxyurea therapy, as well as for the management of steroid-refractory graftversus host disease^{332,333}. Lastly, the topical form of ruxolitinib shows efficacy in treatment of (plaque) psoriasis, vitiligo and alopecia areata, with clinical studies currently underway^{334,335,336}. Baricitinib (Olumiant[®]) is a structural analogue of ruxolitinib which inhibits JAK2 and JAK1 with high selectivity while largely sparing JAK3 activity. However, since JAK3 exclusively pairs with JAK1 kinase and thus mediates transduction of the same cytokine signals, the mechanistic advantage in terms of signal transduction inhibition is yet unclear²⁹⁹. Clinically, baricitinib was tested for the management of moderate to severe active RA and appeared to be the first JAK inhibitor to show efficacy with a once-daily oral dosing (4 mg)³³⁷. In RA-BEGIN clinical trial, baricitinib monotherapy outperformed methotrexate in efficacy in treatment-naïve patients, and in combination with methotrexate baricitinib showed superior efficacy to methotrexate alone³³⁸. In RA-BUILD study baricitinib treatment demonstrated clinical improvement and cessation of radiographic damage progression in patients refractory or intolerant to csDMARDs³³⁹. While the drug was similar to tofacitinib in achieving significant clinical improvement in patients with inadequate response or intolerance to one or more biologic DMARDs, including TNF inhibitors, baricitinib showed an unparalleled superior efficacy to TNF inhibitor adalimumab, which has not yet been achieved with other therapeutic modalities^{340,341}. Baricitinib adverse event profile is largely similar to that of tofacitinib and included severe infections such as Herpes zoster, malignancies, thrombosis, urinary tract infections, hyperlipidaemia, and neutropenia. The outstanding efficacy and good tolerability prompted the approval of baricitinib (as monotherapy or combined with methotrexate) by FDA and EMA for the management of moderate to severe active RA in subjects refractory or intolerant to treatment by one or more biologic DMARDs³⁴². The clinical trials evaluating the efficacy of baricitinib and moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis are ongoing, while those for psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis were discontinued due to reallocation of resources for other program development.

1.2.2.2.3 Second-generation JAK inhibitors

Following the success of first-generation JAK inhibitors of relatively broad specificity, the next objective was to generate compounds with enhanced

affinity/selectivity for specific JAKs. This strategy was presumed to reduce the adverse event occurrence while retaining the favourable clinical efficacy³³⁰. Several JAK1-selective inhibitors were developed based on the notion of JAK1 having a dominant role over JAK3 in c chain cytokine signalling in vitro, along with JAK1 heterodimer signalling inhibition demonstrated to underlie the therapeutic efficacy of tofacitinib in mouse collagen-induced arthritis (CIA) ^{343,344}. Upadacitinib is a selective JAK1 inhibitor, with its selectivity (over other JAKs) determined by its ability to bind JAK1 at two distinct sites. Filgotinib is another JAK1 inhibitor, which forms an active metabolite with similar JAK1selective inhibitor properties which contributes to the overall pharmacodynamic profile by prolonging JAK1 inhibition³⁴⁵. Both compounds were shown to exhibit rapid and notable dose-dependent improvement in signs and symptoms of disease when administered to RA patients refractory or intolerant to methotrexate, either alone or in combination with methotrexate, along with the tolerable safety profile^{346,347,348}. In addition, upadacitinib also demonstrated rapid clinical improvements in patients with inadequate response to anti-TNF therapy³⁴⁹. Recently, upadacitinib was approved by the FDA for the management of moderate to severe RA in patients refractory or intolerant to methotrexate therapy. Other emerging second-generation compounds, peficitinib and decernotinib, are JAK3 selective inhibitors, with peficitinib exhibiting moderate selectivity and inhibiting all other JAK members, while decernotinib having a more potent JAK3 affinity^{350,351}. These inhibitors have shown an efficacy and safety profile comparable to the JAK3/JAK1 inhibitor tofacitinib. While the clinical trial results employing more selective JAK inhibitors are very encouraging, further studies are required for potentially further improving their benefit/risk ratio (e.g. by dosage adjustments) and assessing their long-term efficacy and safety potential.

The full list of JAK inhibitors, both currently approved for clinical use and tested in clinical trials is presented in Table 1-3.

Table 1-3. Janus kinase inhibitors currently clinically employed or tested for the treatment of RA and other autoimmune conditions.

Compound	Molecular targets	Indication/disease	Development phase			
First-generation inhibitors						
Tofacitinib JAK3 > JAK1 ≥ JAK		RA Ulcerative colitis	FDA approved			
		Ankylosing spondylitis Juvenile idiopathic arthritis	Phase III			
		Transplant rejection	Phase IIb (completed)			
Ruxolitinib JAK2,JAK1 ≥ T		Myelofibrosis Polycythemia vera Acute graft-versus-host disease	FDA approved			
		RA Psoriasis (topical) Alopecia areata, atopic dermatitis	Phase II			
Oclacitinib	JAK1	Canine atopic dermatitis	FDA approved			
Baricitinib	JAK2, JAK1 ≥ TYK2	RA Atopic dermatitis Chronic graft-versus-host	FDA approved Preregistration phase Phase II			
		Psoriasis, psoriatic arthritis	Discontinued			
Second-generation inhibitors*						
Upadacitinib	JAK1	RA	FDA approved			
		Psoriatic arthritis, atopic dermatitis Ulcerative colitis	Phase III			
Filgotinib	JAK1	RA	Submitted for FDA approval (December 2019)			
		Ulcerative colitis, Crohn's disease	Phase III			
		Psoriatic arthritis	Phase II			
Peficitinib	JAK3	RA	Phase III/Approved in Japan			
		Psoriasis, ulcerative colitis	Phase III			
Decernotinib	JAK3	RA	Discontinued			
Itacitinib	JAK1	RA Craft versus heat disease	Phase II (discontinued)			
		Grant-versus-nost disease	Phase III (Talled)			

*The new-generation JAK-inhibitors not tested for RA are excluded

1.3 Dendritic cell-CD4⁺ T cell crosstalk

1.3.1 The role of dendritic cells during naïve CD4⁺ T cell activation and polarization

Dendritic cells (DCs) are bone marrow-derived 'professional' antigen-presenting cells (APCs) which are found in virtually all tissues of the body apart from brain³⁵². They function as the 'guardians' of the immune system by performing surveillance of their local tissue sites for the presence of foreign/exogenous or self-antigens, and as the essential orchestrators of the immune responses through the initiation of adaptive (immune) response or induction of immune tolerance.³⁵³ The immature DCs primarily specialise in antigen uptake and processing and are triggered to undergo activation/maturation following an intrinsic stimulus (e.g. internal milieu disturbance), or due to recognition of either conserved pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) or damageassociated molecules (DAMPs) of endogenous origin^{354,355}. During activation/maturation DCs switch from phagocytosing to antigen-presenting phenotype by upregulating the expression of MHC-II-peptide complexes and costimulatory molecules as well as producing high levels of inflammatory cytokines³⁵⁶. Concurrently, activated DCs enhance their motility and upregulate chemokine receptor CCR7, which allows them to migrate, via the lymphatic circulation, to the lymph node paracortex, mostly consisting of T cells^{357,358}. While the expression of MHC-II and co-stimulatory molecules is also exhibited by other APCs, the above capacity of DCs to deliver the antigens from the periphery to the T cell zone in the lymph node and to concurrently provide cytokines promoting T cell differentiation into specific helper subsets makes them uniquely equipped for naïve T cell priming.

Following their maturation in the thymus, naïve T cells continuously recirculate between secondary lymphoid organs via blood or lymphatic vasculature in pursuit of (their cognate) antigen encounter³⁵⁹. Since the naïve T cells bearing/expressing a T-cell receptor (TCR) specific for a certain antigen are present at very low frequencies, their initial frequent transient interactions with (antigen-laden) DCs serve to enhance the probability of T cells encountering their cognate antigen^{360,361}. These antigen-dependent interactions, known as 'clustering', are mediated by molecules such as intracellular adhesion molecules (ICAMs; also known as CD54) on DCs, binding to LFA-1 on naïve T cells, and DCspecific ICAM-3-grabbing nonintegrin (DC-SIGN), interacting with ICAM-2 and ICAM-3 on the T cells, and enable the T cells to efficiently probe/sample for the MHC- peptide complexes^{362,363}. In vitro, T lymphocytes were shown to form (functional) synapses with DCs in the absence of both cognate antigen and MHC molecules, which promoted small Ca2⁺ flux, limited proliferation and long-term survival of T cells, and T lymphocyte survival in vivo was dependent on the contact with MHC-II-expressing DCs^{364,365}. Thus, even without recognition of their specific peptide during the initial interaction with DCs T cell receives a survival signal, and this mechanism potentially serves for long-term preservation of the diverse T cell/TCR repertoire required for efficient protective immune responses³⁵². In addition, the recognition of the self-MHC peptide complex on DCs by TCR (in CD4-dependent manner) provides a tonic signal to T cell which does not induce cell activation but rather promotes its optimal responsiveness to the subsequent exogenous/foreign cognate antigen encounter³⁶⁶.

Induction of T cell signalling relies on the integration of stimuli from several surface molecules and their subsequent conversion into complex intracellular signalling events, which eventually determine T cell response, including effective cell activation, anergy or apoptosis. On the immune response scale, these translate into the induction of response, either beneficial (pathogen elimination) and harmful (insufficient protective response/immunodeficiency or autoimmunity), or alternatively promote maintenance of immune tolerance/non-responsiveness.

According to the three-signal hypothesis, full activation of naïve CD4⁺ T cells requires TCR engagement with its specific peptide presented in the context of MHC-II molecule by an APC (signal 1), the additional engagement of costimulatory molecules (signal 2) and stimulation with specific cytokines which determine the T lymphocyte differentiation towards a specific effector cell phenotype (signal 3)^{367,368,369}. All three signals can be provided concurrently by a
mature DC. The exact mechanism by which TCR-mediated T cell activation occurs is unknown, but the current theories suggest several possibilities. Thus, the kinetic segregation model proposes that the spatial separation of membranespanning tyrosine phosphatase CD45 from the vicinity of TCR and its associated intracellular kinases would allow the accumulation of phosphorylated receptor residues and enable cell activation³⁷⁰. Kinetic proofreading model postulates that the different half-lives of the ligand binding to TCR enable the discrimination between self- and exogenous ligands, with the high-affinity (exogenous) ligands forming longer interactions with TCR to allow the number of biochemical modifications to occur to eventually trigger downstream signalling cascades³⁷¹. Meanwhile, the conformational change model suggests that the MHC-II-peptide ligation to TCR promotes receptor conformation, which in turn triggers the exposure of the co-receptor CD3ɛ immuno-receptor tyrosine-based activation motifs (ITAMs), making those accessible for the tyrosine kinase phosphorylation and promoting the subsequent signalling events downstream³⁷². Likely, the integration of these and multiple other theories is required to comprehensively explain the sensitivity, specificity, and dynamic nature of T cell activation.

The early membrane-proximal signaling events during T cell activation are initiated by leukocyte-specific tyrosine kinase (Lck), constitutively associated with TCR co-receptor CD4 intracellular domain^{373,374}. Upon TCR engagement with MHC-II-peptide complex CD4 also comes in contact with MCH-II molecule, thus positioning Lck in proximity to the ITAM domains of the TCR-associated CD3 γ -, ϵ - ζ - and δ chains and enabling their phosphorylation by the kinase³⁷⁵. Phosphorylated CD3 ITAMs recruit Syk family kinase Zeta-activated protein 70 kDa (Zap-70) which also undergoes Lck-mediated phosphorylation and activation, and in turn phosphorylates its target membrane-associated protein, linker for the activation of T cells (LAT)^{375,376}. Activated LAT, in conjunction with other proteins, subsequently functions as a scaffold complex (signalosome) for the recruitment of multiple adaptor and effector signaling molecules, which trigger the key downstream signaling cascades, such as MAPK and NF- κ B pathways³⁷⁶. The major consequences of the above signaling events include: actin and microtubule cytoskeleton reorganisation, required for the establishment of immunological synapses; integrin activation, which mediates stabilization of T

cell-APC contact; and rapid changes in expression of genes responsible for T cell polarization, proliferation and survival³⁷⁷. Several negative feedback loops are in place to fine-tune the signaling through TCR since the aberrant T cell activation can lead to the development of the autoimmune responses³⁷⁷.

The initial engagement of TCR with its cognate peptide-MHC complex on the dendritic cell surface triggers an intricate sequence of T cell morphological changes and surface receptor re-organization, resulting in the formation of the stable molecular 'junction' at the interface between T cells and DCs termed immunological synapse (IS). Immediately upon T cell recognition of its cognate peptide-MHC complex, T cell halts its migration and forms transient microclusters at the primary contact site with DC, containing 30-300 TCR molecules along with kinases and adaptor proteins required for proximal singalling, as well as CD28 molecules and associated protein kinase C theta (PKC θ).^{378,379} These TCR microclusters provide the initial signals for T cell activation, which are further sustained by a generation of new microclusters at the peripheral edges of the T cell, as it 'spreads' across the contact interface and engages more peptide-MHC complexes.^{380,381} Following maximal 'spreading', T cell contracts and the centripetal flux of F-actin potentiates TCR microcluster to migrate towards the centre of the junction, dissociate from proximal signalling molecules, fuse into larger aggregates and eventually form central supramolecular activation cluster (cSMAC). In the mature IS, the cSMAC is divided into two distinct regions-CD3^{hi} inner region containing a cluster of TCR molecules, and an outer CD3^{lo} area composed of CD28 and PKC0, along with negative regulators of T cell co-stimulation, CTLA-4.^{382,383} While the inner cSMAC region is thought to represent a site of TCR signalling regulation through receptor internalisation and degradation, its outer edge enables to maintain persistent co-stimulatory/co-inhibitory signals essential for T cell activation fine-tuning.^{379,382,384} The cSMAC is surrounded by a peripheral SMAC (pSMAC) domain enriched in integrin molecules LFA-1, which serves to enhance the T cell adhesion to DC and thereby increases its sensitivity to the antigen. ^{382, 385} The outermost region of the immune synapse is known as distal SMAC (dSMAC), composed of molecules with large ectodomains, including CD45 tyrosine phosphatase, which is segregated from TCR to enable receptor activation.^{385,386} The key function of the immune synapse is to maintain the stable cognate T cellDC contact for a prolonged period of time (5-12h), required for full naïve T cell priming.

In addition to efficient TCR engagement, additional co-stimulatory signals (signal 2) provided by accessory surface receptors are essential for complete T cell activation^{387,388}. CD28 is a prototypical co-stimulatory surface receptor, constitutively expressed on the CD4⁺ T lymphocytes but exhibiting low affinity to its ligands in the resting cell. This ensures that in the absence of antigen recognition and associated agonistic TCR stimulus the T cell is prevented from unnecessary activation³⁸⁹. Upon TCR stimulation, CD28 undergoes a conformational change and can bind its ligands CD80 (B7.1) and CD86 (B7.2) on the surface of mature DCs with enhanced affinity³⁹⁰. CD80 and CD86 expression is notably upregulated on antigen-bearing DCs during their maturation process^{369,391}. Stimulated CD28 receptor, similarly to TCR, is phosphorylated on its cytoplasmic tail by membrane-proximal kinases, thereby recruiting a number of adaptor proteins and activating signaling pathways, which converge with TCRinduced intracellular cascades at the level of (aforementioned) signalosome/LAT-containing protein platform^{392,393}. In this manner, the engagement of CD28 receptor results in the significant amplification of the signaling downstream of the TCR, and thus directly mediates the induction of naïve T cell proliferation, survival, and differentiation, the latter in conjunction with specific cytokine stimuli^{394,395,395}. Such dominant co-stimulatory activity of CD28 requires tight regulation, mediated by cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4 (CTLA-4) and programmed death-1 (PD-1) receptor proteins. CTLA-4 molecule, structurally related to CD28, is constitutively expressed on regulatory T cells but is upregulated on other T cells only following activation, and acts as a CD28 competitor for shared ligands CD80 and CD86, which it binds with 10-fold higher activity^{396,397,398}. Mechanistically, CTLA-4 binding leads to TCR/CD28 signaling supression in the T cell (via recruitment of inhibitory phosphatases), as well as the transmission of immunosupressive signals to DCs through its ligands and the capture of the ligands from the DC surface by trans-endocytosis^{399,400,401}. Biologically, CTLA-4 inhibition is an important checkpoint in regulation of T cell autoreactivity, exemplified by numerous reports associating mutations and polymorphisms in CTLA-4 with susceptibility to autoimmune disorders in humans^{402,403,404}. Programmed death-1 (PD-1) receptor is another potent inhibitor of T cell activation. Cytoplasmic tail of PD-1 associates with SHP2 phosphatase enzyme, which suppresses the activity of kinases mediating signaling downstream of TCR^{405,406}. Thereby, PD-1 engagement on T cell can promote cell cycle arrest, anergy and/or apoptosis^{407,408}. A range of other co-stimulatory proteins is involved in collectively orchestrating the subsequent T cell response, including ICOS, OX40, and CD40L on T cells and their respective ligands ICOS-L, OX40L and CD40 on DCs^{409,410,411}.

While the TCR signaling strength and co-stimulatory or co-inhibitory molecule engagement can influence T cell differentiation by favouring a commitment towards a certain lineage or impeding cell ability for differentiation, the critical role for T cell polarization towards distinct effector subsets is played by the APC/DC-derived cytokines (signal 3)^{412,413,414,415}. The polarizing cytokine-induced signals are transduced (mainly) through the JAK/STAT pathway, and specific STAT proteins mediate the transcription of the lineage-determining /master transcription factors and lineage-associated genes. The development of the Th1 helper subset requires stimulation from both IL-12 and IFNy. While IL-12 is mainly produced by DCs, IFNy can be produced by differentiating Th1 cells themselves or by NK cells in response to DC-secreted IL-12⁴¹⁶. The IFNy STAT1mediated signaling induces the initial expression of T-box transcription factor (Tbet), a crucial master regulator of commitment towards Th1 lineage. In turn, Tbet enhances IFNy production by T cells, thus amplifying its own expression through the positive feedback loop, and induces IL-12RB2 expression to sensitize cells to IL-12 stimulation⁴¹⁷. In turn, IL-12-activated STAT4 also induces IFNy production to further promote sustained T-bet and IL-12RB2 expression⁴¹⁸. At the later stages of commitment, IL-18 production is induced through IL-12/STAT4 pathway, and IL-18 synergise with IL-12 for facilitating IFNy production by established Th1 cells⁴¹⁹. The signals from both IL-4 and IL-2 are detrimental for naïve T cell commitment towards Th2 phenotype^{419,420}. IL-4-induced STAT6 mediates the expression of GATA3, a master regulator of Th2 differentiation, and subsequently functions in concert with GATA3 to promote the lineagespecific gene expression^{421,422}. IL-2 signaling, on the other hand, activates STAT5, which together with GATA3 coordinates (lineage-specific) IL-4 production and also promotes IL-4Ra expression^{423,424}. Mature dendritic cells also provide IL-6 and TGFB, required for the early stages of T cell polarization into Th17

subset^{425,426}. IL-6 and TGFB cooperate in inducing master transcription factor RORγt expression and subsequently IL-6-induced STAT3 cooperates with RORγt for induction of IL-17A (and IL-17F) production, as well as expression of IL-21 which further amplifies the above lineage-specific cytokine production⁴²⁶. Lastly, a combination of TGFB, secreted by mature DCs and IL-2, generated at early stages of T cell activation, is responsible for coordinating polarization into regulatory T cell (Treg) lineage^{427,428}.

1.3.2 Other outcomes of dendritic cell-CD4⁺ T cell interaction

The requirement of at least two signals (Signal 1 and signal 2) for the naïve T cell activation and proliferation/clonal expansion are in place to ensure that the T cells respond only to the harmful exogenous antigens presented in the context of professional APCs, while remaining non-responsive to self-antigens. While the central tolerance mechanisms in the thymus govern the elimination of self-reactive T lymphocytes, the responsiveness to some antigens (e.g. developmental and food antigens) is not controlled by thymic selection thus allowing some autoreactive T cells to escape to the periphery. Therefore, a number of peripheral tolerance strategies are present to effectively suppress the priming/activation of such cells, including T-cell intrinsic mechanisms such as anergy, phenotypic skewing, and activation-induced cell death.⁴²⁹

1.3.2.1 Anergy

Anergy is a long-term state of cell hyporesponsiveness, which is induced following TCR recognition of the self-peptide in the absence of CD28 costimulatory signal.⁴³⁰ Since the cooperative TCR/CD28 engagement is necessary for optimal recruitment of transcription factors essential for IL-2 expression, the anergic T cells exhibit notably reduced IL-2 production upon re-stimulation.^{431,432} Moreover, the anergic cells express anergy-associated molecules such as ubiquitin E3 ligases Itch and GRAIL, which facilitate degradation of the signaling components downstream of TCR, as well as specific transcription factors responsible for the maintenance of hyporesponsive cell state.^{433,434}

The inhibitory signals delivered by CTLA-4 and PD-1 co-receptors were also implicated in promoting autoreactive T cell anergy. CTLA-4 was shown to be essential for anergy induction, as the naïve CTLA-4-deficient T cells exposed to tolerogenic stimulus in vivo and subsequently re-activated in vitro retained the ability for proliferation and IL-2 secretion, in contrast to wild-type T cells maintaining cell cycle arrest⁴³⁵. Moreover, mice deficient in CTLA-4 develop a fatal autoimmune multiorgan disorder, further highlighting the crucial negative regulatory role of CTLA-4⁴³⁶. Another critical co-receptor, PD-1, functions by promoting dephosphorylation of membrane-proximal TCR-induced signaling molecules and interfering with downstream signaling cascades. Thus, the ligation of PD-1 on the autoreactive T cell leads to diminished cell proliferation and increased susceptibility for apoptosis, thereby ultimately inhibiting the expansion of self-reactive naïve T cell and their potential for acquiring an effector phenotype⁴³⁷. In line with that, the blockade of PD-1 engagement with one of its receptors, B7-H1, resulted in the reversal of T cell anergy, while the disruption of PD-1 gene in mice manifested in spontaneous lupus-like autoimmune phenotype development^{438,439}.

While being crucial in mediating T cell activation to the harmful antigens, DCs are also suggested to promote induction of non-responsive state in T cells. Such 'tolerogenic' DCs, presenting self-antigens, usually exhibit an immature or semimature phenotype with characteristic low-level expression of both MHC-peptide complexes and co-stimulatory molecules insufficient for optimal T cell activation⁴⁴⁰. In addition, some mature DC subsets were also described to promote T cell anergy as well as regulatory T cell generation. The suggested mechanisms of 'tolerogenic' DCs involve the delivery of inhibitory signals through expression of PD-1 receptors PD-L1 and PD-L2, secretion of anti-inflammatory cytokines IL-10 and TGF-B, which potentiate generation of regulatory T cells, as well as Indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) secretion,

1.3.2.2 Activation-induced cell death (AICD)

Along with anergy, activation-induced cell death (AICD) represents another fundamental mechanism for maintaining peripheral self-tolerance. AICD specifically occurs in CD4⁺ T cells repeatedly stimulated through their TCR in vitro, which are thought to represent the autoreactive chronically activated cells (escaping thymic selection) and repeatedly encountering their cognate selfpeptides in the periphery.⁴⁴⁴ The repetitive antigenic stimulation induces CD4⁺ T cells to upregulate the expression of the death receptor Fas (CD95) and its ligand, with the subsequent Fas-FasL interaction mediating the formation of death-inducing signalling complex (DISC) and induction of caspase cascade, which ultimately leads to cell death by apoptosis.^{445,446,447} AICD can occur either through Fas-FasL interaction between the two cells (fratricide) or as a cell 'suicide', whereby the soluble FasL binds its receptor in an autocrine manner.^{448,449} The primary evidence of the connection between Fas-mediated AICD and immune tolerance came from *lpr* and *gld* mice bearing deactivating mutations in Fas and FasL genes, respectively, exhibiting failure in thymocyte selection, which manifested in lymphadenopathy and systemic lupus-like autoimmunity.⁴⁵⁰ However, the subsequent study demonstrated that Fas deficiency did not affect negative thymic selection but instead rendered mature peripheral T cells resistant to apoptosis, thus highlighting the importance of Fasmediated AICD in specifically maintaining T cell peripheral tolerance.⁴⁵¹

1.3.3 Evidence of the DC-CD4⁺ T cell crosstalk importance in RA

Given the crucial role of DCs in the induction and fine-tuning of T cell responses, the alterations in their activation status, guality of antigen presentation and costimulatory signal transmission can modulate the outcome of the DC-CD4⁺ T cell interaction and contribute to the development of multiple autoimmune conditions, including RA. The strongest evidence is provided by the increased RA susceptibility in individuals bearing one or several alleles of the HLA-DRB1 gene (including HLA-DRB1*0401, *0404 and *0405), which harbour a 5 amino acid motif ('shared epitope') within a peptide-binding groove pocket of the HLA-DRB1 MHC-II molecule. The 'shared epitope'-containing HLA-DRB1 molecules exhibit an increased propensity towards binding and presentation of citrullinated selfpeptides, and the recognition of such peptides by CD4⁺ T cells, reported in both mice and RA patients, leads to pro-inflammatory cytokine production by T cells and might also be linked to T cell-dependent B cell activation for ACPA antibody generation.^{452,453} Thus, the preferential presentation of modified self-epitopes by DCs (and other APCs) appears to have an important role in disease pathogenesis. Other RA-associated allelic polymorphisms in genes including REL, IRAK1, NFKBIE and CCL21 can potentially affect DC maturation and migration to the lymph nodes, and thereby further contribute to alteration of their T-cell stimulatory capacity.

A more direct piece of evidence on the relevance of DC-CD4⁺ T cell interaction in the disease, in particular during the onset of autoimmune response, was obtained from the murine models of experimental RA. Thus, Brewer *et al*. demonstrated that the transfer of mature DCs, presenting collagen-derived peptide, into the footpads of recipient DBA/1 mice was sufficient for initiation of erosive RA in the adjacent joint, with the induction phase corresponding with the priming of endogenous collagen-specific CD4⁺ T cells and their differentiation into Th1 subset.⁴⁵⁴ In a model of acute early RA, developed in our lab, the transfer and repeated cognate re-activation *in vivo* of CD4⁺ Th1 cells of joint-irrelevant specificity created an inflammatory joint environment, which was proposed to promote the presentation of self-antigen (collagen II) to the endogenous autoreactive CD4⁺ T cells by DCs in immunogenic fashion, leading to the self-tolerance breakdown.⁴⁵⁵ Indeed, a follow-up study demonstrated the endogenous conventional DC subset being activated and presenting antigen prior to the development of anti-collagen CD4⁺ T cell responses. In line with that, the selective depletion of conventional DCs in CD11cDTR mice by *in vivo* administration of diphtheria toxin prior to mice receiving secondary antigenic challenge lead to abrogation of autoreactive (collagen-II-specific) T cell responses and associated breach of self-tolerance, and resulted in amelioration of joint pathology characteristic for the model.⁴⁵⁶

On the other side of the interaction, T cells in RA exhibit altered threshold of the TCR signaling and associated/consequent aberrations in cell activation. For instance, increased phosphorylation of extracellular-signal-regulated protein kinase (ERK), a member of the pivotal signaling pathway downstream of TCR, is observed in RA patient T cells, which appears to promote sustained TCRmediated signaling in response to suboptimal antigenic stimulation⁴⁵⁷. Genetic polymorphisms associated with RA were also identified at loci of CD28, CTLA-4, protein tyrosine phosphatase, non-receptor type 22 (PTPN22) and CD247 (TCRZ), which encode molecules mediating membrane-proximal TCR signalling events and is thus involved in regulating TCR stimulation threshold. Polymorphism(s) in PTPN22 gene product Lyp phosphatase, particularly strongly linked to RA susceptibility, results in Lyp failure to bind its partner kinase Csk and thereby abrogates Lyp capacity to negatively regulate the activity of proximal TCR signaling intermediates⁴⁵⁸. Thus, the perturbations in dendritic cell capacity for T cell stimulation in combination with altered T cell responsiveness in RApredisposed individuals result in aberrant cell crosstalk, which can occur during naïve CD4⁺ T cell priming in periphery but can also take place during the selfreactive thymocyte elimination in the thymus. Given all the above, DC-CD4⁺T cell interactions are considered indispensable in both breakdown of tolerance and initiation of adaptive immune responses in RA and represent an important 'immune checkpoint' to be targeted therapeutically.

Thus, additional evidence is provided by some successful therapeutic approaches designed to interfere with or modulate DC-CD4⁺ T cell crosstalk. One of such therapeutic modalities is CTLA-4 molecule homologue abatacept, comprised of

extracellular human CTLA-4 domain and modified Fc portion of human IgG1. Similarly to an endogenous CTLA-4, abatacept competes with CD28 for binding to CD80/86, thereby delivering a co-inhibitory signal and effectively suppressing T cell activation by APCs/ dendritic cells.⁴⁵⁹ In patients with different stages of RA and treatment background abatacept is reported to effectively reduce disease activity, improve physical function and halt the radiographic damage progression.^{212,211,213} The strategy of other therapeutic approach, tolerogenic DC (tolDC) therapy, involves in vitro generation of semi-mature 'tolerogenic' DCs which have the potential to induce hyporesponsive/anergic state in autoreactive T cells. In the initial clinical study in early RA patients, a single intradermal injection of tolDCs exposed to citrullinated peptides was administered, which lead to a reduction in effector T cells, increase in the regulatory-to-effector T cell ratio and diminished T cell responsiveness to citrullinated peptides, along with improvement in disease activity scores⁴⁶⁰. Another clinical study, AutoDECRA, used synovial fluid as the source of self-antigens for presentation by tolDCs and used intra-articular administration for cell delivery. The tolDC administration improved the local disease activity in a proportion of patients but did not induce any systemic immunomodulatory effects⁴⁶¹. Thus, it appears that DCs with tolerogenic phenotype can modulate autoreactive effector T cell responses by inducing anergy and/or potentially promoting apoptosis in RA patients⁴⁶¹. These observations further support the importance of DC-CD4⁺ T cell interactions in RA, as the therapeutic blockade or modulation of this crosstalk leads to diminished autoreactive T cell responses and subsequent clinical symptom improvement.

1.4 Dynamics of DC-CD4⁺ T cell interactions during RA development

The process of RA pathogenesis can be described to occur in several phases: genetically and environmentally-determined 'at risk' phase, preceding the initial loss of self-tolerance; initiation and propagation of autoimmune response, followed by immune cell infiltration into the joint; and transition to chronic

inflammation, which eventually culminates in joint pathology and symptomatic disease. Extensive research utilizing murine models was conducted to determine the contribution of specific cells and cell-cell cross-talk into each of these disease stages, with the aim to gain better insights into immune mechanisms underlying the RA progression and accordingly advance the therapeutic disease management. A number of studies specifically investigated the potential contribution of initial DC-CD4⁺ T cell interaction (i.e. cognate CD4⁺ T cell priming) to the inciting phase of the pathology. Thus, in a mouse model of acute early RA (described in detail in ref.⁴⁵⁵ and Chapter 5), the self-tolerance breakdown event and associated autoreactive CD4⁺ T cell response development were directly preceded by conventional DC activation and antigen presentation in the joint-draining lymph nodes, suggesting these cells to be responsible for priming of the self-reactive CD4⁺ T lymphocytes.⁴⁵⁶ The depletion of these conventional DCs by administering diphtheria toxin to CD11c-diphtheria toxinreceptor (DTR) mice prior to administration of antigen triggering self-tolerance breakdown appeared to prevent self-reactive CD4⁺ T cell response generation, further confirming the indispensable requirement of cognate naive CD4⁺ T cell-DC engagement for triggering the autoimmune response in this model.⁴⁵⁶ Andrew Cope and colleagues took a different approach and assessed the consequences of PTPN22^{R620W} mutation, a single nucleotide polymorphism most strongly associated with genetic susceptibility to RA, on the quality of DC-mediated T cell responses. They elegantly demonstrated mice harbouring orthologous PTPN22^{R619W} mutation to exhibit an enhanced expansion of the conventional DC2 population, which was sufficient to augment T cell proliferation and T follicular helper cell generation. The authors thereby proposed that perturbations in DC homeostasis, driven by PTPN22 polymorphism, might be causal of aberrant autoreactive T cell priming and initiation of autoimmunity in RA. ⁴⁶² In another study, the absence of PTPN22 in DCs resulted in enhanced immune complexderived antigen presentation and CD4⁺ T cell-DC conjugate formation, which subsequently augmented CD4⁺ T cell proliferation. These results provide an additional explanation on how PTPN22 R620W mutation in a specific context might contribute to dysregulated DC-CD4⁺ T cell interactions and potentiate autoimmunity initiation.⁴⁶³ Apart from the initial triggering of autoimmunity, the continuous (new) naïve CD4⁺ T cell activation by DCs is thought to crucially contribute to the propagation of the autoimmune response in RA through the

mechanism of epitope spreading. Epitope spreading is a process of diversification of T cell as well as B cell responses from a dominant antigenic epitope, triggering the initiation of the autoimmune response, to the recognition of other epitopes of the dominant antigen (generated by post-translational modification in the inflamed milieu) as well as distinct antigenic molecules, likely exposed following inflammation-associated tissue damage. In contrast to other autoimmune diseases (e.g. multiple sclerosis), the animal-model based research into mechanisms underlying epitope spreading phenomena and its contribution to the pathology development in RA is fairly limited. Khmaladze and colleagues employed a knock-in B10Q.ACB mouse strain, which spontaneously developed high-frequency autoreactive B cells specific for C1 epitope of collagen II (CII) but remained protected from collagen-induced arthritis (CII), and introduced a mutation (to Ncf1 gene) leading to deficiency in reactive oxygen species (ROS). This ROS deficiency appeared to break the resistance to CIA, and the disease progression and severity correlated with the development of antibodies specific for additional, non-C1 CII epitopes. The Ncf1-deficient mice also exhibited enhanced CII-specific T cell responses, suggesting that autoreactive B cells might have potentially received T cell help for enhanced response generation and possibly epitope spreading.⁴⁶⁴ Interestingly, in a hGPIc peptide-induced (GIA) murine arthritis model which was subjected to regulatory T cell depletion, Yang and colleagues observed not only B cell but also pronounced T cell response diversification, evidenced by detection of antigen-specific T cells recognising several collagen type II epitopes, unrelated to disease-inciting peptide, which possibly contributed to the disease perpetuation.⁴⁶⁵ The likely mechanism of T cell epitope spreading requires initial CD4⁺ T cell priming by an APC (DC) presenting immunodominant epitope, with subsequent migration of activated CD4⁺ T lymphocyte to the target tissue, where it might be reactivated by the same (primary) epitope and release cytokines and chemokines. These will promote recruitment and activation of innate immune cells (e.g. macrophages), which in turn promote tissue damage through release of proteolytic enzymes and ROS. The neoepitopes generated from the tissue debris can then be presented by APCs (DCs) to 'new' naïve autoreactive CD4⁺ T cells in the lymph node, leading to further recruitment of additional activated CD4+ T cells and tissue destruction, thereby creating a self-perpetuating cycle ⁴⁶⁶ Thus, the continuous

autoreactive CD4⁺ T cell priming by DCs, underlying epitope spreading, plays an

83

important role in disease perpetuation and likely contributes to the chronicity of autoimmune response in RA. Along with the newly primed CD4⁺ T cells, the T cells of activated phenotype detected in the synovium of RA patients might also contribute to the progression and chronicity of autoimmune response. However, whether these cells specifically require interaction with DCs for secondary activation is largely unknown, as they could also be re-activated in an antigenspecific manner by other APCs abundantly present in the joint, as well as undergo cytokine-dependent bystander activation which does not require TCR engagement. One of the clues suggesting the DC involvement in antigen presentation in the RA joint is the enrichment of the synovium compared to peripheral blood/circulation, with myeloid subset DCs of a mature phenotype expressing MHC-II and co-stimulatory molecules, which were capable of effective autologous T cell stimulation.⁴⁶⁷ Moreover, the presence in the synovial fluid of myeloid progenitors along with soluble factors capable of promoting their differentiation suggested that mature DCs can be generated locally within the joint and can also participate in the amplification of inflammation by jointinfiltrating autoreactive CD4⁺ T cell (re-)stimulation. The direct evidence of the activated antigen-specific CD4⁺ T cell re-activation in the joint comes from an elegant study by Benson et al. which employed the aforementioned 'breach-oftolerance' RA mouse model. The study demonstrated the adoptively transferred OT-II CD4⁺ T cells of activated phenotype to infiltrate the joints following the secondary challenge with their cognate antigen (HAO) in vivo, and, using intravital microscopy, observed these cells within the articular environment to form prolonged interactions with endogenous CD11c⁺ DCs, consistent with the antigen-specific recognition and activation.⁴⁶⁸ Overall, while the evidence is very limited, these individual cues allow proposing that the antigen-experienced CD4⁺ T cells infiltrating the RA synovium might at least partially rely on cognate interactions with DCs to receive re-activation signals. Thus, the cognate CD4⁺ T cell-DC interactions likely occur throughout the course of RA development, thereby highlighting their importance in the disease pathogenesis as well as emphasizing the value of this cell interaction for therapeutic modulation.

1.5 Hypothesis and aims

A number of studies demonstrate the effect of tofacitinib on CD4⁺ T cell ability to proliferate and produce pro-inflammatory cytokines. Employing the antigenspecific cell system, I wanted to specifically investigate the impact of the drug on CD4⁺ T cell interaction with its cognate antigen-presenting DC. I also aimed to further dissect whether the drug exerts the effect during the naïve CD4⁺ T cell priming or interferes with antigen-experienced CD4⁺ T lymphocyte re-activation, both of which play a crucial part in initiation and propagation of RA pathogenesis. Based on the ability of tofacitinib to inhibit cytokine signalling through the JAK/STAT pathway, I hypothesised that the drug would impact the efficiency of CD4⁺ T cell-DC primary interaction and lead to the alterations in CD4⁺ T cell phenotype and function. With the efficacy of tofacitinib on RA pathology being so far studied and confirmed in the murine models of established RA, I intended to determine if similar improvements in the disease pathogenesis could be achieved by introducing the drug very early in the disease, in line with the current trends for therapeutic interference at the onset of RA.

Thus, the key aims of this project were:

- To determine the effect of tofacitinib treatment on CD4⁺ T cell-DC interaction efficiency and functional outcome *in vitro* and *in vivo*
- To determine at what stage of the CD4⁺ T cell-DC interaction, priming or re-activation, does tofacitinib have an impact
- To assess the drug impact on disease pathogenesis in the 'breach of tolerance' early acute RA mouse model

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Buffers and reagents

2.1.1 Complete medium

RPMI-1640 (Life Technologies) supplemented with 10% foetal bovine serum (FBS) (Gibco), L-glutamine (Gibco) and Penicillin/Streptomycin (Sigma-Aldrich).

2.1.2 FACS buffer

Dulbecco's phosphate-buffered saline (DPBS) (Life Technologies) supplemented with 2% foetal bovine serum, 1 mM EDTA, and 0.01% Sodium azide.

2.1.3 MACS buffer

Dulbecco's phosphate-buffered saline (DPBS) (Life Technologies) with 1% foetal bovine serum and 2 mM EDTA.

2.1.4 JAK inhibitor tofacitinib

Tofacitinib free base and tofacitinib citrate salt were purchased from LC Labs, reconstituted in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO)(Sigma), and stored as single-use aliquots at -20 C. DMSO was serially diluted to achieve the concentration of 0.1% or 0.001% in the cell culture, corresponding to the two tofacitinib concentrations used.

For administration to mice by oral gavage, tofacitinib citrate stock was further dissolved in sterile-filtered DPBS containing 0.5% Methylcellulose (Sigma) and 0.025% Tween20 (Sigma) at the concentration of 6.25 mg/ml and sonicated for 5 minutes. DMSO was utilized as a vehicle control at a maximal non-toxic dilution of 5 % dissolved in the same solution as the drug.

2.2 Mice

2.2.1 C57BL/6

Male C57BL/6 mice were purchased from Harlan laboratories UK (currently ENVIGO) at 6 weeks of age and acclimatised for 1 week prior to their use for any procedures. C57BL/6 mice were used between 6-12 weeks of age as donors of bone marrow or adoptive transfer recipients.

2.2.2 CD45.1 OT-II

OT-II T cell receptor (TCR) transgenic mice were bred in-house (Central Research Facilities, University of Glasgow, UK). The majority of the T cells of OT-II mice express αBTCR specific for chicken ovalbumin peptide (OVA) ³²³⁻³³⁹ presented in the context of MHC-II molecule⁴⁶⁹. *In vitro* co-culture of OT-II T cells with OVA³²³⁻³³⁹ -pulsed dendritic cells generates robust T cells response and allows to monitor changes in this antigen-specific interaction. Our OT-II mice also express CD45.1 on all leukocytes, which is a pan-leukocyte marker with two allelic variants-CD45.1 and CD45.2-bearing the same function. This system allows discriminating the cells transferred from the CD45.1 OT-II donor into CD45.2 C56BL/6 recipient by flow cytometry and manipulating them by introducing OVA³²³⁻³³⁹ peptide into the recipient. T cells from OT-II mice were used for *in vitro* co-cultures and adoptive transfer experiments.

All animals were maintained on a 12/12-hour light/dark cycle with water and food ad libitum, and all the procedures were performed in accordance with local ethical and UK Home Office regulations.

2.3 Isolation and preparation of cells

2.3.1 CD4⁺ T cell isolation from mouse lymph nodes and spleen (StemCell EasySep kit)

Lymph nodes and spleens were harvested from OT-II transgenic mice, passed separately through a 70 µm EASYstrainer (Greiner Bio) and cell suspension collected into complete media. Cells were spun at 400 g for 5 min at 4°C. Cell pellets from the spleens were then treated with 1xRBC lysis buffer (eBioscience) for 5 minutes at room temperature (RT), washed with complete media, and pellets from lymph nodes and spleen were pulled together for counting. Cell viability and number were determined using Trypan blue (Sigma) exclusion method and a haemocytometer. Cells were then resuspended in isolation buffer (DPBS with 2% foetal bovine serum and 1 mM EDTA) at 1x10⁸ cells/ml and CD4⁺ T cells were isolated using EasySep Mouse CD4⁺ T cell isolation kit (Stemcell Technologies) following manufacturers' instructions. In brief, 50 ul of rat serum per 10⁸ total cells was added along with 50 ul per 10⁸ total cells of Isolation cocktail, containing biotinylated antibodies labelling CD4⁻ cell fraction. Cells were incubated for 10 minutes at RT and 75 ul per 10⁸ total cells of streptavidincoated magnetic spheres were then added for another 2.5 minutes. The CD4⁻ cells labelled with antibodies and magnetic spheres were then removed from the cell suspension by incubation in the EasySep magnet for 2.5 minutes, and the purified CD4⁺ T cell fraction was collected into a fresh tube for counting and CFSE labelling.

Cell viability and number were determined as previously described, and the cells resuspended at 10⁷ cells/ml in RPMI-1640 (Life Technologies) with 2% FBS for CFSE staining. 5 mM CFSE stock dissolved in DMSO (both- Life Technologies) was diluted to 1 mM in DPBS and then added to cell suspension at 1 uM concentration. Cells were stained for 5 min at 37C in the dark, washed twice with complete media, and assessed for viability and number as before. Cells were then resuspended at 2.5x10⁶ cells/ml in complete media for co-culture assays.

2.3.2 CD4⁺ T cells isolation (MACS kit) and Th1 polarization

Lymph nodes and spleens were harvested from 5 OT-II transgenic mice, along with spleens from 4 C57BL/6 mice, and were passed separately through a 70 µm EASYstrainer (Greiner Bio). The strainers were washed with MACS buffer and the collected cells spun down at 400 g for 5 min at 4°C. Cell pellets from the spleens were individually treated with 1xRBC lysis buffer (eBioscience) for 5 minutes at room temperature (RT), washed with complete media, and the cells from OT-II mouse spleens and lymph nodes were then resuspended in MACS buffer and pulled together. Splenocytes from C57BL/6 mice were resuspended in MACS buffer and kept on ice. Cell viability and number of cells from OT-II mice were determined as described above, and the cells were resuspended in MACS buffer at 10⁷ total cells per 40 ul for CD4⁺ T cell isolation using MACS CD4⁺ T cell isolation kit (Miltenyi Biotech). In brief, 10 ul of the biotin-antibody cocktail was added per 10⁷ total cells, mixed and incubated in the fridge for 5 min. MACS buffer was then added at 30 ul per 10⁷ total cells, followed by anti-biotin magnetic Microbeads at 20 ul per 10⁷ total cells. While the cells were incubated for 10 min in the fridge, LS column (Miltenyi Biotec) was set up in the magnetic field of a MACS Separator (Miltenyi Biotec) and washed with 3 ml of MACS buffer. The cell suspension was then filtered through 70 µm EASYstrainer (Greiner Bio) and placed in LS column (Miltenyi Biotec), which retained magnetically labelled CD4⁻ cells and allowed OT-II CD4⁺ fraction to flow through to be collected. The column was washed with 3 ml of MACS buffer to collect the remaining CD4⁺T cells, then removed from the separator and flushed out with MACS buffer, using a plunger, to collect the magnetically labelled APCs into the sample containing C57BL/6 splenocytes. Both OT-II cells and C57BL/6 splenocytes were resuspended in complete media and counted. Splenocytes were then treated with 500 ul of mitomycin C (1 mg/ml stock in DPBS; Sigma) at 37°C for 45 min to inhibit their ability to proliferate. Thereafter, splenocytes were washed twice in complete media and combined with OT-II CD4⁺ T cell at 1:4 ratio in 200 ml of complete media supplemented with ovalbumin chicken peptide (OVA³²³⁻³³⁹)(1 ug/ml), IL-12(R&D Systems) (10 ng/ml) and anti-IL-4 antibody (BioXCell)(2 ug/ml). The resulting cell suspension was split into 75cm² tissue culture flasks (Corning) at 50 ml/flask and incubated at 37°C 5% CO₂ for 72 h.

After 72h, the media in the flasks changed its colour to the peachy pink and the large clumps of proliferating cells were observed. Cells from all flasks were pulled together, blasting cells counted and 3 ml of suspension was used for FACS staining to determine the percentage of the OT-II Th1 polarized cells obtained. The cells were stained according to the FACS surface staining protocol (see section 2.5.1) for viability, CD4, Va2 and VB5 markers (Table 2-1) and the percentage of Va2⁺VB5⁺ double-positive cells (from the CD4⁺ population) was used to calculate the total number of OT-II Th1-polarized cells obtained. The cells were resuspended at 10 x 10⁶ cells/ml in sterile DPBS and utilized for the breach-of-tolerance RA mouse model induction.

2.3.3 **Dendritic cell generation from the mouse bone marrow**

Femur and tibia bones from both mouse legs were harvested and cleaned from the surrounding tissue, the epiphysis cut off from both sides of each bone and the bone marrow flushed out with complete media using a 25G syringe. The marrow was then passed through a 70 µm EASYstrainer, a strainer washed with complete media, and a single cell suspension collected and spun at 400 g for 5 min at 4°C. Red blood cells were removed by incubation with 1xRBC lysis buffer (eBioscience) for 5 minutes at room temperature (RT), cells washed with complete media and counted. Cells were then resuspended at 1.5 x 10⁶ cells/ml in complete medium containing 5% GM-CFS supernatant and seeded at 1.5 x 10⁶ cells/well in 6-well culture plates (Corning) with additional 2 ml of 5% GM-CSF in complete medium. Cells were cultured at 37°C 5% CO₂. On day 3, each well was supplemented with 2 ml of 5% GM-CSF in fresh complete medium. On day 6 of culture, medium from all wells was aspirated and 3 ml of fresh complete medium containing 5% GM-CSF were added. Cells also received 100 ng/ml of bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS) from Escherichia coli (E.coli) strain 0111:B4 (Sigma), with control wells left unstimulated, and cultured overnight. On day 7, CD11c⁺ dendritic cells from an LPS-stimulated and control wells were assessed by FACS for the expression levels of MHC-II and co-stimulatory molecules CD40 and CD86 as indicators of their mature phenotype. Cultures containing \geq 80% of

CD11c⁺ cells which upregulated the above molecules upon LPS stimulation were considered of satisfactory quality and used for *in vitro* assays.

2.4 In vitro cultures

2.4.1 BMDC-CD4⁺ T cell co-culture

On day 6 of culture, BMDCs were treated with 100 ng/ml of LPS (from E.coli 0111:B4, Sigma) overnight to promote their maturation, followed by incubation in the presence of either 0.1 ug/ml or 5 ug/ml of $OVA^{323-339}$ peptide (Sigma) for 2 h at 37°C 5% CO₂. CD4⁺ T cells were isolated from lymph nodes and spleens of OT-II mice using EasySep kit (Stemcell Technologies) and labelled with CFSE to monitor their proliferation. BMDCs (0.2x10⁵) were co-cultured with CD4⁺ T cells (2x10⁵) in round-bottom 96-well plates (Corning) for 24 or 72 h in the presence of either 100 nM or 10 000 nM of Tofacitinib (base or citrate forms) (LC Labs) or corresponding concentrations of DMSO (Sigma).

2.4.2 BMDC-CD4⁺ T cell re-challenge co-culture

BMDCs were treated as described above and the CD4⁺ T cells were isolated from lymph nodes and spleens of OT-II mice using EasySep kit (Stemcell Technologies). BMDCs (0.2x10⁵) were co-cultured with CD4⁺ T cells (2x10⁵) in round-bottom 96-well plates (Corning) for 72 h in the presence of either 100 nM or 10 000 nM of Tofacitinib base (LC Labs) or corresponding concentrations of DMSO (Sigma). The cells were then washed twice in complete media, CD4⁺ T cells counted and rested in complete media supplemented with 1 ng/ml of IL-2 (Biolegend) for another 72 h. CD4⁺ T cells were subsequently CSFE-labelled and each treatment group split in half and co-cultured with fresh BMDCs in the presence or absence of OVA peptide for the final 72 h. On other occasions, OVA-pulsed BMDCs (0.2×10^5) were co-cultured with CD4⁺ T cells (2×10^5) for 72 h, CD4⁺ T cells rested in the presence of 1 ng/ml of IL-2 (Biolegend) for 72 h and CFSE-labelled. The final step involved incubation with fresh OVA-treated BMDCs in the presence of an appropriate concentration of Tofacitinib base (LC Labs) or DMSO (Sigma).

2.4.3 αCD3/CD28 CD4⁺ T cell activation assay

96 well round-bottom plates (Corning) were coated with anti-CD3 antibody diluted in DPBS at 1 ug/ml and incubated overnight at 4°C. Control wells received the corresponding volume of DPBS alone. The next day, CD4⁺ T cells were isolated from lymph nodes and spleens of OT-II mice using EasySep kit (Stemcell Technologies) as described previously, viable cells counted and resuspended in complete media. Plate with anti-CD3 antibody solution was blotted dry and 150 ul (3x10⁵) of CD4⁺ T cell suspension were added to both control and antibody-coated wells. Antibody-coated and control wells also received 50 ul of anti-CD28 (NA/LE) (BD Biosciences) diluted in complete media or complete media alone, respectively, to obtain a final concentration of 5 ug/ml in the well. Cells received increasing concentrations of tofacitinib base (LC Labs) in DMSO or corresponding DMSO concentrations to set up a dose-response assay and were incubated for 48 h at 37 °C.

2.5 Western blotting

2.5.1 BMDC monoculture and cytokine stimulation

Dendritic cells were generated as described above, except for the LPS stimulation. Instead, on day 7 cells were harvested, counted, resuspended at 1×10^6 cells/ml in complete media, and seeded at 1×10^6 cells/well in a 12-well culture plate (Corning). Cells were treated with either 0.001% of DMSO (Sigma) or 100 nM of Tofacitinib base (LC Labs), with 3 wells per condition, and 6 wells were left untreated. After overnight incubation at 37° C 5% CO₂, half of the untreated cells together with cells receiving DMSO or Tofacitinib were stimulated with a 100 ul of cytokine cocktail (see below) for 15 mins at 37° C. Immediately after the cells were processed for analysis by Western blotting.

Stimulant	Final dilution (in the well)	Source	
РМА	10 ng/ml	Sigma	
lonomycin	500 ng/ml	Sigma	
IL-4	20 ng/ml	R&D Systems	
IL-6	20 ng/ml	Biolegend	
IFNy	25 ng/ml	Peprotech	
GM-CFS	200 ng/ml	R&D Systems	

2.5.2 BMDC - CD4⁺ T cell co-culture

Dendritic cells were stimulated with LPS on day 6 of culture and half of them also pulsed with OVA³²³⁻³³⁹ peptide on day 7 for 2 hours, as described above (section 2.4.1). Cells stimulated with LPS only or both LPS with OVA peptide were collected separately, spun at 400 g for 5 min, and resuspended at 0.2x10⁶ cells/ml in complete media. CD4⁺T cells were purified using the EasySep kit (Stemcell Technologies) and resuspended at 2x10⁶ cells/ml in complete media. The co-culture was set up with 0.1x10⁶ dendritic cells and 1x10⁶ CD4⁺T cells per well in a 24-well co-culture plate. T cells were co-cultured with DCs in the presence or absence of OVA peptide, and both groups received either 0.001% of DMSO (Sigma) or 100 nM of Tofacitinib base (LC Labs) treatment overnight. The positive control wells contained OVA pulsed dendritic cells and CD4⁺T cells and received 20 ng/ml of IL-6 (Biolegend). Cells were rested overnight at 37°C 5% CO₂ and processed for analysis by Western blotting.

2.5.3 Sample preparation

After overnight incubation, dendritic cells were washed in ice-cold PBS and lysed on ice in 40 ul of ice-cold RIPA buffer (Sigma) containing Halt protease inhibitor cocktail (Thermo Fischer). For co-culture samples, supernatants containing T cells were collected and dendritic cells were scraped from the wells and added to the supernatants. Supernatants were centrifuged at 12,000 rpm for 15 min and cell pellets lysed in RIPA buffer (Sigma) containing Halt protease inhibitor cocktail (Thermo Fischer). Resulting cell lysates were lysed for further 30 mins in the cold room (at 4°C) with rotation. Cells were then centrifuged at 12,000 rpm for 15 min (at 4°C) and supernatants collected into fresh tubes. Pierce BCA protein assay kit (Thermo Fischer) was used to determine protein concentration for each sample and the loading volumes were adjusted to have equal amounts of total protein across samples. Lysates were mixed with 5xSDS loading buffer at 4:1 dilution, boiled at 95°C for 5 mins and then kept on ice for immediate blotting or stored at -20°C for future use.

2.5.4 Immunoblotting and protein detection

RunBlue SDS 4-20% pre-cast gel (Expedeon) was set up in a buffer tank filled with running buffer (Expedeon). Equal amounts of protein from each sample were loaded onto the gel along with 7 ul of PageRuler Pre-stained protein ladder (Thermo Fischer). Proteins were separated by PAGE at 180 V for 45 mins and transferred onto 0.45 um nitrocellulose membrane (Amersham) in a transfer buffer (Biorad) at 100 V for 1 hour. The membrane was then washed on a shaker platform in 1xTBS buffer for 5 mins at RT and incubated with blocking buffer (5% dry milk in 1xTBS-T) for 1 h at RT to avoid non-specific antibody binding. The membrane was subsequently washed twice for 5 mins with 1xTBS-T with agitation and blotted overnight at 4°C with rotation in dilution buffer with primary antibodies recognising STAT3 or pSTAT3 (Cell Signalling Technology). The washing step was repeated, followed by incubation for 1 h at RT with species-specific detection antibodies (for antibodies-see Table 2-2) in 5% dry milk in 1xTBS-T. After the final wash, specific proteins were detected with WesternBright ECL HRP Substrate reagent (Advansta) according to manufacturers' instructions and visualized using C-DiGit scanner and Image Studio Lite software (Licor Biosciences). After detection, the membrane was washed as previously, and the antibody incubation and detection steps repeated to assess B-actin protein levels.

2.6 Flow cytometric cell analysis

2.6.1 FACS staining for T cell surface markers

Following 24 or 72 h incubation in co-culture with DCs, cells were washed in DPBS and stained for viability using fixable viability dye (Thermo Fischer) for 20 mins at RT, followed by incubation with FC-receptor block (2.4G hybridoma supernatant) for 10 min at 4 °C. The activation status of T cells was subsequently assessed using antibodies against CD4, CD69, CD44, and CD62L (see Table 2-1 for a list of flow cytometry antibodies). Samples were washed with FACS buffer between each incubation step at 400 g for 3 mins, except for after FC blocking step, and the supernatants were discarded. After the final wash, samples were transferred through 40 μ m nitex mesh into polystyrene FACS tubes and acquired using a BD LSR FORTESSA or BD LSR II Analyser (both Becton, Dickinson, and company). Data analysis performed using FlowJo software (Tree Star Inc).

2.6.2 CD4⁺ T cell PMA/lonomycin stimulation and intracellular cytokine staining

Cells from 72 h co-culture were washed and stimulated directly in the culture plate. For *ex vivo* stimulation of popliteal LNs, tissues were mashed through a nitex into a cell suspension and samples spun down in a 96-well plate. Stimulation cocktail was made up in complete media with PMA (10 ng/ml; Sigma), ionomycin (500 ng/ml; Sigma) and GolgiStop protein transport inhibitor (1:1000 dilution; BD Biosciences) and samples stimulated for 4 h at 37 °C. Cells were subsequently washed in DPBS, stained for viability and cell surface markers, and washed again in FACS buffer. Intracellular cytokines staining was performed using Fixation/Permeabilization solution kit (BD Biosciences). Cells were fixed and permeabilised using Cytofix/Cytoperm solution for 20 min at 4 °C, followed by a wash in 1x Perm/Wash buffer (diluted 1:10 in distilled H₂0). Cells were left in 1x Perm/Wash overnight or immediately stained with antibodies

diluted in 1xPerm/Wash and recognising IFNy and IL-2 (see Table 2-1) for 45 min to 1 h at RT. Cells were protected from light at all incubation steps. The final wash was repeated twice with 1xPerm/Wash, cells were resuspended in FACS buffer, transferred through nitex, and acquired as stated above.

2.6.3 CD4⁺ T cell transcription factor staining

Cells from either *in vitro* co-culture or cell suspension obtained directly from secondary lymphoid organs were washed in DPBS and stained for viability and surface markers as before, followed by a wash in FACS buffer at 400 g for 3 mins. eBioscience Foxp3/Transcription factor staining buffer set (Thermo Fischer) was employed for T-bet expression detection. Fixation/Permeabilization concentrate was diluted in the solution provided and cells fixed for 1 h a RT, followed by a wash in Permeabilization buffer. Cells were then either left in Permeabilization buffer overnight or immediately stained with an antibody for transcription factor T-bet diluted in Permeabilization buffer for 1 h a RT. Cells were protected from light at all incubation steps. The final step involved two washes in 1xPermeabilization buffer, followed by samples resuspended in FACS buffer and transferred through nitex for acquisition.

2.6.4 Apoptosis marker staining

After being stained for viability and surface markers, cells were washed twice in FACS buffer and resuspended in Annexin V Binding buffer (Biolegend; diluted 1:10 in dH₂0) at 2x10⁶ cells/ml. 50 ul of cell suspension from each sample was transferred into 5 ml FACS tubes and incubated with Pacific Blue-conjugated Annexin V protein (Biolegend) at 1:50 dilution for 15 mins at RT and protected from light. 200 ul of Annexin V Binding buffer was then added to the samples and samples transferred through nitex and acquired as stated above.

2.6.5 **Phospho Flow cytometry assays**

2.6.5.1 Mouse whole blood stimulation and staining

Mouse whole blood obtained through cardiac puncture was collected into Eppendorfs containing Heparin (1:500) in DPBS and kept on ice. 100 ul of each sample was transferred into FACS tubes together with 100 ul of a cocktail containing antibodies against CD4 and CD44 molecules and IL-6 (100 ng/ml, in DPBS with 5% BSA)(Sigma). Unstimulated samples received antibody cocktail alone. All samples were subsequently incubated at 37 °C for 15 mins and immediately fixed with 500 ul of pre-warmed Phospflow Lyse/Fix buffer (BD) for 10 min at RT, protected from light. Cells were then spun down, washed twice with cold DPBS, and permeabilised with 1 ml of cold Perm Buffer III (BD) for 30 min on ice, protected from light. Cells were washed twice with cold DPBS and once with cold 5% BSA in DPBS. Intracellular phosphorylated STAT staining was performed with pSTAT3(pY705)-AF647 antibody(BD)(see Table 2-1) prepared at 1:5 in 5% BSA in DPBS. Cells were stained on ice for 30 min protected from light, washed twice with cold 5% BSA in DPBS, transferred through nitex, and resuspended in FACS buffer for acquisition.

2.6.5.2 DC-CD4⁺ T cell co-culture stimulation and staining

BMDCs were stimulated to maturation with LPS as described earlier (Section 2.4.1.) and pulsed with 5 ug/ml of OVA³²³⁻³³⁹ peptide (Sigma) for at least 2 h at 37 °C 5% CO₂. CD4⁺ T cells were isolated from lymph nodes and spleens of OT-II mice using EasySep kit (Stemcell Technologies) and 1×10^6 of CD4⁺ T cells were co-cultured with 0.1×10^6 BMDCs in 24-well culture plates (Corning) overnight in the presence of 10 000 nM of Tofacitinib (base or citrate) (LC Labs) or corresponding concentration of DMSO (Sigma). Following incubation, cells were stimulated with either 100 ng/ml of IL-2 or IL-6 (both-Biolegend) for 15 min at 37 °C and immediately fixed with 1.25 ml of pre-warmed Phospflow Lyse/Fix

buffer (BD) for 10 min at 37 °C. Samples were then collected into FACS tubes, spun down at 500 g for 5 min with resulting supernatant discarded, and then washed twice in FACS buffer. Cells were treated with FC-receptor block (2.4G hybridoma supernatant) and stained with extracellular antibodies against CD4 and CD44 (see Table 2-1), as described before (see Section 1.6.1), and washed in FACS buffer before being permeabilised with cold Perm Buffer III (BD) for 30 min on ice protected from light. Cells were subsequently washed twice in FACS buffer and stained intracellularly with pSTAT3(pY705)-AF647 and pSTAT5 (pY694)-PE antibodies (both BD)(see Table 2-1) diluted in FACS buffer (at 1:5) for 1 h at RT. Following the final wash, samples were resuspended in FACS buffer for acquisition.

2.7 Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)

2.7.1 IFNy ELISA

Supernatants were collected from CD4⁺ T cell-DC co-cultures on day 3, stored at -20°C, and thawed thereafter at RT prior to use. IFNy capture antibody (Thermo Fischer)(see Table 2-3) was diluted in PBS at 1 ug/ml and used to coat 96-well high binding plates (Corning) overnight at 4°C. Plates were then washed twice with PBS/0.05% Tween20 wash buffer and incubated with 200 ul of PBS/1% BSA for 2 h at RT to prevent non-specific binding. Standard was reconstituted in PBS/0.5% BSA and diluted to obtain top standard solution at 800 pg/ml, which was used to set up an 8-point standard curve through serial dilutions. Plates were washed again and 50 ul of standard or sample of appropriate dilution were added to appropriate wells in duplicate, followed by 2 h incubation at RT. After another round of washes in PBS/0.05% Tween20, 50 ul of biotin-labelled antibody (Thermo Fischer)(Table 2-3) was added for 1 h incubation at RT. Plates were washed as before and 50 ul of detection reagent Extravidin-Peroxidase (Sigma) diluted in PBS/0.5% BSA was added to each well and plates incubated for 45 min at RT. Following a final wash, 50 ul of SureBlue TMB substrate (Thermo Fischer) was added to each well and incubated at RT protected from light until

the colour developed in the standard wells. The reaction was terminated by adding 50 ul of 10% sulphuric acid and the resulting light absorbance of each well

was measured using Sunrise Microplate reader (Tecan) at 450 nm wavelength.

2.7.2 OVA ELISA

Whole blood was collected from RA model mice by cardiac puncture and left in the fridge for several hours to allow the clotting. To obtain the serum, the samples were spun down at 13,000 rpm for 5 mins at 4 °C and the clear fraction was moved into fresh tubes and spun down again. The resulting serum was aliquoted and stored in fresh tubes at -20°C until use.

For ELISA, high binding 96-well plates (Corning) were coated overnight at 4 °C with chicken ovalbumin protein (Sigma) dissolved in 0.05 M carbonate buffer. The plates were then washed with PBS/ 0.05% Tween20 wash buffer and blocked with 200 ul of 10% FBS/PBS for 1 h at RT. Plates were subsequently washed, and the serum samples appropriately diluted in wash buffer were added in duplicate. Samples from the HAO-challenged mouse group were added as a positive control, and the negative control contained wild type mouse serum. Doubling dilutions were performed for all samples, starting at an initial 1:100 dilution. Plates were incubated for 2 h at RT allowing a-OVA antibodies from serum to bind to the protein in the wells, followed by another wash. 100 ul of biotin-labelled IgG1 or IgG2a antibody (both BD Pharmigen) (Table 2-3) was added for 1 h incubation at RT. After another round of washes, 100 ul of Extravidin-Peroxidase substrate (Sigma) diluted in wash buffer was added to each well and incubated for 30 min at 37 °C. Following a final wash, 100 ul of detection reagent SIGMAFAST OPD substrate solution (Sigma) was added and incubated, protected from light, until the colour has developed in the positive control wells. The reaction was terminated by adding 50 ul of 10% sulphuric acid and the resulting light absorbance of each well was measured using Sunrise Microplate reader (Tecan) at 492 nm wavelength.

2.7.3 Collagen II ELISA

High binding 96-well plates (Corning) were coated overnight at 4 °C with chicken Type II Collagen (Sigma) in 0.05M carbonate buffer. The plates were then washed with PBS/ 0.05% Tween20 wash buffer and blocked with 200 ul of Animal-free blocker (Vector Laboratories) overnight at 4 °C. The subsequent steps were the same as for the α -OVA ELISA described above. The positive control samples used to confirm assay efficacy were from the mouse with collagen-induced arthritis (CIA). The HRP-conjugated antibody (Sigma)(Table 2-3) was used to detect total IgG levels. Following antibody incubation and a final wash, SIGMAFAST OPD substrate solution (Sigma) was used for signal detection as before, followed by reaction termination with 10% sulphuric acid. The resulting light absorbance of each well was measured as stated above.

2.8 Luminex assay

Following ELISA for cytokines, day 3 co-culture supernatants were assessed by Milliplex Mouse cytokine panel (Merck). Samples were thawed at RT and centrifuged at 10,000 rpmi for 5 min to eliminate cellular debris. Samples were then diluted 1:2 in assay buffer. Cytokine standards were prepared according to the instruction manual provided. Wells were incubated with 200 ul of Wash buffer with agitation for 10 min at RT and the remaining buffer decanted. 25 ul of each control and standard solutions were added to the appropriate wells, while 25 ul of assay buffer used for background wells. 25 ul of culture medium was then added to each of the above wells. 25 ul of diluted samples were plated as appropriate. Beads in each vile were mixed by vortexing and sonication, and 60 ul from each antibody bead vial used to make up a master mix supplemented with Assay buffer. 25 ul of bead mixture was added to all the wells, plate sealed and incubated overnight at 4 °C protected from light. The plate was then washes on a handheld magnet to settle the beads, and remaining buffer decanted. 25 ul of biotinylated detection antibodies were added for 1 h incubation at RT with agitation, followed by 25 ul of Streptavidin-PE reporter added for another 30 min incubation at RT with agitation. Plate contents were then decanted, and the plate washed as before. For acquisition, 150 ul of sheath fluid was added to all the wells, and the plate incubated for 5 min with agitation. Samples were then assessed using Bio-Rad Luminex 200 plate reader for the presence of IL-2, IL-5, IL-6, IL-10, IL-17A, IFNy, and TNF α . Sample cytokine concentrations were determined from the standard curves constructed by the software for each cytokine. Values below the detectable range were designated as 0 for graphic representation.

2.9 In vivo adoptive transfer system for assessment of T cell responses

CD4⁺ T cells were isolated from lymph nodes and spleens of male OT-II mice using EasySep kit (Stemcell Technologies) and labelled with CFSE as previously described (Section 2.3.1). Cells were then resuspended in sterile DPBS (Sigma) and a total of 1x10⁶ OT-II CD4⁺ T cells in a final volume of 200 ul were adoptively transferred by intravenous injection (i.v.) into all C56BL/6 male recipient mice. One day following the adoptive cell transfer, recipients were immunized subcutaneously (right footpad) with either 8 ug of LPS from E. coli strain 0111: B4 (Sigma) or the same LPS dose together with 25 ug of OVA³²³⁻³³⁹ peptide, both in the final volume of 25 ul. On the day of adoptive transfer, recipient mice received a 25 mg/kg dose of Tofacitinib citrate (LC Labs) prepared in 0.5% Methylcellulose/0.025% Tween20 solution in sterile DPBS (as described in Section 1.1.4.) and administered by oral gavage in a final volume of 100 ul. For the consecutive 3 days, 25 mg/kg of the drug was administered twice daily. Control groups received twice-daily administration of 0.5% DMSO in the same solution and volume as the drug by oral gavage. Three days after the footpad challenge, the recipient mice received a single 25 mg/kg dose of the drug or DMSO and were sacrificed 40 min later. Whole blood was collected from each mouse by

cardiac puncture for assessment of the efficacy of JAK/STAT signalling pathway inhibition by the drug *in vivo* by Phospho Flow cytometry. Popliteal lymph nodes were harvested for analysis of adoptively transferred CD45.1 OT-II CD4⁺ T cells and their endogenous counterparts by FACS.

2.10 'Breach of tolerance' RA mouse model

2.10.1 Mouse model generation and drug treatment

CD4⁺ T cells were isolated from lymph nodes and spleens of male OT-II mice using MACS CD4⁺ T cell isolation kit and polarized over 3 days towards Th1 phenotype(Section 2.3.2). The sample from resulting culture was stained by FACS as described, and the percentage of $V\alpha 2^+V\beta 5^+$ double-positive cells was used to calculate the total number of Th1 polarized cells obtained. Cells were then resuspended in sterile DPBS and a total of 2x10⁶ polarized Th1 cells in a final volume of 200 ul were injected i.v. into all C56BL/6 male recipient mice. The next day, all recipients were immunized subcutaneously (scruff) with 100 ug of OVA protein in Freund's complete adjuvant (CFA; Sigma), and after another 10 days two treatment groups were challenged by subcutaneous injection in the right and left hind limbs, close to the ankle joints with 100 ug of heataggregated OVA (HAO) in 50 ul PBS. The control group received PBS injection instead. Starting one day prior to HAO challenge, mice from one HAO-treated group received Tofacitinib citrate (LC Labs) twice daily (at 25 mg/kg/dose) (prepared as described in Section 2.1.4. and administered by oral gavage) in a final volume of 100 ul. Another HAO-treated group and PBS control group received twice-daily administration of 0.5% DMSO in the same solution and volume as the drug by oral gavage. On day 7 after the HAO challenge, mice received a single 25 mg/kg dose of the drug or DMSO and were sacrificed within 1 h of the last dose.

2.10.2 Pathology assessment

On day 3 post-HAO challenge, blood was collected by tail vein bleed for the assessment of phospho-STAT levels by Phospho-Flow cytometry. Starting one day after HAO challenge until the termination of the experiment, the thickness of both hind paws was measured daily using dial caliper (Kroeplin) to monitor the extent of inflammation. After the sacrifice, hind limbs were removed, fixed in 10% neutral-buffer formalin, and decalcified in EDTA solution for 6 weeks. 6 um sections were cut on the sagittal plane and stained with H&E or toluidine blue. Sections were imaged used EVOS FL Auto 2 imaging system (Thermo Fischer). Histological assessment was performed by two observers blinded regarding the treatment group. Each section was scored on the scale 0-3 for cellular infiltration, hyperplasia, and cartilage/bone erosion with a maximal total score of 9 per section. Whole blood was collected by cardiac puncture for assessment of anti-OVA and anti-Collagen II antibody levels in mouse serum. Lastly, popliteal lymph nodes were collected for FACS analysis.

Table 2-1. List of antibodies used for flow cytometric analysis.

Antibody	Conjugate	Clone	lsotype	Species	Source
target				(host)	
CD4	PerCP-Cy5.5	GK1.5	lgG2b, к	Rat	Biolegend
CD4	eF450	RM4-5	lgG2a, к	Rat	eBioscience
CD4	BV605	RM4-5	lgG2a, к	Rat	Biolegend
CD44	APC	IM7	lgG2b, к	Rat	eBioscience
CD44	BV395	IM7	lgG2b, к	Rat	BD Biosciences
				-	
CD44	PerCP-Cy5.5	IM7	lgG2b, к	Rat	eBioscience
	E (E 0	100			.
CD45.1	eF450	A20	lgG2a, к	Mouse	eBioscience
(0)(2)			1.004		
CD62L	PE	Met-14	IgG1, K	Mouse	BD BIOSCIENCES
(040	DE			Armonian	PD Piesciences
CD09	PE	П1.2Г3	Igo I, As	hamster	DD DIOSCIETICES
				namster	
CD69	PF-Cv7	H1 2F3	løG	Armenian	eBioscience
6507		111.21 5	150	hamster	CDIOSCIENCE
IL-2	APC	JES6-5H4	lgG2b, к	Rat	eBioscience
			5		
IFNy	PE-Cy7	XMG1.2	lgG1, к	Rat	Biolegend
T-bet	PE-Cy7	4B10	С	Mouse	eBioscience
pSTAT3	AF647	4/p-STAT3	lgG2a, к	Mouse	BD Biosciences
(pY705)					
pSTAT5	PE	47/pSTAT5	lgG1, к	Mouse	BD Biosciences
(pY694)		(pY694)			
(TCR) Va2	APC	B20.1	lgG2a, λ	Rat	eBioscience
-----------	------	-------	----------	-------	-------------
(TCR)	FITC	MR9-4	lgG1, к	Mouse	eBioscience
VB5.1/5.1					

Table 2-2. List of antibodies used for Western Blot assay.

Antibody target	Clone	Species	lsotype	Source
		(host)		
1º Antibody				
pSTAT3 (Tyr705)	D3A7	Rabbit	N/A	Cell signalling
STAT3	124H6	Mouse	lgG2a	Cell signalling
B-actin	C4	Mouse	lgG1, к	Santa-Cruz
2º Antibody				
HRP antibody		Donkey	Targeting	GE Healthcare
(anti-mouse)			rabbit IgG	
HRP		Sheep	Targeting	GE Healthcare
antibody(anti-			mouse IgG	
rabbit)				

Antibody target	Clone	Species (host)	lsotype	Source
IFNy capture antibody	AN-18	Rat	lgG1, к	eBioscience
IFNy-biotin conjugated	R4-6A2	Rat	lgG1, к	eBioscience
lgG1	A85-1	Rat	lgG1, к	BD Biosciences
lgG2a	R19-15	Rat	lgG2a, к	BD Biosciences
IgG (H+L; total) HRP conjugated	-	Goat	Polyclonal	eBioscience

3 Investigating the effect of JAK3/1 inhibitor Tofacitinib on the DC-CD4⁺ T cell interaction during priming and re-activation stages *in vitro*

Luminex samples were assessed using Biorad reader by Diane Vaughan.

3.1 Introduction

Aberrant CD4⁺ T cell activation is important in RA development. Activation of self-reactive clones escaping negative selection in the thymus and the periphery and responding to the neo-epitopes generated in RA contribute to the initiation of autoimmune response and self-tolerance breakdown^{470,471,472}. Once primed, T cells can migrate to the joint to exert their pathogenic functions through cytokine release and direct cell contact with other immune cells and resident synovial cells^{473,474,475,476}. While CD4⁺ T cells are primed during the disease establishment phase, they also continuously encounter neo-antigens released from the joint tissues undergoing progressive degradation at later stages of RA. Thus, therapeutically interfering with CD4⁺ T cell initial antigenic encounter may allow one to potentially limit the replenishment of the activated T cell pool and thus, at least partly, control the disease chronicity. Understanding whether and how JAK inhibitor tofacitinib influences CD4⁺ T cells during priming would provide a deeper insight into its immunomodulatory functions and potentially contribute towards the improvement of the clinical efficacy of the drug.

Alongside the newly primed T cells, the activated/memory effector T cells are equally important in sustaining and perpetuating the chronic autoimmune response. Since the initiation of an autoimmune response is observed in patients up to a decade before the symptoms begin to manifest, by the time the patients get diagnosed and start receiving treatment most of the immune cells and the resident synovial cells are activated⁴⁷⁷. This is evidenced by CD4⁺ T cells found in the RA patient synovium to exhibit activated phenotype ^{478,479,480}. In addition, the antigen-experienced lymphocytes have a much lower activation threshold compared to their naïve counterparts and can bypass the requirement for TCRdependent re-stimulation and undergo bystander activation by a combination of co-stimulation signals and cytokine cues abundant in the inflamed synovial environment^{481,482}. Therefore, the secondary stimulation of these activated CD4⁺ T cells provides another important checkpoint for potential therapeutic targeting and thus should be explored in the context of tofacitinib treatment.

112

Multiple studies using human lymphocytes from both healthy donors and RA patients have been conducted to determine the effect tofacitinib treatment has on the lymphocyte populations, including the CD4⁺ T cell compartment. In a study by Maeshima et al. CD4⁺ T cells isolated from peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PMBCs) and synovium of RA patients and re-activated ex vivo in the presence of increasing tofacitinib concentrations demonstrated diminished proliferative potential alongside with reduced IFNy and IL-17 cytokine production, both affected in a dose-dependent manner.³⁰⁶ In another study, healthy individuals subjected to a 4-week treatment with clinically relevant tofacitinib dose demonstrated a profound reduction in all subsets of activated T cell subsets, including CD4⁺ T cells, which potentially correlated with inhibition of activated T cell proliferation rather than direct effect of the drug on the ability of the cells to undergo activation. By contrast, naïve and central memory CD4⁺ lymphocyte counts have increased through the treatment period. Further, IFNy-producing CD4⁺ T cells re-stimulated *ex vivo* in both antigen-specific manner and with plate-bound anti-CD3/CD28 antibodies showed reduced IFNy production levels after tofacitinib treatment. Interestingly, these effects were completely reversed upon drug withdrawal. The authors thereby suggest that tofacitinib preferentially targets activated CD4⁺T cell subset proliferation and function while their naïve and central memory counterparts are preserved.⁴⁸³ Correspondingly, a study by Piscianz et al. showed tofacitinib exposure during healthy human PBMC phytohemagglutinin (PHA)-activation *ex vivo* to almost completely abolish cell proliferation and reduce activation, assessed by CD25 expression, as well as inhibited production of several cytokines, including IL-2, IL-17 and IFNy. While the removal of the drug restored cell proliferative ability and capacity for CD25 expression, the production of most cytokines remained supressed.⁴⁸⁴ The same group in the later study have confirmed the significant impairment of CD25 expression and IFNy production by PBMCs but detected only a modest effect on cell proliferation.⁴⁸⁵

While these studies overall demonstrate the ability of tofacitinib to inhibit both proliferation and cytokine production in re-activated human CD4⁺ lymphocytes, the PBMCs utilized contain a combination of naïve, effector and memory CD4⁺ subsets at different stages of activation, thus making it difficult to pinpoint whether the drug specifically interferes with the priming or reactivation of these

cells. Moreover, the polyclonal nature of the circulating human lymphocytes is not suitable for assessing T cell activation in the antigen-specific manner, which is more physiologically relevant in the context of the disease. The immunomodulatory effects of tofacitinib have also been extensively investigated in multiple rodent models of RA, but a thorough drug assessment in the in vitro setting is very limited.^{305,310,311,312}. Therefore, in this project I utilize a reductionist approach by employing naïve CD4⁺ T cells from OT-II transgenic mice, expressing αBTCR specific for chicken ovalbumin peptide 323-339 (OVA³²³⁻ ³³⁹) and recognised in the context of MHC-II (I-Ab) complex⁴⁶⁹. *In vitro* co-culture of these naïve antigen-specific CD4⁺ T cells with OVA³²³⁻³³⁹ peptide-presenting murine bone marrow-derived dendritic cells presents an excellent tool for effectively mimicking either T lymphocyte priming or re-activation and individually evaluating the impact of tofacitinib treatment on the outcome of both stages of CD4⁺ T cell-DC interaction. Importantly, the OT-II CD4⁺ T cells can be also be effectively employed for adoptive transfer experiments, thus allowing to replicate the *in vitro* experiments into the *in vivo* setting.

Thereby, by employing the above antigen-specific co-culture system, I sought to address the following aims:

- To confirm the inhibition by tofacitinib of the JAK/STAT pathway in the model CD4⁺ T cell-DC co-culture
- To assess the effect of tofacitinib treatment on the activation status and proliferative capacity of antigen-specific CD4⁺ T cells during priming
- To address the capacity of CD4⁺ T lymphocytes to differentiate and produce lineage-specific cytokines upon tofacitinib exposure during priming
- To examine the persistence of CD4⁺ T cell phenotype acquired during priming upon secondary antigenic challenge
- To investigate the impact of tofacitinib on the previously activated (antigen-experienced) CD4⁺ T lymphocytes

I hypothesise that inhibition of the signalling through the JAK/STAT pathway by tofacitinib will impact the efficiency of CD4⁺ T cell-DC primary interaction and lead to alterations in the resulting CD4⁺ T cell phenotypic and functional profile. I also propose that the acquired CD4⁺ T cell phenotype might persist upon antigenic re-challenge.

3.2 Results

3.2.1 Tofacitinib (base) effectively inhibits γc and gp130 cytokine signalling by blocking JAK1 and JAK3 enzymatic activity downstream of cytokine receptors *in vitro*

Prior to investigating the effect of tofacitinib on CD4⁺ T cells, it was crucial to confirm that the drug in my hands had the capacity to block its target molecules and subsequently modulate the downstream signalling cascade. Tofacitinib is a potent inhibitor of both JAK3 and JAK1 kinases, which relay the signals from cytokine receptors by recruiting and phosphorylating different combinations of STAT proteins, depending on the type of the cytokine receptor upstream. Since inhibition of JAK enzymatic activity leads to their inability to phosphorylate STAT proteins, levels of phosphorylated STAT forms in the cells are routinely used to assess JAK activity. Hence, we used the changes in phosphorylated STAT levels to confirm the inhibitory capacity of tofacitinib.

First, I assessed the changes in phosphorylated STAT (pSTAT) levels in bonemarrow derived dendritic cell monoculture. The cells were stimulated with the modified stimulation cocktail developed for the Scottish Nested Arthritis Progression cohort (SNAP). The cohort was formed of patients with newly diagnosed RA who initiated methotrexate monotherapy, with the purpose of establishing the potential cellular signatures predictive of different clinical outcomes (disease progression or remission).⁴⁸⁶ The PBMCs of these patients were subjected to deep immunophenotyping, including the measurement of their STAT phosphorylation status following stimulation with a cocktail containing several cytokines, phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA), ionomycin, as well as α -CD3 and α -CD28 antibodies (see Chapter 2, Section 2.5.1). The latter antibodies were amended as irrelevant for dendritic cell stimulation. Tofacitinib was used at 2 concentrations-100 nM and 1000 nM- corresponding to approximate maximal and total body exposure concentrations in the whole blood of RA patients achieved after a standard tofacitinib dose of 5 mg twice a day.³⁴⁴ DMSO (vehicle) used to dissolve the drug is known to be toxic at high concentrations, therefore I included control samples treated with DMSO at concentrations corresponding to those at final drug dilutions in culture media to ensure the observed changes can be attributed to the direct effect of tofacitinib treatment rather than an above confounding factor.

BMDCs were incubated overnight in the presence of either one of the above concentrations of tofacitinib or vehicle control. After subsequent stimulation with the SNAP cocktail for 15 min, cells were lysed and assessed by Western Blotting for the levels of phosphorylated STAT3, activated by IL-6 signalling through the gp130 receptor (in conjunction with IL-6R). The SNAP cocktail stimulation induced detectable STAT3 activation/phosphorylation levels in nontreated cells, comparable to those in both vehicle-treated groups (Figure 3-1). Exposure to tofacitinib at 100 nM notably inhibited STAT3 phosphorylation in stimulated cells, which appears to be further reduced at higher tofacitinib dose of a 1000 nM, to a level close that of unstimulated cells. Total levels of STAT3 remain unaltered under all conditions, confirming the treatment to specifically prevent STAT3 proteins from being activated through phosphorylation. This result demonstrated the ability of tofacitinib to interfere with the signalling through gp130 cytokine receptor by blocking the enzymatic activity of gp130associated JAK1 and thereby preventing the downstream STAT3-mediated signal transduction.



Figure 3-1. JAK inhibitor tofacitinib supresses phosphorylation of STAT3 signal transducer protein in BMDCs in response to cytokine stimulation.

Mature BMDCs were cultured overnight in the presence of either 100 or 1000 nM tofacitinib base (in DMSO) or the vehicle alone and subsequently stimulated with SNAP cocktail (IL-4, IL-6, IFNy and GM-CSF supplemented with PMA/Ionomycin) for 15 min at 37°C. Levels of phosphorylated STAT3 form were assessed by Western blotting. The middle band, representing total levels of both phosphorylated and non-phosphorylated STAT3 forms, was employed as additional loading control. Ns, non-stimulated.

Most of the *in vitro* experiments in my project employ antigen-specific dendritic cell-CD4⁺ T cell co-culture, therefore the next step was to confirm the capacity of tofacitinib to modulate JAK/STAT pathway signalling in the co-culture setting with no external cytokine input. CD4⁺ T cells were co-cultured with mature dendritic cells in the presence or absence of OVA³²³⁻³³⁹ peptide and with or without 100 nM of tofacitinib, the dose which in the previous experiment appeared to be sufficient to induce detectable changes in pSTAT3 levels.

In the absence of OVA³²³⁻³³⁹ peptide, OT-II CD4⁺ T cells did not engage in antigenspecific interaction with dendritic cells, thus overall cells did not actively employ cytokine signalling and exhibit basal levels of phosphorylated STAT3 protein (Figure 3-2). When the peptide was added to the culture, a cross-talk involving IL-6 signalling was established, evidenced by increased levels of pSTAT3, comparable to those in a control sample receiving additional IL-6 stimulation. In the presence of tofacitinib IL-6 signalling in the co-cultured cells was notably diminished, with the levels of pSTAT3 close to the baseline. Thereby, I have confirmed that tofacitinib is able to inhibit the JAK/STAT signalling cascade in the context of antigen-specific CD4⁺ T cell-dendritic cell coculture *in vitro*.



Figure 3-2. Tofacitinib effectively supresses phosphorylation of STAT3 protein in antigen specific CD4⁺ T cell - DC co-culture.

1x10⁶ of purified OT-II CD4⁺ T cells were co-cultured with 0.1x10⁶ of mature bone marrow-derived DCs overnight in the presence or absence of OVA³²³⁻³³⁹ peptide and with either tofacitinib (in DMSO) or vehicle alone. Positive control sample was stimulated with IL-6 (20 ng/ml) for 15 min at 37°C. Levels of phosphorylated STAT3 form were assessed by Western blotting. The middle band representing total levels of both phosphorylated and non-phosphorylated STAT3 forms was employed as additional loading control.

Western blotting proved to be a sensitive enough method to detect the fluctuations in phosphorylation of STAT proteins induced by the drug. However, it required a high number of cells and inconsistent loading control levels have made a number of blots impossible to interpret. In the view of performing *in vivo* experiments later in the project, which would also require to confirm the drug blocking its target pathways but have a very limited yield of cells to assess, a more robust technique was needed. I have thus tested the Phospho-Flow cytometry approach, which allows to simultaneously evaluate levels of several pSTAT proteins even in a small number of cells while distinguishing between different cell populations. I have also utilized the additional stimulation with γc cytokine IL-2, which employs JAK3 and STAT5 for the downstream signalling, to confirm tofacitinib having an impact on its target JAK3 kinase activity.

CD4⁺ T cells were co-cultured with DCs as previously described and exposed to 10 000 nM of tofacitinib overnight. Samples were subsequently stimulated with either IL-2 or IL-6 for 15 min, immediately fixed and subjected to Phospho-Flow staining for pSTAT5 and pSTAT3 proteins, signalling downstream of IL-2 and IL-6 receptors, respectively. CD4⁺ T cells presented with their specific antigen in the presence of a vehicle showed a subtle increase in pSTAT3 levels and more substantially elevated pSTAT5 levels in response to respective cytokine stimulation (IL-6 and IL-2) (Figure 3-3). When treated with tofacitinib, CD4⁺ T cells show impaired ability to receive cytokine signals, as evidenced by lower levels of pSTAT5 relative to vehicle control, and levels of pSTAT3 remaining at the baseline. I have thereby successfully confirmed the Phospho-Flow technique to be an alternative and more effective way to detect changes in different pSTAT protein levels in a cell population of interest in vitro. I have also demonstrated that tofacitinib diminishes the function of both of its target kinases JAK1 and JAK3, resulting in impaired signalling downstream of gp130 and yc cytokine receptors, respectively.



Figure 3-3. Tofacitinib treatment reduces both STAT3 and STAT5 phosphorylation upon cytokine stimulation in CD4⁺T cells in co-culture.

Matured bone marrow-derived DCs were incubated with or without 5 ug/ml of OVA³²³⁻³³⁹ peptide for 2 h at 37°C. CD4⁺ T cells were isolated from OT-II mice lymph nodes and spleens using STEMCELL EasySep kit and cultured with DCs overnight in the presence or absence either 10 000 nM tofacitinib dissolved in DMSO vehicle, vehicle, or no treatment. Cells were subsequently stimulated with either IL-2 or IL-6 (both at 100 ng/ml) for 15 min at 37C, immediately fixed and stained intracellularly for phosphorylated STAT3 and STAT5. Histograms represent levels of pSTAT3 and pSTAT5 in CD4⁺ T cell populations in response to IL-6 and IL-2 stimulation, respectively. Negative control (pink, no OVAp) received no external stimuli and depicts basal levels of both phospho-proteins in non-activated CD4⁺ T cells. Dashed lines represent approximate threshold for STAT phosphorylation from the baseline.

3.2.2 Establishment of the optimal OVA³²³⁻³³⁹ peptide dose and effective tofacitinib (base) dose for co-culture experiments

Next, I sought to determine the appropriate concentration of OVA³²³⁻³³⁹ peptide to be used for CD4⁺ T cell-DC co-culture assays. In our laboratory, a high dose of 5 ug/ml of peptide is routinely used, which provides a strong stimulus to antigen-specific CD4⁺ T cells via their TCR and might make them less dependent on the cytokine signals during priming. Due to this, it might be harder to detect the potential changes in the T cells responses induced by tofacitinib treatment. Thus OVA³²³⁻³³⁹ peptide dose-response was performed with 10-fold increasing peptide concentrations and the levels of T cell activation marker expression were assessed by flow cytometry following 24 h co-culture with dendritic cells.

CD69 is one of the first markers upregulated in response to antigen-specific T cell activation and was expectedly upregulated in about 60% of cells at the highest peptide dose(Figure 3-4A). CD44 and CD62L are late activation markers with their expression peak at approximately 72 h after T cell priming. Nevertheless, CD44 expression upregulation was detectable and its levels distinguishable between different peptide concentrations (Figure 3-4B). Similarly, loss of CD62L expression upon activation is clearly observed even at this early priming stage (Figure 3-4C). Among all three activation markers the significant change in their expression has occurred in the presence of 0.1 ug/ml of the peptide, which was therefore employed as a sub-optimal peptide dose, alongside with maximal (optimal) dose of 5 ug/ml in the subsequent co-culture experiments.



Figure 3-4. The effect of chicken ovalbumin 323-339 peptide dose range on the activation marker expression in CD4 T⁺ cells in co-culture.

Mature DCs were incubated with increasing concentrations of OVA³²³⁻³³⁹ peptide for 2 h at 37°C and co-cultured for 24 h with CD4⁺ T cells isolated from lymph nodes and spleens of CD45.1 OT-II mice. Samples were then assessed by FACS for the percentage of CD4⁺ T cells expressing early activation marker CD69 (A) and late activation markers CD44 (B) and CD62L (C) when exposed to each of OVA³²³⁻³³⁹ peptide concentrations. Results show the percentage of viable CD4⁺ T cells expressing each of the above activation markers. Data represents mean ± SD for 2 wells per condition. Results represented are from a single experiment. Statistical differences between groups were assessed by performing One-way ANOVA and Turkey's multiple comparison test in GraphPad prism. Ns, non- significant ≥ 0.05 , *designates a *p*-value of ≤ 0.05 , ** ≤ 0.01 , *** ≤ 0.001 .

In the previous chapter section, a tofacitinib dose of 100 nM was shown to be sufficient to notably diminish STAT3 phosphorylation and thereby interfere with the ability of both DCs and CD4⁺ T cells to receive cytokine signals. In addition to that, a drug dose-response was set-up to determine whether tofacitinib can exhibit a dose-dependent differential effect on CD4⁺ T cell viability and capacity to express activation markers upon stimulation. CD4⁺ T cells were activated through incubation with α -CD3 and α -CD28 antibodies, with different tofacitinib concentrations (from 0 to 10 000 nM) added at the start of the assay. After 48 hours cells were assessed by flow cytometry. The analysis demonstrated tofacitinib to have a significant impact on T cell viability when used at 1000 nM and 10 000 nM concentrations (Figure 3-5A). The percentage of T cell expressing activation marker CD69 was slightly reduced starting at 100 nM concentration and became significantly diminished at both 1000 and 10 000 nM concentrations, dropping to approximately 60% and 40%, respectively, when compared to 80% of CD69 positive cells in control group (Figure 3-5B). The percentage of CD44 expressing T cells, on the other hand, was reduced by from 50% to 20% at 100 nM drug concentration and was further diminished at both 1000 nM and 10 000 nM doses to as low as 10% at the highest drug dose (Figure 3-5C). Based on these dose-dependent changes in T cell viability and activation potential, a 100 nM concentration of tofacitinib was selected as the lowest effective dose, while 10 000 nM was chosen as the maximal effective dose. These two drug concentrations were used in all the subsequent co-culture assays in vitro.



Figure 3-5. Tofacitinib affects CD4⁺ T cell viability and activation marker expression in a dose-dependent manner.

CD4⁺ T cells were isolated from lymph nodes and spleens of CD45.1 OT-II mice using STEMCELL EasySep kit and cultured in the presence of anti-CD3 (1 ug/ml) and anti-CD28 (5 ug/ml) antibodies as an alternative method for T cell activation. CD4⁺ T cells were incubated in the presence of a range of tofacitinib (base) or corresponding vehicle concentrations for 48 h at 37°C and assessed by FACS for the effect of different treatment doses on cell viability (A) and activation marker CD69 (B) and CD44 (C) expression. Cells were gated on total CD4⁺ T cell population (A) or viable CD4⁺ T cell fraction (B and C). Data represents mean \pm SD for 3 wells per condition. Statistical differences between groups were assessed by performing Two-way ANOVA and Sidak's multiple comparison test in GraphPad prism. *designates a *p*-value of \leq 0.05, *** \leq 0.001, **** \leq 0.0001.

3.2.3 Exposure to tofacitinib during priming has no impact on CD4⁺ T cell activation marker expression and modestly reduces their proliferative potential.

I further sought to investigate if the presence of tofacitinib during CD4⁺ T cell priming by mature dendritic cells in an antigen-specific manner has an impact on the extent of CD4⁺ T cell activation. T lymphocyte engagement through TCR/CD3 leads to differential regulation of a range of surface molecules involved in lymphocyte migration and tissue homing *in vivo*, including CD69, CD44, and Lselectin (CD62L).

CD69 is an early lymphocyte activation marker that becomes transiently upregulated following T cells activation and is involved in the regulation of cell ingress and retention in the lymph nodes, as well as egress/migration back to the lymphatic circulation.^{487,488,489} CD44 is a late lymphocyte activation marker that promotes T cell interaction with endothelial cells and thereby mediates their recruitment to the site of inflammation⁴⁹⁰. High CD44 expression is retained on the effector and memory cell surface, thus also serving as a permanent marker of antigenic encounter.⁴⁹¹ L-selectin (CD62L) is another late activation marker, which contributes to the coordination of T cell homing to the lymph nodes through high endothelial venules (HEVs).⁴⁹² Upon naïve T cell entry to the lymph node and its antigen-specific activation CD62L is terminally shed from the cell surface, allowing the cell to re-enter the lymphatic circulation and migrate to the site of inflammation.^{493,494}

Proliferation (clonal expansion) of the antigen-specific T cell population is another key response following naïve T cell priming. After initial TCR engagement leading to extended stable T cell interaction with APC, a T cell undergoes a number of rapid divisions over several days. *In vivo*, this rapid expansion of T cell precursors of a rare antigen specificity underlies the efficiency of adaptive immune response.

To assess the effect of the drug on the T cell ability to undergo antigen-specific activation, CFSE-labelled OT-II T cells were primed as before, with either 0.1 or 5 ug/ml of their cognate peptide presented by mature dendritic cells. After 1

day of co-culture, robust CD4⁺ T cell activation was confirmed by profound upregulation of CD69 expression at both peptide concentrations, in contrast to the low percentage of CD69-positive cells in the absence of OVA (Figure 3-6A). CD69 expression remained unaffected by the T cell exposure to either 100 nM or 10 000 nM of tofacitinib throughout priming.

Following 3 days of incubation, a majority of CD4⁺ T cells have proliferated and undergone 2-3 rounds of division (not shown), as indicated by decreased fluorescence intensity of CFSE staining. Treatment with 100 nM of tofacitinib did not impact T cell proliferative ability, however, it was slightly but significantly reduced in the cells treated with higher drug concentration (Figure 3-6B).

Late activation marker assessment showed the expected increase in CD44 expression levels 3 days after T cell priming in the presence of cognate peptide (Figure 3-6C). At suboptimal peptide concentration, CD44 expression was even further increased upon tofacitinib treatment, while at optimal peptide dose CD44 levels in the presence of the compound remained unchanged. Primed T cells also exhibited reduced levels of CD62L expression, and this reduction was slightly but significantly reversed by tofacitinib treatment (Figure 3-6D).

Although the changes in activation marker expression following the drug treatment were statistically significant, they are relatively small and that should be considered when evaluating their biological relevance. I have therefore concluded that exposure of naïve CD4⁺ T cells to tofacitinib during their antigenspecific priming had no major impact on activation marker expression and only modestly reduced cell proliferative potential.



Figure 3-6. Tofacitinib treatment during priming has no effect on CD4⁺ T cell activation marker expression and modestly inhibits their proliferation *in vitro*

CD4⁺ T cells were isolated from lymph nodes and spleens of CD45.1 OT-II mice using STEMCELL EasySep kit and labelled with CFSE dye to monitor cell proliferation. CD4⁺ T cells were then co-cultured with mature DCs in the presence of either 0.1 ug/ml or 5 ug/ml of OVA³²³⁻³³⁹ peptide or without peptide and were treated with either 100 or 10 000 nM of Tofacitinib (base) in DMSO or corresponding vehicle concentrations. After 24 (A) or 72 h (B-D) incubation at 37° C, cells were then stained with a viability dye followed by staining with fluorescent antibodies for CD4, early activation marker CD69 (A) and late activation markers CD44 (C) and CD62L (D). Lymphocytes in graphs (A, C-D) were gated on viable CD4⁺ cells and then analysed for the above activation marker expression. Percentage of proliferated CD4⁺ cells (B) was determined by gating on viable CD4⁺ cells which underwent at least one round of proliferation (designated by reduction in brightness of CFSE fluorescent label). Data represents mean ± SD for 3 wells per condition. Results are representative of 3 independent experiments. Statistical differences between groups were assessed by performing two-way ANOVA and Sidak's multiple comparison test in GraphPad prism. *designates a *p*-value of ≤ 0.05 , ** ≤ 0.01 , **** ≤ 0.0001 .

3.2.4 Tofacitinib treatment during priming diminishes CD4⁺ T cell capacity for pro-inflammatory cytokine production *in vitro*

As tofacitinib had no impact on naïve CD4⁺ T cell activation and small effect on proliferation during priming, I next aimed to assess if the functional capacity of these cells has been compromised. Since antigenic stimulation combined with polarizing signals from APCs (DCs) drive T cell differentiation into different T helper (Th) subsets, I used the production of cytokines specific for main Th subsets as the readout of their function. Following 3 days of OT-II T cell coculture with OVA peptide-pulsed dendritic cells in the presence or absence of tofacitinib, culture supernatants were collected and analysed for the presence of pro-inflammatory cytokines by Luminex assay.

IL-2 is one of the first mediators secreted by activated CD4⁺ T cells, which signals in a both autocrine and paracrine fashion and is essential for proliferation and subsequent survival of antigen-specific effector T cells^{495,496,497,498}. Starting at 24 h after initial TCR engagement, IL-2 produced by helper T cells initiates autocrine STAT5-dependent negative feedback loop thereby limiting its own production⁴⁹⁹. In our co-culture system, activated T cells secreted high levels of IL-2, which increased in an antigen dose-dependent manner (Figure 3-7A). Treatment with 100 nM of tofacitinib resulted in notably increased IL-2 levels in the supernatant when compared to those in the vehicle-treated samples. IL-2 production was similarly enhanced by higher tofacitinib dose but did not reach statistical significance. Based on the tofacitinib inhibitory mechanism and its ability to reduce STAT5 phosphorylation in response to IL-2 stimulation, demonstrated earlier in this chapter, I propose that the drug interferes with autocrine IL-2 signalling in T cells by blocking JAK3 and JAK1 activation and downstream signalling through STAT5. As a result, a negative feedback loop limiting IL-2 production is disrupted, leading to increased IL-2 generation by activated T cells.

Th1 helper subset, shown to be responsible for arthritis development in both mice and humans, produces its signature cytokine IFNy upon differentiation, alongside TNFα and IL-2. Tofacitinib was able to suppress IFNy production by activated T cells to the levels beyond detectable by the assay, suggesting the ability of the drug to interfere with T cell polarization towards the Th1 subtype (Figure 3-7B). While the initial trigger for Th1 polarization is IL-12 provided by APCs (DCs), the resulting IFNy produced was demonstrated to engage in autocrine signalling to promote T-bet expression, which in turn facilitates further IFNy production⁵⁰⁰. Since signalling through IFNy receptor requires STAT1 activation, tofacitinib might act by inhibiting STAT1 phosphorylation and thereby inhibiting this self-enhancing loop of IFNy production.

Production of TNF α , another Th1-specific cytokine, was also reduced upon exposure to high drug concentrations when compared to vehicle treated cells (Figure 3-7C). However, TNF α production was affected to a lesser degree than IFNy and the changes seen could be secondary to the direct drug interference with Th1 differentiation and IFNy-driven positive feedback loop signalling abrogation.

IL-17 producing Th17 helper cells is another important subset mediating inflammation and joint destruction in murine RA models, while in patients Th17 frequencies and IL-17 levels are associated with systemic disease activity^{501,502}. Detection of IL-17A in co-culture supernatants from T cells receiving antigenic stimulation suggests some of those cells might have acquired a Th17 phenotype (Figure 3-7D). Their polarization in this *in vitro* setting might be driven by IL-6 and TGFB secreted by mature dendritic cells in combination with IL-21 produced by T cells in response to IL-6 stimulation⁵⁰³. Thus, reduction in IL-17A levels in the presence of high drug dose (Figure 3-7D) could be explained by tofacitinib interfering with STAT3-dependent IL-6 and IL-21 polarizing signals and thereby impairing Th17 differentiation.

CD4⁺ T cell differentiation towards the Th2 subtype, similarly to Th17, also requires an initial specification signal from IL-6. STAT3- dependent IL-6 signal promotes T cells to secrete IL-4, which then acts in an autocrine manner for further differentiation towards Th2 lineage⁵⁰⁴. It was therefore expected for JAK inhibitor to impair IL-6 driven Th2 polarization, which was evidenced by significantly diminished IL-5 levels in the presence of the drug (Figure 3-7E).

I also assessed the supernatants for IL-6 production, which in this co-culture would be secreted by dendritic cells upon the interaction of CD40 on their surface with its ligand CD40L on activated T cells. Indeed, the increase in IL-6 production is observed in the presence of T cell cognate antigen and is antigen dose-dependent (Figure 3-7F). However, tofacitinib treatment had no effect on IL-6 cytokine levels. This result confirms that the impaired differentiation into Th subsets, which require IL-6 contribution, is a result of the drug interference with cytokine signalling pathway rather than the scarcity of polarizing cytokine in the culture.

Finally, I addressed the impact of tofacitinib on polarization towards the regulatory T cell (Treg) subtype, characterised by the production of IL-10 cytokine and the ability, among others, to suppress Th effector responses. IL-2 signalling (through IL-2RB/STAT5 axis) was shown to be a pre-requisite for inducing Treg transcription factor Foxp3 expression⁵⁰⁵, suggesting the potential of tofacitinib to also interfere with Treg polarization. However, Treg secreted IL-10 levels upon drug exposure did not decrease, and even increased with the optimal antigen and high drug dose combination (Figure 3-7G). To our knowledge, no studies to date have assessed the capacity of tofacitinib to affect naïve cell differentiation into the Treg subtype. Interestingly, fully differentiated CD4⁺CD25^{bright}Foxp3⁺ Treg cells from transplant patients receiving tofacitinib treatment appeared to preserve their immunoregulatory function, and their ability to receive IL-2 signals, in contrast to effector T cells, was only partially inhibited by the drug⁵⁰⁶. It would, therefore, be interesting to investigate in more detail whether the drug has differential impact on initial differentiation into helper and regulatory T cell lineages, and if under specific Treg-polarizing conditions naïve T cells are less susceptible to inhibitory drug effect.

Taken together, data from the Luminex assay suggests tofacitinib to diminish the ability of naïve CD4⁺ T cells, primed by their cognate antigen *in vitro*, to undergo differentiation towards Th1, Th2, and Th17 effector subsets. In turn, this results in reduced capacity for their signature pro-inflammatory cytokine

production. In contrast, T cell ability to polarize into the Treg subset is preserved.



Figure 3-7. Tofacitinib treatment impairs pro-inflammatory cytokine production by CD4⁺ T cells upon priming *in vitro*.

CD4⁺ T cells were isolated from lymph nodes and spleens of CD45.1 OT-II mice using STEMCELL EasySep kit and co-cultured with mature DCs in the presence of either 0.1 ug/ml or 5 ug/ml of OVA³²³⁻³³⁹ peptide or without peptide, and were treated with either 100 or 10 000 nM of Tofacitinib (base) in DMSO or corresponding vehicle concentrations. Supernatants were collected after 3 days of co-culture and analysed by Luminex for the presence of a number of pro-inflammatory cytokines implicated in RA pathogenesis. Graphs depict mean concentrations ± SD of (A) IL-2, (B) IFNy, (C) TNF α , (D) IL-17A and (E) IL-5, (F) IL-6 and (G) IL-10. n=3 wells for each condition. Data represents results from a single experiment. Statistical differences between groups were assessed by performing two-way ANOVA and Sidak's multiple comparison test in GraphPad prism. *designates a *p*-value of ≤ 0.05, ** ≤ 0.01, **** ≤ 0.001.

I was concerned with the known ability of the drug to induce cell death at high concentrations, which could contribute to the effect seen in the Luminex assay. To address this possibility, a viability assay was performed. OT-II T cells were cocultured with DCs as before and following 24 h of tofacitinib exposure T cells were assessed for their viability and the presence of phosphatidylserine on their surface as a marker of early apoptosis. The percentage of viable cells remained unaltered in the presence of 100 nM of tofacitinib but have significantly decreased at higher drug concentration (Figure 3-8A). The same T cell population was then assessed for the signs of apoptosis as one of the possible reasons for reduction in the proportion of viable cells. The percentage of apoptotic cells, defined by exclusion of viability dye in combination with Annexin V protein binding to phosphatidylserine on their surface, remained similarly unaffected by low drug dose and have slightly, but significantly increased at high drug concentration (Figure 3-8B). These results suggest that the reduction in cytokine production observed in Luminex assay is partly due to tofacitinib compromising T cell survival. However, the production of some cytokines, in particular IFNy, was almost completely inhibited by the drug and cannot be solely explained by moderate loss of viable cytokine-secreting T cells.



Figure 3-8. Tofacitinib reduces CD4⁺ T cell viability at high concentrations by promoting apoptosis.

CD4⁺ T cells were isolated from lymph nodes and spleens of CD45.1 OT-II mice using STEMCELL EasySep kit and co-cultured with mature DCs in the presence of either 0.1 ug/ml or 5 ug/ml of OVA³²³⁻³³⁹ peptide or without peptide, and were treated with either 100 or 10 000 nM of Tofacitinib (base) in DMSO or corresponding vehicle concentrations. Control samples (in pink) were left untreated. Cells were incubated for 24 hours at 37°C 5% CO₂ and then stained by FACS for viability and CD4⁺ marker expression. Subsequently, cells were incubated with fluorochrome-conjugated Annexin V protein which binds to externalised phosphatidylserine residues on the cells undergoing apoptosis. Lymphocytes were gated on CD4⁺ cells and those negative for viability dye were deemed viable (A). Cells gated as CD4⁺ were further gated for viability against Annexin V, with viability-negative Annexin V-positive population representing early apoptotic cells (B). Representative scatter plots show samples stimulated with 5 ug/ml of the peptide. Graphs depict mean percentages ± SD of viable (A) and apoptotic (B) CD4⁺ T cells from one experiment, n=3 wells for each condition. Statistical differences between groups were assessed by performing two-way ANOVA and Sidak's multiple comparison test in GraphPad prism. ** designates a *p*-value of ≤ 0.01 , *** ≤ 0.0001 .

I therefore decided to investigate the changes in the capacity of viable CD4⁺ T cells to produce cytokines after exposure to tofacitinib upon their priming. IFNy was selected for further assessment as the cytokine most affected by the drug, alongside with IL-2 as a homeostatic T cell cytokine, signalling of which was evidently inhibited and production enhanced by tofacitinib. In addition, while changes observed in the supernatant could be attributed to the whole cell population, the assessment of T cell capacity to produce cytokines would allow to confirm the intrinsic changes induced in individual cells.

OT-II CD4⁺ T cells were primed with OVA³²³⁻³³ peptide by mature dendritic cells for 3 days in the presence or absence of tofacitinib, with subsequent PMA/Ionomycin stimulation in the presence of Brefeldin A for 4 h at 37°C. The latter treatment induces intracellular cytokine production by T cells while retaining the cytokines within the cell, thus allowing to assess the potential for cytokine production of an individual cells. While the untreated and vehicletreated T cells notably increased IFNy production upon priming, the IFNy levels in their drug-treated counterparts remained as low as those of non-activated cells (Figure 3-9A). As expected, a large proportion of the activated T cells produced IL-2 when left untreated, and tofacitinib exposure further increased the percentage of IL-2-positive cells, with this change being significant at an optimal peptide concentration (Figure 3-9B). In addition, an ELISA assay was performed on the day 3 co-culture supernatants, and the dramatic impairment in drug-treated T cell capacity for IFNy production observed in this assay (Figure 3-9C) replicated the results obtained by Luminex and intracellular FACS staining.

Exposure to tofacitinib during priming was therefore demonstrated to induce intrinsic changes in antigen-specific CD4⁺ T cells, resulting in their reduced ability to produce Th1 lineage-specific cytokine IFNy.



Figure 3-9. Exposure to tofacitinib during priming reduces the capacity of CD4⁺ T cells for IFNy and IL-2 production.

CD4⁺ T cells were isolated from lymph nodes and spleens of CD45.1 OT-II mice using STEMCELL EasySep kit and co-cultured with mature DCs in the presence of either 0.1 ug/ml or 5 ug/ml of OVA³²³⁻³³⁹ peptide or without peptide, and were treated with either 100 or 10 000 nM of Tofacitinib (base) in DMSO or corresponding vehicle concentrations. Control samples (in pink) were left untreated. After 3 days, cells were stimulated with PMA (10 ng/ml) and lonomycin (500 ng/ml) in the presence of Brefeldin A for 4 h at 37°C 5% CO₂. Thereafter, cells were stained by FACS for viability and CD4⁺ marker expression, followed by fixation/permeabilization step and fluorescent labelling of intracellular IFNy and IL-2 cytokines. Lymphocytes were gated on viable CD4⁺ cells, with representative scatter plots depicting the difference in the percentage of IFNy (A) and IL-2 (B) producers between vehicle- and drug-treated samples, when cultured with 5 ug/ml of the peptide. Graphs shows mean percentages ± SD of viable CD4⁺ T cells producing IFNy (A) and IL-2 (B) upon stimulation. Results are representative of 3 independent experiments.

Supernatants were collected prior to PMA/lonomycin stimulation and assessed by ELISA for IFNy production in the co-culture over 3 days (C). The graph depicts mean concentration \pm SD of IFNy, n=3 wells for each condition. Results are representative of a single experiment. Statistical differences between groups were assessed by performing two-way ANOVA and Sidak's multiple comparison test in GraphPad prism. *designates a *p*-value of ≤ 0.05 , ** ≤ 0.01 , *** ≤ 0.001 , **** ≤ 0.0001 .

3.2.5 Tofacitinib administration upon priming impairs CD4⁺ T cell differentiation towards Th1 subtype

After repeatedly demonstrating an abolishment of IFNy production upon drug exposure during CD4⁺ T cell priming, I sought to establish if this is a result of underlying impairment in cell differentiation on transcription factor level. T-box expressed in T cells (T-bet) belongs to the T-box transcription factor family and is found to be indispensable for lineage commitment in CD4⁺ T cells towards Th1 subset. T-bet has a capacity to promote its own transcription as well as induce chromatin remodelling of *Ifng* locus, thereby regulating the expression of Th1 signature cytokine IFNy.^{507,508} Therefore, I examined the effect of tofacitinib treatment on T-bet expression upon priming. In the control samples in the absence of any treatment (pink bars) T-bet expression in CD4⁺ T cells was induced with antigen addition in a dose-dependent manner, with the vehicletreated samples closely replicating transcription factor levels similar to those of untreated controls (Figure 3-10B). However, the addition of tofacitinib to the culture during priming profoundly inhibited T cell ability for T-bet expression, retaining transcription factor levels close to the baseline (Figure 3-10A,B). Unexpectedly high T-bet levels were detected in the absence of the peptide stimulation in drug-treated groups (Figure 3-10B, shaded bars). Cells from some of those samples have proliferated and undergone activation, as evidenced by CFSE dilution and upregulated CD44 expression (data not shown). However, as tofacitinib was earlier confirmed to have no pronounced effect on either of those phenotypic changes, the activation of the cells in the no-peptide group along with T-bet expression was most likely experimental artefacts and not the direct result of the drug exposure.

These results suggest the ability of tofacitinib to interfere with CD4⁺ differentiation towards Th1 lineage by abolishing essential transcription factor T-bet expression.



Figure 3-10. Tofacitinib treatment during priming impairs CD4⁺ T cell differentiation towards Th1 phenotype.

CD4⁺ T cells were isolated from lymph nodes and spleens of CD45.1 OT-II mice using STEMCELL EasySep kit and co-cultured with mature DCs in the presence of either 0.1 ug/ml or 5 ug/ml of OVA³²³⁻³³⁹ peptide or without peptide, and were treated with either 100 or 10 000 nM of Tofacitinib (base) in DMSO or corresponding vehicle concentrations. Control samples (in pink) were left untreated. After a 3-day co-culture, cells were stained for FACS for viability and CD4⁺ marker expression, followed by permeabilization/fixation step using Foxp3/Transcription factor staining buffer set and intracellular staining for transcription factor T-bet detection. Lymphocytes were gated on viable CD4⁺ cells, with representative scatter plots depicting the difference in the percentage of cells expressing T-bet in the vehicle- and drug-treated samples (A) when cultured with 5 ug/ml of the peptide. (B) Graphs shows mean percentages ± SD of viable CD4⁺ T cells expressing T-bet, n=3 wells for each condition. The results are representative of 2 individual experiments. Statistical differences between groups were assessed by performing two-way ANOVA and Sidak's multiple comparison test in GraphPad prism. *designates a *p*-value of ≤ 0.05, ** ≤ 0.01, **** ≤ 0.001, **** ≤ 0.0001.

3.2.6 Impaired T-bet expression and IFNy production following CD4⁺ T cell exposure to tofacitinib during priming persists upon secondary antigenic challenge

After establishing the ability of tofacitinib to interfere with Th1 cell differentiation during priming, it was interesting to investigate if this effect is maintained after secondary antigen exposure when the drug is no longer present. To address this question, naive OT-II CD4⁺ T cells were primed with OVA peptide-pulsed DCs for 3 days in the presence of a vehicle or 100 nM Tofacitinib, then thoroughly washed to remove the drug from the media and rested in the media supplemented with IL-2 to support their survival. After being rested for 3 days, activated T cells were labelled with CFSE and either re-challenged with the same cognate peptide dose or left unstimulated for the final 3 days (Figure 3-11A). To confirm the efficiency of secondary antigenic challenge, T cells were assessed for proliferation and activation marker expression. After re-activation, approximately 60% of T cells have proliferated compared to only 10% of nonstimulated cells in both treatment groups, with tofacitinib exposure exhibiting no effect on proliferation (Figure 3-11B). Similarly, CD69, although an early activation marker, was upregulated upon re-activation to 80% from 60% in the T cells receiving no secondary challenge, with the drug having no impact on marker expression levels (Figure 3-11C).

Since T cell re-activation with cognate peptide has proven successful, the transcriptional and functional profile of these cells was examined next. Interestingly, T cells exposed to tofacitinib during priming expressed significantly lower levels of T-bet transcription factor upon re-activation when compared to vehicle-treated counterparts (Figure 3-11D). In addition, T cells primed in the presence of the drug and subsequently re-activated exhibited a reduced capacity for IFNy production upon PMA/Ionomycin treatment, with their IFNy levels comparable to those in the absence of secondary stimulation (Figure 3-11E). Interestingly, T cells that were only primed but did not receive secondary peptide stimulation also retained lower IFNy production levels if exposed to the drug during initial stimulation, which is consistent with the changes in cytokine production detected upon T cell priming.

Together, this data suggests that the diminished T-bet expression achieved with tofacitinib treatment during priming and the resulting impairment in CD4⁺ T cell capacity to produce IFNy both persist upon secondary antigenic stimulation. In other words, once the drug compromises differentiation into Th1 subset during priming, this compromised cell state remains imprinted, possibly on epigenetic level, upon the subsequent re-activation and is manifested by diminished IFNy production by those T cells.



Figure 3-11. Impaired T-bet expression and IFNy production following CD4⁺ T cell exposure to tofacitinib during priming persists upon secondary antigen challenge

(A) CD4⁺ T cells were isolated from lymph nodes and spleens of CD45.1 OT-II mice using STEMCELL EasySep kit and co-cultured with mature DCs in the presence of 0.1 ug/ml of OVA323-³³⁹ peptide, and were treated with either 100 nM of Tofacitinib (base) or 0.001% of DMSO. After 3 days, cells were washed, re-plated and rested in the presence of IL-2 (1 ng/ml) for another 3 days. Following this, T cells were labelled with CFSE and stimulated with fresh DCs, either untreated or pulsed with OVA³²³⁻³³⁹ peptide, for the final 3 days. Half of the cells were subjected to PMA/Ionomycin treatment in the presence of Brefeldin A, and then stained by FACS for intracellular IFNy production using BD Fixation/Permeabilization kit. Another half of the cells were directly stained for T-bet expression using Foxp3/Transcription factor staining buffer set. Lymphocytes were gated on viable CD4⁺ T cells and analysed for the percentage of cells which have proliferated (B), CD69 (C) and T-bet expression (D), and IFNy production (E). Representative scatter plots depict the percentage of T-bet expression (D) and IFNy producing cells (E) in samples treated with vehicle or 100 nM of Tofacitinib and receiving the secondary antigenic challenge. Graphs shows mean percentages ± SD of viable CD4⁺ T cells expressing the respective markers. Results are representative of 2 individual experiments assessing T-bet expression and 3 separate experiments assessing IFNy production. Statistical differences between groups were assessed by performing two-way ANOVA and Sidak's multiple comparison test in GraphPad prism. *designates a *p*-value of ≤ 0.05, ** ≤ 0.01, *** ≤ 0.001, **** ≤ 0.0001.
3.2.7 Antigen-experienced CD4⁺ T cells exhibit diminished Tbet expression following re-activation in the presence of tofacitinib, but retain their capacity for IFNy production

Next, I went on to investigate whether tofacitinib has the capacity to affect previously activated cells when administered during secondary antigenic challenge. This *in vitro* scenario might be particularly relevant if applied in the clinical context, where RA patients receive tofacitinib at progressive stages of the disease and therefore present with a high proportion of CD4⁺ T cells which are already activated.

CD4⁺ T cells were primed for 3 days and then rested in the presence of IL-2, as described in the section above (Section 3.2.6.). The antigen-experienced CFSElabelled T cells were then re-challenged in the presence of vehicle or tofacitinib for another 3 days (Figure 3-12A). Two individual co-cultures were performed to assess transcriptional profile and IFNy production of the resulting CD4⁺ T cells. To ensure that the T cells were re-stimulated effectively, their proliferative capacity and CD69 marker expression were examined. T cells have proliferated efficiently and significantly when compared to the cells in the absence of secondary stimulation (Figure 3-12B). Interestingly, tofacitinib treatment notably increased the percentage of proliferating cells at both drug doses, which has not been observed in other experiments. Early marker CD69, though slightly upregulated upon T cell re-stimulation, was expressed at relatively low levels (Figure 3-12C), which could be explained by its transient expression prominent at approximately 24 h after cell activation and significantly declining by 72 h post-activation⁴⁹⁸. The CD69 levels appeared to be even lower in the T cells re-activated in the presence of the drug. This effect of tofacitinib on CD69 expression was not detected previously, in either priming or re-activation co-culture experiments. One possible explanation could be that since more of the drug-treated T-cells have proliferated, they may be at the further/later stages of their activation and hence their CD69 expression might be already in decline.

The assessment of T cell differentiation status upon re-challenge showed the significant upregulation of T-bet levels relative to control cells receiving no secondary stimulation. Exposure to tofacitinib during secondary challenge notably diminished T-bet expression in activated T cells at both antigen concentrations (Figure 3-12D). In a separate experiment, a similar percentage of T cells producing IFNy upon re-activation was detected, regardless of the treatment administered (Figure 3-12E). In fact, the percentage of IFNy-producing cells was slightly increased in the group treated with 100 nM tofacitinib during re-challenge.

These results convincingly demonstrate that while tofacitinib supresses Th1specific transcription factor expression in antigen-experienced cells upon reactivation, their capacity for cytokine production might be at least partly independent of the T-bet levels and remains unchanged following the drug treatment.



Priming OVAp dose (ug/ml)

Figure 3-12. Tofacitinib treatment upon reactivation impairs T-bet expression in antigenexperienced CD4⁺ T cell but does not affect their capacity for IFNy production

CD4+ T cells were isolated from lymph nodes and spleens of CD45.1 OT-II mice using STEMCELL EasySep kit and co-cultured with mature DCs in the presence of either 0.1 ug/ml or 5 ug/ml of OVA³²³⁻³³⁹ peptide. After 3 days, cells were washed, re-plated and rested in the presence of IL-2 (1 ng/ml) for another 3 days. Following this, T cells were labelled with CFSE and stimulated with fresh DCs pulsed with the same peptide dose in the presence or absence of tofacitinib. Negative control samples received no antigen during secondary challenge, and positive control samples received antigen with no other treatment. 3 days after secondary challenge, cells were subjected to PMA/Ionomycin treatment in the presence of Brefeldin A and then stained by FACS for intracellular IFNy production using BD Fixation/Permeabilization kit. Alternatively, cells were directly stained for T-bet expression using Foxp3/Transcription factor staining buffer set. Lymphocytes were gated on viable CD4⁺ T cells and analysed for the percentage of cells which have proliferated (B), CD69 (C) and T-bet expression (D), and IFNy production (E). Representative scatter plots depict the percentage of T-bet expression (D) and IFNy producing cells (E) in samples treated with vehicle or 10 000 nM Tofacitinib during the secondary antigenic challenge. Graphs shows mean percentages ± SD of viable CD4⁺ T cells expressing the respective markers. Results are representative of a single experiment for T-bet and a single experiment for IFNy. Statistical differences between groups were assessed by performing two-way ANOVA and Sidak's multiple comparison test in GraphPad prism. *designates a p-value of ≤ 0.05 , ** ≤ 0.01 , *** ≤ 0.001 , **** ≤ 0.0001 .

3.3 Discussion

3.3.1 Tofacitinib interferes with JAK/STAT signalling pathway downstream of both gp130 and γc cytokine receptors

I was able to demonstrate, in both dendritic cell monoculture and DC-CD4⁺ T cell co-culture, an abrogation of IL-6-induced STAT3 phosphorylation following cell pre-treatment with tofacitinib. Similarly, tofacitinib potently inhibited STAT3 and STAT5 phosphorylation in the CD4⁺ T lymphocytes stimulated with IL-6 and IL-2 cytokines, respectively. In line with this, an extensive study by Ghoreschi *et al.*³⁰⁵ also showed tofacitinib was capable of interfering with the signalling of both IL-2 and IL-6 in murine CD4⁺ T cells by abolishing phosphorylation of respective STAT proteins. Also, the study observed the same effect of the drug on IL-6-dependent pSTAT3 phosphorylation in human PBMC-derived CD3⁺ T cells. While the purpose of this experiment was to mainly confirm the ability of tofacitinib to inhibit its target pathway in our co-culture system, I have also demonstrated, although indirectly (via STAT activity), the ability of the drug to effectively inhibit not only JAK3 kinase (upstream of STAT5), for which tofacitinib has the highest potency, but also the signalling via JAK1 and JAK2, required for IL-6 signalling via STAT3.

3.3.2 Tofacitinib does not affect naïve CD4⁺ T cell activation and has a modest effect on their proliferative potential

The expression of activation markers is one of the changes detected in the T cell phenotype shortly after the priming event. In my co-culture, the exposure of naive CD4⁺ T cells to tofacitinib throughout priming had no impact on the expression of early activation marker CD69 or late activation markers CD44 and CD62L. One of the functions of CD69 is the retention of newly activated T cells in the lymph node⁴⁸⁸. CD62L expression allows naïve CD4 T cells to enter the lymph node and is downregulated upon cell priming to promote activated cell

migration out of the lymph node, while the upregulation of CD44 potentiates the entry of the activated cells from the circulation to the inflamed tissue sites.^{492,493,494,490} Thus, maintenance of the above activation marker expression levels independent of tofacitinib exposure suggests that the drug-treated cells undergo efficient activation and presumably, in the *in vivo* setting, are able to migrate to the site of inflammation.

Several studies investigating tofacitinib impact on human PBMCs employed CD25 as an activation marker and found its expression levels to be diminished by the treatment^{484, 485} and subsequently restored upon drug withdrawal⁴⁸⁴. However, CD25 functions as an IL-2 receptor α chain (IL-2Ra) on activated T cells thus relaying signals controlling cell proliferation. As mine and other studies have shown, tofacitinib treatment prevents T lymphocytes from responding to IL-2 stimulation, which can ,in turn, result in failure to upregulate CD25 expression as a part of IL-2-driven autocrine negative feedback loop.⁵⁰⁹ Thus, impaired CD25 expression upon drug exposure is not a direct result of tofacitinib interference with CD4⁺ T cell priming (activation) by dendritic cells, but rather a consequence of impaired ability of newly activated T cells to respond to the autocrine/paracrine IL-2 signal.

I next assessed tofacitinib impact on CD4⁺ T cell proliferation following the priming event. Newly activated CD4⁺ T cells maintained normal levels of proliferation at the physiological drug concentration of 100 nM, which were slightly but significantly reduced at the higher drug concentration. Similarly, tofacitinib exhibited no effect on naïve murine CD4⁺ T cell proliferation when used at up to 1000 nM concentration in the study conducted by Ghoreschi *et al.*³⁰⁵ In contrast, even at 100 nM dose the drug markedly reduced proliferation of lymphocytes derived from PBMCs of healthy patient donors and subjected to PHA stimulation *in vitro*. Interestingly, this effect was completely reversed upon drug removal.⁴⁸⁴ A comparable dose-dependent effect on proliferation was observed in CD4⁺ T cells purified from PMBCs and synovium samples from active RA patients and stimulated *in vitro* in the presence of tofacitinib.³⁰⁶ While in all of the above studies lymphocytes were exposed to the drug only during *in vitro* culture, Sonomoto and colleagues examined lymphocytes from RA patients receiving tofacitinib treatment as a part of clinical trial⁵¹⁰. After 12 months of

treatment, CD4⁺ T cell proliferative potential was notably suppressed and correlated with disease activity improvement. Thus, one of the mechanisms of action of tofacitinib appears to be through the suppression of proliferation in both murine and human T lymphocytes, although murine cells appear to require higher drug doses (in the *in vitro* setting) to achieve a significant effect. The mechanism could involve drug inhibition of IL-2 and IL-7 signalling required for cell proliferation, together with reduced expression of their receptors. ^{484,485,305}

3.3.3 Tofacitinib treatment impairs CD4⁺ T cell differentiation and function

Due to the ability of tofacitinib to inhibit cytokine signalling in CD4⁺ T cells, I sought to assess if the drug could also utilize this strategy to interfere with naïve T cell specification towards T helper subtypes and thereby affect lineagespecific cytokine production. Indeed, tofacitinib treatment during priming resulted in the reduction of Th2-specific IL-5 levels, as well as Th1-associated IFNy and Th17 hallmark cytokine IL-17 production in my co-culture. Similar observations were made in another study using naïve murine T cells, which, when exposed to tofacitinib, failed to efficiently differentiate into either of the above Th subtypes and produce lineage-specific cytokines even under specific polarizing conditions.³⁰⁵ Maeshima *et al.* reported similar dose-dependent effect of the drug on both IFNy and IL-17 production by CD4⁺ T cells from synovium and peripheral blood of RA patients.³⁰⁶ However, the latter study is not directly comparable as the examined T cell population being heterogeneous and containing activated T cells alongside with their naïve counterparts. Thus, my observations confirmed the ability of tofacitinib, due to its broad inhibitory effect on cytokine signal transduction, to non-selectively interfere with IFNy, IL-5, and IL-17 production, and hence presumably the differentiation into respective Th1, Th2 and Th17 subsets. The clinical efficacy of tofacitinib in RA might be, therefore, at least in part explained by the drug limiting generation of functional pathogenic IFNy-producing Th1 and IL-17 producing Th17 cells.

Alongside alterations in Th subset-specific cytokine production, the production of IL-2 was also affected by the drug treatment. The observed increase in IL-2 production was likely a consequence of IL-2 receptor signalling inhibition and the resulting disruption of a negative feedback loop.⁴⁹⁹ While IL-2 is important in controlling CD4⁺ T cell proliferation and survival during priming, it can also act as an additional signal supporting T cell polarization. IL-2 was shown to induce the expression of IL-12 receptor, beta 2 (IL-12R82), thus enhancing naïve (Th0) T cell sensitivity for IL-12, which drives terminal Th1 differentiation. Likewise, IL-2 was observed to directly regulate Th2 polarization by promoting both IL-4 and IL-4Rα expression by CD4⁺ T cells during priming. Th17 differentiation, on the other hand, was suppressed by IL-2, although the cytokine was capable of driving clonal expansion of the Th17 lineage cells once they were fully polarized⁵¹¹. In the context of this data, interference of tofacitinib treatment with IL-2 signalling in naïve CD4⁺ T cells might be viewed as an additional checkpoint for preventing their differentiation into 'pathogenic' T helper cells.

IL-6 plays an important role in RA pathogenesis, and its importance is highlighted by the clinical efficacy of treatments targeting the IL-6 receptor. While in naïve murine T cell monoculture tofacitinib appeared to profoundly inhibit the generation of IL-6³⁰⁵, I did not observe any changes in IL-6 levels in the coculture setting. This is likely to result from the presence of dendritic cells in my co-culture, which are also a source of IL-6. Thus, in my current system, it is not possible to establish if tofacitinib impairs IL-6 production by CD4⁺ T cells.

I also detected IL-10 in our co-culture supernatant, which might be produced by naïve cells polarized towards Treg subtype. This observation of IL-10 production and thus presumably Treg generation preserved during tofacitinib treatment is rather controversial, as the signalling through IL-2-STAT5 axis and the resulting induction of associated transcription factor Foxp3 expression, prerequisite for Treg differentiation, would be inhibited by the drug.⁵¹² While at present the direct effect of tofacitinib on *de novo* Treg differentiation has not been addressed to help contextualise my findings, several studies demonstrated the drug to re-direct dendritic cells towards tolerogenic phenotype. The tolerized dendritic cells, in turn, enhanced CD4⁺Foxp3⁺ Treg differentiation *in vitro*⁵¹³, and, when adoptively transferred into an experimental autoimmune

encephalomyelitis (EAE) mouse model, reduced Th1/Th17 cell population size and their functional capacity in favor of Treg expansion.⁵¹⁴ Remarkably, already differentiated CD4⁺ Foxp3⁺CD25^{bright} Treg cells from kidney transplant patients receiving tofacitinib therapy were reduced in numbers, but preserved their suppressive activity and demonstrated lesser sensitivity to treatment than the effector T cells.⁵⁰⁶ Based on my preliminary findings and the published data, it could be speculated that in addition to interfering with CD4⁺ T cell differentiation into T helper subtypes and their subsequent 'pathogenic' function, tofacitinib treatment could provide an additional benefit of potentially unaltered generation and preserved function of existing Treg cells.

I further demonstrated that the particularly notable reduction in IFNy production was a result of tofacitinib abolishing Th1 polarization through suppressing T-bet expression. This finding comes in line with the requirement of functional IFNy signalling through activated STAT1 to initiate T-bet expression, which in turn leads to enhanced IFNy production, as well as induction of IL-12RB2 expression. In turn, these result in subsequent T-bet expression enhancement, the establishment of IFNy self-enhancing loop and cell sensitization to IL-12 stimulation⁵¹⁵. Inhibition of IFNy signalling by tofacitinib thereby precludes initial T-bet expression and abolishes the successful establishment of mature Th1 phenotype. Similar changes were detected following naïve murine CD4⁺ T cell exposure to the drug, which exhibited dose-dependent T-bet reduction comparable with that in CD4⁺ T lymphocytes from STAT1-deficient mice.³⁰⁵ Thus, tofacitinib has a capacity to effectively suppress the generation of Th1 helper cells, which, particularly in the context of Th1-driven pathology such as acute graft-versus-host disease (GvHD), is shown to prevent lethal outcome while extending graft survival.⁵¹⁶

3.3.4 Functional impairment following exposure to tofacitinib during priming persists upon CD4⁺ T cell re-activation

I subsequently showed that the cells compromised by tofacitinib treatment in their differentiation and associated functional state during priming remain functionally diminished after secondary antigen exposure when the drug is withdrawn. The ability of the untreated cells to exhibit a normal 'memory' response upon re-activation is determined by the presence of open chromatin sites in the enhancer and promoter regions of *Ifng* gene, which could be easily accessed initially by NF-KB and subsequently replaced by T-bet to rapidly reinitiate IFNy production^{517,518}. However, since the drug treatment abolishes CD4⁺ T cell ability to properly undergo priming and thus (likely) prevents the acquisition of permissive chromatin state at both Tbx21/T-bet and Ifng gene promoters, the cells might require more time for the above gene expression de *novo* after drug withdrawal. Also, the magnitude of their response to secondary activation might also be compromised for this reason. However, our results do not clarify if these compromised cells might recover their full function over time, or whether due to chromatin remodelling being compromised during initial antigenic challenge the cells will permanently remain in a functionally immature state. A comparison of epigenetic profiles of control and drug-treated cells would likely provide more insights into their functional potential. Replicating this experiment in the *in vivo* context might also add to the evaluation of the CD4⁺ T cell pathogenic potential after the treatment termination.

Some attempts have been made to elucidate cell fate upon drug removal using human PMBCs. Piscianz *et al.* observed the recovered responsiveness of lymphocytes to re-activation after tofacitinib withdrawal in the *in vitro* culture, and while some cytokine production remained inhibited, the production of IL-2, IL-13 and TNFa was preferentially restored.⁴⁸⁴ Another study demonstrated that IFNy-producing CD4⁺ T cells collected from healthy individuals 4 weeks after termination of tofacitinib therapy recovered their responses to antigenic stimulation after transient suppression of their function during treatment.⁴⁸³ Due to both studies utilizing the CD4⁺ cells of both naïve and activated phenotype and exerting no control over the presence of the drug during cell priming, their

results cannot be directly correlated with my findings. Following these preliminary results, it would be important to further investigate, possibly in the *in vivo* setting, whether tofacitinib treatment permanently impairs CD4⁺ T cells function when present at priming or whether the drug withdrawal may lead to recovery of their functional capacity. This would help to inform the potential adjustment of the therapeutic regimens for both tofacitinib monotherapy and combined treatment with other immunosuppressive agents.

3.3.5 Antigen-experienced cells preserve their function after tofacitinib exposure

In the co-culture system employed, I primed naive CD4⁺ T cells and after a brief resting phase re-stimulated them with their cognate antigen, adding tofacitinib at this stage. Upon re-activation, T cells sustained their normal IFNy production levels despite the notable impairment in their T-bet expression. Since these cells were primed in the absence of the drug, they would be able to normally initiate T-bet expression which is essential for commitment towards Th1 lineage.⁵⁰⁷ However, while T-bet activity is required during this commitment phase to drive Th1 lineage-specific gene expression and chromatin remodelling of the *Ifng* locus, the fully mature Th1 cells and their descendants were reported to retain heritable chromatin modification and can re-express IFNy independently of T-bet⁵¹⁹. A detailed analysis of temporal T-bet requirement in mature CD4⁺ T cells by Lai *et al.*⁵¹⁸ has conversely demonstrated that whereas the rapid IFNy production by previously activated CD4⁺ T cells was driven by NFκB transcriptional activity 6 h after re-activation, T-bet was required at later time points to sustain cytokine response. Similarly, Jun Kui Chen (thesis, 2017) has shown IFNy production by Th1 polarized cells following T-bet ablation to be initially preserved and to decline in the long-term in the absence of T-bet. Since in my experiment re-activated T cells retained relatively high levels of T-bet expression, their IFNy production might remain partly dependent on T-bet activity and possibly partly compensated by the alternative mechanism such as NF-kB pathway, potentially unaffected by tofacitinib treatment.

Interestingly, the production of IFNy in antigen-experienced CD4⁺ T cells following re-activation in the presence of the drug was preserved. This potentially might be explained by either lesser susceptibility of mature effector CD4⁺ T cells to the cytokine signalling inhibition by the drug, or lower threshold required for their activation that for differentiation of the naïve cells. Another possible reason might be that the recruitment of the alternative signalling pathways independent of JAK kinase activity might be sufficient for effectively inducing IFNy production. However, the existing studies with human PBMCs seem to contradict my findings. A study by Sewgobind et al. demonstrates tofacitinib to potently inhibit IL-2 induced STAT5 phosphorylation in effector T cells and suppress their function (proliferative ability).⁵⁰⁶ Moreover, CD4⁺ lymphocytes isolated from peripheral blood and synovium of patients with active RA exhibited a reduced capacity for IFNy and IL-17 production upon CD3/CD28 stimulation in presence of tofacitinib in vitro.³⁰⁶ Similar results were obtained with CD4⁺ cells from healthy donors receiving short-term tofacitinib treatment.⁴⁸³ The analysis of their PBMCs showed a profound reduction in all subsets of activated T cells, including CD4⁺ T cell compartment. Moreover, exposure to tofacitinib resulted in a short-term decrease in IFNy production by IFNy-producing activated cells upon both antigen-specific and CD3/CD28 re-stimulation. While the above data cannot be directly correlated with my findings as they mostly employ heterogeneous T cell populations, overall, they might suggest the ability of tofacitinib to impact effector T lymphocyte functional ability. Replicating the above experiment in the *in vivo* setting might provide more reliable results.

Since one of my main findings in this chapter was the ability of tofacitinib to interfere with CD4⁺ T cell differentiation towards Th1 subset, I have proceeded to enquire if the same effect could be observed in the inflammatory setting *in vivo*.

4 Investigating the impact of tofacitinib administration on CD4⁺ T cell-DC cross- talk in vivo

4.1 Introduction

In the previous chapter, I demonstrated that CD4⁺ T cells exposed to tofacitinib during priming with their cognate antigen *in vitro*, failed to effectively differentiate and exhibited a profoundly diminished capacity for IFNy production. However, the *in vitro* setting represents a highly controlled environment where the drug is easily accessible to the target cells. *In vivo*, the action of the compound will be influenced by its pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties, as well as biodistribution and bioavailability in relation to the cells of interest and target tissue. Thus, my next step was to determine whether the inhibitory effect of tofacitinib on CD4⁺ T cell differentiation and function could be translated *in vivo*.

Multiple studies have employed various rodent models of arthritis to assess tofacitinib efficacy *in vivo*. These mostly investigated the broader therapeutic effect of tofacitinib in the context of systemic inflammatory mediator levels, histological and structural changes in the joint, and clinical disease score^{305,310,311}. Apart from a study in the SKG arthritis model, where the reduction in disease severity following tofacitinib treatment was associated with reduced levels of IFNy and IL-17, and thus potentially impaired Th1 and Th17 cell function³¹², there has been little specific focus on the activity of CD4⁺ T cells *in vivo*. The relevant human studies investigating tofacitinib impact on CD4⁺ T cell function, discussed in the previous chapter, employed PBMCs containing CD4⁺ T cells at different activation stages and were thereby unable to dissect the effect of the drug specifically on naïve CD4⁺ T cells.^{483,484,485} Thus, to our knowledge, there are no studies to date that directly address the impact of tofacitinib on naïve CD4⁺ T cells *in vivo*.

To this end, I sought to replicate the *in vitro* TCR-transgenic OT-II CD4⁺ T cell activation studies (Chapter 3) in the *in vivo* setting by means of adoptive transfer experiments. As the majority of these T cells express a TCR specific for chicken OVA³²³⁻³³⁹ peptide in the context of I-Ab, they can be challenged *in vivo* in a controlled manner and assessed in the context of antigen-specific response. Adoptive transfer circumvents issues relating to detection of low frequency of

endogenous antigen-specific cells, enabling measurement of antigen-specific T cells responses such as clonal expansion and cytokine production *in vivo*, and assessment of any changes arising through drug treatment. Use of the congenic marker CD45.1 on OT-II CD4⁺ T cells allowed them to be distinguished from the endogenous T cells, which express CD45.2 isoform in the (C57BL/6) recipient mice. Together with all the above, the naïve state of these OT-II CD4⁺ T cells makes this transgenic system a desirable tool for addressing the questions of this chapter.

The key aims of this chapter are the following:

- To determine the capacity of Tofacitinib to inhibit the JAK/STAT pathway in CD4⁺ T cells *in vivo*
- To investigate the impact of Tofacitinib treatment on the outcome of antigen-specific priming of CD4⁺ T cell *in vivo*
- To assess whether tofacitinib treatment influences endogenous CD4⁺ T cell functional capacity *in vivo*

4.2 Results

4.2.1 Tofacitinib citrate supresses STAT phosphorylation in CD4⁺ T cells upon cytokine stimulation with comparable efficacy to tofacitinib base form *in vitro*

For conducting the *in vivo* experiments, I employed an alternative formulation of the drug, tofacitinib citrate salt. The manufacture of the drug in the crystalline citrate salt form enhances its dissolution rate and solubility in the intestine, compared to a poorly soluble base form, while preserving the pharmacological properties of the compound⁵²⁰, and thus a citrate salt form of tofacitinib was selected for in vivo testing and clinical use. To confirm that the molecular mode of action of this drug formulation was comparable to that of the tofacitinib base, I have first assessed its capacity to inhibit STAT protein phosphorylation in vitro prior to employing tofacitinib citrate form in the in vivo setting. For this purpose, mature dendritic cells were co-cultured with naïve OT-II CD4⁺ T cells overnight in the presence of OVA³²³⁻³³⁹ peptide and with either a vehicle or 10 000 nM tofacitinib citrate. 24 hours later, cells were stimulated with either IL-6 or IL-2 for 15 min and subsequently assessed by Phospho-flow cytometry for levels of phosphorylated STAT3 or STAT5, respectively. CD4⁺ T cells stimulated with their cognate antigen in the presence of a vehicle and respective cytokine demonstrated a subtle increase in pSTAT3 levels and a more pronounced increase in pSTAT5 levels relative to those in the co-culture in the absence of the peptide (Figure 4-1). The addition of tofacitinib citrate inhibited CD4⁺ T cell responsiveness to either cytokines produced by cells or those added to the culture, resulting in pSTAT3 level reduction below the baseline alongside a notable decrease in pSTAT5 levels. Unlike lymphocytes treated with tofacitinib base, the CD4⁺ T cell population exposed to the citrate drug form did not segregate into distinctive pSTAT5-positive and pSTAT5-negative fractions but rather presented as a more uniform population. This intra-experimental variability could be due to differential CD4⁺ T cell response to the cytokine stimulation or the inhibition by distinct tofacitinib formulations. Overall, both tofacitinib citrate and base (see Fig.3-3) blocked cytokine signalling and downstream STAT protein phosphorylation in CD4⁺ T cells with similar efficacy.



Figure 4-1. Tofacitinib citrate effectively supresses STAT3 and STAT5 phosphorylation upon cytokine stimulation of CD4⁺ T cells *in vitro*.

pSTAT5

pSTAT3

Matured bone marrow-derived DCs were incubated with or without 5 ug/ml of OVA³²³⁻³³⁹ peptide for 2 h at 37°C. CD4⁺ T cells were isolated from OT-II mice lymph nodes and spleens using STEMCELL EasySep kit and cultured with DCs overnight in the presence or absence either 10 000 nM tofacitinib citrate dissolved in DMSO vehicle, vehicle, or no treatment. Cells were subsequently stimulated with either IL-2 or IL-6 (both at 100 ng/ml) for 15 min at 37C, immediately fixed and stained intracellularly for phosphorylated STAT3 and STAT5 for flow cytometric analysis. Histograms represent levels of pSTAT3 and pSTAT5 in CD4⁺ T cell populations in response to IL-6 and IL-2 stimulation, respectively. Negative control (pink, no OVAp) received no external stimuli and depicts basal levels of both phospho-proteins in non-activated CD4⁺ T cells. Dashed lines represent approximate threshold for STAT phosphorylation from the baseline. The histograms are representative of the phosphorylated STAT levels of the samples from a single experiment.

160

4.2.2 Tofacitinib citrate exposure during priming has an impact on CD4⁺ T cell viability, activation, and function comparable to tofacitinib base form *in vitro*

After demonstrating tofacitinib citrate capacity to block cytokine signalling in CD4⁺ T cells, I sought to establish if it also exerted the same effect as tofacitinib base on CD4⁺ T cell phenotype and function, when present during priming. Naive CD4⁺ T cells were co-cultured with OVA³²³⁻³³⁹-pulsed dendritic cells in the presence of increasing concentrations of vehicle or tofacitinib citrate. For direct comparison, some samples were treated with a 1000 nm dose of tofacitinib base, previously shown to have an impact on the parameters of interest. After 3 days of co-culture, CD4⁺ T cells were assessed by flow cytometry for their viability, activation status and capacity for IFNy and IL-2 production.

Across all the treatment doses in both vehicle and drug groups, CD4⁺ T cell viability appeared to be relatively low compared to the unstimulated control samples (Figure 4-2A). Since all of the peptide-treated samples have a rather low percentage of viable cells regardless of treatment, it could potentially be a consequence, of the antigen-specific interaction, rather than the type of treatment. At 100 nM and 1000 nM tofacitinib citrate doses the percentage of viable cells increased significantly, and this change is comparable in tofacitinib base-treated samples, contrary to what was observed in the previous cocultures. However, at a maximal dose of 10 000 nM tofacitinib citrate leads to a profound reduction in cell viability, consistent with the previously observed effect of the treatment with base drug formulation. When assessing CD4⁺ T cell activation, CD44 expression was slightly but significantly upregulated in the tofacitinib citrate-treated cells compared to vehicle controls at both 1000 nM and 10 000 nM doses, with a similar effect observed in samples receiving tofacitinib base (Figure 4-2B). This effect was observed previously but should be interpreted with caution regarding its biological relevance.

Most importantly, the impact of tofacitinib citrate and base forms on the CD4⁺ T cell capacity for cytokine production was closely comparable. Tofacitinib citrate treatment induced increased IL-2 production at 100 nM dose and this effect

persisted at higher drug doses, replicating the effect of the tofacitinib base (Figure 4-2C). Similarly, tofacitinib citrate demonstrated a dramatic inhibitory effect on IFNy production by CD4⁺ T cells starting at the 100 nM dose, with the extent of inhibition comparable to that of the base formulation (Figure 4-2D). Collectively, this data demonstrates that the changes in CD4⁺ T cell phenotype and function, resulting from tofacitinib citrate presence during their priming, are closely comparable to those induced by the tofacitinib base.



Figure 4-2. Tofacitinib citrate treatment during priming has similar effect to tofacitinib base form on CD4⁺ T cell viability, activation, and cytokine production capacity *in vitro*.

Matured bone marrow-derived DCs were incubated with 5 ug/ml of OVA³²³⁻³³⁹ peptide for 2 h at 37°C. CD4⁺ T cells were isolated from OT-II mice lymph nodes and spleens using STEMCELL EasySep kit and cultured with DCs in the presence or absence of either increasing concentrations of tofacitinib citrate, vehicle, or no treatment. Positive control samples were treated with 1000 nM of tofacitinib base (designated 1000^{*}). Negative control samples received no peptide and were left untreated. After 72 h incubation, cells were stimulated with PMA (10 ng/ml) lonomycin (500 ng/ml) in the presence of Brefeldin A for 4 h at 37°C 5% CO₂. Thereafter, cells were stained by FACS for viability, CD4 and CD44 marker expression, followed by fixation/permeabilization step and fluorescent labelling of intracellular IFNy and IL-2 cytokines. Lymphocytes were gated on viable CD4⁺ T cells expressing either, CD44, IL-2 or IFNy. Graphs show mean percentages ± SD of viable CD4⁺ T cells (A), CD4⁺ T cells positive for CD44 (B), and CD4⁺ lymphocytes expressing either IL-2 (C) or IFNy (D). Results are representative of a single experiment. Statistical differences between groups were assessed by performing two-way ANOVA and Sidak's multiple comparison test in GraphPad prism. *designates a *p*-value of ≤ 0.05 , ** ≤ 0.01 , **** ≤ 0.0001 . ns = not significant.

4.2.3 Single tofacitinib citrate dose administration *in vivo* reduces STAT3 phosphorylation levels in whole blood leukocytes at both basal state and following *ex vivo* cytokine stimulation

Upon demonstrating the efficiency of tofacitinib citrate treatment *in vitro* and its comparable effects to tofacitinib base formulation, it was next required to test the drug efficacy *in vivo*. Prior to employing a relatively intricate 3-day adoptive transfer model, I sought to first demonstrate that the administration of tofacitinib *in vivo* can effectively inhibit the signalling through the JAK/STAT pathway. According to the pre-clinical pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic (PK/PD) tofacitinib profiling, a single oral dose of 50 mg/kg tofacitinib citrate sufficiently inhibits signalling mediated by JAK1-containing heterodimers (JAK1/JAK3 and JAK1/JAK2), and nearly complete inhibition of signalling is achieved 1 h post-dose.³⁴⁴ Based on the publication by Ghoreschi *et al.*³⁰⁵ and personal communication with the authors, I decided to use 50 mg/kg/day of tofacitinib citrate to be administered across two doses. Accordingly, a single dose equivalent of 25 mg/kg was employed in this preliminary experiment.

C57BL/6 mice were administered with either a single dose of DMSO or tofacitinib citrate (25 mg/kg) dissolved in 0.5% methylcellulose/0.025% Tween20 vehicle solution and were sacrificed approximately 40 minutes later. For each mouse, the whole blood was collected by cardiac puncture and either received a surface antibody cocktail alone or was also simultaneously stimulated *ex vivo* with IL-6. After 15-minute incubation at 37°C, cells were immediately fixed and stained for phosphorylated STAT3 protein. Flow cytometry analysis revealed that the *in vivo* exposure to tofacitinib citrate did not notably affect the background pSTAT3 levels in circulating CD4⁺ T lymphocytes, but has profoundly reduced the percentage of pSTAT3 protein in CD4⁻ leukocytes in cytokine-unstimulated samples (6.13 %), compared to vehicle-treated controls (28.4 %) (Figure 4-3A). The proportion of pSTAT3-positive CD4⁺ T cells increased by 5.43 % from the background levels with IL-6 stimulation in the presence of a vehicle, in contrast to less than 1% in drug-treated cells. Similarly, drug exposure reduced the percentage of CD4⁻ pSTAT3-expressing cells upon cytokine stimulation from

21.4% to 15.47%. The effect of tofacitinib treatment is also well illustrated in the histograms contrasting the levels of pSTAT3 in unstimulated and stimulated whole blood cells (Figure 4-3B). The difference between the fluorescence intensity of the peaks, representative of unstimulated and stimulated cells, demonstrates the diminished capacity of both CD4⁺ and CD4⁻ cells to respond to IL-6 signals and to subsequently induce effective STAT3 phosphorylation following the drug exposure.

Collectively, the above results show that a single oral dose of 25 mg/kg tofacitinib citrate resulted in a detectable reduction of the background pSTAT3 levels *in vivo* in the unstimulated whole blood cells. Moreover, when the cells exposed to the drug were stimulated with IL-6 *ex vivo*, they retained their reduced responsiveness to cytokines manifested by the impaired ability for STAT3 phosphorylation.





Figure 4-3. A single tofacitinib citrate dose administration *in vivo* reduces STAT3 phosphorylation in the whole blood cells at both basal state and following *ex vivo* cytokine stimulation.

C57BL/6 mice were administered with a single dose of either vehicle (5% DMSO in methylcellulose solution) or tofacitinib citrate (in the same solution at 25 mg/kg) by oral gavage and sacrificed 40 minutes later. Whole blood was obtained by cardiac puncture, split into two parts for each treatment group and incubated with surface antibody cocktail either without or with IL-6 (100 ng/ml) for 15 min at 37°C 5% CO₂. Cells were then immediately fixed, permeabilized and stained intracellularly for phosphorylated STAT3 for flow cytometric analysis. Lymphocytes were gated based on FSC and SSC and analysed for their expression of CD4 and pSTAT3. Representative scatter plots show the levels of pSTAT3 in both CD4⁺ and CD4⁻ cell populations present in the whole blood from vehicle and drug-treated mice either at their basal state or after IL-6 stimulation (A). The numbers indicate percentage of cells in each quadrant, with percentage of CD4⁺ and CD4⁻ cells expressing pSTAT3 shown in the top right and bottom right quadrants, respectively. Representative histograms demonstrate the shift in pSTAT3 levels upon *ex vivo* cytokine stimulation individually in CD4⁺ and CD4⁻ cell populations from vehicle and drug-treated animals (B). The experiment was done once with a single animal for each vehicle and drug treatment groups.

4.2.4 Tofacitinib citrate effectively diminishes background STAT3 phosphorylation in the whole blood leukocytes but does not affect proliferation or activation of OT-II CD4⁺ T cells in the adoptive transfer model.

The next step was to perform the adoptive transfer experiment. While this experiment aimed to establish the impact of the tofacitinib citrate treatment on differentiation and function of antigen- specific CD4⁺ T cells, it also provided groundwork for the more technically challenging and biologically complex RA mouse model experiment (Chapter 5). Naïve OVA³²³⁻²²⁹-specific CD4⁺ T cells isolated from OT-II transgenic mice were transferred into C57BL/6 recipients and received the first 25 mg/kg dose of vehicle or tofacitinib citrate. The aim of this was to saturate the system with drug prior to *in vivo* priming of the transferred CD4⁺ T cells. The following day recipient mice were challenged in the footpad with either a mixture of LPS and OVA³²³⁻²²⁹ peptide or LPS alone. Several hours after the injection, the challenged feet appeared red and swollen, confirming successful induction of local inflammation. Utilizing OVA³²³⁻³³⁹ instead of the whole protein allowed to circumvent the potential impact tofacitinib treatment might have on the antigen uptake and processing.

While most animal studies employing tofacitinib used osmotic mini pumps, the surgical procedure required for their subcutaneous implantation was regarded to be unnecessarily invasive for conducting this preliminary short-term experiment, and thus oral gavage was chosen as a more optimal method for drug delivery. The vehicle or tofacitinib citrate (at 25 mg/kg/dose) was administered by oral gavage twice daily, with such regimen previously reported to achieve therapeutic efficacy in the CIA mouse model.³⁴⁴ On day 3 post-challenge, mice received a final single dose of either drug or vehicle followed by sacrifice 40 minutes later.

To confirm the inhibitory effect of tofacitinib regimen on the JAK/STAT pathway signalling, whole blood was collected from mice by cardiac puncture and stained for surface markers, followed by intracellular staining for pSTAT3. Flow cytometric analysis established the percentages of CD4⁺ and CD4⁻ circulating cells expressing pSTAT3 at their basal state in the vehicle-only treated mice,

which were 2.5% and 23.4%, respectively (Figure 4-4A). In the OVA³²³⁻³³⁹challenged animals receiving vehicle, the fraction of pSTAT3-positive cells in both cell populations has notably increased to 8.58% for CD4⁺ cells and 65 % for their counterparts, correlating with the ongoing antigen-specific inflammatory response. Interestingly, mice receiving a peptide challenge together with tofacitinib treatment exhibited a profound reduction in the percentage of pSTAT3-expressing cells in both populations to the levels below those in the vehicle-only group. Similarly, when depicting changes in pSTAT3 levels individually in CD4⁺ and CD4⁻ populations as histograms, peptide treatment in the presence of vehicle revealed notable STAT3 phosphorylation in both cell populations, while tofacitinib treatment retained the pSTAT3 levels at or below the baseline (Figure 4-4B). While I was particularly interested in the effect of the drug on OT-II CD4⁺ T cell capacity for STAT3 phosphorylation, I could not assess this population individually due to the majority of adoptively transferred CD4⁺ T cells presumably accumulating in the draining lymph node at this timepoint and thus being represented by a small fraction in the whole blood.

Thereby, I have confirmed that the tofacitinib dose and delivery route chosen for the adoptive transfer experiment effectively inhibited JAK activity leading to STAT3 phosphorylation in the circulating leukocytes within 1 h of drug administration. Together with the data from pharmacokinetic tofacitinib profiling and my *in vitro* studies, these results suggested that the chosen therapeutic regimen would ultimately promote changes in CD4⁺ T cell responsiveness to cytokine signalling and the associated capacity for effective priming.

Next, I sought to determine whether the effective JAK/STAT pathway inhibition by tofacitinib translated into an impact on the antigen-specific CD4⁺ T cell ability to undergo activation and clonal expansion. The adoptive OT-II CD4⁺ T cell transfer and the footpad challenge were performed as described earlier in this section, and tofacitinib citrate (25 mg/kg) was administered once on the day of the adoptive transfer and then twice daily for the following 3 days (Figure 4-5A). On the last day of experiment, mice received a single drug dose and were sacrificed 40 minutes later. This was an optimal experiment termination time point as the peak T cell accumulation in the draining lymph nodes is known to occur 3(-4) days after the antigenic challenge. Popliteal lymph nodes, draining the foot, were harvested, mashed into a single cell suspension and the CD4⁺ lymphocytes were first assessed for their proliferation and activation status by flow cytometry. Distinguishable populations of transferred OT-II (CD45.1⁺) and endogenous (CD45.1⁻) CD4⁺ T cells were observed in all three treatment groups, with OT-II cells undergoing notable clonal expansion in response to cognate peptide challenge, which was unaffected by the drug treatment (Figure 4-5B). As expected, transferred OT-II CD4⁺ T cells also displayed an activated phenotype, with nearly 100% of cells being CD44^{hi} in both OVA³²³⁻³³⁹-challenged animal groups (Figure 4-5C). These observations confirmed that tofacitinib treatment does not affect CD4⁺ T cell proliferation or activation during priming *in vivo*, reiterating the results obtained *in vitro*.

Gated on lymphocytes

Α

В



Gated on lymphocytes



Figure 4-4. Tofacitinib citrate treatment diminishes basal levels of phosphorylated STAT3 in the whole blood cells of adoptive transfer mouse model.

1x10⁶ of OVA ³²³⁻³³⁹-specific CD4⁺ T cells from transgenic OT-II mice were adoptively transferred into C57BL/6 recipients, which have simultaneously received a single dose of either a vehicle or tofacitinib citrate (25 mg/kg) by oral gavage. After 24 h mice were challenged with 8 ug of LPS and 25 ug of OVA³²³⁻³³⁹ peptide or LPS alone, injected into the footpad. On the day of the challenge and for the next two days mice were administered with either vehicle or tofacitinib citrate (25 mg/kg) twice daily by oral gavage. Three days after the footpad challenge, mice received a single dose of either vehicle or tofacitinib citrate (25 mg/kg) and were sacrificed 40 minutes later. Whole blood was obtained by cardiac puncture and incubated with a surface antibody cocktail for 15 min at 37°C 5% CO2. Cells were then immediately fixed, permeabilized and stained intracellularly for phosphorylated STAT3. Lymphocytes were gated based on FSC and SSC and analysed for their expression of CD4 and pSTAT3. (A) Flow cytometric analysis of whole blood cells, with scatter plots representing pSTAT3 levels in the whole blood from mice from each treatment group. The numbers indicate percentage on cells in each guadrant, with percentage of CD4⁺ and CD4⁻ cells expressing pSTAT3 shown in the top right and bottom right guadrants, respectively. (B) Histograms show levels of pSTAT3 from scatter plots in (A) individually for CD4⁺ and CD4⁻ cells. Results represent a single experiment with 3 mice in 'Vehicle only' group and 4 mice in the other two groups. Dashed lines represent the approximate threshold for STAT phosphorylation from the baseline.



Figure 4-5. Tofacitinib citrate treatment does not affect proliferation or activation of adoptively transferred OT-II CD4⁺ T cells *in vivo*.

FSC-A

C57BL/6 mice received 1x10⁶ OT-II CD4 ⁺ T cells and 24 h later were challenged with LPS or LPS with OVA³²³⁻³³⁹ peptide in the footpad. Mice received treatment by gavage of either vehicle or tofacitinib citrate (25 mg/kg) once on the day of cell transfer and then twice daily on the consecutive 2 days. On day 3 post-challenge, mice received a single treatment dose and were sacrificed 40 min later (A). Popliteal lymph nodes were removed and mashed into a single cell suspension, with half of the cells from each lymph node stained by FACS for CD4, CD44, and CD45.1 surface markers. Lymphocytes were gated on live cells and analysed for proportions (designated as percentages) of CD4⁺CD45.1⁺ OT-II and CD4⁺CD45.1⁻ endogenous cells in each treatment group by flow cytometry (B). Adoptively transferred CD4⁺CD45.1⁺ cells were then assessed for CD44 expression (B). Results represent a single experiment with 3 mice in 'Vehicle only' group and 4 mice in the other two groups.

4.2.5 Tofacitinib treatment supresses Th1 differentiation in adoptively transferred OT-II CD4⁺T cells *in vivo*

Upon demonstrating the absence of tofacitinib impact on OT-II CD4⁺ T cell ability for clonal expansion and activation, I have next sought to assess whether the adoptively transferred cells could similarly undergo effective priming and differentiation. Flow cytometric intracellular staining of popliteal lymph nodes for T-bet showed between 50% and 80% of the OT-II cells to exhibit transcription factor expression when primed with their cognate peptide in the presence of vehicle, indicating polarization towards Th1 phenotype (Figure 4-6A,B). In the peptide-treated animals receiving tofacitinib treatment, however, there was a significantly lower percentage of T-bet-positive OT-II cells. (Figure 4-6A,B). The mean numbers of T-bet expressing OT-II CD4⁺ T cells followed the same trend as the mean cell percentages but were not statistically significant (Figure 4-6C).

To assess if the effect of tofacitinib on the differentiation of OT-II CD4⁺ T cells has compromised their function, cells from popliteal lymph nodes were restimulated ex vivo and stained for appropriate surface markers, followed by the intracellular IFNy and IL-2 cytokine staining for the assessment by flow cytometry. As expected, upon antigenic challenge a significantly higher percentage of primed OT-II CD4⁺ T cells exhibited IFNy production, compared to the OT-II cells in the LPS-only challenge group (Figure 4-7A,B). This correlated with the observation of the notable proportion of transferred CD4⁺ T cells differentiating into Th1 subset following cognate peptide challenge. However, despite the tofacitinib administration notably supressing T-bet expression, the associated reduction in IFNy-producing OT-II cells was not significant (in either percentage or cell number) (Figure 4-7A,B). OT-II cells also markedly upregulated IL-2 production in the OVA peptide-challenged mice treated with vehicle, while the cells from drug-treated mice exhibited further enhancement in IL-2 production (Figure 4-7D,E). This is consistent with the tofacitinib blocking IL-2 signalling and thereby interfering with the STAT5-dependent IL-2 autocrine and/or paracrine negative feedback loop which limits IL-2 production.499 Nevertheless, the enhanced capacity for IL-2 production by OT-II cells primed in

the presence of the drug was not statistically significant (in either percentage or cell number)(Figure 4-7D,E).

Thereby, tofacitinib administration during priming of adoptively transferred OT-II CD4⁺ T cells *in vivo* markedly suppressed their T-bet expression and subsequent differentiation towards Th1 subset. However, the capacity of these CD4⁺ T cells to produce Th1-specific pro-inflammatory cytokine IFNy was not significantly altered. Similarly, the extent of an increase in IL-2 production in the presence of the drug did not reach statistical significance.

Gated on lymphocytes, live and CD4⁺ CD45.1⁺ cells

Α



Figure 4-6. Tofacitinib citrate treatment supresses T-bet expression in adoptively transferred OT-II CD4⁺ T cells *in vivo.*

C57BL/6 mice received 1x10⁶ OT-II CD4 ⁺ T cells and 24 h later were challenged with LPS or LPS with OVA³²³⁻³³⁹ peptide in the footpad. Mice received treatment by gavage of either vehicle or tofacitinib citrate (25 mg/kg) once on the day of cell transfer and then twice daily on the consecutive 2 days. On day 3 after challenge, mice received a single treatment dose, were sacrificed 40 min later and their popliteal lymph nodes were removed and mashed into a single cell suspension. Half of the cells from each lymph node were stained by FACS for CD4, CD44 and CD45.1 surface markers, followed by intracellular staining for transcription factor T-bet. Lymphocytes were gated on live cells and CD4⁺CD45.1⁺ cells were identified as the adoptively transferred OT-II lymphocytes. Histograms are representative of the percentage of T-bet positive cells in the OT-II cell population of each treatment group (A). Graphs depict mean \pm SD of percentage (B) and number (C) of T-bet-positive CD4⁺CD45.1⁺ cells. Results represent a single experiment with 3 mice in 'Vehicle only' group and 4 mice in other the two groups. Statistical differences between groups were assessed by One-way ANOVA and Turkey's multiple comparison test in GraphPad prism. ***designates a *p*-value of ≤ 0.001 ; ns = not significant.

OVA 323-339 peptide +Vehicle +Vehicle +Tofacitinib citrate 10³ 1.82 % 10.6 % 3.2 % CD4 IFNv С В Number of IFNy⁺cells that are CD45.1⁺ % IFNy⁺ cells that are CD45.1⁺ 10 +qAVO +qAVO +qAVO Vehicle +qAVO Vehicle Vehicle Tofacitinib Vehicle Tofacitinib D Gated on lymphocytes, live and CD4⁺ CD45.1⁺ cells OVA 323-339 peptide +Vehicle +Vehicle +Tofacitinib citrate 103 57.6 % 33.8 % 7.27 % CD4 IL-2 Ε F Number of IL-2⁺ cells that are CD45.1⁺ 2⁺ cells CD45.1 % IL-2⁺ c hat are CD hat OVAp+ Vehicle OVAp+ OVAp+ +qAVO Vehicle Vehicle Tofacitinib Vehicle Tofacitinib

Gated on lymphocytes, live and CD4⁺ CD45.1⁺ cells

Α

Figure 4-7. Tofacitinib citrate administration *in vivo* does not affect the capacity of adoptively transferred CD4⁺ T cells to produce IFNy or IL-2.

C57BL/6 mice received 1x10⁶ OT-II CD4⁺ T cells and 24 h later were challenged with LPS or LPS with OVA³²³⁻³³⁹ peptide in the footpad. Mice received treatment by gavage of either vehicle or tofacitinib citrate (25 mg/kg) as described before with the last dose administered 40 minutes before sacrifice. Popliteal lymph nodes were removed, mashed into single cell suspension and half of the cells from each lymph node were stimulated with PMA and lonomycin with addition of Brefeldin A for 4 h at 37°C 5% CO₂. Cells were then stained by FACS for CD4 and CD45.1 surface markers, followed by intracellular staining for IFNy and IL-2, and analysed by flow cytometry. Lymphocytes were gated on live cells and CD45.1⁺ cells identified as adoptively transferred (OT-II) cells. Scatter plots represent levels of IFNy (A) and IL-2 (D) expression in CD4⁺CD45.1⁺ T cells. Graphs depict the mean (\pm SD) percentage of IFNy (B) and IL-2 (E) positive CD4⁺CD45.1⁺ T cells, and the mean (\pm SD) numbers of cells expressing respective cytokines (C and F). Results represent a single experiment with 3 mice in 'Vehicle only' group and 4 mice in the other two groups. Statistical differences between groups were assessed by One-way ANOVA and Turkey's multiple comparison test in GraphPad prism *designates a *p*-value of ≤ 0.05 ; ns = not significant.

4.2.6 Tofacitinib citrate treatment diminishes *in vivo* T-bet expression by endogenous CD4⁺ T cells but does not alter their capacity for IFNy and IL-2 production.

Apart from assessing the drug impact on the transferred antigen-specific CD4⁺ T cells, it was equally important to examine the consequences of tofacitinib treatment on the endogenous CD4⁺ T cell function. Endogenous CD4⁺ T cell population was easily distinguishable and comprised a comparable percentage of total popliteal lymph node cells in each of the treatment groups (Figure 4-5A). In contrast to OT-II cells, the endogenous population comprised only a small proportion of CD4⁺ T cells expressing activation marker CD44^{hi} (Figure 4-8A,B), and this fraction of activated CD4⁺ T cells likely consisted of mainly recirculating memory cells of the irrelevant specificities and a small number of OVA³²³⁻³³⁹-specific T lymphocytes. However, no significant differences in the percentage of CD44^{hi} cells were observed between treatment groups (Figure 4-8B) due to a relatively low frequency of OVA³²³⁻³³⁹-specific endogenous CD4⁺ T cells and the associated difficulty in detecting their priming activation in response to cognate peptide.

The endogenous CD4⁺ T cells, similarly to OT-II cells, upregulated their T-bet expression following antigenic challenge in the vehicle-treated mice, while in the animals receiving tofacitinib T-bet expression was notably lower, in both percentage and cell number, and remained at the level comparable to that in the control mouse (vehicle-only) group (Figure 4-8C,D). Mirroring the changes in T-bet expression and in line with functional changes observed in transferred CD4⁺ T cells, the percentage and number of their IFNy-producing endogenous counterparts slightly but significantly increased in the presence of OVAp in vehicle-treated mice, while in tofacitinib-treated group IFNy production was reduced, although not significantly (Figure 4-8E,F). Interestingly, endogenous CD4⁺ T cells notably upregulated IL-2 production upon antigenic challenge in vehicle-treated group but no alterations in IL-2 production were achieved by tofacitinib administration (Figure 4-8G,H). Thereby, the endogenous CD4⁺ T cells of unknown specificities in the antigenspecific inflammation model employed were presumably recruited to the draining lymph node as activated effector/memory cells. Tofacitinib treatment notably diminished the endogenous CD4⁺ T cell ability for T-bet expression during antigenic challenge, but the capacity for IFNy production was not significantly compromised. However, since the drug-induced differences in both transferred and endogenous CD4⁺ T cells are not statistically significant, and the activation status of the endogenous cells is not fully explored, no definitive conclusions can be made from the current comparison and further experiments would be required to assess the above possibilities.



Figure 4-8. Tofacitinib citrate treatment diminishes *in vivo* T-bet expression and preserves capacity for IFNy and IL-2 production of endogenous CD4⁺ T cells in the adoptive transfer experiment.

C57BL/6 mice received 1x10⁶ OT-II CD4 + T cells and 24 h later were challenged with LPS or LPS with OVA³²³⁻³³⁹ peptide in the footpad. Mice received treatment by gavage of either vehicle or tofacitinib citrate (25 mg/kg) once on the day of cell transfer and then twice daily on the consecutive 2 days. On day 3 after challenge, mice received a single treatment dose, were sacrificed 40 min later and their popliteal lymph nodes were removed and mashed into a single cell suspension. Half of the cells from each lymph node were stimulated ex vivo with PMA/lonomycin in presence of Brefeldin A for 4 h at 37°C 5% CO₂. All the cells were then stained by FACS for CD4, CD44, and CD45.1 surface markers, with stimulated cells stained further for intracellular cytokines IFNy and IL-2, while unstimulated fraction of lymph node stained for T-bet. Cells were subsequently analysed by flow cytometry. Lymphocytes were gated on live cells and the CD4+CD45.1⁻ cell fraction was identified as an endogenous CD4+ T cell population. Endogenous CD4+ T cells were assessed for CD44 (A,B) and T-bet (C-D) expression, and production of IFNy(E,F) and IL-2 (G,H) in each treatment group. Graphs depict mean ± SD of the percentage of CD44hi expressing CD4+CD45.1 cells (B), percentage (C) and number (D) of T-bet-positive CD4+CD45.1 cells, as well as the percentage (E and G) and number (F and H) of IFNy and IL-2-positive CD4+CD45.1⁻ cells, respectively. Results represent a single experiment with 3 mice in 'Vehicle only' group and 4 mice in the other two groups. Statistical differences between groups were assessed by One-way ANOVA and Turkey's multiple comparison test in GraphPad prism. **designates a p-value of ≤ 0.01 ; ns = not significant.

4.3 Discussion

4.3.1 Tofacitinib citrate successfully inhibits JAK/STAT pathway signalling in whole blood CD4⁺ T cells when administered *in vivo*

Prior to investigating the effect of tofacitinib treatment *in vivo*, it was necessary to confirm that tofacitinib citrate, a drug form employed for the *in vivo* experiments, had the same mode of action as its alternative formulation, tofacitinib base. The addition of tofacitinib citrate to the *in vitro* co-cultures during OVA³²³⁻³³⁹-specific OT-II CD4⁺ T cell priming with peptide-pulsed dendritic cells achieved effective inhibition of cytokine signalling in CD4⁺ T cells and reduced activation of downstream signal-transducing STAT proteins (STAT3 and STAT5). The reduced responsiveness to cytokine stimulation had resulted in impaired CD4⁺ T cell differentiation into functional Th1 cells and manifested in diminished IFNy and enhanced IL-2 production. Since tofacitinib citrate demonstrated efficiency *in vitro* and its effect on the antigen-specific CD4⁺ T cell function was closely comparable to that of the alternative base form, the drug was further employed for *in vivo* administration.

Tofacitinib citrate was first tested for its ability to inhibit the JAK/STAT pathway in whole blood leukocytes. Conventionally, STAT protein phosphorylation is measured at both basal state of the cells and following their stimulation with cytokines, and the difference in phosphorylation levels between the two states used to indicate the efficacy of the inhibitor. 1 hour following administration of a single tofacitinib citrate dose to C57BL/6 mice, whole blood cells, including CD4⁺ T cells, exhibited notably smaller shifts in pSTAT3 levels upon cytokine stimulation compared to the cells from vehicle-treated mice. Interestingly, the difference in STAT3 phosphorylation levels was apparent even at the baseline level in unstimulated cells. Thus, the drug efficacy based on STAT3 phosphorylation inhibition was subsequently only assessed at the basal state of whole blood leukocytes. Importantly, a 25 mg/kg dose used in this experiment has achieved a detectable inhibition of IL-6 signalling in CD4⁺ T cells, possibly mediated through JAK1/JAK2/pSTAT3, within 1 hour, which was consistent with IL-6 signalling inhibition, although more complete, in CD8⁺ T cells using 50 mg/kg drug dose.³⁴⁴ Since a single oral 25 mg/kg dose achieved sufficient JAK/STAT signalling inhibition *in vivo* and sustained tofacitinib levels in plasma at half-maximal inhibitory concentration (IC₅₀) of JAK1 heterodimer for approximately 12 hours, a twice-daily oral administration of the above dose was established as a therapeutic regimen for the adoptive transfer experiment. Of note, the RA patients also receive twice daily oral tofacitinib dose, and their average plasma concentration of 100 nM was comparable to that achieved in mouse models.³⁴⁴

Tofacitinib base form, similarly to a number of newly emerging drugs, is poorly water-soluble, which does not appear to be the efficacy-limiting factor in the *in* vitro assays but is a major hindrance for achieving acceptable drug bioavailability in vivo. The poorly soluble compound is eliminated from the body before a therapeutically sufficient amount of it is able to dissolve and be absorbed in the gastrointestinal tract (and enter the circulation). While the dose increase could potentially overcome this issue, it would lead to other negative consequences including risk of drug toxicity, reduced patient compliance, and increased treatment costs.⁵²¹ Thus, to ensure high compound solubility, tofacitinib was synthesized in a citrate salt Form A, the only existing crystalline form of the drug, which exhibited acceptable dissolution rates across physiological pH scale. In the intestine, the salt following compound dissolution acts as a buffer for the basic drug, decreasing the pH of the microenvironment and thereby enhancing dissolution and thus an absorption of the active pharmacological compound of the drug itself.⁵²⁰ The oral administration of the tofacitinib citrate salt allowed to achieve an oral bioavailability of 74%, with a peak plasma concentration reached within only 0.5-1 h post-dose. In addition to enhanced solubility and absorption, and subsequent improvement in the clinical efficacy of tofacitinib, crystallization enabled to achieve higher purity of the compound, while salt form also representing a more hydrolytically and thermally stable substance.
4.3.2 Tofacitinib citrate treatment supresses T-bet but not cytokine expression by adoptively transferred OT-II CD4⁺ T cells during priming *in vivo*.

CD4⁺ T cell priming represents a key step in self-tolerance breakdown and initiation of the autoimmune response seen in the initial stages of RA, as well as continuing throughout disease as they respond to the newly released selfepitopes from the damaged joint contributing to disease chronicity. Thus, therapeutic interference with CD4⁺ T cell priming could ultimately prove beneficial at different stages of the disease. In the previous chapter tofacitinib exposure during priming *in vitro* was shown to impair CD4⁺ T cell differentiation into Th1 helper subset, and to subsequently diminish cell capacity for subsetspecific pro-inflammatory cytokine production. I thus aimed to replicate this experiment *in vivo* in the setting of antigen-specific inflammation. The use of transgenic OT-II cells, previously employed *in vitro*, allowed to specifically assess the outcome of the antigen-specific CD4⁺ T cell priming by their cognate antigen *in vivo* in the presence of the drug, as well as separately assess the response of the endogenous CD4⁺ T cell population to the treatment.

I have first confirmed that *in vivo* tofacitinib citrate administration in the context of antigen-specific inflammation achieved a notable reduction in circulating leukocyte pSTAT3 levels at their basal state when compared to the pSTAT3 in the antigen-challenged vehicle-treated mouse group. Thereby, since the drug was effective at inhibiting its target signalling pathway, in particular in CD4⁺ T cells, in this T cell priming experiment, any changes observed in the lymphocyte phenotype and function could be directly attributed to the effect of tofacitinib.

The adoptively transferred OT-II CD4⁺ T cells were retrieved from the popliteal lymph nodes 3 days after recipient mice received antigenic challenged and twice-daily oral tofacitinib treatment. While these OVA peptide-specific cells demonstrated successful clonal expansion and activation regardless of drug exposure, the percentage and number of these cells expressing transcription factor T-bet was markedly lower in the drug-treated animal group. T-bet

expression is crucial for terminal CD4⁺ T cell commitment towards the Th1 subset, and its transcription initially requires IFNy STAT1-dependent signalling during T cell priming. Upon T-bet expression, the transcription factor directly enhances IFNy production through *Ifng* locus remodelling and induces IL-12RB2 expression, thereby further promoting its own expression and establishing an IFNy self-enhancing loop.^{515,522} Tofacitinib likely interferes with OT-II CD4⁺ cell polarization towards a mature Th1 subset by inhibiting signalling through their IFNy receptor. Exposure to drug throughout CD4⁺ cell priming *in vitro* resulted in the closely comparable outcome, with the drug mechanism preventing Th1 differentiation likely being the same both *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

Despite the diminished potential of antigen-specific CD4⁺ cells for Th1 polarization following tofacitinib exposure, their capacity for subset-specific cytokine IFNy production was not significantly impaired. Further investigation is required, possibly by assessing the IFNy production of these cells at the later time point (day 5 after antigenic challenge), to determine if there might be a delay between the tofacitinib impact on T-bet expression and the associated notable negative effect on IFNy production.

In line with changes seen in IFNy production, tofacitinib treatment promoted increased IL-2 production in transferred CD4⁺ cells *in vivo* which was not statistically significant but closely replicated the changes observed in the *in vitro* co-culture setting. In both cases, the drug might interfere with the STAT5-dependent IL-2-mediated negative feedback loop,⁵⁰⁹ leading to the impaired inhibition of IL-2 production together with diminished IL-2R α expression and reduced cytokine consumption. While the diminished responsiveness to IL-2 stimulation did not appear to affect OT-II T cell proliferation, it could have contributed to the impaired cell capacity for Th1 differentiation, which is also partly regulated by IL-2.⁵¹¹ However, it is unclear why the *in vivo* drug administration did not achieve a substantial change in cell ability for IL-2 production.

While the variation in above cytokine data does not allow to determine with certainty if the production of IFNy is diminished and of IL-2 is enhanced in response to tofacitinib *in vivo*, the existing literature suggests this to hold true. A study investigating the impact of tofacitinib on a mouse model of acute graft-

versus-host disease (GvHD) demonstrated that despite the preserved ability for proliferation, the number of donor CD4⁺ T cells producing IFNy had significantly decreased in all lymphoid organs⁵¹⁶. As this effect was observed during the early phase of GvHD induction, and the naïve CD4⁺ T cells are known to be among the initial responders post-transplantation⁵²³, these results could be closely correlated with our findings, despite being obtained in a different inflammatory context. Another study demonstrated diminished IFNy production following tofacitinib treatment in the joints of SKG mice spontaneously developing chronic arthritis, which, along with other parameters, correlated with long-term clinical improvement.³¹² However, CD4⁺ T cells in the inflamed joint would represent a heterogenous population at different activation states, thus the effect could not be directly attributed to the drug impact on CD4⁺ T cell priming alone.

There could be several possibilities explaining the discrepancy between the cytokine data in the adoptive transfer experiment and the in vitro setting. One potential explanation could be a more complex drug biodistribution in vivo, which might be different for specific tissues, as well as its availability for the target cells, which are numerous in both circulation and tissue sites of interest. Moreover, since the oral twice daily tofacitinib administration results in noticeable fluctuations of its average plasma concentrations over time, the drug bioavailability is also not continuously stable and thus a longer time period might be required to achieve sufficient cytokine signalling inhibition in the target cells. Therefore, since the OT-II cell potential for Th1 differentiation was notably reduced and strongly correlated with cytokine production capacity (as seen in *vitro*), continuing the drug treatment and assessing cell function at the later time point (day 5 after antigenic challenge) might produce more consistent and clearer results. The other possibility is insufficient animal numbers in the treatment groups and employing more mice (n=5-6) for each group might help to reduce the variability of obtained values and obtain more clear statistical trends. Finally, there could be a failure to maintain a sufficient average tofacitinib plasma concentration over the course of the experiment, which, given the rapid reversibility of JAK inhibition, might make the target cells more responsive to the cytokine stimulation. The possible solution might include increasing the total daily drug dose or employing the osmotic mini- pump for more consistent drug administration.

Although not explored experimentally in this chapter, tofacitinib could also influence the priming outcome by affecting dendritic cell function. An initial report by Rivas-Caicedo et al. described bone marrow-derived dendritic cells from Jak3^{-/-} mice as having diminished CCR7-mediated homing to lymph nodes in vivo combined with failures in co-stimulatory molecule CD80/86 and MHC-II upregulation, collectively resulting in the reduced capacity of Jak3-deficient BMDCs to efficiently promote T lymphocyte proliferative responses.⁵²⁴ Another study conducted by Kubo and colleagues employed tofacitinib, as a potent JAK3 inhibitor, to similarly assess its impact on human monocyte-derived dendritic cell (moDC) maturation and effector function. While MHC-II expression remained unaffected, *in vitro* exposure to tofacitinib during LPS stimulation significantly supressed CD80/86 expression alongside reduced pro-inflammatory TNF α , IL-1B and IL-6 production. In addition, the drug pre-treated moDCs showed decreased capacity for naïve CD4⁺ T cell stimulation, leading to diminished T lymphocyte proliferation and IFNy production.³⁰⁹ In a more recent *in vivo* study, mouse BMDCs exposed to tofacitinib prior to LPS stimulation, loaded with diseasespecific antigen and adoptively transferred into an EAE mouse model not only exhibited comparable phenotypic and functional alterations but also demonstrated reduced IL-12 and IL-23 production. Importantly, this resulted in impaired differentiation towards Th1/Th17 subsets in favor of the CD25+Foxp3+ Treg population expansion.⁵¹⁴ Collectively, dendritic cell exposure to tofacitinib prior to or during their maturation appears to impair their functional capacity and thereby compromises their ability to provide sufficient 'signal 2'(costimulation) and 'signal 3' (polarizing cytokines) to naïve CD4⁺ T cells, crucial for effective T lymphocyte activation and polarization. Such a tolerogenic dendritic cell phenotype was currently only induced *in vitro*, thus it would be important to investigate if the in vivo administration of the drug would induce a similar functional profile in the endogenous dendritic cells. Since in my adoptive transfer experiment tofacitinib treatment is initiated the day before administration of LPS and hence dendritic cell maturation induction, it could be a suitable context to assess the functional changes in the endogenous dendritic cells, which could in turn substantially contribute to impaired adoptively transferred CD4⁺ T cell differentiation and function.

4.3.3 Tofacitinib citrate administration *in vivo* diminished Tbet expression by endogenous CD4⁺ T cells but did not impact cytokine production following non-specific activation.

Due to the nature of the adoptive transfer system, I was also able to distinguish the endogenous polyclonal CD45.1⁻ CD4⁺ T cell population in the popliteal lymph nodes and assess their capacity for differentiation and cytokine production. Since there was no increase observed in the percentage of CD44⁺ cells following antigenic challenge, but a significant increase in T-bet expression was detected in a small proportion of endogenous CD4⁺ T cells, I proposed that these cells did not undergo antigen-specific priming but rather represented previously activated cells recruited in response to inflammation. Interestingly, the *in vivo* tofacitinib administration significantly supressed T-bet expression in these bystander CD4⁺ T cells, while preserving their capacity for IFNy and IL-2 production. A comparable trend was observed in the adoptively transferred antigen-specific CD4⁺ T cells, and it is unclear whether the non-significant changes in cytokine production capacity in both cell populations are due to an early experiment termination or other possible experimental issues, or represent a true outcome of the drug treatment. An in vitro study investigating tofacitinib effect on bystander CD4⁺ T cells co-cultured differentially labelled PHA-stimulated and non-stimulated PBMCs from healthy donors and observed profound activation and proliferation of the non-stimulated cells activated in the mixed culture in a bystander fashion. Addition of tofacitinib to the co-culture notably impaired bystander T lymphocyte ability for IFNy production while enhancing IL-2 generation.485 Thereby, at least in an *in vitro* setting tofacitinib appears to diminish the proinflammatory function of cytokine-activated bystander T cells.

Bystander activation does not require TCR engagement, thus the cells can be activated by cytokine stimulation (and possibly co-stimulation) when recruited to the cytokine-rich inflammatory site alongside antigen-specific auto-reactive T cells. Effector and memory T cells, in particular, were found to have a lowered threshold for such bystander activation. When activated, these cells can induce TNFa secretion by monocytes, either indirectly or through cell-cell contact,

thereby sustaining and perpetuating the cycle of chronic inflammation.⁴⁸² Thus, the ability to block cytokine signalling might enable tofacitinib to also inhibit bystander T cell activation and thereby possibly limit the disease progression through yet another immunomodulatory mechanism. Our experimental model could be utilized to further elucidate the bystander T cell fate following tofacitinib exposure *in vivo*, with a more detailed assessment to confirm bystander T cell phenotype and possibly their function in the co-culture with monocytes.

Overall, in this chapter, by using the adoptive transfer of OVA³²³⁻³³⁹-specific OT-II CD4⁺ T cells to elicit antigen-specific inflammation *in vivo*, I have demonstrated that tofacitinib treatment throughout the priming of CD4⁺ T cells impairs their ability for differentiation into Th1 cells and reduces subset-specific IFNy production, with the latter not reaching statistical significance. The antigenexperienced endogenous CD4⁺ T cells similarly exhibited supressed T-bet expression but retained their ability for IFNy production. Upon demonstrating the immunomodulatory capacity of tofacitinib in an *in vivo* setting, the next step was to assess whether this drug impact on CD4⁺ T cells is achievable in a disease mouse model and whether tofacitinib exhibits any therapeutic efficacy in this setting. 5 Assessment of tofacitinib treatment effect on CD4⁺ T cell behaviour and joint pathology in the 'breach-of-tolerance' mouse model of early RA

All animal experiments were done with help from Robert Benson. Samples for the histological assessment were prepared by Lynn Stevenson. Joint tissue sections were scored for the signs of pathology by Robert Benson.

5.1 Introduction

My results have thus far demonstrated that the presence of tofacitinib during naïve CD4⁺ T cell priming resulted in the diminished cell ability for differentiation towards Th1 phenotype and the associated abrogation of IFNy production capacity, both in the *in vitro* setting and in the adoptive transfer model (*in vivo*). In contrast, the antigen-experienced cells appeared to retain their functional capacity when exposed to tofacitinib during their re-activation *in vitro*. I have therefore decided to proceed by assessing the effect of tofacitinib treatment in a murine model of RA to gain further understanding of immunomodulatory drug mechanisms.

Multiple Phase III clinical trials ranging from 6 months (ORAL trials)⁵²⁵ up to 9.5 years (ORAL Sequel long-term extension study)⁵²⁶ have previously evaluated tofacitinib for clinical efficacy, impact on structural disease progression and adverse effect profile. Across the trials, tofacitinib demonstrated therapeutic efficacy in both early and late active-phase disease and in both treatment-naïve and non-responder patients. Significant drug efficacy was observed equally with tofacitinib used as a monotherapy or in combination with methotrexate and other conventional synthetic DMARDS (csDMARDs), and, importantly, tofacitinib was effective in patients with active RA failing to respond to several biologic DMARDS with distinct modes of action. Clinically relevant end-points, including ACR20, ACR50 and ACR70, DAS28 score, physical function improvement (HAQ-DI) and pain were notably improved, with some of the improvements distinguishable as early as 2 weeks following treatment induction⁵²⁵. The structural joint damage also showed minimal progression in the majority of patients.⁵²⁷ However, while these and other clinical parameters manifest rapid and persistent tofacitinib efficacy in the clinic, there is a lack of understanding of biological (immunological) mechanisms underlying the observed physiological responses to the drug.

Multiple rodent models of arthritis were thus employed for in-depth investigation of tofacitinib treatment impact on systemic inflammation, immune cell behaviour and associated joint pathology. The disease models of both induced (collagen-induced arthritis, CIA; adjuvant-induced arthritis, AIA) and spontaneous (SKG mice) chronic arthritis were used, which closely recapitulate clinical and histological features of the advanced human disease phase. Clinical scores indicating the disease severity were markedly reduced in arthritic mice receiving tofacitinib after initial 2-3 days of the treatment^{305,311}, remained supressed throughout the duration of the study^{305,311,312} and, in the SKG mouse model, this effect persisted for another 3 weeks following drug withdrawal³¹². Such rapid disease amelioration could be associated with the drug-induced decrease of inflammatory mediator concentration in both plasma and paw tissue, with a significant reduction in IL-6, IL-17, CCL2 (MCP-1) and CXCL10 (IP-10) observed as early as 4 hours post-dose.^{305,310} Histopathological analysis revealed tofacitinib administration to abolish synovial hypertrophy and notably limit inflammatory cell influx in both surrounding synovial tissue and joint cavity^{305,311,312}. In line with that, in the SCID-HuRAg mice bearing human synovium and cartilage implant synovial invasion into cartilage was supressed in the tofacitinib-treated animals.³⁰⁶ Cartilage and bone erosions were also markedly limited by the drug, with the bone-degrading osteoclasts largely absent from the bone cavity of the tofacitinib-treated AIA rats.^{310,311} Finally, SKG mice exhibited reduced IFNy, IL-17 and increased IL-10 levels in the joint tissue following drug exposure, suggesting a possible correlation between pathology improvement and suppression of Th1 and Th17 cell pro-inflammatory function.³¹² Interestingly, LaBranche *et al.* also demonstrated decrease T cell production of RANKL, which promotes osteoclast differentiation and activation³¹⁰, thus highlighting an additional possible contribution of T cells to promoting disease pathogenesis, and further demonstrating the importance of their in-depth

The above animal studies confirm the tofacitinib treatment to promote the rapid and effective amelioration of the disease at its active state. This comes in line with the strategy of clinical RA management currently recommending the use of JAK inhibitors predominantly as the third-line treatment ,following the inadequate response or intolerance to one (or several) biologic DMARDs, thus introducing JAK inhibitors fairly late in the disease course.¹⁴¹ Considering the ongoing trend for therapeutic intervention at the onset of RA, allowing to prevent the joint damage and even achieve remission, it would be of interest to

functional assessment in the context of experimental arthritis.

determine if JAK inhibitors demonstrate similar efficacy early as the first-line therapeutic modality.

I have therefore employed a mouse model of acute transient RA developed in our laboratory, which displays a number of features characteristic of prearticular/pre-clinical phase of RA. The model exhibits self-tolerance breakdown to joint-specific antigens, induced by the adoptive transfer of transgenic Th1polarized CD4⁺ T cells of joint-irrelevant antigen specificity.⁴⁵⁵ Unlike the CIA model, where the breach of self-tolerance is achieved by external administration of the self-antigen in a very strong adjuvant, in our model this event occurs in endogenous T cells following the establishment of acute localised inflammation driven by a transferred Th1 cell population of joint-irrelevant specificity. Apart from developing measurable autoantibody response, the model, although being transient/self-limiting, also exhibits prominent histological changes (inflammatory cell influx, synovial hyperplasia, hypervascularization, cartilage and bone degradation) characteristic of human early stage/preclinical disease. In addition, the current model allows monitoring fates/functions of both inciting transgenic CD4⁺ T cells and their endogenous counterparts in the context of antigen-specific priming and/or re-activation in the environment of the developing pathology.

The previous studies of the acute RA mouse model revealed that the inflammatory response to the non-specific inflammatory mediator (LPS) in the joint also resulted in the recruitment of (OT-II) T cells of joint-irrelevant specificity and the (associated) development of some aspects of joint pathology. However, while the comparable (histo)pathological features were observed in the HAO-challenged mice, the antigen-specific activation of these T cells of irrelevant specificity appeared to be a prerequisite for the breach of self-tolerance and autoantibody response generation.⁵²⁸ A more recent study have also dissected the dynamics of CD4⁺ T cell recruitment to the joint, demonstrating that the recruitment of inciting antigen-specific (OT-II) T cells occurred alongside the accumulation of oligoclonal CD4⁺ T cell population exhibiting a pro-inflammatory phenotype, with a large proportion of these cells interacting with CD11c⁺ DCs in the manner indicative of cognate antigen recognition and thus likely representing an autoreactive cell population.

Importantly, the adoptively transferred Th1 CD4⁺ T cells of irrelevant specificity (E α_{52-68} peptide-specific) were also found to be able to infiltrate the arthritic joint even in the absence of their cognate antigen.⁴⁶⁸ The acute RA model also allowed to establish a novel mode of action of abatacept, occurring through supression of follicular T cell phenotype acquisition in antigen-specific T cells and abrogation of their subsequent migration to the B cell follicles. Abatacept also inhibited antigen-specific (OT-II) T cell activation and proliferation, and its cumulative effects resulted in the prevention of self-tolerance breakdown, diminished autoantibody responses, and improvement in joint pathology⁵²⁹.

Thus, in this chapter I employed the 'breach-of-tolerance' mouse model of preclinical RA to address the following:

- To assess the capacity of adoptively transferred Th1 cells for T-bet expression and IFNy production upon their re-activation *in vivo* in the presence of tofacitinib
- To determine endogenous CD4⁺ T cell capacity for T-bet expression and IFNy production after the exposure to tofacitinib *in vivo*
- To investigate whether tofacitinib treatment can interfere with the breakdown of self-tolerance by supressing autoantibody response
- To address the ability of tofacitinib to ameliorate the inflammation and joint pathology when administered at the early stages of RA development

5.2.1 Tofacitinib has no impact on T-bet expression or IFNy production by adoptively transferred OT-II CD4⁺ Th1 cells in early RA mouse model

To generate the experimental RA mouse model, I have adopted the original protocol developed in our laboratory by Maffia et al.⁴⁵⁵ (Figure 5-1) First, CD4⁺ T cells were isolated from lymph nodes and spleens of transgenic OT-II mice, and their polarization towards Th1 subset was achieved by co-culturing them with splenocytes pulsed with OVA³²³⁻³³⁹ peptide in the presence of Th1 polarizing factor/cytokine IL-12 and anti-IL-4 antibody to limit skewing towards Th2 phenotype. After 3 days in polarizing culture, the percentage of OT-II CD4⁺ T cells expressing V α 2VB5 TCR was determined by flow cytometry and a total of 2x10⁶ OT-II cells were adoptively transferred (via the tail vein) into all C57BL/6 recipient mice. It has been previously confirmed the OVA³²³⁻³³⁹-specific Th1 cells polarized in this manner to produce high levels of signature cytokine IFNy along with negligible levels of IL-5.⁴⁵⁵ One day following the adoptive transfer, all recipient mice were immunized subcutaneously (scruff) with the whole OVA protein emulsified in complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA) to promote OT-II CD4⁺ T cell activation and clonal expansion in the peripheral draining lymph nodes. Following 10 days after immunization, mice received heat-aggregated OVA (HAO) challenge into the hind limb footpads, proximal to the ankle joints, and the control animals were challenged with PBS instead. HAO injection was aimed to direct the migration of OT-II CD4⁺ T cells into the ankle (tarsal) joints and associated popliteal lymph nodes where they can exert an inflammatory response to their cognate antigen and promote the favourable conditions for the breakdown of self-tolerance to occur. Tofacitinib treatment was initiated 1 day before HAO challenge in order to saturate the system with the drug prior to the pathology induction and was thereafter administered twice daily by oral gavage at 25 mg/kg/dose, replicating the treatment regimen employed in the *in vivo* model (Chapter 4). PBS-treated and arthritic (HAO-challenged) control mouse group were treated with 0.5% DMSO in vehicle solution. On day 7 post-HAO challenge, mice received the last dose of either drug or DMSO and were

sacrificed within 1 hour. Day 7 post-HAO challenge appeared optimal for experiment termination, as the arthritic animals at this stage have a low but detectable number of adoptively transferred CD4⁺ T cells in the (peripheral) draining lymph nodes, exhibit notable anti-OVA antibody response and begin to develop auto-antibody response against collagen II, an abundant articular antigen⁴⁵⁵. In addition, signs of joint pathology are evident at day 7 post-HAO injection.^{455,530}

The first aim was to assess the capacity of Th1-polazired OVA³²³⁻³³⁹-specific CD4⁺ T cells for T-bet expression and pro-inflammatory cytokine production upon their re-activation in vivo. Prior to addressing the impact of tofacitinib on the (pathology-inciting) CD4⁺ T cell function, it was crucial to confirm the drug capacity for its target pathway inhibition in our disease model setting. I have demonstrated earlier (Chapter 4) that following 3 days of treatment there was a reduction in basal STAT3 phosphorylation levels in the circulating leukocytes in vivo. Thus, for this experiment, the whole blood samples were collected from all recipient mice three days after HAO challenge, pulled together for each treatment group and stained by Phospho-Flow cytometry for the levels of pSTAT3 protein. As expected, mice receiving HAO injection together with a vehicle had a significant increase in the proportion of pSTAT3-positive circulating CD4⁻ cells (30.4%) compared to those in the PBS-injected mice (2.99%)(Figure 5-2A). However, tofacitinib exposure resulted in the pSTAT3 levels in the CD4⁻ cell population to be retained close to the baseline (3.10%). These changes were reflected in the histogram depicting pSTAT3 fluorescence intensity in the CD4⁻ cell compartment (Figure 5-2B). In the CD4⁺ cell compartment, the proportion of pSTAT3-positive cells in the arthritic vehicletreated animal group (1.46%) appears to be lower than that in the non-arthritic animals (2.06%), while the tofacitinib exposure appeared to increase the percentage of pSTAT3-expressing CD4⁺ cells (2.62%) compared to the other two animal groups. However, the evaluation of mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) for pSTAT3 in the whole CD4⁺ T cell population (i.e. both upper left and right guadrants of the plots in Figure 5-2A) demonstrated the pronounced increase in pSTAT3 MFI in arthritic vehicle-treated group (408) from its background levels in non-arthritic (control) group (253), while the tofacitinib treatment retained the pSTAT3 levels below the baseline (239)(Figure 5-2, table). In line with that, a

clear positive peak was evident in a pSTAT3 histogram for the CD4⁺ cell population from arthritic vehicle-treated mice, which was absent in the drugtreated group (Figure 5-2B). Thus, I have confirmed the capacity of tofacitinib to inhibit the phosphorylation of STAT3 protein in both CD4⁺ and CD4⁻ circulating cell populations and to ,thereby, efficiently interfere with signaling through its target pathway in the RA mouse model/in vivo.



Figure 5-1. Experimental protocol of ovalbumin (OVA)-mediated early RA mouse model induction and tofacitinib administration.

CD4⁺ T cells were isolated from lymph nodes and spleens of OT-II mice using MACS magnetic isolation kit. The Th1 polarization was induced by co-culturing CD4⁺ T cells with splenocytes in the presence of OVA³²³⁻³³⁹ peptide(1 ug/ml), IL-12 (10 ng/ml) and anti-IL-4 antibody (2 ug/ml) in 75 cm² culture flasks at 37°C 5% CO₂ for 72 h. The proportion of CD4⁺ Vα2⁺Vβ5⁺ OT-II cells was determined by flow cytometry and a total of 2x10⁶ Th1 OT-II cells were injected intravenously (tail vein) into all C56BL/6 recipient mice. One day following the adoptive transfer, all recipients were immunized subcutaneously (scruff) with 100 ug of OVA protein in complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA), and 10 days later were challenged with subcutaneous injection with 100 ug of heataggregated OVA (HAO) into both hind limbs, close to the ankle joints. Control animals received a PBS injection instead. Starting one day before the HAO challenge, HAO-treated mouse group received tofacitinib citrate treatment twice daily (25/mg/kg/dose) by oral gavage. Another HAOtreated group and (PBS-treated) control groups received 0.5% DMSO in vehicle solution twice daily by gayage. On day 3 post-HAO challenge, blood samples were collected by the tail vein bleed for assessment of pSTAT levels by Phospho-Flow cytometry. On day 7 after the HAO challenge, mice received the last dose of either drug or DMSO and were sacrificed within 1 h. After the sacrifice. popliteal lymph nodes were collected for CD4⁺ T cell analysis by FACS, hind limbs were used for histological assessment and the whole blood was processed for antibody detection in the serum.

Gated on lymphocytes



Figure 5-2. Tofacitinib treatment reduces basal levels of STAT3 phosphorylation in both CD4⁺ and CD4⁻ circulating leukocytes of early RA mouse model.

Experimental arthritis was induced as described (Fig.5-1). Starting one day before secondary challenge with HAO, mice received tofacitinib citrate treatment twice daily (25 mg/kg/) by oral gavage. Another HAO-challenged group and control (PBS) group received vehicle solution (containing 0.5% DMSO) twice daily by oral gavage. 3 days following HAO challenge, all mice were bled from the tail vein and the blood samples collected were pulled for each treatment group. The samples were incubated with a surface antibody cocktail for 15 min at 37°C 5% CO₂. Cells were then immediately fixed, permeabilized and stained intracellularly for phosphorylated STAT3. Lymphocytes were gated based on FSC and SSC and analysed for their expression of CD4 and pSTAT3. (A) Flow cytometric analysis of whole blood cells, with scatter plots representing pSTAT3 levels in the whole blood from mice from each treatment group. The numbers indicate percentage on cells in each quadrant, with the percentage of CD4+ and CD4- cells expressing pSTAT3 shown in the top right and bottom right quadrants, respectively. (B) Histograms show levels of pSTAT3 from scatter plots in (A) individually for CD4⁺ and CD4⁻ cells. The table shows the mean fluorescent intensity (MFI) for pSTAT3 in a total CD4⁺ cell population from each treatment group. Results represent a single experiment with 5 mice in each treatment group. Dashed lines represent the approximate threshold for STAT phosphorylation from the baseline. 'Non-arthritic' designates a control group receiving PBS injection as a secondary challenge. Mice from 'arthritic+ vehicle' and 'arthritic+ tofacitinib citrate' groups were challenged with HAO and developed signs of early arthritis.

Upon confirming the effective JAK/STAT pathway inhibition in circulating leukocytes in the disease model, I next sought to determine the effect of the drug on the ability of Th1-polazired OVA³²³⁻³³⁹-specific CD4⁺ T cells for T-bet expression and pro-inflammatory cytokine production. All cell-recipient mice were immunized with OVA/CFA 24 h following adoptive transfer, and 10 days later received peri-articular challenge with HAO in both hind limb ankle joints, as described previously (Section 5.2.1 and Figure 5-1). Mice were treated with a single tofacitinib dose (25 mg/kg) a day before HAO challenge and then twice daily for 7 days, with the final dose administered 1 h before sacrifice. While at this stage of the experimental pathology detectable population of transferred OT-II CD4⁺ T cells are found to be recruited to the ankle joints, a substantial population of those cells could still be identified in the popliteal lymph node draining the joint⁴⁶⁸. Popliteal lymph nodes, draining the foot, were harvested, processed into a single cell suspension and half of the cells from each lymph node stained either for T-bet expression analysis or for the assessment of intracellular cytokine production by flow cytometry. Distinguishable populations of transferred OT-II (CD45.1⁺) and endogenous (CD45.1⁻) CD4⁺ T cells were observed in all three treatment groups (Figure 5-3A). The potential clonal expansion of OT-II CD4⁺ T cells (in response to HAO challenge) was assessed by establishing the percentage of CD4⁺CD44^{hi} lymphocytes which were CD45.1⁺ (Figure 5-3B). No significant differences were observed in the percentage of adoptively transferred CD45.1⁺ T cells between non-arthritic and arthritic (HAOchallenged) mice of either vehicle- or drug-treated groups (Figure 5-3B). However, considering the late time-point of the experiment (day 7 post-HAO challenge), it is likely that the activated and expanded OT-II CD4⁺ T cells would have already migrated into the joint, thus it might not be feasible to detect clonal expansion within the draining lymph nodes.

Since I have previously demonstrated tofacitinib to diminish T-bet expression in the activated CD4⁺ T cell following secondary antigenic challenge *in vitro* (Chapter 3), I sought to determine if the drug could have a comparable effect on antigen-experienced OT-II Th1 cells in the disease setting (*in vivo*). Surprisingly, T-bet expression in Th1-polazired OT-II cell population was very low among all treatment groups and did not appear to be upregulated in response to HAO immunization (Figure 5-3C,D). This was an unexpected result, as I earlier demonstrated T-bet to be upregulated in 50-80% of previously activated OT-II cells in vitro, and the CD4⁺CD45.1⁺ T cells primed in vivo showed T-bet upregulation in at least 60% of the cell population. One possible explanation could be the failure of the OT-II cells to respond to the HAO stimulus. Alternatively, the failure to detect the re-activated CD45.1⁺ T cell population might be due to a choice of a late time point (day 7 post-challenge). Hence, assessment of the CD45.1⁺ T cells 2-3 days post-HAO challenge, when the maximal T cell accumulation in the lymph nodes is known to occur, might allow to better investigate both cell activation (T-bet upregulation) and the potential impact of tofacitinib treatment. In addition, OT-II T cells in this model are known to also accumulate in the joint with their highest levels detected between days 4-7 post HAO-challenge, and a proportion of these T cells was shown to undergo interactions with dendritic cells suggesting CD45.1⁺ T cell antigen-specific activation directly in the joint tissue.⁴⁶⁸ Thus, assessment of the OT-II cells in the joint alongside the lymph node might enable to better assess cell response to the antigen (in the context of T-bet re-expression) and its possible alterations in response to tofacitinib.

As the assessment of the drug impact on T-bet expression was inconclusive, I next investigated the capacity of OT-II T cells for IFNy production after they had been repeatedly challenged with their cognate antigen *in vivo*. As demonstrated by the intracellular cytokine staining, the percentage of IFNy-positive cells in the arthritic vehicle-treated group was slightly elevated compared to other treatment groups but did not reach statistical significance (Figure 5-3E,F). Importantly, the exposure to tofacitinib did not appear to notably affect the proportion of CD45.1⁺ T cells capable of IFNy production. This result might replicate the earlier observations in the *in vitro* setting (Chapter 3), where previously activated CD4⁺ T cells re-challenged in the presence of tofacitinib retained their ability for IFNy production.

Overall, the above data was inconclusive regarding the impact of tofacitinib on T-bet re-expression in antigen-experienced OT-II cells following cognate antigenic challenge. However, I have demonstrated the preserved capacity of these cells, re-activated in the presence of tofacitinib, for IFNy production in the setting of acute experimental RA.



Figure 5-3. Adoptively transferred OT-II CD4⁺ Th1 cells exhibit no changes in T-bet expression or capacity to produce IFNy upon repeated antigenic challenge in the presence of tofacitinib.

Experimental arthritis was induced in mice as described before (Fig.5-1). Starting one day before a secondary challenge with HAO, mice received tofacitinib citrate treatment twice daily (25 mg/kg/) by oral gavage. Another HAO-challenged group and control (PBS) group received vehicle solution (containing 0.5% DMSO) twice daily by oral gavage. 7 days following HAO challenge mice were sacrificed and popliteal lymph nodes were collected for analysis by flow cytometry. Lymph nodes were mashed into a single cell suspension and half of the cells from each lymph node were stimulated with PMA and Ionomycin with the addition of Brefeldin A for 4 h at 37°C 5% CO₂, followed by intracellular staining for IFNy. Another half of the cells were stained for transcription factor T-bet. Both panels included surface staining for CD4, CD44, and CD45.1 surface markers. Lymphocytes were gated on live cells and adoptively transferred and endogenous cells were identified as CD4⁺CD45.1⁺ and CD4⁺CD45.1⁻ cell populations, respectively (A). To measure the clonal expansion of adoptively transferred OT-II cells, a CD4+CD44^{hi} population was assessed for percentage of CD45.1⁺ lymphocytes (B). The total CD4⁺CD45.1⁺ cell population was assessed for percentage of T-bet expressing (D) and IFNy secreting (F) cells, with respective scatter plots for each marker depicter in (C) and (E). Graphs depict the mean percentage \pm SD, with n=4 per group for T-bet (a sample from each group was dismissed from analysis due to contamination with T-bet expressing Th1 cells used as positive control) and n=5 per group for IFNy assessment. The data represents results from a single experiment. Statistical differences between groups were assessed by One-way ANOVA and Turkey's multiple comparison test in GraphPad prism. **designates a pvalue of \leq 0.01. ns=non-significant

5.2.2 Endogenous CD4⁺ T cells exhibit no changes in T-bet expression or IFNy production in the presence of tofacitinib in early RA mouse model

While the OT-II cells in our model act as the inflammation-inciting cells and potentiate the breakdown of self-tolerance, their specificity is irrelevant to the joint. On the other hand, the endogenous CD4⁺ T cells were previously shown to be recruited into the joint in parallel with OT-II T cells and interact with DCs in a manner resembling cognate/antigen-specific interactions, thus potentially representing the autoreactive cells responding to the joint-specific epitopes.⁴⁶⁸ Therefore, it was crucial to investigate whether the (pro-inflammatory) function of these endogenous CD4⁺ T cells, directly contributing to/driving the autoimmune response (in our RA mouse model and potentially in the RA patients), could be affected by exposure to tofacitinib.

The endogenous CD4⁺ CD45.1⁻ T cell population was easily distinguishable and represented a comparable percentage of total lymph node cells between the treatment groups, particularly in the arthritic vehicle and drug-treated groups (Figure 5-3A). Endogenous CD4⁺ T cells were further divided based on their CD44 expression levels, and a smaller CD44^{hi} population representing antigenexperienced cells was further analysed for either T-bet expression or IFNy production capacity (Figure 5-4A). In contrast to OT-II cells, only a third of endogenous cells were of an activated CD44^{hi} phenotype. The percentage of CD44^{hi} T cells was significantly increased in the HAO-challenge mice compared to those receiving PBS injection, with the CD44^{hi} populations comparable in arthritic mice treated with vehicle and tofacitinib (Figure 5-4B). Since the HAOimmunized animals present with histological signs of arthritis, which in this model is initiated by collagen II-specific autoreactive CD4⁺ T cell activation following HAO challenge⁴⁵⁵, it is likely that a small number of those endogenous CD44^{hi} cells are newly primed CII-specific CD4⁺ T cells. The rest of the CD44^{hi} cells might be recirculating memory CD4⁺ T cells (likely) specific for other antigens originating from the joint tissues. Thus, if the newly primed CD4⁺ T cells specific for collagen II or other joint-specific antigens, re-activated upon

HAO stimulation, would exhibit T-bet expression, this change might not be detectable within a whole CD45.1⁻ CD44^{hi} population. Thereby, the data would likely represent the alterations within the whole memory/antigen-experienced population of endogenous CD4⁺ T cells of joint-related specificity.

The endogenous CD44^{hi} T cells did not upregulate their T-bet expression upon the HAO challenge in vehicle-treated mice, and the drug treatment had no impact on the percentage of endogenous T-bet-positive cells (Figure 5-4C). The absence of detectable changes in T-bet levels might be due to the frequency of remaining endogenous CD4⁺ T-bet⁺ cells in the lymph node being too low, with the (CD4⁺) T cells participating in the inflammatory response having migrated to the joint at this late time point (day 7) post-HAO challenge.

Despite the absence of T-bet upregulation, the endogenous CD44^{hi} T cells exhibited detectable IFNy production in all the treatment groups (Figure 5-4D), comparable to the lower levels of that in the transferred CD4⁺ T cells. However, similarly to the OT-II cells, endogenous CD44^{hi} T cells appear to retain their ability for IFNy production following tofacitinib exposure. Since a sizeable population of endogenous T cells is recruited to the inflamed joint at day 7 post-HAO challenge⁴⁶⁸, where they could be directly re-activated either in antigenspecific or possibly bystander manner, it would be important to also assess joint endogenous CD4⁺ T cell function to complement and strengthen the current data.

Overall, the above results might suggest that the endogenous CD45.1⁻CD4⁺CD44^{hi} cells, recruited to the joint draining lymph node upon antigenic challenge and likely comprised of predominantly memory cells, appear non-responsive to tofacitinib treatment and maintain their IFNy production capacity upon restimulation.



Figure 5-4. Endogenous CD4⁺ T cells exhibit no changes in T-bet expression or IFNy production in the presence of tofacitinib.

Experimental arthritis was induced in mice as described before (Fig.5-1). Starting one day before secondary challenge with HAO, mice received tofacitinib citrate treatment twice daily (25 mg/kg/) by oral gavage. Another HAO-challenged group and control (PBS) group received vehicle solution (containing 0.5% DMSO) twice daily by oral gavage. 7 days following HAO challenge mice were sacrificed and popliteal lymph nodes were collected for analysis by flow cytometry. Lymph nodes were mashed into single cell suspension and half of the cells from each lymph node were stimulated with PMA and lonomycin with addition of Brefeldin A for 4 h at 37°C 5% CO₂, followed by intracellular staining for IFNy. Another half of the cells were stained for transcription factor T-bet. Both panels included surface staining for CD4, CD44 and CD45.1 surface markers. Lymphocytes were gated on live cells and adoptively transferred and endogenous cells were identified as CD4+CD45.1+ and CD4+CD45.1- cell populations. Endogenous CD4+T cells were split into activated CD44^{hi} and naïve CD44^{lo} populations, and the CD44^{hi} population was further gated on of T-bet positive or IFNy-producing cells (A). Percentage of endogenous CD44^{hi} CD4⁺T cells was also analysed for each treatment group (B). Graphs depict percentage of CD45.1 CD44^{hi} cells expressing T-bet (C) and capable of IFNy production (D). Graphs show mean \pm SD, with n=5 per treatment group. The data represents results from a single experiment. Statistical differences between groups were assessed by One-way ANOVA and Turkey's multiple comparison test in GraphPad prism. **designates a p value of ≤ 0.01 . ns=non-significant

5.2.3 Tofacitinib fails to affect the naïve endogenous CD4⁺ T cell potential for T-bet expression and IFNy production.

In parallel with assessing the changes in endogenous CD4⁺CD44^{hi} T cell population, I was interested to determine whether the exposure to tofacitinib *in vivo* might affect naive endogenous CD4⁺ T cell subsequent activation and functional capacity. While limiting the autoreactive naïve T cell priming and effector/memory T cell re-activation are both highly desirable outcomes of the therapeutic intervention in RA, it would be equally important to preserve the naïve T cell population potential for activation and thus retain the ability to mount an efficient immune response towards infectious agents.

Endogenous CD4⁺ T cells were identified as CD45.1⁻ population in the popliteal lymph node, as previously, and further split based on their CD44 marker expression. Naïve cells were identified as having CD44^{lo} phenotype and either assessed for their T-bet expression or stimulated *ex vivo* with PMA/Ionomycin to determine their IFNy production potential (Figure 5-5A). Since the naïve CD44^{lo} cells were not stimulated prior to T-bet staining, the low proportion of T-bet-expressing cells was to be expected (Figure 5-5B). Upon *ex vivo* stimulation, a negligible proportion of CD44^{lo} T cells was found to be IFNy-positive in all treatment groups (Figure 5-5C), suggesting the failure of sufficient cell activation.



Figure 5-5. Tofacitinib fails to affect the capacity of naïve endogenous CD4⁺ T cells for T-bet expression and IFNy production.

Experimental arthritis was induced in mice as described before (Fig.5-1). Starting one day before a secondary challenge with HAO, mice received tofacitinib citrate treatment twice daily (25 mg/kg/) by oral gavage. Another HAO-challenged group and control (PBS) group received vehicle solution (containing 0.5% DMSO) twice daily by oral gavage. 7 days following HAO challenge mice were sacrificed and popliteal lymph nodes were collected for analysis by flow cytometry. Lymph nodes were mashed into single cell suspension and half of the cells from each lymph node were stimulated with PMA and Ionomycin with addition of Brefeldin A for 4 h at 37°C 5% CO2, followed by intracellular staining for IFNy. Another half of the cells were stained for transcription factor T-bet. Both panels included surface staining for CD4, CD44, and CD45.1 surface markers. Lymphocytes were gated on live cells and adoptively transferred and endogenous cells were identified as CD4+CD45.1+ and CD4+CD45.1- cell populations. Endogenous CD4+T cells were split into activated CD44^{hi} and naïve CD44^{lo} populations, and the CD44^{lo} population was further gated on of T-bet positive or IFNy-producing cells (A). Graphs depict the percentage of CD45.1⁻ CD44^{lo} cells expressing T-bet (B) and capable of IFNy production (C). Graphs show mean ± SD, n=5 per treatment group. The data represents results from a single experiment. Statistical differences between groups were assessed by One-way ANOVA and Turkey's multiple comparison test in GraphPad prism. *designates a *p*-value of ≤ 0.05 . ns=non-significant

5.2.4 Tofacitinib treatment has no impact on anti-OVA antibody response in RA mouse model.

Following the assessment of the tofacitinib treatment effect on the functional capacity of CD4⁺ T cells, I sought to further investigate if the drug, potentially through interfering with T cell-dependent B cell activation, might affect the anti-OVA antibody responses. Serum samples were collected after animal sacrifice on day 7 post-HAO challenge and analysed by ELISA to determine the levels of anti-ovalbumin (OVA) antibodies. Both IFNy-dependent IgG2c (equivalent of IgG2a in C57BL/6 mice) and IL-4 dependent IgG1 isotypes of anti-OVA antibodies were tested to allow for the possibility of introducing bias from Th1 towards Th2 responses.

As expected, animals in all treatment groups were able to produce high levels of anti-OVA antibodies (Figure 5-6). The highest levels of both IgG1 (Figure 5-6A) and IgG2c (Figure 5-6B) antibodies were detected in arthritic (HAO-challenged) mice treated with vehicle, with PBS-challenged group exhibiting notably lower levels of both immunoglobulin isotypes. Animals receiving tofacitinib appeared to have the lowest levels of both IgG1 and IgG2c antibodies, which were significantly different for IgG1 when compared to those in the arthritic vehicle-treated group (Figure 5-6A). However, since the drug was introduced only 10 days following the first OVA administration, it would presumably be too late for it to affect naïve B cell responses, and the OVA-specific memory B cells would not yet be present in the system. Thus, although the difference introduced by tofacitinib treatment appears statistically significant at several serum dilutions, it is likely to have no biological relevance. Since the levels of IgG2c antibody exhibited a high variability between samples, it does not appear possible to distinguish any drug-induced changes from current data.



Figure 5-6. Tofacitinib administration has no impact on anti-OVA antibody responses in RA mouse model.

After animal sacrifice on day 7 post-HAO challenge, whole blood was collected by cardiac puncture and processed to obtain serum for assessment by ELISA. High-binding 96-well plates were coated overnight with chicken ovalbumin protein and serum from each sample was plated in duplicate at doubling dilutions. Serum from HAO-challenged ('arthritic') mice was used as a positive control. The negative control contained wild type ('naïve', green line) mouse serum. After 2 h incubation at RT, biotin - labelled IgG1 or IgG2c antibody were added for another 1 h incubation at RT. Following incubation, the Extravidin-Peroxidase substrate was added to each well and incubated for a further 30 min. SIGMA*FAST* OPD was used as a detection reagent, and the reaction was terminated using 10% sulphuric acid. Light absorbances were read using Sunrise Microplate reader at 492 nm. Graphs depict serum levels of anti-OVA IgG1 (A) and anti-OVA IgG2c (B) in each mouse group. Data shows mean \pm SD (for each dilution) and represents 5 animals per group from a single experiment. Statistical differences between groups were assessed by performing two-way ANOVA and Turkey's multiple comparison test in GraphPad prism. The asterisks on the graph represent statistically significant differences between 'Arthritic' and 'Arthritic + Tofacitinib' groups. *designates a *p*6value of ≤ 0.05 , ** ≤ 0.01 .

5.2.5 Serum anti-collagen II antibody response in the RA mouse model.

Since the mouse model employed is known to develop arthritis following the loss of self-tolerance towards joint antigen collagen II, I sought the evidence of anticollagen II (CII) antibody response similarly occurring in the recipient mice in my experiment. Serum samples were collected after animal sacrifice on day 7 post-HAO challenge and analysed by ELISA to determine the levels of total anti-CII IgG antibodies. The levels of total anti-CII IgG in all experimental groups appeared to be negligible in comparison to those in serum samples from collagen-induced arthritis (CIA) mice, used as positive controls (not shown), thus indicating the absence of anti-CII antibody response expected to develop in HAO-challenged mice at this specific time point (Figure 5-7). Since the IgG immunoglobulin levels are typically known to reach their peak between 2-3 weeks post-immunization during the primary antibody response, in the experiment repeat the model could be maintained for an additional week (post-challenge) to raise sufficient anti-CII antibody levels and to assess the potential effect of tofacitinib on the anti-CII humoral response.



Figure 5-7. Serum anti-CII antibody titration in the early RA mouse model.

After animal sacrifice on day 7 post-HAO challenge, whole blood was collected by cardiac puncture and processed to obtain serum for assessment by ELISA. High-binding 96-well plates were coated overnight with chicken Type II Collagen (CII) and serum from each sample was plated in duplicate. Serum from the mouse with collagen-induced arthritis (CIA) was used as a positive control. The negative control contained wild type ('naïve', green line) mouse serum. After 2 h incubation at RT, HRP-labelled antibody for total IgG detection was added for subsequent 1 h incubation at RT. SIGMA*FAST* OPD was used for signal detection, and the reaction was terminated using 10% sulphuric acid. Light absorbances were read using Sunrise Microplate reader at 492 nm. The graph depicts serum levels of total anti-CII IgG for each treatment group. Each value is presented as a mean ± SD and represents 5 animals per group from a single experiment. The assay was repeated twice using the same serum samples with comparable results obtained between repeats.

5.2.6 Tofacitinib has no effect on paw inflammation but reduced inflammatory cell infiltrate and synovial hyperplasia in affected joints of arthritic mice.

Finally, I set out to investigate the effect of tofacitinib treatment on the development of acute experimental arthritis, characterized by paw inflammation and histological changes in the affected joints. Starting on day 1 after the HAO challenge, the development of arthritis was monitored by daily measurements of both left and right hind paw thickness until the experiment termination. Both HAO-challenged groups (vehicle and tofacitinib-treated animals) exhibited notable paw swelling, which was significantly greater than in the PBS-challenged group or days 1-3 and day 5 post-challenge, thus indicating a successful induction of arthritis (Figure 5-8A). The paw thickness remained largely unaltered in HAO/vehicle-treated arthritic mouse group throughout the course of experiment/disease, and the drug administration had no effect on the degree of paw thickness at any timepoint.

The hind limbs were removed and corresponding tissue sections from each limb, stained with H&E and toluidine blue, were histologically evaluated for the signs of pathology (inflammatory cell infiltration, synovial hyperplasia, articular cartilage degradation). As the HAO challenge was administered to the footpad, the joints of the tarsal bones proximal to the injection site and the surrounding tissue would be affected and thus were area of interest (Figure 5-8B). Joints of arthritic (HAO-challenged) mice receiving vehicle displayed extensive proinflammatory cell infiltration along the bottom side of the foot, paired with the development of hyperplastic synovium (2-3 cells thick)(Figure 5-8D). A mild but detectable loss of toluidine blue staining (in the area proximal to the inflamed synovium) indicated articular cartilage degradation also associated with pathology development in our model (Figure 5-8G). On observation, tofacitinib administration markedly reduced the extent of inflammatory cell infiltration, with infiltrates being more moderate in size and appearing as focal aggregates. The majority of drug-treated mice also displayed a normal, singlecell thick synovial membrane with characteristic lattice/honeycomb structure devoid of inflammatory cells (Figure 5-8E) and the articular cartilage integrity

was also preserved (Figure 5-8H). The loss of the above histological features in the tofacitinib-treated animals made their joints closely comparable to those of the healthy joints of the control (PBS-challenged) mice (Figure 5-8C,F). The blinded scoring of the sections for individual histological features confirmed both a significant increase in cell infiltration and the development of synovial hyperplasia in the arthritic vehicle-treated mice compared to control mouse (Figure 5-8J,K). The erosion of cartilage/bone score was also increased in the vehicle-treated group but was not substantial enough to reach statistical significance (Figure 5-8L). While the striking visual improvements in all three parameters were observed in tofacitinib-treated animals and the representative numerical scores appeared to be lower than in the vehicle-treated arthritic mouse group, these changes were not statistically significant (Figure 5-8J-K). Similarly, the average total histopathology score for all three parameters evaluated was significantly elevated in vehicle-treated arthritic mice relative to the control group, but the drug exposure did not result in statistically significant improvement of the score (Figure 5-8M).

Thereby, these results indicate that tofacitinib treatment following HAO challenge has no impact on the extent of hind paw inflammation. The drug treatment appears to reduce histopathological signs of the diseases, including inflammatory cell infiltration, synovial hyperplasia, and cartilage/bone degradation, but based on the numerical scoring these improvements are lacking significance.



Figure 5-8. Tofacitinib treatment has no effect on hind paw swelling and not does ameliorate the inflammatory cell infiltrate and synovial hyperplasia in affected joints of arthritic mice.

(A) Changes in hind paw thickness of recipient mice from day 1 post-HAO challenge until the experiment termination. Results are depicted for the right paw, with similar measurements obtained for the left limb. Data represents mean \pm SD, with n=5 for each treatment group. Statistical differences between groups were assessed by performing two-way ANOVA and Turkey's multiple comparison test in GraphPad prism. Hind limbs were collected after animal sacrifice on day 7 post-HAO challenge and sections stained with H&E (B-E) and toluidine blue (F-H). (B) Tarsal ankle ioints proximal to the HAO injection site (arrow) were assessed for histopathological changes. Sections are representative of the joints of control mice challenged with PBS (C,F), HAOchallenged (arthritic) mice receiving vehicle treatment (D,G) and HAO-challenged (arthritic) mice treated with tofacitinib citrate. Arrows indicate synovial hyperplasia in H&E sections and cartilage erosion in toluidine blue-stained sections. An asterisk designates inflammatory cells infiltrates in H&E sections. All three histopathological features of early (acute) arthritis very most pronounced in arthritic vehicle-treated mice (D,G) with the control and tofacitinib-treated animals largely exhibiting no profound changes in the above parameters. Images were obtained using EVOS FL Auto 2 imaging system at original magnification x10. Each section was scored on the scale 0-3 for inflammatory cell infiltration (J), synovial hyperplasia (K) and cartilage and bone erosion (L), and the total score for above three parameters was calculated for each section (M). Data shows mean ± SD, with n=5 for each treatment group. The data represents a single experiment. Statistical differences between groups were assessed by performing one-way ANOVA and Turkey's multiple comparison test in GraphPad prism. *designates a p-value of ≤ 0.05 , ** ≤ 0.01 , **** ≤ 0.0001 . ns = not significant.

5.3 Discussion

To investigate the impact of tofacitinib treatment on arthritis development, I have employed a mouse model of experimental early RA generated in our laboratory, which exhibited breakdown of self-tolerance following the transfer of Th1 CD4⁺ T cells of joint-irrelevant specificity and subsequently developed joint antigen-specific humoral response alongside the histopathological characteristics similar to human disease.⁴⁵⁵ The advantage of this model is the ability to therapeutically interfere at the pre-clinical disease stage/during self-tolerance breakdown and thereby assess the drug potential for suppressing self-tolerance breakdown through both effects on autoreactive (collagen-specific) CD4⁺ T cells and the development of an autoantibody response. Since the pathology is promoted by trackable transgenic OT-II Th1 cells, the function of these cells alongside their endogenous counterparts can also be examined following tofacitinib exposure. Finally, the model enables to assess the potential for, and extent of, modulation of joint pathology by the drug to be addressed.

I have employed the drug in tofacitinib citrate formulation, which was designed for oral use in RA patients in the clinic and successfully employed earlier in the inflammation setting *in vivo* (Chapter 4). The drug dosage was also maintained at 25 mg/kg twice daily and for the purpose of this preliminary disease model experiment was administered by oral gavage. First, it was necessary to confirm the capacity of tofacitinib to inhibits its target signaling pathway in the acute RA mouse model setting. I was able to demonstrate that the drug administration dramatically suppressed circulating CD4⁺ and CD4⁻ leukocyte pSTAT3 phosphorylation levels at their basal state, thus confirming the effective inhibition by tofacitinib of its target JAK/STAT pathway in our animal model of early RA. At the time of rheumatoid arthritis diagnosis, which may be preceded by a presymptomatic/clinical disease development for up to a decade, both peripheral blood and synovium of patients are enriched with T cells of the antigenexperienced/memory phenotype^{474,531} While these cells can be re-activated in an antigen-specific manner, they also are favourable candidates for antigen nonspecific, bystander activation, which can occur in the cytokine-rich environment of inflamed synovium.⁵³² Thus, these activated T cells represent desirable therapeutic targets and should be investigated for their potential susceptibility to tofacitinib treatment. In Chapter 3 (Section 3.2.7) I demonstrated that antigen-specific CD4⁺ T cells, primed in the absence of treatment and then rechallenged (with their cognate antigen) in the presence of tofacitinib in vitro, exhibited notably diminished T-bet expression but retained their IFNy production capacity. In the RA mouse model, the transgenic OVA³²³⁻³³⁹-specific CD4⁺ T cells, first polarized towards the Th1 subset in vitro and then receiving another cognate antigenic challenge *in vivo* prior to tofacitinib treatment initiation, represented the equivalent of antigen-experienced cells. Assessment of this adoptively transferred CD4⁺ T cell population 7 days after another antigenspecific re-activation (with HAO) in the presence of the drug revealed low levels of T-bet expression but a normal capacity for IFNy production, which remained unaltered in the tofacitinib-treated animal group. A possible reason for a notably low T-bet expression in terminally differentiated Th1 cells could be the late time point (day 7) following antigenic challenge T-bet re-expression was previously shown to occur in the highest proportion of CD4⁺ memory T cells at 72h following their re-activation, around the peak of the immune response.⁵¹⁸ Hence, the transcription factor expression is likely to be downregulated again by day 7, when the peak of the immune response has passed. The detected low levels of T-bet may also associate with the kinetics of the T cell response, with OT-II CD4⁺ T cell recruitment to the inflamed joint occurring from day 1 postchallenge and culminating at day 4. Thereby, the OT-II cells remaining in the

214

popliteal lymph node at day 7 post-challenge may not actively participate in the ongoing inflammatory response.^{468,455} Thereby, it would be of interest to examine the OT-II cells in the lymph nodes at earlier time points (days 2-3 post-challenge) Moreover, the OT-II cells were previously reported to interact with CD11c⁺ dendritic cells in inflamed joints, implying antigen-specific reactivation directly in the affected tissue.⁴⁶⁸ In this regard, assessment of the OT-II T cells from the affected (tarsal) joint tissues would provide additional insight into the tofacitinib potential to modulate their response to antigen-specific reactivation. So far, in this preliminary experiment and in line with my *in vitro* observations, I showed the adoptively transferred OT-II CD4⁺ T cells to retain their ability for IFNy production following tofacitinib exposure in the context of experimental arthritis. My data to some extent is supported by the findings from the human study which subjected healthy volunteers to short-term (29 days) tofacitinib treatment and assessed their circulating CD8⁺ T cells for IFNy production

study which subjected healthy volunteers to short-term (29 days) tofacitinib treatment and assessed their circulating CD8⁺ T cells for IFNy production capacity. A modest reduction in the number of IFNy-secreting cells was observed half-way through the treatment in CD8⁺ T cells, both activated in an antigenspecific manner or by the means of the anti-CD3/CD28 stimulation. However, the IFNy production in the above cell groups either normalized or returned to the baseline while still on tofacitinib treatment.⁴⁸³

5.3.2 Tofacitinib does not affect endogenous CD4⁺ cell capacity for T-bet expression or IFNy production in the presence of tofacitinib in the early RA mouse model

Employing the adoptive transfer approach in generating an early RA model has also enabled me to distinguish the endogenous CD45.1⁻ CD4⁺ T cell population in the popliteal lymph nodes and attempt their functional potential assessment. The original study of the mouse model establishment demonstrated this endogenous population to contain some collagen II-specific (autoreactive) T cells, which are newly primed upon HAO challenge and presented with the selfantigen in the immunogenic fashion in the context of OT-II Th1 driven inflammation.⁴⁵⁵ Also, a small fraction of the endogenous population might
represent previously activated OVA-specific CD4⁺ T cells, which were primed during the initial OVA/CFA immunization and might have been reactivated upon secondary challenge. Finally, the majority of the endogenous CD4⁺ T cells are likely to be memory cells of the joint and inciting antigen-irrelevant specificities, recruited to the draining lymph node in response to the ongoing inflammation.

When assessing the possible changes in T-bet expression and IFNy production, no notable differences were detected between the control (PBS-treated) and HAO-challenged groups, and the tofacitinib exposure in arthritic mice resulted in a very slight reduction in both marker levels which however was not statistically significant. One explanation for this observation could be drug-induced changes occurring only in a small fraction of cells (presumably collagen II-specific CD4⁺ T cells), which could be hard to detect within a relatively large population of total endogenous CD4⁺ T cells. Equally, it could also suggest that insufficient numbers of functional/activated endogenous CD4⁺ T cells remain in the draining lymph node at the time of assessment. Thus, similarly to the OT-II cells, endogenous cells might be better examined early post-HAO challenge (days 1-2) while undergoing activation in the lymph node, prior to their maximal accumulation in the joint at day 4. Also, the examination of endogenous CD4⁺ T cells recruited to the joint would allow their functional capacity and susceptibility to tofacitinib to be assessed.

While the endogenous CD4⁺ T cells might represent a mixed population, it could be possible to specifically analyse the newly primed collagen II-specific population in the context of their response to the drug treatment. This could be achieved by stimulating the cells from the popliteal lymph node (and possibly joint) of each treatment group *ex vivo* with the collagen II-pulsed APCs and assessing the collagen II-specific CD4⁺ T cell response by their levels of IFNy secretion, as done previously.⁴⁵⁵ As demonstrated in Chapter 4 (Section 4.2.5), antigen-specific CD4⁺ T cell priming *in vivo* is impaired in the presence of tofacitinib. Accordingly, one might predict that collagen II-specific CD4⁺ T cells from the drug-treated animals would similarly demonstrate a diminished capacity for IFNy production upon priming.

217 The endogenous effector/memory CD4⁺ T cells of irrelevant specificity represent another endogenous population of interest, particularly in the context of their non-specific re-activation in the inflamed joint microenvironment. Prendergast et al. demonstrated that adoptively transferred TEa TCR transgenic CD4⁺ T cells (recognising $E\alpha^{52-68}$ peptide in the context of I-A^b) were recruited to the joints of arthritic mice even when their cognate antigen was not employed as the

disease-inciting stimulus.⁴⁶⁸ Extending this observation, another study, although in a slightly different context, proposed that the pre-activated OVA-specific OT-II cells, adoptively transferred into a tetanus toxin (TT) pre-immunised mouse containing TT-specific memory CD4⁺ T cells, can also be re-activated upon TT secondary boost non-specifically by IL-2 and IFNy released from re-activated TTspecific CD4⁺ T cells memory cells.⁵³³ In line with this, Brennan *et al.* showed that the cytokine-activated T cells (Tck) can be generated by stimulating human peripheral blood cells with IL-2, IL-6, and TNF α , and confirmed that the CD3⁺CD4⁺CD45RO (resting) effector/memory cell subset closely phenotypically resembles RA synovial T cells and represent the most efficient functional effectors (cytokine-secreting) among Tck populations.⁴⁸² Overall, these studies suggest that previously activated/memory CD4⁺ T cells may have a lower bystander activation threshold. Upon activation, bystander CD4⁺ T cells have been shown to stimulate monocyte production of TNF α but not IL-10 in vitro, either through soluble factor secretion or cell-cell contact, contributing towards the imbalance of pro-and anti-inflammatory cytokines that would further exacerbate pathology⁵³⁴. Finally, with the majority of CD4⁺ T cells in RA patient joint synovium exhibiting a memory phenotype⁵³⁵, some demonstrating signs of partial activation⁵³³, and thus representing likely candidates for bystander activation, the therapeutic intervention with JAK inhibitors might be beneficial for controlling this cell population. Due to the ability of tofacitinib to inhibit cytokine signaling, it might be of particular relevance for interfering with bystander cell activation. However, the drug efficiency in blocking human PBMCderived T lymphocyte bystander activation and IFNy production has so far only been demonstrated in vitro. Our model could potentially be employed to further delineate the bystander memory CD4⁺ T cell behaviour following tofacitinib treatment *in vivo* in the setting of the arthritic joint.

5.3.3 Tofacitinib administration has no impact on anti-OVA antibody response in RA mouse model.

While there is growing evidence that tofacitinib modulates CD4⁺ T cell responses in both murine and human studies, the understanding of its impact on B cell function is very limited. The first notion of a link between JAK3 inhibition and B cell defects came from observations in patients with severe combined immunodeficiency (SCID) harbouring mutations impairing γc /JAK3 pathway signaling. While this did not affect B cell levels, intrinsic defects in cell proliferation, class switch-recombination and antibody production were seen.⁵³⁶ Therefore, to evaluate the potential tofacitinib impact on B cell function in our early RA model, anti-OVA antibody responses were examined. Both anti-OVA IgG1 and IgG2c antibody production was detected in serum from all experimental mice, with the levels of IgG1 appearing significantly reduced at several concentrations in the serum of the drug-treated mice. However, as tofacitinib treatment was commenced 10 days after the first OVA protein challenge and thus antigen-specific B cell activation, it therefore would be unlikely to interfere with an initial induction of the anti-OVA antibody response. While there are no murine studies to date investigating the drug impact on B cell function, the above interpretation is supported by an investigation of human B cell responses. A study by Wang *et al.* convincingly demonstrated that tofacitinib exposure of naïve human CD19⁺ B cells during their activation via the B cell receptor (BCR), CD40 ligand (CD40L) and cytokines (IL-4, IL-6 and IL-21) in vitro resulted in suppression of activation-induced cytidine deaminase (AICDA) and X-box binding protein 1(XBP-1), B cell development-regulating genes, and abolished IgG production.³⁰⁸ Similarly, when the drug was introduced 2 days following initial B cell activation, it was shown to not only abrogate fate-determining gene expression and thus impede cell differentiation and diminish immunoglobulin production, but also dramatically suppress pro-inflammatory IL-6 cytokine production while preserving regulatory IL-10 generation. In line with this, another study demonstrated impairment in naïve human B cell development into plasmablasts and associated immunoglobulin secretion upon activation in the presence of tofacitinib.⁵³⁷ However, B cells already activated upon drug treatment retained normal AICDA expression and were capable of AICDA-

mediated class-switching.⁵³⁷ Interestingly, only a moderate effect on total peripheral blood B cell function was achieved, potentially suggesting the functional capacity of circulating memory cells to be preserved despite tofacitinib administration. In the context of this evidence, I hereby propose that as the drug was introduced 10 days after B cell response initiation when the cells have presumably developed into antibody-secreting plasmablasts/short-lived plasma cells, the treatment was unlikely to induce prominent changes in anti-OVA B cell response. Thus, the statistically significant reduction in the anti-OVA IgG1 titres in drug-treated mice is likely to be of no biological relevance.

In addition, I have assessed the effect of tofacitinib on the autoantibody response to the main component of cartilage, type II collagen (CII), which indicates self-tolerance breakdown and is initiated following the induction of articular inflammation. However, the arthritic mice failed to develop a detectable anti-CII response and thus the differences in antibody titres between treatment groups could not be discriminated. Following the first encounter with the antigen, there is a latent phase lasting approximately 4-7 days during which naïve B cells are activated in an antigen-specific manner and subsequently undergo proliferation, receive T cell help and differentiate into antibodysecreting short-lived plasma cells⁵³⁸, with the peak antibody levels reached by approximately 14 days following the challenge. Thus, extending our mouse model for another week and evaluating anti-CII antibody titres at 2 weeks post-HAO immunization might facilitate a better experimental read-out. As the drug treatment is initiated a day prior to HAO-challenge, I propose, based on the evidence from the previous human B cell *in vitro* studies^{308,537}, that tofacitinib would interfere with naïve B cell activation in response to collagen II and thereby notably diminish antibody class switching and anti-collagen II immunoglobulin IgG production. While it would not be possible to interfere during the breakdown of self-tolerance in RA patients, tofacitinib treatment could potentially limit the development of antibody responses towards neoantigens generated or released during the course of the disease.

Since both IL-4 and IL-21, secreted by T follicular helper (Tfh) cells, are nonredundant in germinal centre B cell initiation and subsequent survival, maturation and effector response development⁵³⁹, one of the ways tofacitinib can exert an effect on B cells could be through direct inhibition of JAK1/JAK3dependent IL-4 and IL-21 cytokine signaling. However, since differentiation of Tfh cells at early stages relies on IL-2 and IL-6 cytokines⁵⁴⁰, also employing JAK/STAT pathway downstream of their receptors, potential interference with Tfh subset development could present another mechanism of tofacitinib interference with efficient humoral response generation. In addition, as tofacitinib was previously demonstrated, both in this thesis and in several other studies^{305,516}, to impair T cell polarization towards helper subtypes, this could also potentially limit Th cell help required for successful B cell activation by a low-valency antigen. Overall, a more in-depth understanding of the potential mechanisms through which tofacitinib modulates B cell responses and the subsequent outcomes is required, and our murine mouse model, exhibiting controlled and quantifiable autoantibody responses early in the disease might represent a useful tool for this purpose. Ultimately, the understanding of tofacitinib impact on B cell responses would inform on establishing the effective vaccination strategies in conjunction with tofacitinib treatment, so that the RA patients can successfully mount and preserve protective humoral immunity.

5.3.4 Tofacitinib treatment does not affect hind limb swelling, but reduced inflammatory cell infiltration and synovial hyperplasia in affected joints of arthritic mice

The mouse model employed also allowed examination of the tofacitinib ability to modulate affected paw inflammation and joint pathology. The drug administration throughout the course of the pathology did not appear to induce notable changes in the hind paw thickness. While tofacitinib effectively diminished inflammatory cell influx which contributes to oedema formation, it might not be able to control other aspects, such as vascular permeability. In contrast, in adjuvant-induced arthritis (AIA) rat model of established disease, a once-daily oral administration of considerably smaller drug dose resulted in significant paw volume reduction as soon as at 4 days post-treatment.³¹⁰ While this result cannot be directly correlated with my observations, it might

potentially suggest that tofacitinib is more effective at reducing inflammation in the established pathology but not during the acute disease phase.

Importantly, arthritic mice receiving tofacitinib treatment showed distinct reductions in inflammatory cell infiltration, suppression of synovial hyperplasia and amelioration of the articular cartilage damage. While these changes were striking and the joints from drug-treated mice exhibited tissue morphology closely comparable to that in the healthy control animals, the scoring results did not confirm the statistical significance of the tofacitinib-driven improvement at either of the key histological parameters. Variability in the vehicle control group and poor induction of disease in some mice might be the most likely explanations. This is further compounded by the relatively arbitrary scoring system employed, which only uses whole integers from 0 to 3 to evaluate each parameter and with only three parameters used, thus limiting the scoring precision and evaluation of the subtle changes occurring. Moreover, our RA mouse model is acute and recapitulates the early stages of the disease, thus the joint pathology is more subtle than that in the models of established RA and the possible drug-induced changes are more difficult to distinguish. Hence, while the numerical significance was not achieved in our experiment, the existing studies from a number of rodent models of established RA consistently report dramatic improvements in histopathological changes following tofacitinib administration. By using a more thorough scoring approach, Milici *et al.* demonstrated a dosedependent reduction in the histological damage score in CIA mouse knee joints, with the maximal tofacitinib dose of 15 mg/kg/day achieving significant improvements when compared to vehicle-treated mice.³¹¹ The histological observations, consistent with our findings, showed a profound reduction of inflammatory cell influx, synovial hypertrophy and limited cartilage destruction following drug treatment. Similar tofacitinib-induced improvements in the above histological features were described in another study employing CIA mouse model³⁰⁵, as well as in rat AIA model³¹⁰ and mouse SKG model of spontaneous arthritis, with the treatment effect in the latter lasting for 3 weeks following drug withdrawal³¹². In addition, tofacitinib efficiently reduced the synovial invasion and the associated cartilage destruction in the synovium/cartilage tissue from RA patients, which was co-implanted into SCID mice receiving the drug treatment.³⁰⁶ Thereby, although evaluating the tofacitinib impact in the

established disease context, the above studies convincingly demonstrate the drug ability to promote remarkable improvements in major histological features characteristic for arthritic joints, and thereby contextualise my findings as being biologically meaningful.

While the above animal studies consistently describe the tofacitinib-induced decrease in inflammatory cell infiltration and synovial hyperplasia, limited advances were made to investigate the (potential) mechanisms underlying these changes. As the cell recruitment to the joint is directed by chemokines that do not rely on JAK/STAT signaling pathway, the next best candidate to consider could be a pleiotropic/multifunctional cytokine highly expressed in RA and affecting a number of different immune cells related to disease pathogenesis. I thereby proposed that inhibition of IL-6 signaling by tofacitinib, which was demonstrated in this thesis and in other studies³⁰⁵, might be one of the mechanisms limiting the inflammatory cell recruitment, development of hyperplastic synovium and the subsequent structural joint damage. IL-6 is produced mainly by resident synovial macrophages and fibroblast-like synoviocytes (FLSs) in the inflamed joints, and the infiltrating activated monocytes/macrophages also exhibit IL-6 production^{541,542,543}. In FLSs, IL-6 can promote further activation and uncontrolled proliferation in the autocrine or paracrine fashion, thus contributing to the formation of the hyperplastic synovium^{542,544}. IL-6 was also demonstrated to augment the production of monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (MCP-1, also known as CCL2) and IL-8, acting as chemokines, by both FLS and mononuclear cells, as well as induce the expression of adhesion molecule ICAM-1 on endothelial cell, thereby facilitating the recruitment of inflammatory cells to the joint.⁵⁴⁵ In addition, IL-6 synergises with TNFa and IL-1B in stimulating FLSs to secrete vascular growth endothelial factor (VEGF), which exhibits pro-angiogenic, pro-inflammatory and antiapoptotic functions, while also contributing to osteoclastogenesis in the rheumatoid synovium.^{546,547,548,549,550,551} Importantly, IL-6 can also promote cartilage degradation by directly inducing matrix metalloprotease (MMP) secretion by chondrocytes alongside with enhancing RANKL expression on osteoblasts and FLSs to promote osteoclastogenesis and subsequent bone resorption^{552,553,554,555}. Thereby, through inhibiting IL-6 signaling in a number of inflammatory immune cells contributing to rheumatoid arthritis pathology

development, tofacitinib could potentially simultaneously modulate several inflammatory and destructive processes ongoing in the inflamed arthritic joint microenvironment.

6 General discussion

Despite the biological DMARDs successfully transforming the management of rheumatoid arthritis over the past two decades, there is a considerable unmet demand for the novel therapeutic modalities as the substantial proportion of patients fails to respond to the available treatments. As an alternative to large biological molecules targeting cytokines and their receptors extracellularly, the (orally available) small molecule compounds emerged which were designed to modulate intracellular signaling cascades through inhibiting associated protein kinases, and thereby regulate cell responses to the external stimuli. Among promising targets were Janus kinases (JAKs), tyrosine kinases employed by Type I and Type II cytokine receptors for transmitting the signals from a range of cytokines and hormone-like growth factors essential for immune and hematopoietic cell homeostasis, along with multiple pro-inflammatory cytokines implicated in the pathogenesis of several autoimmune conditions, including rheumatoid arthritis. The discovery of JAK3 genetic mutation resulting in the development of immunodeficient phenotype in humans provided the idea that the inhibitory effect of this JAK kinase targeting might be largely limited to the immune cell compartment, further emphasising the suitability of this molecular target for management of autoimmune disorders.^{218,219} This line of research culminated in the development of tofacitinib, a potent selective JAK3/JAK1 inhibitor, which became the first-in-class compound approved for management of moderate-to-severe rheumatoid arthritis.²²⁰ Tofacitinib demonstrated clinical efficacy non-inferior to biologic DMARDs and, remarkably, achieved clinical response in patients failing treatment with one or several biologic agents.^{316,223,224} However, the immunomodulatory mechanisms underlying tofacitinib efficacy in the clinic only begin to be unravelled. To date, multiple studies have reported tofacitinib to notably diminish the ability of both murine and human CD4⁺ T cells to proliferate, undergo differentiation, and produce proinflammatory cytokines, 305, 306, 312, 484, 485 but the specific stage of CD4⁺ T cell activation (priming or re-challenge) at which the drug may exert its inhibitory effect was not yet established. This would allow to better understand the efficacy of the drug administration at different stages of RA in the context of its effect on CD4⁺ T cell effector function and have potential implications in

225

reviewing the order of tofacitinib therapy utilization in the current disease management strategy.

6.1 Summary of the main findings

Chapter 3 examined the tofacitinib impact on CD4⁺ T cell priming *in vitro*. The key findings are:

- No impact on CD4⁺ T cell activation and modest effect on proliferation
- Significant suppression of CD4⁺ T cell differentiation into Th1 subset in vitro
- The persistence of above phenotype upon secondary challenge in the absence of tofacitinib
- No impact on the antigen-experienced CD4⁺ T cell function *in vitro*

Chapter 4 investigated the tofacitinib effect on priming in the *in vivo* setting. The main findings are:

- Notable suppression of CD4⁺ T cell polarization towards Th1 subset in vivo
- No impact on antigen-experienced (endogenous) CD4⁺ T cell functional capacity *in vivo*

Chapter 5 explored the tofacitinib impact in the context of the early acute RA mouse model. The key results are:

 No effect on function of adoptively transferred Th1 CD4⁺ T cells upon their re-activation

- No impact on endogenous antigen-experienced CD4⁺ T cells functional capacity
- No conclusion available on drug impact on auto-antibody response generation
- Detectable (but non-significant) improvement of signs/features of joint pathology

My findings from **Chapter 3** showed that the presence of tofacitinib during antigen-specific CD4⁺ T cell priming (by their cognate antigen-bearing DCs) *in vitro* did not affect CD4⁺ T cell acquisition of activated phenotype, as evidenced by negligible changes in both early (CD69) and late (CD44, CD62L) activation marker expression, and appeared to modestly reduce cell proliferative potential, which was in line with diminished CD4⁺ T cell ability to respond to proliferation-inducing IL-2 cytokine. However, tofacitinib profoundly reduced CD4⁺ T cell differentiation towards Th1 lineage, as demonstrated by significantly inhibited transcription factor T-bet expression and the reduction of associated IFNy production. This effect (on both T-bet expression and cytokine production) was observed to persist upon CD4⁺ T cell secondary re-activation in the absence of the drug. In contrast, CD4+ T cells primed in the absence of tofacitinib were shown to retain their capacity for IFNy production, despite diminished T-bet expression, when reactivated in the presence of JAK inhibitor.

The assessment of tofacitinib effects *in vivo* in **Chapter 4** appeared to replicate the results observed in the *in vitro* setting. Thus, I demonstrated herein that the adoptively transferred transgenic naïve (OT-II) CD4⁺ T cells primed by their cognate peptide *in vivo* in the presence of tofacitinib failed to effectively polarize into Th1 subset, as evidenced by inhibited T-bet expression. However, the changes in subset-specific IFNy production were not significant, likely owing to delayed kinetics of the drug effect in the *in vivo* setting. On the other hand, tofacitinib treatment was found to suppress T-bet expression of endogenous antigenexperienced CD4⁺ T cells but failed to affect their functional capacity, as demonstrated by sustained IFNy production upon *ex vivo* re-activation. The results from **Chapter 5** demonstrated that tofacitinib fails to impact on IFNy production of adoptively transferred Th1 CD4⁺ T cells upon their re-activation in the murine model of early RA. Similarly, the endogenous antigen-experienced CD4⁺ T cells in the same model preserved their T-bet expression and IFNy production capacity following drug exposure. Thus, the impact of tofacitinib treatment on antigen-experienced CD4⁺ T cells in this RA model is consistent with those observed both *in vitro* and in *vivo* settings (in Chapters 3 and 4, respectively). I was not able to assess the tofacitinib effect on autoantibody response generation/self-tolerance breakdown, characteristic for our early RA mouse model, due to arthritic animals failing to raise sufficient levels of (anticollagen II) antibodies. Lastly, I have observed marked reduction in inflammatory infiltrates and synovial hyperplasia in the joints of tofacitinib-treated mice, however, these changes did not appear significant likely due to mild degree of pathology and scoring system limitations.

6.2 Clinical implications

The identification of tofacitinib ability to interfere with effective CD4⁺ T cell differentiation upon priming in the context of cognate CD4⁺ T cell-DC interaction, presented in this thesis, may potentially have valuable implication in the clinical setting.

Thus, tofacitinib treatment could be effective during the initial event of autoreactive CD4⁺ T cell priming by self-epitope-bearing mature DC, which is thought to trigger self-tolerance breakdown and initiation of the autoimmune response in RA (Figure 6-1). However, while many genetic and environmental risk factors were identified that would predispose the individual for loss of self-tolerance, currently there is no way to either predict this event to occur with certainty or to identify the specific time when it might ensue. Therefore, utilization of tofacitinib at this stage of RA pathology might not be as yet feasible clinically.

Upon the initial self-tolerance breakdown, the autoimmune response is further perpetuated by continuous priming of CD4⁺ T cells of new antigenic specificities by newly formed epitopes or epitopes released following inflammation-driven tissue damage, a process known as epitope spreading. Epitope spreading was reported to predominantly occur during the stage of pre-clinical inflammation and was suggested to play a critical role in the transition from pre-clinical to clinically manifested RA.^{556,557} Consequently, tofacitinib treatment at the pre-clinical stage of the disease might interfere with the cycle of 'new' naive T cells continuously breaching self-tolerance, thereby preventing them feeding forward into ongoing inflammatory response and possibly ultimately impeding the disease progression towards clinical disease (Figure 6-1).

Some evidence suggests that epitope spreading might also continue after clinical onset of disease. Thus, a study comparing dominance of T cell clones in recent onset and established RA patient synovium demonstrated that the number of highly expanded clones is significantly lower in established RA, proposing this might result from these clones losing their initial dominance due to additional autoreactive T cell clones being newly activated during the ongoing inflammatory response.⁵⁵⁸ In line with that, another study reported the T cells from shared epitope-bearing patients with recent onset RA to respond only to citrullinated aggrecan or no epitope, while patients with established disease showed response to more than one citrullinated self-epitope, with possible underlying mechanisms suggested to be epitope spreading continuing throughout development of symptomatic/clinically manifested RA.⁵⁵⁹ Following from the above, it could be proposed that therapeutic interference with tofacitinib would also be effective early in clinical onset RA, as it could potentially limit the evolution of CD4⁺ T cell response and thereby halt the progression towards established disease (Figure 6-1).

However, the therapeutic efficacy of tofacitinib cannot be solely explained by modulation of CD4⁺ T cell responses upon antigen-specific priming. The visible improvement in joint pathology in the absence of tofacitinib effect on the function of either of CD4⁺ T cell populations in our early RA mouse model suggests that tofacitinib might also have an impact on other inflammatory cells contributing to the pathology development. The remarkably rapid mode of

clinically meaningful improvements in the established disease in CIA mouse model and in the patients with active RA refractory to methotrexate, reported previously, indicate that tofacitinib might exert its immediate therapeutic effect by directly interfering with the cytokine-dependent activity of innate immune and/or synovial resident cells.^{305,560} Substantiating this notion, the tofacitinib treatment of fibroblast-like synoviocytes(from RA patients was shown to supress the TNF-mediated production of chemokines promoting T lymphocyte and monocyte recruitment (IP-10 and MCP-1, respectively).⁵⁶¹ Furthermore, tofacitinib was also reported to diminish the expression of T cell chemokines along with (pro-inflammatory) cytokine IL-6 in RA synovial macrophages. Importantly, the amelioration of arthritis in K/BxN mice by tofacitinib further supported the idea that the clinical drug efficacy partly relies on innate immune cell function modulation, as arthritis in this particular model is mediated exclusively by innate immune cells.⁵⁶² Collectively, the current evidence suggests that tofacitinib might in part drive the improvement in RA pathology through directly suppressing pathogenic function of macrophages and synovial fibroblasts and in turn ameliorating recruitment of adaptive immune cells to the joint. Notably, tofacitinib was also proposed to indirectly inhibit macrophage and synovial fibroblast cytokine production as well as osteoclast differentiation and bone-resorption capacity by suppressing T cell differentiation and RANKL production, respectively.^{306,310} Thus, the clinical efficacy of tofacitinib could be attributed to its unique mode of action, which allows to concurrently modulate innate and adaptive immune cell function as well as potentially interfere with their cytokine-mediated cross-talk, thereby breaking the 'vicious' cycle of synovial inflammation.



Figure 6-1. The course of rheumatoid arthritis development and the stages during which tofacitinib might have an impact on DC-mediated CD4⁺ T cell priming.

Based on my findings, tofacitinib might be able to interfere with DC-CD4⁺ T cell interactions at several stages of disease development. Tofacitinib treatment during the 'breach of self-tolerance' event would prevent the autoreactive CD4⁺ T cell priming by self-antigen bearing (mature) DC, and thereby would prevent the initiation of the autoimmune response, including activation of autoreactive B cells and subsequent autoantibody production. The JAK inhibitor might also be effective during pre-clinical and possibly early clinical/symptomatic RA, as it could interrupt the continuous priming of CD4+ T cells (in joint-draining lymph nodes) in response to neoepitopes released from the inflamed joint tissue. In turn, this would preclude the migration of newly activated/primed CD4+ T cells to the joint and them potentiating further damage and release of other neoepitopes, as well as interfere with 'help' from these CD4+ T cells to B cells in the generation of pathogenic autoantibodies of new specificities, thereby preventing autoantibodymediated inflammatory and joint resident cell activation and associated joint damage. Clinically, tofacitinib interference during epitope spreading might, therefore, attenuate the disease progression. Additionally, if the 'new' naïve T cells continue to be recruited to the joint and contribute to the pathology during the chronic inflammation, tofacitinib could also be effective in interfering with their activation, and might therefore, be utilized at the established phase of RA.

6.3 Future experiments

The murine models utilized for this project provide useful platforms for further assessment of tofacitinib impact on DC-CD4⁺ T cell interactions *in vivo*. One of the options would be to elucidate the effect of tofacitinib treatment on *in vivo* CD4⁺ T cell differentiation into other T helper subsets. Since in this project, in line with observations from another murine RA model study,³¹² tofacitinib administered during CD4⁺ T cell priming did not diminish the levels of IL-10 in the co-culture supernatant, it could be of interest to further investigate whether the drug impacts naïve T cell polarization into IL-10-secreting Tregs. By employing our adoptive transfer model system (Chapter 4), the effect of tofacitinib presence on naïve CD4⁺ T cell differentiation into Tregs could be

assessed in the *in vivo* setting. Given the drug has no impact on Treg polarization and functional capacity, this might provide an additional mechanism underlying tofacitinib efficacy in RA.

While extensive research is focused on tofacitinib ability to modulate CD4⁺ T cell responses, less is known about the JAK inhibitor impact on dendritic cell function. Both human monocyte-derived and murine bone-marrow derived DCs treated with tofacitinib during their maturation *in vitro* were shown to develop a 'tolerogenic' phenotype and exhibit impaired ability to provide co-stimulatory and cytokine signals crucial for efficient CD4⁺ T cell priming.^{309,514} Since in our adoptive transfer model tofacitinib treatment is initiated prior to administration of stimulus inducing endogenous DC maturation, it provides an excellent setting for assessment of alterations in DC functional potential in response to tofacitinib *in* vivo, which has not been done previously.

It would be of particular interest to test the suggestion that tofacitinib might limit the diversity of CD4⁺ T cell repertoire by inhibiting the continuous priming of these cells throughout the disease development. A 'breach of tolerance' mouse model of RA employed in this project, was recently adapted in our lab to study the changes in TCR repertoire diversity of endogenous CD4⁺ T cells (in joints and popliteal lymph nodes) at specific timepoints following primary (HAO) footpad challenge (early timepoint) and secondary challenge (late timepoint). Interestingly, the clonal CD4⁺ T cell diversity in popliteal lymph nodes at late timepoint increased compared to that at early timepoint, suggesting a potential epitope spreading occurring in this model. Thus, administration of tofacitinib in this model prior to/beginning at the early time point and assessement of changes in the endogenous CD4⁺ T cell clonality at the late timepoint could be a feasible way to test the above proposal. In ideal scenario, the comparison of TCR repertoire diversity in patients who commenced tofacitinib treatment close to RA onset and those who initiated treatment later in the disease might potentially inform on the drug capacity to limit epitope spreading in clinical setting, and might subsequently have implications in reviewing the time in the disease course when the compound is administered.

List of References

- 1. Jeffery, R. C. Clinical features of rheumatoid arthritis. *Medicine (United Kingdom)* **42**, 231-236 (2014).
- Koskinen, E., Hannonen, P. & Sokka, T. Palindromic rheumatism: Longterm outcomes of 60 patients diagnosed in 1967-84. J. Rheumatol. 36, 1873-1875 (2009).
- Aletaha, D. & Smolen, J. S. Diagnosis and Management of Rheumatoid Arthritis: A Review. JAMA - Journal of the American Medical Association 320, 1360-1372 (2018).
- 4. Cimmino, M. A. *et al.* Extra-articular manifestations in 587 Italian patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatol. Int.* **19**, 213-217 (2000).
- 5. Muravyev, Y. V. Extra-articular manifestations of rheumatoid arthritis. *Nauchno-Prakticheskaya Revmatol.* **56**, 356-362 (2018).
- Turesson, C. & Jacobsson, L. Epidemiology of extra-articular manifestations in rheumatoid arthritis. Scand. J. Rheumatol. 33, 65-73 (2004).
- Nyhäll-Wåhlin, B.-M. *et al.* The presence of rheumatoid nodules at early rheumatoid arthritis diagnosis is a sign of extra-articular disease and predicts radiographic progression of joint destruction over 5 years. *Scand. J. Rheumatol.* 40, 81-7 (2011).
- 8. Shaw, M., Collins, B. F., Ho, L. A. & Raghu, G. Rheumatoid arthritisassociated lung disease. *Eur. Respir. Rev.* 24, (2015).
- 9. Kitas, G., Banks, M. J. & Bacon, P. A. Cardiac involvement in rheumatoid disease. *Clin. Med. (Northfield. Il).* 1, 18-21 (2001).
- 10. Voskuyl, A. E. et al. Factors associated with the development of vasculitis

in rheumatoid arthritis: Results of a case-control study. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **55**, 190-192 (1996).

- Bartels, C. M. & Bridges, A. J. Rheumatoid vasculitis: Vanishing menace or target for new treatments? *Current Rheumatology Reports* 12, 414-419 (2010).
- 12. Aviña-Zubieta, J. A. *et al.* Risk of cardiovascular mortality in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: A meta-analysis of observational studies. *Arthritis Care Res.* **59**, 1690-1697 (2008).
- 13. Jagpal, A. & Navarro-Millán, I. Cardiovascular co-morbidity in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a narrative review of risk factors, cardiovascular risk assessment and treatment. *BMC Rheumatol.* **2**, (2018).
- Doran, M. F., Crowson, C. S., Pond, G. R., O'Fallon, W. M. & Gabriel, S. E. Frequency of infection in patients with rheumatoid arthritis compared with controls: A population-based study. *Arthritis Rheum.* 46, 2287-2293 (2002).
- 15. Heidari, B. & Hassanjani Roushan, M. R. Rheumatoid arthritis and osteoporosis. *Casp. J. Intern. Med.* **3**, 445-6 (2012).
- Craig, E. & Cappelli, L. C. Gastrointestinal and Hepatic Disease in Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Rheumatic Disease Clinics of North America* 44, 89-111 (2018).
- Ramos-Remus, C., Duran-Barragan, S. & Castillo-Ortiz, J. D. Beyond the joints: Neurological involvement in rheumatoid arthritis. *Clinical Rheumatology* 31, 1-12 (2012).
- Doran, M. F., Crowson, C. S., Pond, G. R., O'Fallon, W. M. & Gabriel, S. E. Predictors of infection in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 46, 2294-2300 (2002).
- 19. Uhlig, T., Loge, J. H., Kristiansen, I. S. & Kvien, T. K. Quantification of

reduced health-related quality of life in patients with rheumatoid arthritis compared to the general population. *J. Rheumatol.* **34**, 1241-1247 (2007).

- Matcham, F. *et al.* The impact of rheumatoid arthritis on quality-of-life assessed using the SF-36: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Seminars in Arthritis and Rheumatism* 44, 123-130 (2014).
- 21. Sanderson, T., Morris, M., Calnan, M., Richards, P. & Hewlett, S. Patient perspective of measuring treatment efficacy: The rheumatoid arthritis patient priorities for pharmacologic interventions outcomes. *Arthritis Care Res.* **62**, 647-656 (2010).
- Sokka, T., Kautiainen, H., Möttönen, T. & Hannonen, P. Work disability in rheumatoid arthritis 10 years after the diagnosis. J. Rheumatol. 26, 1681-1685 (1999).
- 23. Fex, E., Larsson, B. M., Nived, K. & Eberhardt, K. Effect of rheumatoid arthritis on work status and social and leisure time activities in patients followed 8 years from onset. *J. Rheumatol.* **25**, 44-50 (1998).
- 24. Lütze, U. & Archenholtz, B. The impact of arthritis on daily life with the patient perspective in focus. *Scand. J. Caring Sci.* **21**, 64-70 (2007).
- 25. Jakobsson, U. Review Pain and quality of life among older people with rheumatoid arthritis and/or osteoarthritis: a literature review. Journal of Clinical Nursing 11, (2002).
- Fifield, J., Tennen, H., Reisine, S. & McQuillan, J. Depression and the long-term risk of pain, fatigue, and disability in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 41, 1851-1857 (1998).
- Power, J. D., Perruccio, A. V. & Badley, E. M. Pain as a mediator of sleep problems in arthritis and other chronic conditions. *Arthritis Care Res.* 53, 911-919 (2005).
- 28. Hunter, D. J. & Riordan, E. A. The impact of arthritis on pain and quality

of life: an Australian survey. Int. J. Rheum. Dis. 17, 149-155 (2014).

- 29. Wolfe, F., Hawley, D. J. & Wilson, K. The prevalence and meaning of fatigue in rheumatic disease. *J. Rheumatol.* **23**, 1407-1417 (1996).
- Nikolaus, S., Bode, C., Taal, E. & Van De Laar, M. A. F. J. Fatigue and factors related to fatigue in rheumatoid arthritis: A systematic review. *Arthritis Care and Research* 65, 1128-1146 (2013).
- 31. Huyser, B. A. *et al.* Predictors of subjective fatigue among individuals with rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* **41**, 2230-2237 (1998).
- Walter, M. J. M., Kuijper, T. M., Hazes, J. M. W., Weel, A. E. & Luime, J. J. Fatigue in early, intensively treated and tight-controlled rheumatoid arthritis patients is frequent and persistent: a prospective study. *Rheumatol. Int.* 38, 1643-1650 (2018).
- 33. (No Title).
- Hewlett, S. *et al.* Patients' perceptions of fatigue in rheumatoid arthritis: Overwhelming, uncontrollable, ignored. *Arthritis Rheum.* 53, 697-702 (2005).
- 35. Van Tuyl, L. H. D. *et al.* The patient perspective on absence of disease activity in rheumatoid arthritis: A survey to identify key domains of patient-perceived remission. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **76**, 855-861 (2017).
- Katz, P. P. & Yelin, E. H. Prevalence and correlates of depressive symptoms among persons with rheumatoid arthritis. *J. Rheumatol.* 20, 790-796 (1993).
- Hider, S. L., Tanveer, W., Brownfield, A., Mattey, D. L. & Packham, J. C. Depression in RA patients treated with anti-TNF is common and under-recognized in the rheumatology clinic. *Rheumatology* 48, 1152-1154 (2009).
- 38. Ang, D. C., Choi, H., Kroenke, K. & Wolfe, F. Comorbid depression is an

independent risk factor for mortality in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *J. Rheumatol.* **32**, 1013-9 (2005).

- Dickens, C. The burden of depression in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology* 40, 1327-1330 (2001).
- 40. Katz, P. P. & Yelin, E. H. The development of depressive symptoms among women with rheumatoid arthritis the role of function. *Arthritis Rheum*.
 38, 49-56 (1995).
- 41. Murphy, H., Dickens, C., Creed, F. & Bernstein, R. Depression, illness perception and coping in rheumatoid arthritis. *J. Psychosom. Res.* **46**, 155-164 (1999).
- 42. Arnett, F. C. *et al.* The american rheumatism association 1987 revised criteria for the classification of rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* **31**, 315-324 (1988).
- 43. Aletaha, D. *et al.* 2010 Rheumatoid arthritis classification criteria: An American College of Rheumatology/European League Against Rheumatism collaborative initiative. *ARTHRITIS Rheum.* **62**, 2569-2581 (2010).
- 44. Radner, H., Neogi, T., Smolen, J. S. & Aletaha, D. Performance of the 2010 ACR/EULAR classification criteria for rheumatoid arthritis: A systematic literature review. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases* **73**, 114-123 (2014).
- Kaneko, Y., Kuwana, M., Kameda, H. & Takeuchi, T. Sensitivity and specificity of 2010 rheumatoid arthritis classification criteria. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. 50, 1268-74 (2011).
- Grassi, W., De Angelis, R., Lamanna, G. & Cervini, C. The clinical features of rheumatoid arthritis. in *European Journal of Radiology* 27, (Elsevier Sci Ireland Ltd, 1998).
- 47. van Leeuwen, M. A. et al. The acute-phase response in relation to

radiographic progression in early rheumatoid arthritis: a prospective study during the first three years of the disease. *Br. J. Rheumatol.* **32 Suppl 3**, 9-13 (1993).

- Heidari, B., Heidari, P. & Tayebi, M. E. The value of changes in CRP and ESR for predicting treatment response in rheumatoid arthritis. *APLAR J. Rheumatol.* 10, 23-28 (2007).
- 49. NIENHUIS, R. L. & MANDEMA, E. A NEW SERUM FACTOR IN PATIENTS WITH RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS; THE ANTIPERINUCLEAR FACTOR. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **23**, 302-305 (1964).
- 50. Yang, C. L., Zhou, Y. R., Zhou, F. & Li, J. Diagnostic value of serum anticyclic citrullinated peptide antibodies in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Nan Fang Yi Ke Da Xue Xue Bao* **27**, 1277-1279 (2007).
- 51. Nishimura, K. *et al.* Meta-analysis: Diagnostic accuracy of anti-cyclic citrullinated peptide antibody and rheumatoid factor for rheumatoid arthritis. *Annals of Internal Medicine* **146**, 797-808 (2007).
- Nielen, M. M. J. *et al.* Specific autoantibodies precede the symNielen, M.M.J., van Schaardenburg, D., Reesink, H.W., van de Stadt, R.J., van der Horst-Bruinsma, I.E., de Koning, M.H.M.T., Habibuw, M.R., Vandenbroucke, J.P., and Dijkmans, B.A.C. (2004). Specific autoantibodies pr. *Arthritis Rheum.* 50, 380-386 (2004).
- 53. Avouac, J., Gossec, L. & Dougados, M. Diagnostic and predictive value of anti-cyclic citrullinated protein antibodies in rheumatoid arthritis: a systematic literature review. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **65**, 845-51 (2006).
- 54. Rönnelid, J. *et al.* Longitudinal analysis of citrullinated protein/peptide antibodies (anti-CP) during 5 year follow up in early rheumatoid arthritis: anti-CP status predicts worse disease activity and greater radiological progression. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 64, 1744-9 (2005).
- 55. Chang, P. Y., Yang, C. T., Cheng, C. H. & Yu, K. H. Diagnostic performance

of anti-cyclic citrullinated peptide and rheumatoid factor in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Int. J. Rheum. Dis.* **19**, 880-886 (2016).

- 56. Mota, L. M. H. *et al.* Diagnóstico por imagem da artrite reumatoide inicial. *Revista Brasileira de Reumatologia* **52**, 761-766 (2012).
- 57. Boutry, N., Morel, M., Flipo, R.-M., Demondion, X. & Cotten, A. Early Rheumatoid Arthritis: A Review of MRI and Sonographic Findings. *Am. J. Roentgenol.* **189**, 1502-1509 (2007).
- Hetland, M. L. *et al.* MRI bone oedema is the strongest predictor of subsequent radiographic progression in early rheumatoid arthritis. Results from a 2-year randomised controlled trial (CIMESTRA). *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 68, 384-390 (2009).
- Østergaard, M. *et al.* OMERACT rheumatoid arthritis magnetic resonance imaging studies. Core set of MRI acquisitions, joint pathology definitions, and the OMERACT RA-MRI scoring system. in *Journal of Rheumatology* 30, 1385-1386 (2003).
- 60. Power, D. Prevalence of rheumatoid arthritis in Dublin, Ireland: A population based survey. *Ir. J. Med. Sci.* **168**, 197-200 (1999).
- 61. Carmona, L. The prevalence of rheumatoid arthritis in the general population of Spain. *Rheumatology* **41**, 88-95 (2002).
- Simonsson, M., Bergman, S., Jacobsson, L. T. H., Petersson, I. F. & Svensson, B. The prevalence of rheumatoid arthritis in Sweden. Scand. J. Rheumatol. 28, 340-343 (1999).
- Hunter, T. M. *et al.* Prevalence of rheumatoid arthritis in the United States adult population in healthcare claims databases, 2004-2014. *Rheumatol. Int.* 37, 1551-1557 (2017).
- 64. Dans, L. F., Tankeh-Torres, S., Amante, C. M. & Penserga, E. G. The prevalence of rheumatic diseases in a Filipino urban population: a WHO-

ILAR COPCORD Study. World Health Organization. International League of Associations for Rheumatology. Community Oriented Programme for the Control of the Rheumatic Diseases. J. Rheumatol. 24, 1814-9 (1997).

- Usenbo, A., Kramer, V., Young, T. & Musekiwa, A. Prevalence of Arthritis in Africa: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *PLoS One* 10, 133858 (2015).
- Puente, A. Del, Knowler, W. C., Pettitt, D. J. & Bennett, P. H. High incidence and prevalence of rheumatoid arthritis in pima Indians. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 129, 1170-1178 (1989).
- Harvey, J., Lotze, M., Stevens, M. B., Lambert, G. & Jacobson, D. Rheumatoid arthritis in a Chippewa Band. I. Pilot screening study of disease prevalence. *Arthritis Rheum.* 24, 717-721 (1981).
- LINOS, A., WORTHINGTON, J. W., O'FALLON, M. & KURLAND, L. T. THE EPIDEMIOLOGY OF RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS IN ROCHESTER MINNESOTA: A STUDY OF INCIDENCE, PREVALENCE, AND MORTALITY1. Am. J. Epidemiol. 111, 87-98 (1980).
- 69. Cutolo, M., Capellino, S. & Straub, R. H. Oestrogens in rheumatic diseases: friend or foe? *Rheumatology* **47**, iii2-iii5 (2008).
- Reduction in incidence of rheumatoid arthritis associated with oral contraceptives. Royal College of General Practitioners' Oral Contraception Study. *Lancet (London, England)* 1, 569-71 (1978).
- 71. Silman, A., Kay, A. & Brennan, P. Timing of Pregnancy in Relation to the Onset of Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* **35**, 152-155 (1992).
- MacGregor, A. J. *et al.* Characterizing the quantitative genetic contribution to rheumatoid arthritis using data from twins. *Arthritis Rheum.* 43, 30-37 (2000).
- 73. Svendsen, A. J. et al. On the Origin of Rheumatoid Arthritis: The Impact of

Environment and Genes-A Population Based Twin Study. *PLoS One* **8**, e57304 (2013).

- 74. Gregersen, P. K., Silver, J. & Winchester, R. J. The shared epitope hypothesis. an approach to understanding the molecular genetics of susceptibility to rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 30, 1205-1213 (1987).
- 75. De Almeida, D. E., Ling, S. & Holoshitz, J. New insights into the functional role of the rheumatoid arthritis shared epitope. *FEBS Letters* **585**, 3619-3626 (2011).
- Farragher, T. M. *et al.* Association of the HLA-DRB1 gene with premature death, particularly from cardiovascular disease, in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and inflammatory polyarthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 58, 359-69 (2008).
- Viatte, S. *et al.* Association of HLA-DRB1 haplotypes with rheumatoid arthritis severity, mortality, and treatment response. *JAMA - J. Am. Med. Assoc.* 313, 1645-1656 (2015).
- Hill, J. A. *et al.* Cutting edge: the conversion of arginine to citrulline allows for a high-affinity peptide interaction with the rheumatoid arthritisassociated HLA-DRB1*0401 MHC class II molecule. *J. Immunol.* 171, 538-41 (2003).
- 79. Carrier, N. *et al.* The DERAA HLA-DR alleles in patients with early polyarthritis: protection against severe disease and lack of association with rheumatoid arthritis autoantibodies. *Arthritis Rheum.* **60**, 698-707 (2009).
- Wucherpfennig, K. W. & Strominger, J. L. Selective binding of self peptides to disease-associated major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules: a mechanism for MHC-linked susceptibility to human autoimmune diseases. J. Exp. Med. 181, 1597-601 (1995).
- 81. Bhayani, H. R. & Hedrick, S. M. The role of polymorphic amino acids of the

MHC molecule in the selection of the T cell repertoire. *J. Immunol.* **146**, 1093-8 (1991).

- Tait, B. D., Drummond, B. P., Varney, M. D. & Harrison, L. C. HLA-DRB1*0401 is associated with susceptibility to insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus independently of the DQB1 locus. *Eur. J. Immunogenet.* 22, 289-97 (1995).
- du Montcel, S. T. *et al.* New classification of HLA-DRB1 alleles supports the shared epitope hypothesis of rheumatoid arthritis susceptibility. *Arthritis Rheum.* 52, 1063-8 (2005).
- 84. Viatte, S. *et al.* Investigation of rheumatoid arthritis genetic susceptibility markers in the early rheumatoid arthritis study further replicates the TRAF1 association with radiological damage. *J. Rheumatol.* 40, 144-156 (2013).
- 85. Begovich, A. B. *et al.* A missense single-nucleotide polymorphism in a gene encoding a protein tyrosine phosphatase (PTPN22) is associated with rheumatoid arthritis. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* **75**, 330-337 (2004).
- Ivashkiv, L. B. PTPN22 in Autoimmunity: Different Cell and Different Way. Immunity 39, 91-93 (2013).
- 87. Fiorillo, E. *et al.* Autoimmune-associated PTPN22 R620W variation reduces phosphorylation of lymphoid phosphatase on an inhibitory tyrosine residue.
 J. Biol. Chem. 285, 26506-26518 (2010).
- Sigurdsson, S. *et al.* Association of a haplotype in the promoter region of the interferon regulatory factor 5 gene with rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 56, 2202-2210 (2007).
- Plenge, R. M. et al. Replication of putative candidate-gene associations with rheumatoid arthritis in >4,000 samples from North America and Sweden: Association of susceptibility with PTPN22, CTLA4, and PADI4. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 77, 1044-1060 (2005).

- 90. Orozco, G. *et al*. Association of CD40 with rheumatoid arthritis confirmed in a large UK case-control study. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **69**, 813-816 (2010).
- 91. Lee, Y. H., Rho, Y. H., Choi, S. J., Ji, J. D. & Song, G. G. PADI4 polymorphisms and rheumatoid arthritis susceptibility: A meta-analysis. *Rheumatol. Int.* **27**, 827-833 (2007).
- 92. Kurkó, J. *et al.* Genetics of rheumatoid arthritis A comprehensive review. *Clinical Reviews in Allergy and Immunology* **45**, 170-179 (2013).
- Knevel, R. *et al.* Association of variants in IL2RA with progression of joint destruction in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 65, 1684-1693 (2013).
- 94. Van Der Linden, M. P. M. *et al.* Association of a single-nucleotide polymorphism in CD40 with the rate of joint destruction in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* **60**, 2242-2247 (2009).
- 95. van Steenbergen, H. W. *et al.* A genetic study on C5-TRAF1 and progression of joint damage in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Res. Ther.*17, 1 (2015).
- 96. Maeda, Y. & Takeda, K. Role of Gut Microbiota in Rheumatoid Arthritis. J. *Clin. Med.* **6**, 60 (2017).
- 97. Wu, H. J. *et al.* Gut-residing segmented filamentous bacteria drive autoimmune arthritis via T helper 17 cells. *Immunity* **32**, 815-827 (2010).
- Maeda, Y. *et al.* Dysbiosis Contributes to Arthritis Development via Activation of Autoreactive T Cells in the Intestine. *Arthritis Rheumatol*. (2016). doi:10.1002/art.39783
- 99. Scher, J. U. *et al.* Expansion of intestinal Prevotella copri correlates with enhanced susceptibility to arthritis: (A) LEfSe (Segata et al., 2011) was used to compare the abundances of all detected clades among all groups, producing an effect size for each comparison ('Mater. *Elife* 2, (2013).

- 100. Zhang, X. *et al.* The oral and gut microbiomes are perturbed in rheumatoid arthritis and partly normalized after treatment. *Nat. Med.* **21**, 895-905 (2015).
- 101. Pischon, N. *et al.* Association among rheumatoid arthritis, oral hygiene, and periodontitis. *J. Periodontol.* **79**, 979-86 (2008).
- 102. Potikuri, D. *et al.* Periodontal disease is significantly higher in non-smoking treatment-naive rheumatoid arthritis patients: results from a case-control study. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **71**, 1541-4 (2012).
- 103. Bıyıkoğlu, B. *et al.* Periodontal therapy in chronic periodontitis lowers gingival crevicular fluid interleukin-1beta and DAS28 in rheumatoid arthritis patients. *Rheumatol. Int.* **33**, 2607-2616 (2013).
- 104. McGraw, W. T., Potempa, J., Farley, D. & Travis, J. Purification, characterization, and sequence analysis of a potential virulence factor from Porphyromonas gingivalis, peptidylarginine deiminase. *Infect. Immun.* 67, 3248-3256 (1999).
- 105. de Brito Rocha, S., Baldo, D. C. & Andrade, L. E. C. Clinical and pathophysiologic relevance of autoantibodies in rheumatoid arthritis. *Advances in rheumatology (London, England)* **59**, 2 (2019).
- Wegner, N. *et al.* Peptidylarginine deiminase from Porphyromonas gingivalis citrullinates human fibrinogen and α-enolase: implications for autoimmunity in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 62, 2662-72 (2010).
- 107. Hitchon, C. A. *et al.* Antibodies to porphyromonas gingivalis are associated with anticitrullinated protein antibodies in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and their relatives. *J. Rheumatol.* **37**, 1105-12 (2010).
- 108. Arvikar, S. L. *et al.* Clinical correlations with Porphyromonas gingivalis antibody responses in patients with early rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Res. Ther.* **15**, R109 (2013).

- 109. Takeda, T. *et al.* Lytic Epstein-Barr virus infection in the synovial tissue of patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* **43**, 1218-1225 (2000).
- 110. Alspaugh, M. A., Henle, G., Lennette, E. T. & Henle, W. Elevated levels of antibodies to Epstein-Barr virus antigens in sera and synovial fluids of patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *J. Clin. Invest.* **67**, 1134-1140 (1981).
- 111. Toussirot, E., Wendling, D., Tiberghien, P., Luka, J. & Roudier, J. Decreased T cell precursor frequencies to Epstein-Barr virus glycoprotein Gp110 in peripheral blood correlate with disease activity and severity in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Ann. Rheum. Dis. 59, 533-8 (2000).
- 112. Baboonian, C., Venables, P. J., Williams, D. G., Williams, R. O. & Maini, R. N. Cross reaction of antibodies to a glycine/alanine repeat sequence of Epstein-Barr virus nuclear antigen-1 with collagen, cytokeratin, and actin. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 50, 772-5 (1991).
- 113. Pratesi, F., Tommasi, C., Anzilotti, C., Chimenti, D. & Migliorini, P.
 Deiminated Epstein-Barr virus nuclear antigen 1 is a target of anticitrullinated protein antibodies in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum*.
 54, 733-741 (2006).
- 114. Senior, B. W., Anderson, G. A., Morley, K. D. & Kerr, M. A. Evidence that patients with rheumatoid arthritis have asymptomatic 'non-significant' Proteus mirabilis bacteriuria more frequently than healthy controls. J. Infect. 38, 99-106 (1999).
- 115. Wilson, C., Thakore, A., Isenberg, D. & Ebringer, A. Correlation between anti-Proteus antibodies and isolation rates of P. mirabilis in rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatol. Int.* **16**, 187-189 (1997).
- 116. Ebringer, A. (Alan). *Rheumatoid arthritis and Proteus*. (Springer-Verlag London Limited, 2012).
- 117. Wilson, C. *et al.* Shared amino acid sequences between major histocompatibility complex class II glycoproteins, type XI collagen and

Proteus mirabilis in rheumatoid arthritis. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **54**, 216-220 (1995).

- 118. Essackjee, K., Goorah, S., Ramchurn, S. K., Cheeneebash, J. & Walker-Bone, K. Prevalence of and risk factors for chronic arthralgia and rheumatoid-like polyarthritis more than 2 years after infection with chikungunya virus. *Postgrad. Med. J.* 89, 440-447 (2013).
- 119. Manimunda, S. P. *et al.* Clinical progression of chikungunya fever during acute and chronic arthritic stages and the changes in joint morphology as revealed by imaging. *Trans. R. Soc. Trop. Med. Hyg.* **104**, 392-399 (2010).
- 120. Miner, J. J. *et al.* Brief report: Chikungunya viral arthritis in the United States: A mimic of seronegative rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* 67, 1214-1220 (2015).
- Amaral, J. K., Bingham, C. O. & Schoen, R. T. Successful Methotrexate Treatment of Chronic Chikungunya Arthritis. JCR J. Clin. Rheumatol. 1 (2018). doi:10.1097/rhu.0000000000000943
- Labadie, K. *et al.* Chikungunya disease in nonhuman primates involves long-term viral persistence in macrophages. *J. Clin. Invest.* **120**, 894-906 (2010).
- 123. Hoarau, J.-J. *et al.* Persistent Chronic Inflammation and Infection by Chikungunya Arthritogenic Alphavirus in Spite of a Robust Host Immune Response. J. Immunol. **184**, 5914-5927 (2010).
- 124. Chopra, A. *et al.* Chikungunya virus aches and pains: An emerging challenge. *Arthritis Rheum.* **58**, 2921-2922 (2008).
- 125. Thanapati, S. *et al.* Impaired NK cell functionality and increased TNF-α production as biomarkers of chronic chikungunya arthritis and rheumatoid arthritis. *Hum. Immunol.* **78**, 370-374 (2017).
- 126. Thanapati, S., Ganu, M. A. & Tripathy, A. S. Differential inhibitory and

activating NK cell receptor levels and NK/NKT-like cell functionality in chronic and recovered stages of chikungunya. *PLoS One* **12**, e0188342 (2017).

- 127. Talbot, J. *et al.* Smoking-induced aggravation of experimental arthritis is dependent of aryl hydrocarbon receptor activation in Th17 cells. *Arthritis Res. Ther.* **20**, (2018).
- 128. Pedersen, M. *et al.* Environmental risk factors differ between rheumatoid arthritis with and without auto-antibodies against cyclic citrullinated peptides. *Arthritis Res. Ther.* **8**, R133 (2006).
- 129. Klareskog, L. *et al.* A new model for an etiology of rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* **54**, 38-46 (2006).
- Damgaard, D. *et al.* Smoking is associated with increased levels of extracellular peptidylarginine deiminase 2 (PAD2) in the lungs. *Clin. Exp. Rheumatol.* 33, 405-8
- 131. Denison, M. S. & Nagy, S. R. A CTIVATION OF THE A RYL H YDROCARBON R ECEPTOR BY S TRUCTURALLY D IVERSE E XOGENOUS AND E NDOGENOUS C HEMICALS . Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 43, 309-334 (2003).
- 132. Quintana, F. J. *et al.* Control of T(reg) and T(H)17 cell differentiation by the aryl hydrocarbon receptor. *Nature* **453**, 65-71 (2008).
- Iqbal, J. *et al.* Smoke carcinogens cause bone loss through the aryl hydrocarbon receptor and induction of Cyp1 enzymes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **110**, 11115-20 (2013).
- 134. Tamaki, A. *et al.* Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon increases mRNA level for interleukin 1 beta in human fibroblast-like synoviocyte line via aryl hydrocarbon receptor. *Biol. Pharm. Bull.* **27**, 407-10 (2004).
- 135. Meyer, A., Sandler, D. P., Beane Freeman, L. E., Hofmann, J. N. & Parks,C. G. Pesticide exposure and risk of rheumatoid arthritis among licensed

male pesticide applicators in the agricultural health study. *Environ. Health Perspect.* **125**, (2017).

- 136. van Vollenhoven, R. Treat-to-target in rheumatoid arthritis are we there yet? *Nature Reviews Rheumatology* **15**, 180-186 (2019).
- 137. Aletaha, D., Alasti, F. & Smolen, J. S. Optimisation of a treat-To-Target approach in rheumatoid arthritis: Strategies for the 3-month time point. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **75**, 1479-1485 (2016).
- Aletaha, D. & Smolen, J. The Simplified Disease Activity Index (SDAI) and the Clinical Disease Activity Index (CDAI): A review of their usefulness and validity in rheumatoid arthritis. *Clinical and Experimental Rheumatology* 23, (2005).
- 139. Romão, V. C., Vital, E. M., Fonseca, J. E. & Buch, M. H. Right drug, right patient, right time: aspiration or future promise for biologics in rheumatoid arthritis? *Arthritis research & therapy* **19**, 239 (2017).
- 140. Nam, J. L. *et al.* Remission induction comparing infliximab and high-dose intravenous steroid, followed by treat-to-target: A double-blind, randomised, controlled trial in new-onset, treatment-naive, rheumatoid arthritis (the IDEA study). *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases* **73**, 75-85 (2014).
- 141. Smolen, J. S. *et al.* EULAR recommendations for the management of rheumatoid arthritis with synthetic and biological disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs: 2016 update. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **76**, 960-977 (2017).
- 142. Nam, J. L. *et al.* Efficacy of biological disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs: A systematic literature review informing the 2016 update of the EULAR recommendations for the management of rheumatoid arthritis. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **76**, 1108-1113 (2017).
- 143. Cutolo, M., Sulli, A., Pizzorni, C., Seriolo, B. & STRAUB, R. H. Antiinflammatory mechanisms of methotrexate in rheumatoid arthritis. *Ann*.

Rheum. Dis. 60, 729-735 (2001).

- 144. Brennan, F. M., Jackson, A., Chantry, D., Maini, R. & Feldmann, M.
 INHIBITORY EFFECT OF TNFα ANTIBODIES ON SYNOVIAL CELL INTERLEUKIN1 PRODUCTION IN RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS. *Lancet* 334, 244-247 (1989).
- 145. Williams, R. O., Feldmann, M. & Maini, R. N. Anti-tumor necrosis factor ameliorates joint disease in murine collagen-induced arthritis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 89, 9784-9788 (1992).
- Braun, T. & Zwerina, J. Positive regulators of osteoclastogenesis and bone resorption in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Research and Therapy* 13, (2011).
- 147. Dain, L., Braun-Moscovici, Y., Baum, E., Nahir, A. M. & Hoffer, E.
 Modification of neutrophil function by plasma of rheumatoid arthritis patients treated with infliximab. *Clin. Exp. Rheumatol.* 24, 38-44
- 148. Tracey, D., Klareskog, L., Sasso, E. H., Salfeld, J. G. & Tak, P. P. Tumor necrosis factor antagonist mechanisms of action: A comprehensive review. *Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 117, 244-279 (2008).
- 149. Maini, R. Infliximab treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatic Disease Clinics of North America* **30**, 329-347 (2004).
- 150. MA, X. & XU, S. TNF inhibitor therapy for rheumatoid arthritis. *Biomed. Reports* 1, 177-184 (2013).
- 151. Hetland, M. L. *et al.* Direct comparison of treatment responses, remission rates, and drug adherence in patients with rheumatoid arthritis treated with adalimumab, etanercept, or infliximab: Results from eight years of surveillance of clinical practice in the nationwide Danish DANBIO registry. *Arthritis Rheum.* **62**, 22-32 (2010).
- 152. Bathon, J. M. *et al.* A comparison of etanercept and methotrexate in patients with early rheumatoid arthritis. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **343**, 1586-93

(2000).

- 153. Maini, R. N. *et al.* Sustained Improvement Over Two Years in Physical Function, Structural Damage, and Signs and Symptoms Among Patients With Rheumatoid Arthritis Treated With and Methotrexate. *Arthritis Rheum.* 50, 1051-1065 (2004).
- 154. Stamm, T. A. *et al.* Induction of sustained remission in early inflammatory arthritis with the combination of infliximab plus methotrexate: the DINORA trial. *Arthritis Res. Ther.* **20**, 174 (2018).
- 155. Van Der Heijde, D. *et al.* Comparison of etanercept and methotrexate, alone and combined, in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis: Two-year clinical and radiographic results from the TEMPO study, a double-blind, randomized trial. *Arthritis Rheum.* **54**, 1063-1074 (2006).
- 156. Van Der Heijde, D. *et al.* Disease remission and sustained halting of radiographic progression with combination etanercept and methotrexate in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* **56**, 3928-3939 (2007).
- 157. Kavanaugh, A. *et al.* Clinical, functional and radiographic consequences of achieving stable low disease activity and remission with adalimumab plus methotrexate or methotrexate alone in early rheumatoid arthritis: 26-Week results from the randomised, controlled OPTIMA study. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **72**, 64-71 (2013).
- 158. Keystone, E. C. *et al.* Golimumab, a human antibody to tumour necrosis factor α given by monthly subcutaneous injections, in active rheumatoid arthritis despite methotrexate therapy: The GO-FORWARD Study. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 68, 789-796 (2009).
- 159. Smolen, J. *et al.* Efficacy and safety of certolizumab pegol plus methotrexate in active rheumatoid arthritis: The RAPID 2 study. A randomised controlled trial. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **68**, 797-804 (2009).
- 160. Owczarczyk-Saczonek, A. *et al.* Secondary failure of TNF- α inhibitors in
clinical practice. *Dermatologic Therapy* **32**, (2019).

- 161. Hirano, T. *et al.* Excessive production of interleukin 6/B cell stimulatory factor-2 in rheumatoid arthritis. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **18**, 1797-1802 (1988).
- 162. Madhok, R., Crilly, A., Watson, J. & Capell, H. A. Serum interleukin 6 levels in rheumatoid arthritis: Correlations with clinical and laboratory indices of disease activity. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **52**, 232-234 (1993).
- Ogata, A., Kato, Y., Higa, S. & Yoshizaki, K. IL-6 inhibitor for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis: A comprehensive review. *Mod. Rheumatol.* 29, 258-267 (2019).
- 164. Crofford, L. J. *et al.* Circadian relationships between interleukin (IL)-6 and hypothalamic- pituitary-adrenal axis hormones: Failure of IL-6 to cause sustained hypercortisolism in patients with early untreated rheumatoid arthritis. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 82, 1279-1283 (1997).
- 165. Burmester, G. R. *et al.* Effectiveness and safety of the interleukin 6receptor antagonist tocilizumab after 4 and 24 weeks in patients with active rheumatoid arthritis: The first phase IIIb real-life study (TAMARA). *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **70**, 755-759 (2011).
- Nemeth, E. *et al.* IL-6 mediates hypoferremia of inflammation by inducing the synthesis of the iron regulatory hormone hepcidin. *J. Clin. Invest.* 113, 1271-1276 (2004).
- 167. Gauldie, J., Richards, C., Harnish, D., Lansdorp, P. & Baumann, H. Interferon beta 2/B-cell stimulatory factor type 2 shares identity with monocyte-derived hepatocyte-stimulating factor and regulates the major acute phase protein response in liver cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 84, 7251-7255 (1987).
- Raimondo, M. G., Biggioggero, M., Crotti, C., Becciolini, A. & Favalli, E. G.
 Profile of sarilumab and its potential in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. *Drug Design, Development and Therapy* 11, 1593-1603 (2017).

- 169. Choy, E. *et al.* Evaluation of the efficacy and safety of sarilumab combination therapy in patients with rheumatoid arthritis with inadequate response to conventional disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs or tumour necrosis factor α inhibitors: systematic literature review and network meta-analyses. doi:10.1136/rmdopen-2018-000798
- 170. Jones, G. *et al.* Comparison of tocilizumab monotherapy versus methotrexate monotherapy in patients with moderate to severe rheumatoid arthritis: The AMBITION study. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 69, 88-96 (2010).
- 171. Genovese, M. C. *et al.* Interleukin-6 receptor inhibition with tocilizumab reduces disease activity in rheumatoid arthritis with inadequate response to disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs: The tocilizumab in combination with traditional disease-modifying antirheumatic drug therapy study. *Arthritis Rheum.* **58**, 2968-2980 (2008).
- 172. Kremer, J. M. *et al.* Tocilizumab inhibits structural joint damage in rheumatoid arthritis patients with inadequate responses to methotrexate: Results from the double-blind treatment phase of a randomized placebocontrolled trial of tocilizumab safety and prevention of structural joint damage at one year. *Arthritis Rheum.* **63**, 609-621 (2011).
- 173. Emery, P. *et al.* IL-6 receptor inhibition with tocilizumab improves treatment outcomes in patients with rheumatoid arthritis refractory to anti-tumour necrosis factor biologicals: Results from a 24-week multicentre randomised placebo-controlled trial. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 67, 1516-1523 (2008).
- 174. Hashimoto, J. *et al.* Humanized anti-interleukin-6-receptor antibody (tocilizumab) monotherapy is more effective in slowing radiographic progression in patients with rheumatoid arthritis at high baseline risk for structural damage evaluated with levels of biomarkers, radiography, and BMI: Data from the SAMURAI study. *Mod. Rheumatol.* **21**, 10-15 (2011).
- 175. Kaneko, Y. et al. Comparison of adding tocilizumab to methotrexate with

switching to tocilizumab in patients with rheumatoid arthritis with inadequate response to methotrexate: 52-week results from a prospective, randomised, controlled study (SURPRISE study). *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **75**, 1917-1923 (2016).

- 176. Harrold, L. R. *et al.* Impact of Tocilizumab Monotherapy on Clinical and Patient-Reported Quality-of-Life Outcomes in Patients with Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Rheumatol. Ther.* **4**, 405-417 (2017).
- 177. Sigaux, J. *et al*. Immunogenicity of tocilizumab in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Jt. Bone Spine* **84**, 39-45 (2017).
- 178. Kawashiri, S. Y. *et al.* Switching to the anti-interleukin-6 receptor antibody tocilizumab in rheumatoid arthritis patients refractory to antitumor necrosis factor biologics. *Mod. Rheumatol.* **20**, 40-45 (2010).
- 179. Nishimoto, N. *et al.* Drug free REmission/low disease activity after cessation of tocilizumab (Actemra) Monotherapy (DREAM) study. *Mod. Rheumatol.* (2013). doi:10.1007/s10165-013-0894-z
- 180. Kaneko, Y. *et al.* Tocilizumab discontinuation after attaining remission in patients with rheumatoid arthritis who were treated with tocilizumab alone or in combination with methotrexate: Results from a prospective randomised controlled study (the second year of the SURPRISE study). *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases* **77**, 1268-1275 (2018).
- 181. Kay, J. & Calabrese, L. The role of interleukin-1 in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology* **43**, 2-9 (2004).
- Arend, W. P. Cytokine imbalance in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis: The role of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. *Semin. Arthritis Rheum.* 30, 1-6 (2001).
- Eastgate, J. A. *et al.* Correlation of plasma interleukin 1 levels with disease activity in rheumatoid arthritis. *Lancet (London, England)* 2, 706-9 (1988).

- Zanette, D. *et al.* Human IL-1 receptor antagonist from Escherichia coli: large-scale microbial growth and protein purification. *J. Biotechnol.* 64, 187-96 (1998).
- 185. Fleischmann, R., Stern, R. & Iqbal, I. Expert Opinion on Biological Therapy Anakinra: an inhibitor of IL-1 for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis Drug Evaluation. (2005). doi:10.1517/14712598.4.8.1333
- 186. Nuki, G., Bresnihan, B., Bear, M. B. & McCabe, D. Long-term safety and maintenance of clinical improvement following treatment with anakinra (Recombinant human interleukin-1 receptor antagonist) in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: Extension phase of a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Arthritis Rheum.* 46, 2838-2846 (2002).
- 187. Jiang, Y. *et al.* A multicenter, double-blind, dose-ranging, randomized, placebo- controlled study of recombinant human interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: Radiologic progression and correlation of genant and larsen scores. *Arthritis Rheum.* **43**, 1001-1009 (2000).
- 188. Kalliolias, G. D. & C Liossis, S.-N. The future of the IL-1 receptor antagonist anakinra: from rheumatoid arthritis to adult-onset Still's disease and systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis. *Expert Opin*. *Investig. Drugs* 17, 349-359 (2008).
- 189. Coiffier, B. *et al.* Rituximab (anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody) for the treatment of patients with relapsing or refractory aggressive lymphoma: A multicenter phase II study. *Blood* **92**, 1927-1932 (1998).
- Smolen, J. S. *et al.* Consensus statement on the use of rituximab in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases* 66, 143-150 (2007).
- 191. Reff, M. E. *et al.* Depletion of B cells in vivo by a chimeric mouse human monoclonal antibody to CD20. *Blood* **83**, 435-445 (1994).

- 192. Leandro, M. J. B-cell subpopulations in humans and their differential susceptibility to depletion with anti-CD20 monoclonal antibodies. *Arthritis Research and Therapy* **15**, (2013).
- 193. Uchida, J. *et al.* The innate mononuclear phagocyte network depletes B lymphocytes through Fc receptor-dependent mechanisms during anti-CD20 antibody immunotherapy. *J. Exp. Med.* **199**, 1659-1669 (2004).
- 194. Di Gaetano, N. *et al.* Complement Activation Determines the Therapeutic Activity of Rituximab In Vivo. *J. Immunol.* **171**, 1581-1587 (2003).
- 195. Szodoray, P. *et al.* Apoptotic effect of rituximab on peripheral blood B cells in rheumatoid arthritis. *Scand. J. Immunol.* **60**, 209-218 (2004).
- Bouaziz, J. D. *et al.* Therapeutic B cell depletion impairs adaptive and autoreactive CD4 + T cell activation in mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 104, 20878-20883 (2007).
- 197. Cambridge, G. *et al.* Serologic changes following B lymphocyte depletion therapy for rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* **48**, 2146-2154 (2003).
- 198. Vos, K. *et al.* Early effects of rituximab on the synovial cell infiltrate in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* **56**, 772-778 (2007).
- 199. Cohen, S. B. *et al.* Rituximab for rheumatoid arthritis refractory to antitumor necrosis factor therapy: Results of a multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase III trial evaluating primary efficacy and safety at twenty-four weeks. *Arthritis Rheum.* **54**, 2793-2806 (2006).
- 200. Chatzidionysiou, K. *et al.* Highest clinical effectiveness of rituximab in autoantibody-positive patients with rheumatoid arthritis and in those for whom no more than one previous TNF antagonist has failed: Pooled data from 10 European registries. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **70**, 1575-1580 (2011).
- 201. Narváez, J. et al. Predictors of response to rituximab in patients with

active rheumatoid arthritis and inadequate response to anti-TNF agents or traditional DMARDs. *Clin. Exp. Rheumatol.* **29**, 991-997 (2011).

- Isaacs, J. D. *et al.* Effect of baseline rheumatoid factor and anticitrullinated peptide antibody serotype on rituximab clinical response: A meta-analysis. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **72**, 329-336 (2013).
- 203. Dörner, T., Kinnman, N. & Tak, P. P. Targeting B cells in immunemediated inflammatory disease: A comprehensive review of mechanisms of action and identification of biomarkers. *Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 125, 464-475 (2010).
- 204. Repeated B lymphocyte depletion with rituximab in rheumatoid arthritis over 7 yrs. - PubMed - NCBI. Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17189244. (Accessed: 27th April 2020)
- 205. Mok, C. C. Rituximab for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis: An update. Drug Design, Development and Therapy **8**, 87-100 (2013).
- 206. Yashiro, Y. *et al.* A fundamental difference in the capacity to induce proliferation of naive T cells between CD28 and other co-stimulatory molecules. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **28**, 926-935 (1998).
- 207. Walker, L. S. K. & Sansom, D. M. The emerging role of CTLA4 as a cellextrinsic regulator of T cell responses. *Nature Reviews Immunology* **11**, 852-863 (2011).
- Bonelli, M. *et al.* Abatacept (CTLA-4IG) treatment reduces the migratory capacity of monocytes in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 65, 599-607 (2013).
- 209. Zou, Q. F., Li, L., Han, Q. R., Wang, Y. J. & Wang, X. B. Abatacept alleviates rheumatoid arthritis development by inhibiting migration of fibroblast-like synoviocytes via MAPK pathway. *Eur. Rev. Med. Pharmacol. Sci.* 23, 3105-3111 (2019).

- 210. Scarsi, M. et al. Abatacept reduces levels of switched memory B cells, autoantibodies, and immunoglobulins in patients with rheumatoid arthritis.
 J. Rheumatol. 41, 666-672 (2014).
- 211. Westhovens, R. *et al.* Clinical efficacy and safety of abatacept in methotrexate-naive patients with early rheumatoid arthritis and poor prognostic factors. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **68**, 1870-1877 (2009).
- Kremer, J. M. *et al.* Treatment of Rheumatoid Arthritis by Selective Inhibition of T-Cell Activation with Fusion Protein CTLA4Ig. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 349, 1907-1915 (2003).
- Genovese, M. C. *et al.* Abatacept for rheumatoid arthritis refractory to tumor necrosis factor alpha inhibition.[erratum appears in N Engl J Med. 2005 Nov 24;353(21):2311]. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 353, 1114-1123 (2005).
- 214. Kremer, J. M. *et al.* Treatment of rheumatoid arthritis with the selective costimulation modulator abatacept: Twelve-month results of a phase IIb, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *Arthritis Rheum.* 52, 2263-2271 (2005).
- 215. Gottenberg, J. E. *et al.* Positivity for anti-cyclic citrullinated peptide is associated with a better response to abatacept: Data from the 'Orencia and Rheumatoid Arthritis' registry. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **71**, 1815-1819 (2012).
- 216. Westhovens, R. *et al.* Clinical efficacy and safety of abatacept in methotrexate-naive patients with early rheumatoid arthritis and poor prognostic factors. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **68**, 1870-1877 (2009).
- 217. Wéclawiak, H., Kamar, N., Ould-Mohamed, A., Cardeau-Desangles, I. & Rostaing, L. Biological agents in kidney transplantation: Belatacept is entering the field. *Expert Opinion on Biological Therapy* **10**, 1501-1508 (2010).
- 218. Russell, S. M. et al. Mutation of Jak3 in a patient with SCID: Essential role

of Jak3 in lymphoid development. Science (80-.). 270, 797-800 (1995).

- 219. Macchi, P. *et al.* Mutations of jak-3 gene in patients with autosomal severe combined immune deficiency (SCID). *Nature* **377**, 65-68 (1995).
- 220. News in brief. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 11, 895-895 (2012).
- 221. Strand, V. *et al.* Tofacitinib versus methotrexate in rheumatoid arthritis:
 Patient-reported outcomes from the randomised phase III ORAL Start trial.
 RMD Open 2, (2016).
- 222. Van Der Heijde, D. *et al.* Tofacitinib (CP-690,550) in patients with rheumatoid arthritis receiving methotrexate: Twelve-month data from a twenty-four-month phase III randomized radiographic study. *Arthritis Rheum.* 65, 559-570 (2013).
- 223. Christina, C. S. *et al.* Efficacy and safety of tofacitinib following inadequate response to conventional synthetic or biological disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **75**, 1293-1301 (2016).
- 224. Strand, V. *et al.* Tofacitinib with methotrexate in third-line treatment of patients with active rheumatoid arthritis: Patient-reported outcomes from a phase III trial. *Arthritis Care Res.* **67**, 475-483 (2015).
- 225. Fleischmann, R. *et al.* Efficacy and safety of tofacitinib in patients with active rheumatoid arthritis: review of key Phase 2 studies. *Int. J. Rheum. Dis.* **19**, 1216-1225 (2016).
- 226. O'Shea, J. J., Gadina, M. & Kanno, Y. Cytokine Signaling: Birth of a Pathway. J. Immunol. **187**, 5475-5478 (2011).
- 227. Larner, A. C. *et al.* Transcriptional induction of two genes in human cells by β interferon. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **81**, 6733-6737 (1984).
- 228. Fu, X. Y., Kessler, D. S., Veals, S. A., Levy, D. E. & Darnell, J. E. ISGF3, the transcriptional activator induced by interferon α, consists of multiple interacting polypeptide chains. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 87, 8555-

8559 (1990).

- 229. Schindler, C., Fu, X. Y., Improta, T., Aebersold, R. & Darnell, J. E.
 Proteins of transcription factor ISGF-3: One gene encodes the 91-and 84kDa ISGF-3 proteins that are activated by interferon α. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 89, 7836-7839 (1992).
- 230. Fu, X. Y., Schindler, C., Improta, T., Aebersold, R. & Darnell, J. E. The proteins of ISGF-3, the interferon α-induced transcriptional activator, define a gene family involved in signal transduction. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U. S. A. 89, 7840-7843 (1992).
- 231. Schindler, C., Shuai, K., Prezioso, V. R. & Darnell, J. E. Interferondependent tyrosine phosphorylation of a latent cytoplasmic transcription factor. *Science (80-.).* **257**, 809-813 (1992).
- 232. Firmbach-Kraft, I., Byers, M., Shows, T., Dalla-Favera, R. & Krolewski, J. J. tyk2, prototype of a novel class of non-receptor tyrosine kinase genes. Oncogene 5, 1329-36 (1990).
- Wilks, A. F. Two putative protein-tyrosine kinases identified by application of the polymerase chain reaction. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 86, 1603-1607 (1989).
- 234. Wilks, A. F. *et al.* Two novel protein-tyrosine kinases, each with a second phosphotransferase-related catalytic domain, define a new class of protein kinase. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **11**, 2057-2065 (1991).
- 235. Bousoik, E. & Montazeri Aliabadi, H. "Do We Know Jack" About JAK? A Closer Look at JAK/STAT Signaling Pathway. *Front. Oncol.* **8**, (2018).
- 236. Saharinen, P. & Silvennoinen, O. The pseudokinase domain is required for suppression of basal activity of Jak2 and Jak3 tyrosine kinases and for cytokine-inducible activation of signal transduction. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 47954-47963 (2002).

- 237. Salas, A. *et al.* JAK-STAT pathway targeting for the treatment of inflammatory bowel disease. *Nature Reviews Gastroenterology and Hepatology* 1-15 (2020). doi:10.1038/s41575-020-0273-0
- 238. Delgoffe, G. M. & Vignali, D. A. A. STAT heterodimers in immunity. JAK-STAT 2, e23060 (2013).
- 239. Decker, T., Kovarik, P. & Meinke, A. GAS elements: A few nucleotides with a major impact on cytokine-induced gene expression. *J. Interf. Cytokine Res.* 17, 121-134 (1997).
- 240. Darnell, J. E., Kerr, I. M. & Stark, G. R. Jak-STAT pathways and transcriptional activation in response to IFNs and other extracellular signaling proteins. *Science (80-.).* **264**, 1415-1421 (1994).
- 241. Villarino, A. V., Kanno, Y. & O'Shea, J. J. Mechanisms and consequences of Jak-STAT signaling in the immune system. *Nature Immunology* 18, 374-384 (2017).
- 242. Wilson, C. B., Rowell, E. & Sekimata, M. Epigenetic control of T-helpercell differentiation. *Nature Reviews Immunology* **9**, 91-105 (2009).
- 243. Vahedi, G. *et al.* STATs shape the active enhancer landscape of T cell populations. *Cell* **151**, 981-993 (2012).
- Durant, L. *et al.* Diverse targets of the transcription factor STAT3 contribute to T cell pathogenicity and homeostasis. *Immunity* 32, 605-615 (2010).
- 245. Qiao, Y. *et al.* Synergistic activation of inflammatory cytokine genes by interferon-γ-induced chromatin remodeling and toll-like receptor signaling. *Immunity* **39**, 454-469 (2013).
- 246. Mandal, M. *et al.* Epigenetic repression of the Igk locus by STAT5-mediated Ezh2 recruitment. *Nat Immunol* **12**, 1212-1220 (2011).
- 247. Chen, X. et al. Integration of External Signaling Pathways with the Core

Transcriptional Network in Embryonic Stem Cells. *Cell* **133**, 1106-1117 (2008).

- 248. Ciofani, M. *et al.* A validated regulatory network for Th17 cell specification. *Cell* **151**, 289-303 (2012).
- 249. David, M., Chen, H. E., Goelz, S., Larner, A. C. & Neel, B. G. Differential regulation of the alpha/beta interferon-stimulated Jak/Stat pathway by the SH2 domain-containing tyrosine phosphatase SHPTP1. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15, 7050-7058 (1995).
- 250. You, M., Yu, D.-H. & Feng, G.-S. Shp-2 Tyrosine Phosphatase Functions as a Negative Regulator of the Interferon-Stimulated Jak/STAT Pathway. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 19, 2416-2424 (1999).
- 251. Irie-Sasaki, J. *et al.* CD45 is a JAK phosphatase and negatively regulates cytokine receptor signalling. *Nature* **409**, 349-354 (2001).
- 252. Böhmer, F.-D. & Friedrich, K. Protein tyrosine phosphatases as wardens of STAT signaling. *JAK-STAT* **3**, e28087 (2014).
- Chung, C. D. *et al.* Specific inhibition of Stat3 signal transduction by PIAS3.
 Science 278, 1803-1805 (1997).
- 254. Liu, B., Gross, M., Ten Hoeve, J. & Shuai, K. A transcriptional corepressor of Stat1 with an essential LXXLL signature motif. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.*S. A. 98, 3203-3207 (2001).
- 255. Ungureanu, D. *et al.* PIAS proteins promote SUMO-1 conjugation to STAT1. *Blood* **102**, 3311-3313 (2003).
- 256. Alexander, W. S. & Hilton, D. J. T he R ole of S uppressors of C ytokine S ignaling (SOCS) P roteins in R egulation of the I mmune R esponse . Annu. Rev. Immunol. 22, 503-529 (2004).
- 257. Endo, T. A. *et al.* A new protein containing an SH2 domain that inhibits JAK kinases. *Nature* **387**, 921-924 (1997).

- Babon, J. J. *et al.* Suppression of Cytokine Signaling by SOCS3: Characterization of the Mode of Inhibition and the Basis of Its Specificity. *Immunity* 36, 239-250 (2012).
- 259. Zhang, J. G. *et al.* The conserved SOCS box motif in suppressors of cytokine signaling binds to elongins B and C and may couple bound proteins to proteasomal degradation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 96, 2071-2076 (1999).
- 260. Qin, H. *et al.* SOCS3 Deficiency Promotes M1 Macrophage Polarization and Inflammation. *J. Immunol.* **189**, 3439-3448 (2012).
- 261. Cheon, H., Yang, J. & Stark, G. R. The functions of signal transducers and activators of transcriptions 1 and 3 as cytokine-inducible proteins. *Journal of Interferon and Cytokine Research* **31**, 33-40 (2011).
- 262. Yang, J. *et al.* Novel roles of unphosphorylated STAT3 in oncogenesis and transcriptional regulation. *Cancer Res.* **65**, 939-947 (2005).
- 263. Cheon, H. J. & Stark, G. R. Unphosphorylated STAT1 prolongs the expression of interferon-induced immune regulatory genes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **106**, 9373-9378 (2009).
- 264. Yang, J. *et al.* Unphosphorylated STAT3 accumulates in response to IL-6 and activates transcription by binding to NFκB. *Genes Dev.* 21, 1396-1408 (2007).
- 265. Chen, H. *et al*. Activation of STAT6 by STING is critical for antiviral innate immunity. *Cell* **147**, 436-446 (2011).
- 266. Decker, T. & Kovarik, P. Serine phosphorylation of STATs. *Oncogene* **19**, 2628-2637 (2000).
- Wen, Z., Zhong, Z. & Darnell, J. E. Maximal activation of transcription by statl and stat3 requires both tyrosine and serine phosphorylation. *Cell* 82, 241-250 (1995).

- Friedbichler, K. *et al.* Stat5a serine 725 and 779 phosphorylation is a prerequisite for hematopoietic transformation. *Blood* 116, 1548-1558 (2010).
- 269. Shen, Y. *et al.* Essential Role of STAT3 in Postnatal Survival and Growth Revealed by Mice Lacking STAT3 Serine 727 Phosphorylation. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 24, 407-419 (2004).
- 270. Zhuang, S. Regulation of STAT signaling by acetylation. *Cellular Signalling* 25, 1924-1931 (2013).
- 271. Begitt, A., Droescher, M., Knobeloch, K. P. & Vinkemeier, U. SUMO conjugation of STAT1 protects cells from hyperresponsiveness to IFNγ. *Blood* **118**, 1002-1007 (2011).
- 272. Hu, X. *et al.* Sensitization of IFN-γ Jak-STAT signaling during macrophage activation. *Nat. Immunol.* **3**, 859-866 (2002).
- 273. Takaoka, A. *et al.* Cross talk between interferon-γ and -α/β signaling components in caveolar membrane domains. *Science (80-.).* 288, 2357-2360 (2000).
- 274. Nakashima, K. *et al.* Synergistic signaling in fetal brain by STAT3-Smad1 complex bridged by p300. *Science (80-.).* **284**, 479-482 (1999).
- 275. Bright, J. J. & Sriram, S. TGF-beta inhibits IL-12-induced activation of Jak-STAT pathway in T lymphocytes. J. Immunol. (1998).
- 276. Bromberg, J. Stat proteins and oncogenesis. J. Clin. Invest. 109, 1139-1142 (2002).
- 277. Spivak, J. L. Narrative review: Thrombocytosis, polycythemia vera, and JAK2 mutations: The phenotypic mimicry of chronic myeloproliferation. *Annals of Internal Medicine* **152**, 300-306 (2010).
- 278. Tefferi, A. JAK and MPL mutations in myeloid malignancies. *Leukemia and Lymphoma* **49**, 388-397 (2008).

- Noguchi, M. *et al.* Interleukin-2 receptor γ chain mutation results in Xlinked severe combined immunodeficiency in humans. *Cell* 73, 147-157 (1993).
- Minegishi, Y. *et al.* Dominant-negative mutations in the DNA-binding domain of STAT3 cause hyper-IgE syndrome. *Nature* 448, 1058-1062 (2007).
- Holland, S. M. *et al.* STAT3 mutations in the hyper-IgE syndrome. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 357, 1608-1619 (2007).
- 282. Casanova, J. L., Holland, S. M. & Notarangelo, L. D. Inborn Errors of Human JAKs and STATs. *Immunity* **36**, 515-528 (2012).
- 283. Milner, J. D. *et al.* Impaired TH17 cell differentiation in subjects with autosomal dominant hyper-IgE syndrome. *Nature* **452**, 773-776 (2008).
- 284. Miossec, P. & Kolls, J. K. Targeting IL-17 and T H 17 cells in chronic inflammation. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery* **11**, 763-776 (2012).
- 285. Milner, J. D. *et al.* Early-onset lymphoproliferation and autoimmunity caused by germline STAT3 gain-of-function mutations. *Blood* **125**, 591-599 (2015).
- Ross, S. H. & Cantrell, D. A. Signaling and Function of Interleukin-2 in T Lymphocytes. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 36, 411-433 (2018).
- 287. Kanai, T., Jenks, J. & Nadeau, K. C. The STAT5b pathway defect and autoimmunity. *Front. Immunol.* **3**, (2012).
- 288. Kofoed, E. M. *et al.* Growth hormone insensitivity associated with a STAT5b mutation. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **349**, 1139-1147 (2003).
- Ellinghaus, D. *et al.* Combined analysis of genome-wide association studies for Crohn disease and psoriasis identifies seven shared susceptibility loci. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* **90**, 636-647 (2012).

- 290. Hu, K., Hou, S., Jiang, Z., Kijlstra, A. & Yang, P. JAK2 and STAT3 polymorphisms in a Han Chinese population with Behçet's disease. *Investig. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci.* **53**, 538-541 (2012).
- 291. Davidson, S. I. *et al.* Association of STAT3 and TNFRSF1A with ankylosing spondylitis in Han Chinese. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **70**, 289-292 (2011).
- 292. Remmers, E. F. *et al.* STAT4 and the risk of rheumatoid arthritis and systemic lupus erythematosus. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **357**, 977-986 (2007).
- 293. Korman, B. D. *et al.* Variant form of STAT4 is associated with primary Sjögren's syndrome. *Genes Immun.* **9**, 267-270 (2008).
- 294. Duetsch, G. STAT6 as an asthma candidate gene: polymorphism-screening, association and haplotype analysis in a Caucasian sib-pair study. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* **11**, 613-621 (2002).
- 295. James, C. *et al*. A unique clonal JAK2 mutation leading to constitutive signalling causes polycythaemia vera. *Nature* **434**, 1144-1148 (2005).
- 296. Baxter, E. J. *et al.* Acquired mutation of the tyrosine kinase JAK2 in human myeloproliferative disorders. *Lancet* **365**, 1054-1061 (2005).
- Cohen, M. H. *et al.* Approval summary for imatinib mesylate capsules in the treatment of chronic Myelogenous Leukemia. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 8, 935-942 (2002).
- 298. Hubbard, S. R. & Till, J. H. Protein Tyrosine Kinase Structure and Function. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 69, 373-398 (2000).
- 299. Clark, J. D., Flanagan, M. E. & Telliez, J. B. Discovery and development of Janus kinase (JAK) inhibitors for inflammatory diseases. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry* 57, 5023-5038 (2014).
- Furumoto, Y. & Gadina, M. The arrival of jak inhibitors: Advancing the treatment of immune and hematologic disorders. *BioDrugs* 27, 431-438 (2013).

- 301. Psoriasis and Arthritis Drugs Get Nod From EMA's CHMP. Available at: https://www.medscape.com/viewarticle/875038. (Accessed: 16th August 2020)
- 302. Flanagan, M. E. *et al.* Discovery of CP-690,550: A Potent and Selective Janus Kinase (JAK) Inhibitor for the Treatment of Autoimmune Diseases and Organ Transplant Rejection. *J. Med. Chem.* **53**, 8468-8484 (2010).
- 303. Meyer, D. M. *et al.* Anti-inflammatory activity and neutrophil reductions mediated by the JAK1/JAK3 inhibitor, CP-690,550, in rat adjuvant-induced arthritis. *J. Inflamm.* **7**, (2010).
- 304. Karaman, M. W. *et al.* A quantitative analysis of kinase inhibitor selectivity. *Nat. Biotechnol.* **26**, 127-132 (2008).
- 305. Ghoreschi, K. *et al.* Modulation of innate and adaptive immune responses by tofacitinib (CP-690,550). *J. Immunol.* **186**, 4234-43 (2011).
- 306. Maeshima, K. *et al.* The JAK inhibitor tofacitinib regulates synovitis through inhibition of interferon-γ and interleukin-17 production by human CD4+ T cells. *Arthritis Rheum.* 64, 1790-1798 (2012).
- 307. Rizzi, M. *et al.* Impact of tofacitinib treatment on human B-cells in vitro and in vivo. *J. Autoimmun.* **77**, 55-66 (2017).
- 308. Wang, S.-P. *et al.* Tofacitinib, a JAK inhibitor, inhibits human B cell activation in vitro. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **73**, 2213-2215 (2014).
- 309. Kubo, S. *et al.* The JAK inhibitor, tofacitinib, reduces the T cell stimulatory capacity of human monocyte-derived dendritic cells. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **73**, 2192-8 (2014).
- Labranche, T. P. *et al.* JAK inhibition with tofacitinib suppresses arthritic joint structural damage through decreased RANKL production. *Arthritis Rheum.* 64, 3531-3542 (2012).
- 311. Milici, A. J., Kudlacz, E. M., Audoly, L., Zwillich, S. & Changelian, P.

Cartilage preservation by inhibition of Janus kinase 3 in two rodent models of rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Res. Ther.* **10**, R14 (2008).

- 312. Oh, K. *et al.* CP-690550 Treatment Ameliorates Established Disease and Provides Long-Term Therapeutic Effects in an SKG Arthritis Model. *Immune Netw.* 13, 257 (2013).
- 313. Tanaka, Y., Maeshima, Y. & Yamaoka, K. In vitro and in vivo analysis of a JAK inhibitor in rheumatoid arthritis. in *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases* 71, (2012).
- 314. Kremer, J. M. et al. The safety and efficacy of a JAK inhibitor in patients with active rheumatoid arthritis: Results of a double-blind, placebocontrolled phase IIa trial of three dosage levels of CP-690,550 versus placebo. Arthritis Rheum. 60, 1895-1905 (2009).
- 315. Tanaka, Y., Suzuki, M., Nakamura, H., Toyoizumi, S. & Zwillich, S. H. Phase II study of tofacitinib (CP-690,550) combined with methotrexate in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and an inadequate response to methotrexate. *Arthritis Care Res.* 63, 1150-1158 (2011).
- 316. Van Vollenhoven, R. F. *et al.* Tofacitinib or adalimumab versus placebo in rheumatoid arthritis. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **367**, 508-519 (2012).
- 317. Burmester, G. R. *et al.* Tofacitinib (CP-690,550) in combination with methotrexate in patients with active rheumatoid arthritis with an inadequate response to tumour necrosis factor inhibitors: A randomised phase 3 trial. *Lancet* **381**, 451-460 (2013).
- 318. Tofacitinib, an Oral Janus Kinase Inhibitor, in the Treatment of Rheumatoid Arthritis: Safety and Efficacy in Open-Label, Long-Term Extension Studies over 8 Years - ACR Meeting Abstracts. Available at: https://acrabstracts.org/abstract/tofacitinib-an-oral-janus-kinaseinhibitor-in-the-treatment-of-rheumatoid-arthritis-safety-and-efficacy-inopen-label-long-term-extension-studies-over-8-years/. (Accessed: 9th December 2019)

- 319. Papp, K. A. *et al.* Efficacy and safety of tofacitinib, an oral Janus kinase inhibitor, in the treatment of psoriasis: A Phase 2b randomized placebo-controlled dose-ranging study. *Br. J. Dermatol.* **167**, 668-677 (2012).
- Gladman, D. *et al.* Tofacitinib for Psoriatic Arthritis in Patients with an Inadequate Response to TNF Inhibitors. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 377, 1525-1536 (2017).
- 321. Sandborn, W. J. *et al.* A phase 2 study of Tofacitinib, an oral janus kinase inhibitor, inpatients with crohn's disease. *Clin. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 12, (2014).
- 322. Maksymowych, W. P. et al. Tofacitinib is associated with attainment of the minimally important reduction in axial magnetic resonance imaging inflammation in ankylosing spondylitis patients. *Rheumatol. (United Kingdom)* 57, 1390-1399 (2018).
- 323. Vincenti, F. *et al.* Randomized Phase 2b Trial of Tofacitinib (CP-690,550) in De Novo Kidney Transplant Patients: Efficacy, Renal Function and Safety at 1 Year. *Am. J. Transplant.* **12**, 2446-2456 (2012).
- 324. Sandborn, W. J. *et al.* Tofacitinib as induction and maintenance therapy for ulcerative colitis. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **376**, 1723-1736 (2017).
- 325. Winthrop, K. L. The emerging safety profile of JAK inhibitors in rheumatic disease. *Nature Reviews Rheumatology* **13**, 234-243 (2017).
- 326. Cohen, S. B. *et al.* Long-term safety of tofacitinib for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis up to 8.5 years: Integrated analysis of data from the global clinical trials. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **76**, 1253-1262 (2017).
- 327. Winthrop, K. L. *et al.* Herpes zoster and tofacitinib therapy in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* **66**, 2675-2684 (2014).
- 328. Dunn, G. P., Koebel, C. M. & Schreiber, R. D. Interferons, immunity and cancer immunoediting. *Nature Reviews Immunology* **6**, 836-848 (2006).

- 329. Curtis, J. R. *et al.* Tofacitinib, an oral Janus kinase inhibitor: Analysis of malignancies across the rheumatoid arthritis clinical development programme. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **75**, 831-841 (2016).
- Deisseroth, A. *et al.* U.S. Food and Drug Administration approval: Ruxolitinib for the treatment of patients with intermediate and high-risk myelofibrosis. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 18, 3212-3217 (2012).
- 331. Harrison, C. *et al.* JAK inhibition with ruxolitinib versus best available therapy for myelofibrosis. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **366**, 787-798 (2012).
- 332. Griesshammer, M. *et al.* Ruxolitinib for the treatment of inadequately controlled polycythemia vera without splenomegaly: 80-week follow-up from the RESPONSE-2 trial. *Ann. Hematol.* **97**, 1591-1600 (2018).
- 333. Jagasia, M. *et al.* Ruxolitinib in Combination with Corticosteroids for the Treatment of Steroid-Refractory Acute Graft-Vs-Host Disease: Results from the Phase 2 REACH1 Trial. *Biol. Blood Marrow Transplant.* **25**, S52 (2019).
- 334. Papp, K. A. *et al.* A randomized phase 2b trial of baricitinib, an oral Janus kinase (JAK) 1/JAK2 inhibitor, in patients with moderate-to-severe psoriasis. *Br. J. Dermatol.* **174**, 1266-1276 (2016).
- 335. Topical Ruxolitinib Evaluation in Vitiligo Study 1 (TRuE-V1) Full Text View - ClinicalTrials.gov. Available at: https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04052425. (Accessed: 11th December 2019)
- 336. Craiglow, B. G., Tavares, D. & King, B. A. Topical ruxolitinib for the treatment of alopecia universalis. *JAMA Dermatology* **152**, 490-491 (2016).
- 337. Keystone, E. C. *et al.* Safety and efficacy of baricitinib through 128 weeks in an open-label, longterm extension study in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *J. Rheumatol.* **45**, 14-21 (2018).
- 338. Fleischmann, R. et al. Baricitinib, Methotrexate, or Combination in

Patients With Rheumatoid Arthritis and No or Limited Prior Disease-Modifying Antirheumatic Drug Treatment. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* **69**, 506-517 (2017).

- 339. Dougados, M. *et al.* Baricitinib in patients with inadequate response or intolerance to conventional synthetic DMARDs: Results from the RA-BUILD study. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **76**, 88-95 (2017).
- 340. Genovese, M. C. *et al.* Baricitinib in patients with refractory rheumatoid arthritis. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **374**, 1243-1252 (2016).
- 341. Taylor, P. C. *et al.* Baricitinib versus Placebo or Adalimumab in Rheumatoid Arthritis. *N. Engl. J. Med.* **376**, 652-662 (2017).
- 342. Al-Salama, Z. T. & Scott, L. J. Baricitinib: A Review in Rheumatoid Arthritis. Drugs 78, 761-772 (2018).
- 343. Haan, C. *et al.* Jak1 has a dominant role over Jak3 in signal transduction through γc-containing cytokine receptors. *Chem. Biol.* **18**, 314-323 (2011).
- Dowty, M. E. *et al.* Preclinical to clinical translation of tofacitinib, a Janus kinase inhibitor, in rheumatoid arthritis. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* 348, 165-73 (2014).
- 345. Namour, F. *et al.* Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacokinetic/Pharmacodynamic Modeling of Filgotinib (GLPG0634), a Selective JAK1 Inhibitor, in Support of Phase IIB Dose Selection. *Clin. Pharmacokinet.* 54, 859-874 (2015).
- 346. Genovese, M. C. *et al.* Efficacy and Safety of ABT-494, a Selective JAK-1 Inhibitor, in a Phase IIb Study in Patients With Rheumatoid Arthritis and an Inadequate Response to Methotrexate. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* **68**, 2857-2866 (2016).
- 347. Vanhoutte, F. *et al.* Efficacy, Safety, Pharmacokinetics, and Pharmacodynamics of Filgotinib, a Selective JAK-1 Inhibitor, After Short-

Term Treatment of Rheumatoid Arthritis: Results of Two Randomized Phase IIa Trials. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* **69**, 1949-1959 (2017).

- 348. Westhovens, R. *et al.* Filgotinib (GLPG0634/GS-6034), an oral JAK1 selective inhibitor, is effective in combination with methotrexate (MTX) in patients with active rheumatoid arthritis and insufficient response to MTX: Results from a randomised, dose-finding study (DARWIN 1). *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **76**, 998-1008 (2017).
- 349. Kremer, J. M. *et al.* A Phase IIb Study of ABT-494, a Selective JAK-1
 Inhibitor, in Patients With Rheumatoid Arthritis and an Inadequate
 Response to Anti-Tumor Necrosis Factor Therapy. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* 68, 2867-2877 (2016).
- 350. Ito, M. *et al.* A novel JAK inhibitor, peficitinib, demonstrates potent efficacy in a rat adjuvant-induced arthritis model. *J. Pharmacol. Sci.* 133, 25-33 (2017).
- 351. Mahajan, S. *et al.* VX-509 (Decernotinib) is a potent and selective Janus Kinase 3 inhibitor that attenuates inflammation in animal models of autoimmune disease. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther.* **353**, 405-414 (2015).
- 352. McBride, J. M. & Fathman, C. G. A complicated relationship: Fulfilling the interactive needs of the T lymphocyte and the dendritic cell. *Pharmacogenomics Journal* 2, 367-376 (2002).
- 353. Banchereau, J. & Steinman, R. M. Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. *Nature* **392**, 245-252 (1998).
- 354. Diebold, S. S. Activation of Dendritic Cells by Toll-Like Receptors and C-Type Lectins. in *Dendritic Cells* 3-30 (Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2008). doi:10.1007/978-3-540-71029-5_1
- 355. Nace, G., Evankovich, J., Eid, R. & Tsung, A. Fax +41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch Dendritic Cells and Damage-Associated Molecular Patterns: Endogenous Danger Signals Linking Innate and Adaptive Immunity

Dendritic Cells: The Basics. J Innate Immun 4, 6-15 (2012).

- 356. Reis E Sousa, C. Dendritic cells in a mature age. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 6, 476-483 (2006).
- 357. Ohl, L. *et al.* CCR7 governs skin dendritic cell migration under inflammatory and steady-state conditions. *Immunity* **21**, 279-288 (2004).
- 358. Braun, A. *et al.* Afferent lymph-derived T cells and DCs use different chemokine receptor CCR7-dependent routes for entry into the lymph node and intranodal migration. *Nat. Immunol.* **12**, 879-887 (2011).
- 359. Von Andrian, U. H. & Mackay, C. R. T-cell function and migration: Two sides of the same coin. *New England Journal of Medicine* 343, 1020-1034 (2000).
- 360. Hauss, P., Selz, F., Cavazzana-Calvo, M. & Fischer, A. Characteristics of antigen-independent and antigen-dependent interaction of dendritic cells with CD4+ T cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 25, 2285-2294 (1995).
- 361. Garbi, N. & Kreutzberg, T. Dendritic cells enhance the antigen sensitivity of T cells. *Front. Immunol.* **3**, (2012).
- 362. Scheeren, R. A., Koopman, G., van der Baan, S., Meijer, C. J. L. M. & Pals,
 S. T. Adhesion receptors involved in clustering of blood dendritic cells and T lymphocytes. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 21, 1101-1105 (1991).
- Geijtenbeek, T. B. H. *et al.* Identification of DC-SIGN, a novel dendritic cell-specific ICAM-3 receptor that supports primary immune responses. *Cell* 100, 575-585 (2000).
- 364. Bechman, K., Yates, M. & Galloway, J. B. The new entries in the therapeutic armamentarium: The small molecule JAK inhibitors. *Pharmacological Research* 147, (2019).
- 365. Brocker, T. Survival of mature CD4 T lymphocytes is dependent on major histocompatibility complex class II-expressing dendritic cells. *J. Exp. Med.*

186, 1223-1232 (1997).

- 366. Hochweller, K. *et al.* Dendritic cells control T cell tonic signaling required for responsiveness to foreign antigen. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **107**, 5931-5936 (2010).
- 367. Cunningham, A. J. & Lafferty, K. J. A Simple, Conservative Explanation of the H-2 Restriction of Interactions Between Lymphocytes. Scandinavian Journal of Immunology 6, 1-6 (1977).
- McLellan, A. D., Sorg, R. V., Williams, L. A. & Hart, D. N. J. Human dendritic cells activate T lymphocytes via a CD40: CD40 ligand-dependent pathway. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 26, 1204-1210 (1996).
- 369. Larsen, C. P., Kitchie, S. C., Pearson, T. C., Linsley, P. S. & Lowry, R. P. Functional expression of the costimulatory molecule, B7/BB1, on murine dendritic cell populations. J. Exp. Med. 176, 1215-1220 (1992).
- 370. Davis, S. J. & van der Merwe, P. A. The kinetic-segregation model: TCR triggering and beyond. *Nature Immunology* **7**, 803-809 (2006).
- Mckeithan, T. W. Kinetic proofreading in T-cell receptor signal transduction. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 92, 5042-5046 (1995).
- Xu, C. *et al.* Regulation of T Cell Receptor Activation by Dynamic Membrane Binding of the CD3ε Cytoplasmic Tyrosine-Based Motif. *Cell* 135, 702-713 (2008).
- 373. Palacios, E. H. & Weiss, A. Function of the Src-family kinases, Lck and Fyn, in T-cell development and activation. *Oncogene* **23**, 7990-8000 (2004).
- 374. Veillette, A., Bookman, M. A., Horak, E. M. & Bolen, J. B. The CD4 and CD8 T cell surface antigens are associated with the internal membrane tyrosine-protein kinase p56lck. *Cell* 55, 301-308 (1988).
- 375. Artyomov, M. N., Lis, M., Devadas, S., Davis, M. M. & Chakraborty, A. K. CD4 and CD8 binding to MHC molecules primarily acts to enhance Lck

delivery. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 107, 16916-16921 (2010).

- Hořejší, V., Zhang, W. & Schraven, B. Transmembrane adaptor proteins: Organizers of immunoreceptor signalling. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 4, 603-616 (2004).
- Brownlie, R. J. & Zamoyska, R. T cell receptor signalling networks: Branched, diversified and bounded. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 13, 257-269 (2013).
- Bunnell, S. C. *et al.* T cell receptor ligation induces the formation of dynamically regulated signaling assemblies. *J. Cell Biol.* **158**, 1263-1275 (2002).
- Yokosuka, T. & Saito, T. Dynamic regulation of T-cell costimulation through TCR-CD28 microclusters. *Immunological Reviews* 229, 27-40 (2009).
- Yokosuka, T. *et al.* Newly generated T cell receptor microclusters initiate and sustain T cell activation by recruitment of Zap70 and SLP-76. *Nat. Immunol.* 6, 1253-1262 (2005).
- Varma, R., Campi, G., Yokosuka, T., Saito, T. & Dustin, M. L. T Cell Receptor-Proximal Signals Are Sustained in Peripheral Microclusters and Terminated in the Central Supramolecular Activation Cluster. *Immunity* 25, 117-127 (2006).
- Bachmann, M. F. *et al.* Distinct roles for LFA-1 and CD28 during activation of naive T cells: Adhesion versus costimulation. *Immunity* 7, 549-557 (1997).
- Yokosuka, T. *et al.* Spatiotemporal Basis of CTLA-4 Costimulatory Molecule-Mediated Negative Regulation of T Cell Activation. *Immunity* 33, 326-339 (2010).
- 384. Wiedemann, A. et al. T-cell activation is accompanied by an ubiquitination

process occurring at the immunological synapse. *Immunol. Lett.* **98**, 57-61 (2005).

- 385. Grakoui, A. *et al.* The immunological synapse: A molecular machine controlling T cell activation. *Science (80-.).* **285**, 221-227 (1999).
- 386. Davis, S. J. & van der Merwe, P. A. The kinetic-segregation model: TCR triggering and beyond. *Nature Immunology* **7**, 803-809 (2006).
- Bretscher, P. & Cohn, M. A theory of self-nonself discrimination. Science (80-.). 169, 1042-1049 (1970).
- 388. Mueller, D. L., Jenkins, M. K. & Schwartz, R. H. Clonal expansion versus functional clonal inactivation: A costimulatory signalling pathway determines the outcome of T cell antigen receptor occupancy. *Annual Review of Immunology* 7, 445-480 (1989).
- 389. Collins, A. V. *et al.* The interaction properties of costimulatory molecules revisited. *Immunity* **17**, 201-210 (2002).
- 390. Sanchez-Lockhart, M., Kim, M. & Miller, J. Cutting Edge: A Role for Inside-Out Signaling in TCR Regulation of CD28 Ligand Binding. J. Immunol. 187, 5515-5519 (2011).
- 391. Inaba, K. *et al.* The Tissue Distribution of the B7-2 Costimulator in Mice: Abundant Expression on Dendritic Cells In Situ and During Maturation In Vitro. *J. Exp. Med.* **180**, 1849-1860 (1994).
- 392. (No Title).
- 393. Dennehy, K. M. et al. Mitogenic CD28 Signals Require the Exchange Factor Vav1 to Enhance TCR Signaling at the SLP-76-Vav-Itk Signalosome. J. Immunol. 178, 1363-1371 (2007).
- 394. GMÜNDER, H. & LESSLAUER, W. A 45-kDa human T-cell membrane glycoprotein functions in the regulation of cell proliferative responses. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 142, 153-160 (1984).

- 395. Boise, L. H. *et al.* CD28 costimulation can promote T cell survival by enhancing the expression of Bcl-xL. *Immunity* **3**, 87-98 (1995).
- 396. Takahashi, T. *et al.* Immunologic self-tolerance maintained by CD25+CD4+ regulatory T cells constitutively expressing cytotoxic T lymphocyteassociated antigen 4. *J. Exp. Med.* **192**, 303-309 (2000).
- 397. Linsley, P. S. *et al.* Intracellular trafficking of CTLA-4 and focal localization towards sites of TCR engagement. *Immunity* **4**, 535-43 (1996).
- 398. Walker, L. S. K. & Sansom, D. M. The emerging role of CTLA4 as a cellextrinsic regulator of T cell responses. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 11, 852-863 (2011).
- Marengère, L. E. M. *et al.* Regulation of T cell receptor signaling by tyrosine phosphatase SYP association with CTLA-4. *Science (80-.).* 272, 1170-1173 (1996).
- 400. Grohmann, U. *et al.* CTLA-4-Ig regulates tryptophan catabolism in vivo. *Nat. Immunol.* **3**, 1097-1101 (2002).
- 401. Qureshi, O. S. *et al.* Trans-endocytosis of CD80 and CD86: A molecular basis for the cell-extrinsic function of CTLA-4. *Science (80-.).* **332**, 600-603 (2011).
- Dursun, H. G., Yılmaz, H. O., Dursun, R. & Kulaksızoğlu, S. Association of cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen-4 gene polymorphisms with psoriasis vulgaris: A case-control study in Turkish population. J. Immunol. Res. 2018, (2018).
- 403. Kavvoura, F. K. & Ioannidis, J. P. A. CTLA-4 gene polymorphisms and susceptibility to type 1 diabetes mellitus: A HuGE review and metaanalysis. *American Journal of Epidemiology* **162**, 3-16 (2005).
- 404. Li, X. *et al.* Polymorphisms in the CTLA-4 gene and rheumatoid arthritis susceptibility: A meta-analysis. *J. Clin. Immunol.* **32**, 530-539 (2012).

- 405. Chemnitz, J. M., Parry, R. V., Nichols, K. E., June, C. H. & Riley, J. L. SHP-1 and SHP-2 Associate with Immunoreceptor Tyrosine-Based Switch Motif of Programmed Death 1 upon Primary Human T Cell Stimulation, but Only Receptor Ligation Prevents T Cell Activation. J. Immunol. 173, 945-954 (2004).
- 406. Sheppard, K. A. *et al.* PD-1 inhibits T-cell receptor induced phosphorylation of the ZAP70/CD3ζ signalosome and downstream signaling to PKC0. *FEBS Lett.* **574**, 37-41 (2004).
- 407. Patsoukis, N. *et al.* Selective effects of PD-1 on Akt and ras pathways regulate molecular components of the cell cycle and inhibit T cell proliferation. *Sci. Signal.* **5**, (2012).
- 408. Bishop, K. D. *et al.* Depletion of the programmed death-1 receptor completely reverses established clonal anergy in CD4+ T lymphocytes via an interleukin-2-dependent mechanism. *Cell. Immunol.* **256**, 86-91 (2009).
- 409. Dong, C. *et al.* ICOS co-stimulatory receptor is essential for T-cell activation and function. *Nature* **409**, 97-101 (2001).
- 410. Grewal, I. S. & Flavell, R. A. The Role of CD40 Ligand in Costimulation and T-Cell Activation. *Immunol. Rev.* **153**, 85-106 (1996).
- 411. Gramaglia, I., Weinberg, A. D., Lemon, M. & Croft, M. Ox-40 ligand: a potent costimulatory molecule for sustaining primary CD4 T cell responses.
 J. Immunol. 161, 6510-7 (1998).
- 412. Yamane, H., Zhu, J. & Paul, W. E. Independent roles for IL-2 and GATA-3 in stimulating naive CD4 + T cells to generate a Th2-inducing cytokine environment. *J. Exp. Med.* **202**, 793-804 (2005).
- 413. Seder, R. A., Germain, R. N., Linsley, P. S. & Paul, W. E. CD28-mediated costimulation of interleukin 2 (IL-2) production plays a critical role in T cell priming for IL-4 and interferon δ production. *J. Exp. Med.* **179**, 299-304 (1994).

- 414. Oosterwegel, M. A. *et al.* The role of CTLA-4 in regulating Th2 differentiation. *J. Immunol.* **163**, 2634-9 (1999).
- 415. Curtsinger, J. M. *et al.* Inflammatory cytokines provide a third signal for activation of naive CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. *J. Immunol.* **162**, 3256-62 (1999).
- 416. Martín-Fontecha, A. *et al.* Induced recruitment of NK cells to lymph nodes provides IFN-γ for TH1 priming. *Nat. Immunol.* **5**, 1260-1265 (2004).
- 417. Afkarian, M. *et al.* T-bet is a STATI-induced regulator for IL-12R expression in naïve CD4+ T cells. *Nat. Immunol.* **3**, 549-557 (2002).
- 418. Thierfelder, W. E. *et al.* Requirement for Stat4 in interleukin-12-mediated responses of natural killer and T cells. *Nature* **382**, 171-174 (1996).
- Yoshimoto, T. *et al.* IL-12 up-regulates IL-18 receptor expression on T cells, Th1 cells, and B cells: synergism with IL-18 for IFN-gamma production. *J. Immunol.* 161, 3400-7 (1998).
- 420. Gros, G. Le, Ben-Sasson, S. Z., Seder, R., Finkelman, F. D. & Paul, W. E. Generation of interleukin 4 (114)-producing cells in vivo and in vitro: IIr2 and ILr4 are required for in vitro generation of U-4-producing cells. *J. Exp. Med.* **172**, 921-929 (1990).
- 421. Onodera, A. *et al.* STAT6-mediated displacement of polycomb by trithorax complex establishes long-term maintenance of GATA3 expression in T helper type 2 cells. *J. Exp. Med.* **207**, 2493-2506 (2010).
- 422. Horiuchi, S. *et al.* Genome-Wide Analysis Reveals Unique Regulation of Transcription of Th2-Specific Genes by GATA3. *J. Immunol.* **186**, 6378-6389 (2011).
- 423. Cote-Sierra, J. *et al.* Interleukin 2 plays a central role in Th2 differentiation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **101**, 3880-3885 (2004).
- 424. Liao, W. et al. Priming for T helper type 2 differentiation by interleukin 2-

mediated induction of interleukin 4 receptor α -chain expression. *Nat. Immunol.* **9**, 1288-1296 (2008).

- 425. Mangan, P. R. *et al.* Transforming growth factor-β induces development of the T H17 lineage. *Nature* **441**, 231-234 (2006).
- 426. Zhou, L. *et al.* IL-6 programs TH-17 cell differentiation by promoting sequential engagement of the IL-21 and IL-23 pathways. *Nat. Immunol.* 8, 967-974 (2007).
- 427. Chen, W. J. *et al.* Conversion of Peripheral CD4 + CD25 Naive T Cells to
 CD4 + CD25 + Regulatory T Cells by TGF-8 Induction of Transcription Factor
 Foxp3. J. Exp. Med. 198, 1875-1886 (2003).
- 428. Burchill, M. A., Yang, J., Vogtenhuber, C., Blazar, B. R. & Farrar, M. A. IL2 Receptor β-Dependent STAT5 Activation Is Required for the Development of Foxp3 + Regulatory T Cells . J. Immunol. 178, 280-290 (2007).
- 429. Walker, L. S. K. & Abbas, A. K. The enemy within: Keeping self-reactive T cells at bay in the periphery. *Nature Reviews Immunology* **2**, 11-19 (2002).
- 430. Quill, H. & Schwartz, R. H. Stimulation of normal inducer T cell clones with antigen presented by purified Ia molecules in planar lipid membranes: specific induction of a long-lived state of proliferative nonresponsiveness. J. Immunol. 138, 3704-12 (1987).
- 431. Thompson, C. B. *et al.* CD28 activation pathway regulates the production of multiple T-cell-derived lymphokines/cytokines. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.*S. A. 86, 1333-1337 (1989).
- 432. Schwartz, R. H. T cell clonal anergy. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* **9**, 351-7 (1997).
- 433. Mueller, D. L. E3 ubiquitin ligases as T cell anergy factors. *Nature Immunology* **5**, 883-890 (2004).
- 434. Safford, M. et al. Egr-2 and Egr-3 are negative regulators of T cell

activation. Nat. Immunol. 6, 472-480 (2005).

- 435. Greenwald, R. J., Boussiotis, V. A., Lorsbach, R. B., Abbas, A. K. & Sharpe,
 A. H. CTLA-4 regulates induction of anergy in vivo. *Immunity* 14, 145-155 (2001).
- 436. Tivol, E. A. *et al.* Loss of CTLA-4 leads to massive lymphoproliferation and fatal multiorgan tissue destruction, revealing a critical negative regulatory role of CTLA-4. *Immunity* **3**, 541-547 (1995).
- 437. Fife, B. T. & Pauken, K. E. The role of the PD-1 pathway in autoimmunity and peripheral tolerance. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* **1217**, 45-59 (2011).
- 438. Tsushima, F. *et al.* Interaction between B7-H1 and PD-1 determines initiation and reversal of T-cell anergy. *Blood* **110**, 180-185 (2007).
- 439. Nishimura, H., Nose, M., Hiai, H., Minato, N. & Honjo, T. Development of lupus-like autoimmune diseases by disruption of the PD-1 gene encoding an ITIM motif-carrying immunoreceptor. *Immunity* **11**, 141-151 (1999).
- 440. Hawiger, D. *et al.* Dendritic cells induce peripheral T cell unresponsiveness under steady state conditions in vivo. *J. Exp. Med.* **194**, 769-779 (2001).
- 441. Keir, M. E., Francisco, L. M. & Sharpe, A. H. PD-1 and its ligands in T-cell immunity. *Current Opinion in Immunology* **19**, 309-314 (2007).
- 442. Akbari, O., DeKruyff, R. H. & Umetsu, D. T. Pulmonary dendritic cells producing IL-10 mediate tolerance induced by respiratory exposure to antigen. *Nat. Immunol.* **2**, 725-731 (2001).
- 443. Terness, P. *et al.* Inhibition of allogeneic T cell proliferation by indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase-expressing dendritic cells: Mediation of suppression by tryptophan metabolites. *J. Exp. Med.* **196**, 447-457 (2002).
- 444. Maintenance of clonotype specificity in CD95/Apo-1/Fas-mediated apoptosis of mature T lymphocytes. - PubMed - NCBI. Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9378969. (Accessed: 8th April

2020)

- 445. Wong, B., Arron, J. & Choi, Y. T cell receptor signals enhance susceptibility to Fas-mediated apoptosis. J. Exp. Med. 186, 1939-1944 (1997).
- 446. Kischkel, F. C. *et al.* Cytotoxicity-dependent APO-1 (Fas/CD95)-associated proteins form a death-inducing signaling complex (DISC) with the receptor. *EMBO J.* 14, 5579-5588 (1995).
- 447. Hirata, H. *et al.* Caspases are activated in a branched protease cascade and control distinct downstream processes in Fas-induced apoptosis. *J. Exp. Med.* **187**, 587-600 (1998).
- 448. Dhein, J., Walczak, H., Bäumlert, C., Debatint, K. M. & Krammer, P. H.
 Autocrine T-cell suicide mediated by APO-1/(Fas/CD95). *Nature* 373, 438-441 (1995).
- 449. Su, X. *et al.* Autocrine and paracrine apoptosis are mediated by differential regulation of Fas ligand activity in two distinct Jurkat T cell populations. *J. Immunol.* (1998).
- 450. Cohen, P. L. & Eisenberg, R. A. Lpr and gld: Single gene models of systemic autoimmunity and lymphoproliferative disease. *Annual Review of Immunology* 9, 243-269 (1991).
- 451. Singer, G. G. & Abbas, A. K. The fas antigen is involved in peripheral but not thymic deletion of T lymphocytes in T cell receptor transgenic mice. *Immunity* 1, 365-371 (1994).
- 452. Ting, Y. T. *et al.* The interplay between citrullination and HLA-DRB1 polymorphism in shaping peptide binding hierarchies in rheumatoid arthritis. *J. Biol. Chem.* **293**, 3236-3251 (2018).
- 453. Law, S. C. *et al.* T-cell autoreactivity to citrullinated autoantigenic peptides in rheumatoid arthritis patients carrying HLA-DRB1 shared epitope

alleles. Arthritis Res. Ther. 14, R118 (2012).

- 454. Leung, B. P. *et al.* A Novel Dendritic Cell-Induced Model of Erosive Inflammatory Arthritis: Distinct Roles for Dendritic Cells in T Cell Activation and Induction of Local Inflammation. *J. Immunol.* **169**, 7071-7077 (2002).
- 455. Maffia, P. *et al.* Inducing experimental arthritis and breaking selftolerance to joint-specific antigens with trackable, ovalbumin-specific T cells. *J. Immunol.* **173**, 151-6 (2004).
- 456. Benson, R. A. *et al.* Identifying the Cells Breaching Self-Tolerance in Autoimmunity. *J. Immunol.* **184**, 6378-6385 (2010).
- 457. Singh, K. *et al.* ERK-Dependent T Cell Receptor Threshold Calibration in Rheumatoid Arthritis. *J. Immunol.* **183**, 8258-8267 (2009).
- 458. Burn, G. L., Svensson, L., Sanchez-Blanco, C., Saini, M. & Cope, A. P. Why is PTPN22 a good candidate susceptibility gene for autoimmune disease? *FEBS Letters* 585, 3689-3698 (2011).
- 459. Linsley, P. S. *et al.* CTLA4 is a second receptor for the b cell activation antigen B7. *J. Exp. Med.* **174**, 561-569 (1991).
- 460. Benham, H. *et al.* Citrullinated peptide dendritic cell immunotherapy in HLA risk genotype-positive rheumatoid arthritis patients. *Sci. Transl. Med.*7, (2015).
- 461. Bell, G. M. *et al.* Autologous tolerogenic dendritic cells for rheumatoid and inflammatory arthritis. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **76**, 227-234 (2017).
- 462. Purvis, H. A. *et al.* Phosphatase PTPN22 Regulates Dendritic Cell Homeostasis and cDC2 Dependent T Cell Responses. *Front. Immunol.* (2020). doi:10.3389/fimmu.2020.00376
- 463. Clarke, F. *et al.* The protein tyrosine phosphatase PTPN22 negatively regulates presentation of immune complex derived antigens. *Sci. Rep.*

- 464. Khmaladze, I., Saxena, A., Nandakumar, K. S. & Holmdahl, R. B-cell epitope spreading and inflammation in a mouse model of arthritis is associated with a deficiency in reactive oxygen species production. *Eur. J. Immunol.* (2015). doi:10.1002/eji.201545518
- 465. Yang, M. *et al.* Regulatory T cells control epitope spreading in autoimmune arthritis independent of cytotoxic T-lymphocyte antigen-4. *Immunology* (2018). doi:10.1111/imm.12983
- 466. Vanderlugt, C. L. & Miller, S. D. Epitope spreading in immune-mediated diseases: Implications for immunotherapy. *Nature Reviews Immunology* (2002). doi:10.1038/nri724
- 467. Thomas, R., Davis, L. S. & Lipsky, P. E. Rheumatoid synovium is enriched in mature antigen-presenting dendritic cells. *J. Immunol.* (1994).
- Prendergast, C. T. *et al.* Visualising the interaction of CD4 T cells and DCs in the evolution of inflammatory arthritis. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 77, 579-588 (2018).
- 469. Barnden, M. J., Allison, J., Heath, W. R. & Carbone, F. R. Defective TCR expression in transgenic mice constructed using cDNA-based α- and B-chain genes under the control of heterologous regulatory elements. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* **76**, 34-40 (1998).
- 470. Sakaguchi, N. *et al.* Altered thymic T-cell selection due to a mutation of the ZAP-70 gene causes autoimmune arthritis in mice. *Nature* 426, 454-460 (2003).
- 471. Atsumi, T. *et al.* A point mutation of Tyr-759 in interleukin 6 family cytokine receptor subunit gp130 causes autoimmune arthritis. *J. Exp. Med.* 196, 979-990 (2002).
- 472. Law, S. C. et al. T-cell autoreactivity to citrullinated autoantigenic

peptides in rheumatoid arthritis patients carrying HLA-DRB1 shared epitope alleles. *Arthritis Res. Ther.* 14, (2012).

- 473. Duke, O., Panayi, G. S., Janossy, G. & Poulter, L. W. An immunohistological analysis of lymphocyte subpopulations and their microenvironment in the synovial membranes of patients with rheumatoid arthritis using monoclonal antibodies. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* **49**, 22-30 (1982).
- 474. Thomas, R., McIlraith, M., Davis, L. S. & Lipsky, P. E. Rheumatoid synovium is enriched in CD45RBdim mature memory T cells that are potent helpers for B cell differentiation. *Arthritis Rheum.* **35**, 1455-1465 (1992).
- 475. Mcinnes, I. B., Leung, B. P., Sturrock, R. D., Field, M. & Liew, F. Y.
 Interleukin-15 mediates T cell-dependent regulation of tumor necrosis factor-α production in rheumatoid arthritis. *Nat. Med.* 3, 189-195 (1997).
- 476. Burger, D. *et al.* Imbalance between interstitial collagenase and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases 1 in synoviocytes and fibroblasts upon direct contact with stimulated T lymphocytes: Involvement of membraneassociated cytokines. *Arthritis Rheum.* 41, 1748-1759 (1998).
- 477. Deane, K. D., Norris, J. M. & Holers, V. M. Preclinical rheumatoid arthritis: Identification, evaluation, and future directions for investigation. *Rheumatic Disease Clinics of North America* 36, 213-241 (2010).
- 478. Yamada, H. *et al.* Preferential accumulation of activated Th1 cells not only in rheumatoid arthritis but also in osteoarthritis joints. *J. Rheumatol.* 38, 1569-1575 (2011).
- 479. POTOCNIK, A. J. *et al.* Expression of Activation Antigens on T Cells in Rheumatoid Arthritis Patients. *Scand. J. Immunol.* **31**, 213-224 (1990).
- 480. Pitzalis, C., Kingsley, G., Lanchbury, J. S. S., Murphy, J. & Panayi, G. S. Expression of HLA-DR, DQ and DP antigens and interleukin-2 recepto on synovial fluid T lymphocyte subsets in rheumatoid arthritis: Evidence for

'frustrated' activation. J. Rheumatol. (1987).

- Bangs, S. C. *et al.* Human CD4 + Memory T Cells Are Preferential Targets for Bystander Activation and Apoptosis . *J. Immunol.* 182, 1962-1971 (2009).
- 482. Brennan, F. M. *et al.* Resting CD4+ effector memory T cells are precursors of bystander-activated effectors: a surrogate model of rheumatoid arthritis synovial T-cell function. *Arthritis Res. Ther.* **10**, (2008).
- 483. Weinhold, K. J. *et al.* Reversibility of peripheral blood leukocyte phenotypic and functional changes after exposure to and withdrawal from tofacitinib, a Janus kinase inhibitor, in healthy volunteers. *Clin. Immunol.* (2018). doi:10.1016/j.clim.2018.03.002
- 484. Piscianz, E. *et al.* Fate of Lymphocytes after Withdrawal of Tofacitinib Treatment. *PLoS One* **9**, (2014).
- PISCIANZ, E. *et al.* Action of methotrexate and tofacitinib on directly stimulated and bystander-activated lymphocytes. *Mol. Med. Rep.* 14, 574-582 (2016).
- 486. Goodyear, C. S. et al. Scottish Nested Arthritis Progression cohort: Evaluation of the emerging cellular signatures within the blood of early rheumatoid arthritis patients.
- 487. Lambrecht, B. N., Pauwels, R. A. & Fazekas de St. Groth, B. Induction of Rapid T Cell Activation, Division, and Recirculation by Intratracheal Injection of Dendritic Cells in a TCR Transgenic Model. J. Immunol. 164, 2937-2946 (2000).
- 488. Shiow, L. R. *et al.* CD69 acts downstream of interferon- α/β to inhibit S1P 1 and lymphocyte egress from lymphoid organs. *Nature* **440**, 540-544 (2006).
- 489. Matloubian, M. *et al*. Lymphocyte egress from thymus and peripheral lymphoid organs is dependent on S1P receptor 1. *Nature* **427**, 355-360

(2004).

- 490. DeGrendele, H. C., Estess, P., Picker, L. J. & Siegelman, M. H. CD44 and its ligand hyaluronate mediate rolling under physiologic flow: A novel lymphocyte-endothelial cell primary adhesion pathway. *J. Exp. Med.* **183**, 1119-1130 (1996).
- 491. Budd, R. C. *et al.* Distinction of virgin and memory T lymphocytes. *J. Immunol.* **138**, 3120-9 (1987).
- 492. Girard, J. P., Moussion, C. & Förster, R. HEVs, lymphatics and homeostatic immune cell trafficking in lymph nodes. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 12, 762-773 (2012).
- 493. Jung, T. M. & Dailey, M. O. Rapid modulation of homing receptors (gp90MEL-14) induced by activators of protein kinase C. Receptor shedding due to accelerated proteolytic cleavage at the cell surface. J. Immunol. 144, 3130-6 (1990).
- 494. Galkina, E. *et al.* L-Selectin Shedding Does Not Regulate Constitutive T Cell Trafficking but Controls the Migration Pathways of Antigen-activated T Lymphocytes. J. Exp. Med. **198**, 1323-1335 (2003).
- 495. Gillis, S., Ferm, M. M., Ou, W. & Smith, K. A. T cell growth factor: parameters of production and a quantitative microassay for activity. *J. Immunol.* **120**, 2027-32 (1978).
- 496. Granelli-Piperno, A., Vassalli, J. D. & Reich, E. Purification of murine T cell growth factor: A lymphocyte mitogen with helper activity. *J. Exp. Med.* **154**, 422-431 (1981).
- 497. Hedfors, I. A. & Brinchmann, J. E. Long-Term Proliferation and Survival of In Vitro-Activated T Cells is Dependent on Interleukin-2 Receptor Signalling but not on the High-Affinity IL-2R. Scand. J. Immunol. **58**, 522-532 (2003).
- 498. Dooms, H., Kahn, E., Knoechel, B. & Abbas, A. K. IL-2 Induces a
Competitive Survival Advantage in T Lymphocytes. J. Immunol. **172**, 5973-5979 (2004).

- 499. Villarino, A. V *et al.* Helper T cell IL-2 production is limited by negative feedback and STAT-dependent cytokine signals. *J. Exp. Med.* **204**, 65-71 (2007).
- 500. Lighvani, A. A. *et al.* T-bet is rapidly induced by interferon-gamma in lymphoid and myeloid cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **98**, 15137-42 (2001).
- 501. Hashimoto, M. Th17 in Animal Models of Rheumatoid Arthritis. J. Clin. Med. 6, (2017).
- 502. Leipe, J. *et al.* Role of Th17 cells in human autoimmune arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* **62**, 2876-2885 (2010).
- 503. Azizi, G., Jadidi-Niaragh, F. & Mirshafiey, A. Th17 Cells in Immunopathogenesis and treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. *Int. J. Rheum. Dis.* 16, 243-253 (2013).
- 504. Rincón, M., Anguita, J., Nakamura, T., Fikrig, E. & Flavell, R. A.
 Interleukin (IL)-6 directs the differentiation of IL-4-producing CD4+ T cells.
 J. Exp. Med. 185, 461-9 (1997).
- Burchill, M. A., Yang, J., Vogtenhuber, C., Blazar, B. R. & Farrar, M. A. IL-2 receptor beta-dependent STAT5 activation is required for the development of Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. J. Immunol. 178, 280-90 (2007).
- 506. Sewgobind, V. D. K. D. *et al.* The Jak Inhibitor CP-690,550 Preserves the Function of CD4+CD25brightFoxP3+ Regulatory T Cells and Inhibits Effector T Cells. *Am. J. Transplant.* **10**, 1785-1795 (2010).
- 507. Szabo, S. J. *et al.* A Novel Transcription Factor, T-bet, Directs Th1 Lineage Commitment. *Cell* **100**, 655-669 (2000).

- 508. Distinct effects of T-bet in Th1 lineage commitment and INFy production Sabo et al 2002.
- 509. Höfer, T., Krichevsky, O. & Altan-Bonnet, G. Competition for IL-2 between Regulatory and Effector T Cells to Chisel Immune Responses. *Front. Immunol.* 3, 268 (2012).
- Sonomoto, K. *et al.* Effects of tofacitinib on lymphocytes in rheumatoid arthritis: relation to efficacy and infectious adverse events. *Rheumatology* 53, 914-918 (2014).
- 511. Liao, W., Lin, J.-X. & Leonard, W. J. Interleukin-2 at the crossroads of effector responses, tolerance, and immunotherapy. *Immunity* **38**, 13-25 (2013).
- 512. Burchill, M. A., Yang, J., Vogtenhuber, C., Blazar, B. R. & Farrar, M. A. IL2 Receptor 8-Dependent STAT5 Activation Is Required for the Development of Foxp3+ Regulatory T Cells. J. Immunol. 178, 280-290 (2007).
- 513. Balancing JAK/STAT-signaling with tofacitinib may foster antiinflammatory functions of human monocytes - ACR Meeting Abstracts. Available at: https://acrabstracts.org/abstract/balancing-jakstatsignaling-with-tofacitinib-may-foster-anti-inflammatory-functions-ofhuman-monocytes/. (Accessed: 9th August 2019)
- 514. Zhou, Y. *et al.* Tolerogenic Dendritic Cells Generated with Tofacitinib Ameliorate Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis through Modulation of Th17/Treg Balance. (2016). doi:10.1155/2016/5021537
- 515. Afkarian, M. *et al.* T-bet is a STATI-induced regulator for IL-12R expression in naïve CD4 + T cells. *Nat. Immunol.* **3**, 549-557 (2002).
- 516. Park, H.-B. *et al.* CP-690550, a Janus Kinase Inhibitor, Suppresses CD4+ T-Cell-Mediated Acute Graft-Versus-Host Disease by Inhibiting the Interferonγ Pathway. *Transplantation* **90**, 825-835 (2010).

- 517. Barski, A. *et al.* Rapid Recall Ability of Memory T cells is Encoded in their Epigenome OPEN. *Nat. Publ. Gr.* (2016). doi:10.1038/srep39785
- 518. Okoye, A. D. *et al*. Memory CD4 T Cells Transcriptional Control of Rapid Recall by. (2019). doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1002742
- 519. Mullen, A. C. *et al.* Hlx is induced by and genetically interacts with T-bet to promote heritable TH1 gene induction. *Nat. Immunol.* **3**, 652-658 (2002).
- 520. Makary, P. Principles of Salt Formation. UK J. Pharm. Biosci. 2, 1 (2014).
- 521. Kakran, M., Li, L. & Müller, R. H. Overcoming the challenge of poor drug solubility. *Pharmaceutical Engineering* (2012).
- 522. Mullen, A. C. *et al.* Hlx is induced by and genetically interacts with T-bet to promote heritable TH1 gene induction. *Nat. Immunol.* **3**, 652-658 (2002).
- 523. Transplant rejection: T-helper cell paradigm | British Society for Immunology. Available at: https://www.immunology.org/publicinformation/bitesized-immunology/organs-and-tissues/transplantrejection-t-helper-cell. (Accessed: 29th August 2019)
- 524. Rivas-Caicedo, A. *et al.* Jak3 Is Involved in Dendritic Cell Maturation and CCR7-Dependent Migration. *PLoS One* **4**, e7066 (2009).
- 525. Taylor, P. C. Clinical efficacy of launched JAK inhibitors in rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. **58**, i17-i26 (2019).
- 526. Wollenhaupt, J. *et al.* Safety and efficacy of tofacitinib for up to 9.5 years in the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis: final results of a global, openlabel, long-term extension study. *Arthritis Res. Ther.* **21**, 89 (2019).
- 527. Heijde, D. *et al.* Tofacitinib in Combination With Methotrexate in Patients With Rheumatoid Arthritis: Clinical Efficacy, Radiographic, and Safety Outcomes From a Twenty-Four-Month, Phase III Study. *Arthritis*

Rheumatol. 71, 878-891 (2019).

- 528. Nickdel, M. B. *et al.* Dissecting the contribution of innate and antigenspecific pathways to the breach of self-tolerance observed in a murine model of arthritis. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **68**, 1059-66 (2009).
- 529. Platt, A. M. *et al.* Abatacept limits breach of self-tolerance in a murine model of arthritis via effects on the generation of T follicular helper cells.
 J. Immunol. 185, 1558-67 (2010).
- 530. Jongbloed, S. L. *et al.* Plasmacytoid dendritic cells regulate breach of selftolerance in autoimmune arthritis. *J. Immunol.* **182**, 963-8 (2009).
- Takeshita, M. *et al.* Multi-dimensional analysis identified rheumatoid arthritis-driving pathway in human T cell. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 78, 1346-1356 (2019).
- Unutmaz, D., Pileri, P. & Abrignani, S. Antigen-independent activation of naive and memory resting T cells by a cytokine combination. *J. Exp. Med.* 180, 1159-1164 (1994).
- 533. Di Genova, G., Savelyeva, N., Suchacki, A., Thirdborough, S. M. & Stevenson, F. K. Bystander stimulation of activated CD4 ⁺ T cells of unrelated specificity following a booster vaccination with tetanus toxoid. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 40, 976-985 (2010).
- 534. Brennan, F. M. *et al.* Evidence that rheumatoid arthritis synovial T cells are similar to cytokine-activated T cells: Involvement of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and nuclear factor κB pathways in tumor necrosis factor α production in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* **46**, 31-41 (2002).
- 535. Kohem, C. L. *et al.* Enrichment of differentiated CD45RBdim, CD27 memory T cells in the peripheral blood, synovial fluid, and synovial tissue of patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* **39**, 844-854 (1996).

- 536. Casanova, J.-L., Holland, S. M. & Notarangelo, L. D. Inborn Errors of Human JAKs and STATs. *Immunity* **36**, 515-528 (2012).
- 537. Rizzi, M. *et al.* Impact of tofacitinib treatment on human B-cells in vitro and in vivo. *J. Autoimmun.* **77**, 55-66 (2017).
- 538. Cyster, J. G. & Allen, C. D. C. B Cell Responses: Cell Interaction Dynamics and Decisions. *Cell* **177**, 524-540 (2019).
- 539. Gonzalez, D. G. *et al.* Nonredundant Roles of IL-21 and IL-4 in the Phased Initiation of Germinal Center B Cells and Subsequent Self-Renewal Transitions. J. Immunol. 201, 3569-3579 (2018).
- 540. Crotty, S. T follicular helper cell differentiation, function, and roles in disease. *Immunity* **41**, 529-42 (2014).
- 541. Okamoto, H. *et al.* The synovial expression and serum levels of interleukin6, interleukin- 11, leukemia inhibitory factor, and oncostatin M in
 rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 40, 1096-1105 (1997).
- 542. Ogata, A., Kato, Y., Higa, S. & Yoshizaki, K. IL-6 inhibitor for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis: A comprehensive review. *Mod. Rheumatol.* **29**, 258-267 (2019).
- 543. Stuhlmüller, B. *et al.* Identification of known and novel genes in activated monocytes from patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 43, 775-790 (2000).
- 544. Mihara, M., Moriya, Y., Kishimoto, T. & Ohsugi, Y. Interleukin-6 (IL-6) induces the proliferation of synovial fibroblastic cells in the presence of soluble II-6 receptor. *Rheumatology* **34**, 321-325 (1995).
- 545. Suzuki, M., Hashizume, M., Yoshida, H. & Mihara, M. Anti-inflammatory mechanism of tocilizumab, a humanized anti-IL-6R antibody: Effect on the expression of chemokine and adhesion molecule. *Rheumatol. Int.* **30**, 309-315 (2010).

- 546. Nakahara, H. *et al*. Anti-interleukin-6 receptor antibody therapy reduces vascular endothelial growth factor production in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum*. **48**, 1521-1529 (2003).
- 547. Neufeld, G., Cohen, T., Gengrinovitch, S. & Poltorak, Z. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and its receptors. *FASEB Journal* **13**, 9-22 (1999).
- 548. Melder, R. J. *et al.* During angiogenesis, vascular endothelial growth factor and basic fibroblast growth factor regulate natural killer cell adhesion to tumor endothelium. *Nat. Med.* **2**, 992-997 (1996).
- 549. Barleon, B. *et al.* Migration of human monocytes in response to vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is mediated via the VEGF receptor flt-1. *Blood* **87**, 3336-3343 (1996).
- 550. Kim, W.-U. *et al.* Interaction of Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor 165 with Neuropilin-1 Protects Rheumatoid Synoviocytes from Apoptotic Death by Regulating Bcl-2 Expression and Bax Translocation. *J. Immunol.* **177**, 5727-5735 (2006).
- 551. Kim, H. R., Kim, K. W., Kim, B. M., Cho, M. La & Lee, S. H. The effect of vascular endothelial growth factor on osteoclastogenesis in rheumatoid arthritis. *PLoS One* **10**, (2015).
- 552. Hashizume, M. & Mihara, M. Desirable effect of combination therapy with high molecular weight hyaluronate and NSAIDs on MMP production. *Osteoarthr. Cartil.* **17**, 1513-1518 (2009).
- 553. Aida, Y. *et al.* IL-6 and soluble IL-6 receptor stimulate the production of MMPs and their inhibitors via JAK-STAT and ERK-MAPK signalling in human chondrocytes. *Cell Biol. Int.* **36**, 367-76 (2012).
- 554. Nakashima, T. *et al.* Protein expression and functional difference of membrane-bound and soluble receptor activator of NF-κB ligand: Modulation of the expression by osteotropic factors and cytokines.

Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 275, 768-775 (2000).

- 555. Hashizume, M., Hayakawa, N. & Mihara, M. IL-6 trans-signalling directly induces RANKL on fibroblast-like synovial cells and is involved in RANKL induction by TNF-α and IL-17. *Rheumatology* **47**, 1635-1640 (2008).
- 556. Sokolove, J. *et al*. Autoantibody epitope spreading in the pre-clinical phase predicts progression to rheumatoid arthritis. *PLoS One* **7**, (2012).
- 557. Van Der Woude, D. *et al.* Epitope spreading of the anti-citrullinated protein antibody response occurs before disease onset and is associated with the disease course of early arthritis. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* **69**, 1554-1561 (2010).
- 558. Klarenbeek, P. L. *et al.* Inflamed target tissue provides a specific niche for highly expanded T-cell clones in early human autoimmune disease. *Ann. Rheum. Dis.* 71, 1088-1093 (2012).
- 559. Law, S. C. *et al.* T-cell autoreactivity to citrullinated autoantigenic peptides in rheumatoid arthritis patients carrying HLA-DRB1 shared epitope alleles. *Arthritis Res. Ther.* **14**, R118 (2012).
- 560. Tanaka, Y., Suzuki, M., Nakamura, H., Toyoizumi, S. & Zwillich, S. H. Phase II study of tofacitinib (CP-690,550) combined with methotrexate in patients with rheumatoid arthritis and an inadequate response to methotrexate. *Arthritis Care Res. (Hoboken).* 63, 1150-1158 (2011).
- 561. Rosengren, S., Corr, M., Firestein, G. S. & Boyle, D. L. The JAK inhibitor CP-690,550 (tofacitinib) inhibits TNF-induced chemokine expression in fibroblast-like synoviocytes: Autocrine role of type I interferon. Ann. Rheum. Dis. 71, 440-447 (2012).
- 562. Yarilina, A., Xu, K., Chan, C. & Ivashkiv, L. B. Regulation of inflammatory responses in tumor necrosis factor-activated and rheumatoid arthritis synovial macrophages by JAK inhibitors. *Arthritis Rheum.* 64, 3856-3866 (2012).